

Indigenous adornment in the circum-Caribbean: The production, use, and exchange of bodily ornaments through the lenses of the microscope

Falci, C.G.

Citation

Falci, C. G. (2020, March 26). *Indigenous adornment in the circum-Caribbean: The production, use, and exchange of bodily ornaments through the lenses of the microscope*. Retrieved from https://hdl.handle.net/1887/137307

Version:	Publisher's Version
License:	Licence agreement concerning inclusion of doctoral thesis in the Institutional Repository of the University of Leiden
Downloaded from:	https://hdl.handle.net/1887/137307

Note: To cite this publication please use the final published version (if applicable).

Indigenous adornment in the circum-Caribbean

The production, use, and exchange of bodily ornaments through the lenses of the microscope



Cover Page



Universiteit Leiden



The handle <u>http://hdl.handle.net/1887/137307</u> holds various files of this Leiden University dissertation.

Author: Falci, C. Guzzo Title: Indigenous adornment in the circum-Caribbean: The production, use, and exchange of bodily ornaments through the lenses of the microscope Issue date: 2020-03-26

Indigenous adornment in the circum-Caribbean

The production, use, and exchange of bodily ornaments through the lenses of the microscope

Proefschrift

ter verkrijging van de graad van Doctor aan de Universiteit Leiden, op gezag van Rector Magnificus prof.mr. C.J.J.M. Stolker, volgens besluit van het College voor Promoties te verdedigen op donderdag 26 Maart 2020 klokke 11:15 uur

door

Catarina Guzzo Falci

geboren te Governador Valadares, Brazilië in 1990

Promotoren:

Prof. dr. C.L. Hofman (Universiteit Leiden) Prof. dr. A.L. van Gijn (Universiteit Leiden)

Overige leden:

Prof. dr. G.R. Davies (Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam)
Dr. Solange Rigaud (CNRS/Université de Bordeaux)
Dr. A. Boomert (Universiteit Leiden)
Prof. dr. D.R. Fontijn (Universiteit Leiden, plaatsvervangend voorzitter)
Prof. dr. J.A.C. Vroom (Universiteit Leiden, secretaris)

© 2020 C. Guzzo Falci

This research has been funded by the NWO Spinoza Prize awarded to Prof. dr. Hofman in 2014 (Nederlandse Organisatie voor Wetenschappelijk Onderzoek). It has also received funding from the European Research Council under the European Union's Seventh Framework Programme (FP7/2007-2013)/ERC grant agreement n° 319209. The research presented in Chapter 3 has been funded by the *Bourse d'étude pour la documentation des collections 2016–2017* of the Musée du quai Branly awarded to C. Guzzo Falci in 2017.

Dit proefschrift volgt de Ethische Code van Universiteit Leiden.

Table of Contents

1. Introduction	
1.1. Bodily ornaments in Caribbean archaeology	
1.2. What is in a bead? Theoretical approaches	
1.3. Methodology	
1.4. Thesis outline	36
1.5. Bibliography	41
Part 1: Designing a biographical approach to the study of bodily adornment	
2. Challenges in the analysis of circum-Caribbean collections	71
3. Use-wear and the complex biographies of ornaments	
Part 2: Biographical studies of Ceramic Age bodily ornaments	
4. Early Ceramic Age lapidary	145
5. Late Ceramic Age ornaments	
6. Conclusion	207
6.1. Bodily adornment through the lenses of the microscope	207
6.2. Exchange networks viewed through technology and use-wear	
6.3. Avenues for future research	
6.4. Bibliography	223
Appendix 1 Appendix 2 Appendix 3 Appendix 4 Appendix 5 Appendix 6	233 235 237 239 243 245
Acknowledgements Samenvatting Abstract Curriculum Vitae	253 255 259 261

Introduction

Bodily adornment was extremely varied and ubiquitous among the indigenous communities of the pre-colonial Caribbean, as noted in both ethnohistoric sources and archaeological collections (e.g., Alegría 1995; Fewkes 1903; Las Casas 1992; Lóven 1935; Petitjean Roget 1963). Body modifications, body paint, hairstyles, tattooing, and the addition of objects to the surface of the body can be encompassed under this general category. However, when it comes to most Caribbean archaeological contexts, only a portion of this last group is commonly recovered. A range of non-perishable artefacts that would have been attached to bodies, such as beads, pendants, plaques, ear spools, and plugs, have been recovered from contexts associated to the Ceramic Age (400 BC - ca. AD 1500). At certain moments during this long time period, such artefacts have not only been produced and used in large numbers, but, most notably, have also been circulated across large distances (Boomert 1987; 2000; 2001a; 2001b; 2007; Cody 1993; Hofman et al. 2007; 2014; Laffoon et al. 2014; Martinón-Torres et al. 2012; Mol 2007; 2014; Narganes Storde 2005; Rodríguez 1993; Rodríguez Ramos 2010a; 2010b; 2011; 2013; Serrand and Cummings 2014; Watters 1997; Watters and Scaglion 1994). Ornaments exhumed from Caribbean archaeological sites are now incorporated in many collections and museum displays across the globe. In these new settings, individual beads are often assembled together with strings or glue in aesthetically pleasing compositions that are at least partially based on analogies with indigenous material culture from the lowlands of South America. While engaging, such reconstructions run the risk of constraining the potential of these artefacts to provide us with insights on the Caribbean past.

The importance of researching collections that have been previously excavated and are now housed in institutional repositories is being increasingly stressed worldwide. A plea for the generation of new data from "old" materials has surfaced around discussions of the "curation crisis" and "legacy collections" (Frieman and Janz 2018; King 2016; Merriman and Swain 1999). Repositories

worldwide harbour understudied collections, excavated at different points in time by both archaeologists and amateurs. Many of these have not been (extensively) described and investigated, lack (substantial) documentation, include potential forgeries or mislabelled items, and/or would profit from new theoretical and methodological developments in archaeology (Brody 2009; Frieman and Janz 2018; Gamble 2002; Guerra 2008; King 2016; Rodet et al. 2013; Woodward and Hunter 2015). Furthermore, even recently excavated collections become, to a certain degree, legacy collections when they enter a repository, as they no longer are under the custody of the investigator who exhumed them (King 2016, 7). The circum-Caribbean is no exception in this regard, with collections of diverse materials housed locally, in Europe, and in the United States (e.g., Antczak et al. 2019; Díaz Peña 2004; Françozo and Strecker 2017; Françozo and Ordoñez 2019; Hardy 2009; Hicks and Cooper 2013; Siegel 2009; Watters and Brown 2001; Watters and Scaglion 1994). Furthermore, Caribbean archaeological material culture is not only housed in institutional repositories, such as museums, but is also in the possession of individuals as private collections.

Despite the regional abundance of ornaments and the interest they have raised, analytical approaches have not been given priority in ornament research in the Caribbean (see section 1.1). As a result, ornaments remain a poorly understood artefact category. The goal of this dissertation is, therefore, to provide new insights concerning the circulation, production, and use of bodily ornaments in the Caribbean. This will be done through the detailed study of assemblages of ornaments from key time periods in the archipelago. Three main research questions will be posed to ornament assemblages from the region:

- 1. What are the patterns in the ways ornaments were dealt with in each time period?
- 2. How do such patterns relate to the social roles these objects had?
- 3. What are the new insights given by a focus on technology and use to our understanding of exchange patterns and the social mechanisms responsible for them?

In order to accomplish this, it is necessary to set out another goal: to devise a strategy for the study of collections of ornaments from diverse origins. One is required to acknowledge the diverse ways in which collections have been and are being formed in the region. Collections have been and are still formed through both systematic archaeological research and unsystematic collecting.

More than requiring a single and specific protocol of actions, such collections demand flexibility and clarity regarding their potentials and limitations. One can identify a number of methodological and interpretative limitations that need to be taken into account during their study. Here we can include 1) extensive raw material and typological variability, 2) low numbers of production debris and associated tools, and 3) challenges with extrapolating from a single artefact (such as a bead) to an object that performed in a certain way in the past (for instance, a whole necklace). Other limitations are related to the lack of sufficient contextual information and to the complex trajectories artefacts undergo after they leave the ground. Devising a strategy to deal with such issues is not only relevant for the Caribbean region, as many limitations permeate the study of collections everywhere.

This chapter introduces the main themes and issues that will serve as threads connecting the individual components of this dissertation. We start with an overview of previous research on bodily adornment from the Ceramic Age Caribbean. The goal of this section is to highlight how ornaments have been integral elements in narratives about socio-cultural interaction and sociopolitical organization. In particular, focus is given to two time periods in which ornaments were produced in large numbers and exchanged between different islands. Such review will allow us to single out gaps in knowledge that will be addressed by the present research. In order to create a framework for this investigation, we delve into what ornaments are and what kinds of social roles they could have held in the following section. The concept of artefact biographies is introduced as an approach for making sense of the multiple life stages ornaments are engaged in both as individual artefacts and composite constructions. Microwear analysis is then proposed as a method for investigating ornaments, having as basis previous research carried out worldwide. Finally, the outline of the dissertation is explained and the goals of each chapter are made clear.

1.1. Bodily ornaments in Caribbean archaeology

The exchange patterns, sociopolitical organization, and worldview of past Antillean societies have often been interpreted by analogy with indigenous communities from lowland South America (*e.g.*, Boomert 1987; 2001a; 2001b; Rodríguez 1997; Roe 1989; 1997; Siegel 1997; 2010). The location of the Antillean archipelago in relation to surrounding continental masses is shown

in Figure 1. These researchers have favoured such connections on the basis of the purported Orinocan origin of Saladoid communities that occupied the islands, as proposed on the traditional culture-historical schemes put forward by Irving Rouse (1986; 1992). It was posited that, from 500 BC, migration waves of Saladoid peoples would have replaced the Archaic Age populations that occupied the islands. This would mark the beginning of the Ceramic Age period, as these new people would bring with them ceramic making traditions and a horticultural lifestyle, accompanied by the settlement of semi-permanent villages (Rouse 1986; 1992). Over the centuries and through local developments, they would become the bearers of Ostionoid ceramics from the Greater Antilles, which would eventually develop incipient chiefdoms and would give origin to the so-called Taíno peoples met by the first Europeans to arrive to the Americas. As new research has been carried out, different aspects of this culture-historical trajectory have been debated and criticized from a number of standpoints (e.g., Chanlatte-Baik 1983; 1987; Chanlatte-Baik and Narganes 1980; Keegan 2000; Rodríguez Ramos et al. 2008; Veloz Maggiolo et al. 1981). Researchers have challenged the cultural and stylistic boundaries traditionally defined in the discipline and the considerable focus previously given to migration and colonization as monotonic events (Curet 2005; Hauser and Curet 2011). The



Figure 1: Geographical location of the circum-Caribbean in relation to South, Central, and North America.

Caribbean region is now seen as highly interconnected and ethnically diverse throughout its pre-colonial history (Hofman et al. 2007; 2010; 2011; Keegan and Hofman 2017; Mol 2014; Oliver 2009; Rodríguez Ramos 2010b; Rodríguez Ramos and Pagán Jiménez 2006; Wilson 1993; 2007; see also contributions in Curet and Hauser, eds. 2011 and in Hofman and Van Duijvenbode, eds. 2011). In this panorama, ornaments have often served as proxies for reconstructions of past Caribbean connectivity. Island-island and island-continent interactions have been suggested on the basis of the differential distribution of (exotic) goods and on the predominance of similar material culture over large areas. However, the specific social mechanisms responsible for the observed patterns of material translocation are still not fully understood (Curet and Hauser 2011, 7; Hofman et al. 2011).

1.1.1. Some thoughts on material exchange and social organization

More than half a century ago, it was argued that human economy is embedded in socio-political institutions (Polanyi 1957, 250). According to its supporting social structure, the circulation of materials in a given society can take place through different mechanisms or forms of integration, namely reciprocity, redistribution, and market exchange. Reciprocity would be characteristic of symmetrically organized groups, such as kinship groups. The exchange of social valuables or prestige goods has been argued to play an important role in smallscale stateless societies (Dalton 1977). It would be crucial in alliance building between corporate descent groups, having political, economic, and social functions concurrently. Notable among such social transactions are delayedreciprocal ceremonial exchanges held in the context of feast celebrations and exclusively between group leaders. Amassing and distributing goods would be key factors in crafting a big man's personal success and in outranking potential competitors (Sahlins 1963). Success in ceremonial exchanges would play a role in the attaining and maintaining of political power in one's corporate group, at the same time as providing a big man with fame and renown to outsiders (Dalton 1977, 196; see also Boomert 2001b). In contrast, redistribution would involve movement of goods toward and from a (e.g., political or religious) centre. One should note that Polanyi (1957, 256) stressed that such forms of integration are not stages of development, as no progression in time is implied and as certain societies are known to practice, to varying degrees, both reciprocity and redistribution (see also Ibáñez et al. 2016). Nevertheless, non-reciprocal

modalities of material distribution have generally been connected to systems with institutionalized social hierarchies (Service 1971[1962]).

Abundant archaeological research has focused on evidencing the social patterns producing the translocation of materials in past societies, particularly in connection with the advance of scientific and statistical approaches afforded by processual archaeology (see contributions in Earle and Ericson 1977 and Ericson and Baugh 1993; also Hirth 1978; Hodder 1974; Ibáñez et al. 2016; Kirch 1988). Such efforts have replaced concerns with issues of migration and cultural diffusion that had previously occupied a prominent role in archaeological endeavours. Efforts have been made to explain patterns in artefact distribution across a given region according to specific models of exchange. For instance, reciprocal/symmetrical exchange would produce a down-the-line model, a pattern resulting from materials being passed down from hand to hand in transactions between neighbouring villages (Renfrew 1977, 77-79). As a result of this process, material distribution would follow the "law of monotonic decrement", according to which materials become rarer with increased distance from the supply zone. In contrast, when a certain location is supplied preferentially, a pattern of directional trade has been referred to (Renfrew 1977, 85). From such a location, i.e. a central place, goods would then be redistributed to neighbouring areas (see also Hirth 1978). This hierarchy of exchange would be reflective of a hierarchy between settlements or individuals. However, limitations have been pointed out in such models, particularly concerning the issue of equifinality (Hodder 1974; Renfrew 1977, 82-83). Furthermore, the presence or absence of a given raw material should not be considered in isolation from data concerning the technical states materials may be in and the different spheres of production they may belong to (Perlès 2007).

Craft specialization and the roles of material culture in legitimizing social hierarchies hold a persistent place in ornament research, due to the exoticness of raw materials used and to the high skill often involved in their production (Arnold and Munns 1994; Baysal 2013; Bellina 2014; Brumfiel and Earle 1987; Carter 2015; Kenoyer and Vidale 1992; Kenoyer et al. 1991; Miller 1996; Trubitt 2003; Watson et al. 2015; Zerboni et al. 2018). However, the large-scale production of lapidary materials and ceremonial artefacts need not to be connected to the presence of an emerging elite social stratum. As Spielmann (2002) highlights, communal rituals and feasts, which are intrinsic part of social life in small-scale and uncentralized societies, create considerable demand for food and for

objects to be used in ritual performance and social transactions. Householdlevel production, in a context of community-wide specialization, can support large-scale demand for social valuables to be used in display and exchange. In this sense, Spielmann (2002) proposes the "ritual mode of production" as an alternative to the common explanations for production intensification and specialization: economic efficiency in face of uneven resource distribution or demand from aspiring and competitive elites.

In the following, previous efforts to understand the roles of Caribbean bodily adornment and to model its exchange are reviewed. It is not my goal to provide an exhaustive overview of such literature, but instead to provide context to the issues and case-studies that will later on occupy us in the present dissertation.

1.1.2. Profusely adorned: Lapidary materials in the early part of the Early Ceramic Age

Large-scale production of ornaments took place in workshops found throughout the Lesser Antilles and Puerto Rico during the earlier part of the Ceramic Age (400 BC – AD 400) (Figure 2; Bartone and Crock 1991; Boomert 2000; Cody 1991a; Chanlatte-Baik and Narganes 1980; Crock and Bartone 1998; Faber Morse 1989; Hofman et al. 2007; 2014; Murphy et al. 2000; Narganes Storde



Figure 2: Map of the Caribbean.

1999; Rodríguez 1991; Vescelius and Robinson 1979; Watters 1997; Watters and Scaglion 1994). Workshop sites have been identified by the abundance of lapidary remains, in particular unfinished ornaments, flaking debris, and raw materials. Beads and pendants made of a range of raw materials were produced, especially of hard and semi-precious minerals and rocks (see Chapter 4 for an overview of previous studies and the potential geological sources). Further evidence for the circulation of ornaments comes from freshwater mussel shells (Unionoida) and perforated mammal teeth, whose origins have been traced to northern South America and/or lower Central America (Laffoon et al. 2014; Narganes Storde 2005; Serrand and Cummings 2014; Vescelius and Robinson 1979). Raw materials and finished products were exchanged between different islands, probably as high prestige valuables (Boomert 2000; 2001b). For instance, carnelian from Antigua, together with other lithic resources (Long Island flint, St. Martin mudstone, and Puerto Rican serpentinite), was entangled in exchange networks connecting the northeastern Caribbean (Hofman et al. 2007; 2014; Knippenberg 2007; Mol 2014). These carnelian beads were also exchanged for amethyst specimens produced in the southern island of Grenada (Cody 1991a; 1991b; Watters 1997). Connections of even greater distances have been suggested: similarities were noted between pendants from Puerto Rico and the Isthmo-Colombian region in terms of iconography and raw material (Rodríguez Ramos 2010a; 2010b; 2011; 2013). However, the jadeitite used for the Antillean artefacts has not been definitely linked to the Guatemalan sources used for Costa Rican specimens (Garcia-Casco et al. 2013; Harlow et al. 2006; Schertl et al. 2019).

The most systematic investigation of exchange patterns in the region through material and technological variability has been carried out by Knippenberg (2007), who examined the mechanisms behind the circulation of lithic materials in the northeastern Caribbean (from Puerto Rico to Martinique). His work focused on how the distribution of three materials, namely Long Island flint, St. Martin mudstone, and calci-rudite, evolved from the beginning of the Early Ceramic Age to the end of the Late Ceramic Age. Based on the study of the assemblages from several sites, Knippenberg (2007) created fall-off graphs illustrating the percentage of materials in the studied region in relation to their geological source, and distribution maps, which show the extent of the interaction networks across the region. Materials used in ornament production were also taken into account. Particularly, it was argued that lapidary materials were distributed within the same exchange networks as flint and mudstone during the Early Ceramic A (400 BC – AD 400). This would have involved the long distance distribution of rocks, alongside other items, through down-the-line exchange between communities in a context in which the islands were still limitedly occupied.

The long distance connections between the Early Ceramic Age communities with those on the surrounding continental masses (in particular, South America) has been explained through a "lifeline" or "homeland" model (Hofman et al. 2007; 2011; Keegan 2004; Watters 1997). This model, originally proposed for the Lapita cultural complex of the Pacific, sees long-distance exchange of prestige items as a formal mechanism for the maintenance of ties with homeland communities (Kirch 1988). The continuation of regular contacts with parent communities would provide demographic, ecological, and economic safety to colonizing groups faced with uncertainties associated with the occupation of previously unknown and still-sparsely occupied islands. At the same time, we should not overlook the presence of Archaic Age occupations on many islands during the first centuries of this period (until ca. AD 100). Huecoid/Saladoid communities exploited the same flint sources as the Archaic Age populations and are very likely to have interacted on different levels (Hofman et al. 2011; 2014; 2019; Rodríguez Ramos 2010a).

Material specialization and control over the sources of certain lithic materials would have supported the competitive exchange and display of valuables by big men in ceremonial intercommunity feasting (Boomert 2000; 2001b; Hofman et al. 2014; 2019; Mol 2014). In this sense, large settlements were located next to key geological sources, such as those of Antiguan carnelian and Puerto Rican serpentinite. These sites, operating as regional social hubs, also functioned as lapidary producing communities. However, such reconstructions have focused primarily on the northeastern Caribbean islands. On the southern Caribbean, the site of Pearls on the island of Grenada was a large settlement that functioned as lapidary workshop. In contrast to the aforementioned researchers, Cody (1991a; 1993), who investigated the site, has supported a more hierarchical view of Early Ceramic Age communities. Pearls would represent a gateway community, as it was situated in a key locale for controlling the movement of goods (notably amethyst) between South America and the islands (Cody 1991a; 1993, 210). The strategic location of gateway communities would allow for a reduction in transportation costs related to the acquisition of exotic resources to be

redistributed to "hinterland" (consuming) communities (Hirth 1978). This would guarantee a secure supply of goods and would allow the gateway community to assume a hierarchical place in a long distance exchange network. Cody (1991a; 1993) further connected this to the centralization of power by elite groups, who controlled the manufacture of prestige goods; the exchange of such goods would reinforce their status and serve for the formation of alliances. Evidence for this would be found in the intra-site differential distribution of valuables (i.e. ceremonial ceramics and lapidary materials), the investment in the production of such items, and the symbolism of the zoomorphic beings depicted on them; such elements would be supportive of elite ideology. However, one may wonder if it makes sense to import such a hierarchical model from Mesoamerica to the Early Ceramic Age Caribbean, especially as the assemblages of the Pearls site remain understudied. Previous studies of collections of lapidary materials from this site have focused on typological classification and geological identification (Boomert 2007; Cody 1991a). Technological studies, which would be crucial for assessing many of such issues, are still missing.

1.1.3. Beads of the cacique? Ornaments in the later part of the Late Ceramic Age

In the subsequent periods (AD 400 - ca. 1500), beads and pendants still circulated across the Caribbean Sea, but the spheres of interaction were reduced in extent and widely available local raw materials were predominant (Hofman et al. 2007; 2011; Knippenberg 2007; Rodríguez Ramos 2010a, 175-176). Exchange networks involving rock materials become more localized, which is hypothesised to correspond to changes in socio-political organization and in orientation of the social relationships established between different communities (Knippenberg 2007). In contrast to the Early Ceramic Age, in which many exchanged lapidary materials are unequally distributed across the region, the ornament materials used in later periods are often available across the archipelago, thus rendering it more difficult to reconstruct potential networks of ornament circulation (see Chapter 5; Boomert and Rogers 2007; Hofman et al. 2007; 2011, 82; Knippenberg 2007). Marine shells, calcite, and diorite are commonly recovered from archaeological sites across the archipelago (Berman 2011; Blick et al. 2010; Boomert and Rogers 2007; Lammers-Keijsers 2007; Serrand 1997; 2007).

It has been argued that the Late Ceramic Age period (AD 600/800 - ca.

1500) sees the development of greater social complexity in the form of incipient chiefdoms (*cacicazgos*) in the Greater Antilles (Curet 1996; 2014; Keegan 2013; Keegan and Hofman 2017, 11-14; Rouse 1992; Siegel 2010; Wilson 2007). This is particularly expressed in Chican Ostionoid ceramics and other representational material culture (from AD 1200), often connected to the "Classic Taíno" peoples met by the Spaniards (Rouse 1992, 33-34; also Arrom 1975; Bercht et al., eds. 1997; Keegan 2013). The exchange of "Taíno"-like ritual paraphernalia would have taken place in connection with the regional formalization of a ritual grammar across the Greater Antilles and northern Lesser Antilles (Hofman 2013; Hofman et al. 2008; 2011, 82-82; Hofman and Hoogland 2011; Hoogland and Hofman 1999; Rodríguez Ramos 2010a, 197-198). The increase in the numbers of conspicuous ritual artefacts and spaces, as opposed to that of more personal items like bodily ornaments, has been argued to be connected to the greater importance of the public display of power in ceremonial events (Curet 1996; Helms 1987; Rodríguez Ramos 2010a, 198; Roe 1989). This includes intricately carved items such as stone collars, elbow stones, stone three-pointers, and shell ornaments depicting faces (guaízas). Whereas the evidence for three-pointer exchange is based on the occurrence of specimens in raw materials exotic to the region/island where they were found (Breukel 2013; Knippenberg 2007; Rodríguez Ramos 2010a, 198), guaízas are believed to have been exchanged due to their iconographic distinctiveness and rarity (Mol 2007; 2011; 2014).

At the same time, bodily adornment has been argued to be a crucial aspect of the display and enactment of the supernatural and political power of the *cacique* (Oliver 2000; see complete review in Chapter 5). Ornaments are also thought to have been produced in large numbers as products of specialized workshops and exchanged as part of social transactions between elite groups (Las Casas 1992, 611, 1288; Lóven 1935). However, the archaeological evidence for their specialized production and exchange is not easily traceable. An exception is found in the Turks and Caicos islands, where marine shell beads, notably small beads used for embroidery ("seed beads"), were produced in large numbers in specialized workshops; they would have arguably been commissioned by an elite from the Greater Antilles (Carlson 1995; Littman and Keegan 1991). It has further been argued that, as products of elite wealth, they would be kept in cacical storehouses, where they could be integrated into valuable composite artefacts or be redistributed as gifts (Ostapkowicz 2018; see also Mol 2007, 86-87). In turn, lithic ornaments recovered from sites in the Bahamas archipelago are hypothesised to be trade items, as diorite and quartz sources cannot be locally found (Berman 2011). Beads and pendants made of lithic materials are indeed known to occur widely across the Greater Antilles, as abundantly illustrated in a number of publications (Arrom 1975; Fewkes 1903; 1922; Knight 2017). Bodily ornaments have also been recovered in caches in Puerto Rico and the Dominican Republic. From the former, a ceramic bowl with hundreds of beads has been recovered from a burial plaza in Utuado (Fewkes 2009 [1907]) and a wooden bowl containing a necklace with indigenous ornaments and European glass beads has been found in Quebradillas (Ostapkowicz 2018; Ostapkowicz et al. 2012). A similar find was made from a rock shelter in El Variar, southern Dominican Republic (Ortega 2005; Ortega and Fondeour 1976; also Keehnen 2019). It included two ceramic bowls with 262 stone beads, 89 shell beads, two anthropomorphic pendants, and four metal beads and pendants. Another find from a rock shelter comes from Sabana Yegua in San Juan de Maguana, on the centre-west of the Dominican Republic (Vega 1979, 11-13). It consisted of abundant European material alongside three stone necklaces, three pendants, and two amber earplugs. In Manantial El Cabo San Rafael, a rock shelter on the eastern tip of the island, another cache has been found with approximately 4000 perforated dog and seal teeth, some of which with decorative carvings (Ortega 2005, 115-116; Samson 2010, 103-104). Based on this combined evidence, it can be hypothesized that there was an increase in the production and circulation of ornaments made of different raw materials in this period. However, apart from the aforementioned studies of shell beads and others focused on gold and guanín (Cooper et al. 2008; Martinón-Torres et al. 2012; Valcárcel Rojas et al. 2007), little research has focused on ornaments from the period.

1.1.4. Research gap and case-studies

The present dissertation will be conducted against this background of research regarding periods of increase in production and exchange of bodily adornment in the Caribbean archipelago. The two main case-studies that will concern us are the early part of the Early Ceramic Age in the eastern Caribbean and the later part of the Late Ceramic Age in the Greater Antilles. The two periods highlighted here have been previously regarded as two "climaxes" in the culture-historical development of the pre-colonial Caribbean separated by a "dark age", in particular in what concerns ceramic styles and so-called ceremonial art (Rouse 1982, 52; for critiques, see Curet 1996 and Oliver 2009). However, this is not

the intention or the approach advocated here. As mentioned previously, this view of Caribbean pre-colonial history is an outdated one.¹ At the same time, the overview presented above shows that there is an overlap in the ways the ornaments from both periods have been interpreted: even though the models of socio-political organization differ, ornaments tend to be unanimously seen as social valuables produced by craft specialists and exchanged between competitive high-status individuals. In this sense, it remains unclear how the social mechanisms and corresponding archaeological patterns differ from one period to the other—even though the material remains themselves (raw materials and types) are notably different. While considerable archaeological attention has been placed on bodily adornment, research that systematically addresses material acquisition, production, use, and deposition of ornaments are scarce or more generally missing (for a more thorough review of this issue, see Falci 2015 and chapters 4 and 5). As the two case-studies selected refer to different regions and time periods, they will be addressed independently from each other in the next chapters. This independent attention will allow us to characterize in detail ornament-related practices that are specific to each context. Nevertheless, we should keep in mind that both case-studies are relatable as evolving patterns in long-term interaction networks that stretched across multiple islands of the archipelago.

1.2. What is in a bead? Theoretical approaches

The previous section has provided a review of hypotheses concerning the abundant presence of bodily adornment in the Ceramic Age Caribbean. We learned from previous research that ornaments functioned both as markers of political and supernatural power and as trade items—and that both functions cannot be entirely disassociated from each other. In other words, ornaments had at least two different roles over their lifetime. It is, therefore, our goal to assess the specific ways in which these roles were performed and how they differed between the Early and the Late Ceramic Age. For this purpose, it is necessary to build a framework through which these artefacts can be investigated.

Beads, pendants, and other artefacts interpreted to be ornaments have been intensively studied by archaeologists worldwide. Since the development

¹ Furthermore, bodily ornaments from other time periods should be researched, such as Archaic-Age and early Ostionoid ornaments (for examples, see Rodríguez Ramos 2010a, 65-68, 175-176).

of archaeology as a discipline in the 19th century, the role of bodily adornment in past human societies has been regarded in different ways in connection with trends in the social sciences (notably, anthropology) and art history (Moro Abadía and Nowell 2015). Among others, they have been labelled minor art, decorative items, cosmetics, primitive money, amulets and talismans, identity and status markers, symbolic and communicative items. Perhaps as a result of the challenges in defining the cross-cultural "function" or "role" of ornaments (and, in a sense, justifying their research as a collective), finding an appropriate terminology to refer to this somewhat loosely defined group of "small finds" has also been a concern. Scholars discussing artefacts recovered from archaeological sites have focused on the terms such as personal adornment, ornament, and dress. Both ornament and adornment have been noted to be problematic terms, in that they imply a lack of practical function, a purely aesthetic role, and a positive value judgement (Moro Abadía and Nowell 2015; Roach-Higgins and Eicher 1992). Dress has been proposed as a less ethnocentric, value-charged, or ambiguous term; it conceptually groups under the same rubric direct modifications of and supplements added to the body (Eicher and Roach-Higgins 1992; Roach-Higgins and Eicher 1992). Without overlooking such concerns, I have opted for the words adornment and ornament as the most adequate way to collectively refer to the set of portable artefacts that will be studied here. The use of these terms strengthens the dialogue between the research being conducted here and other analytical archaeological research carried out on ornaments worldwide.

Following a structuralist tradition to the study of art (Lévi-Strauss 1963; Panofsky 1955), bodily adornment has been regarded as part of complex symbolic systems of meanings that have a communicative role in society (Wobst 1977). In this sense, crucial information concerning an individual's identity and group belonging would be broadcast to those around them through socially-regulated properties of adornment, such as raw material, design, colour, shape, volume, size, and the arrangement and position of components (Lévi-Strauss 1936; Loren 2009; 2010; Newell et al. 1990; Ribeiro 1988; Roach-Higgins and Eicher 1992; Seeger 1975; Turner 2012[1980]; Vidal, ed. 1992; White 1992; White and Beaudry 2008; Wobst 1977; Wright and Garrard 2003). The formal study of such strictly regulated patterns could thus provide insights into a society's underlying ideas and principles concerning personhood, social norms, and cosmology. As items attached to the bodies of people, ornaments are both personal and social, allowing for the active construction, performance, control,

and manipulation of personal identity vis-à-vis the social groups one belongs to. A notable avenue in past bodily adornment research has focused on prehistoric archaeology of Eurasia and Oceania, particularly of the Paleolithic period (see, for instance, recent contributions in Bar-Yosef Mayer and Bosch 2019). In early human contexts, forms of dress are regarded as invaluable proxies to the study of: 1) the emergence of behavioural complexity connected to cognitive or environmental changes (Brumm et al. 2017; d'Errico et al. 2005; Gilligan 2010; Kuhn and Stiner 2007; Rifkin et al. 2015) and 2) prehistoric ethno-linguistic boundaries and identities (Newell et al. 1990; Rigaud et al. 2015; Vanhaeren and d'Errico 2006). The importance of investigating ornaments often made of hard animal materials (i.e. bones, teeth, ivory, claws, and shells) has thus been stressed on account of their symbolic function. It is within this research context that the use of wear-trace analysis of ornaments has developed and expanded. providing a new means of assessing how people from the past produced and used such items (d'Errico 1993a; 1993b; d'Errico et al. 1993; Taborin 1991; 1993; White 1992; 2002; 2007; see section 1.3). Researchers have thus used diverse analytical techniques to address issues such the anthropic and intentional nature of artefacts and the aesthetic, symbolic, or pragmatic function of certain practices. However, one must wonder whether this latter question retains its relevance outside of the field of human evolution and whether the dichotomy between the aesthetic, the symbolic, and the pragmatic (or, more generally, art and artefact) is relevant outside of modern Western society (a.o., Ingold 2001; 2013; Conneller 2004; Dobres 2001; 2010).

Representational and visual characteristics of ornaments have gained great scholarly attention. However, one should not overlook the fact that dress is more than *appearance*, as it has other properties through which it can be experienced, such as texture (touch), odour, and sound (Eicher and Roach-Higgins 1992, 14; Roach-Higgins and Eicher 1992). Furthermore, material culture does not just passively reflect meanings bestowed onto it by a thinking mind (Gosden 2005; Hodder 2011; Ingold 2001; 2013; Jones 2004; Knappett 2012; Olsen 2012; Pfaffenberger 2001). As Malafouris (2008, 408) argues: "instead of seeing early ornaments as existing for the self we should be seeing the self as emerging through the ornament". The human brain should be understood as intrinsically plastic, being moulded through its interaction with material culture. The body itself is not a purely biological entity to which cultural meanings and materials are added: it cannot be fully disassociated from the experiences, treatments, rituals,

and practices that it has engaged in (Alberti 2012; Conklin 1996; Hamilakis et al. 2002; Joyce 2005; Rival 2005; Thomas 2002; Vilaca 2005; Warnier 2009). This becomes more evident when more permanent forms of body modification are considered. While somewhat elusive in the archaeological record, a number of studies have pursued evidence for such practices, for instance, studies on cranial modification (e.g., Van Duijvenbode 2012), on the impact of the use of lip plugs on an individual's teeth (Cybulski 2001; Torres-Rouf 2012), or on proxies for past tattooing (Deter-Wolf and Peres 2013; Gates St-Pierre 2018). Mauss (1973[1935]), in his essay on the techniques of the body, argues that the habits of the body are transmitted from one generation to the next, being simultaneously mechanical, psychological, and sociological, regardless of how ordinary and innate they may seem (Mauss 1973[1935]). While bodily adornment is not considered a technique of the body, he does refer to "techniques of care for the body" (Mauss 1973[1935], 84) and to walking in particular types of shoes as a learned disposition (Mauss 1973[1935], 83).² In light of more recent theories of the body cited above, this brings an interesting thought to mind: ornament making certainly involves the use of multiple techniques and tools emerging from socially-mediated bodily dispositions (see next section); but one should not overlook the fact that forms of adornment are themselves makers of bodily habits (see Naji and Douny 2009; Warnier 2009). Therefore, bodily ornaments, hygiene, and other forms of bodily care and performance are inseparable as constitutive elements in the creation and maintenance of personhood and, more broadly, social life (Brück and Davies 2018; Choyke 2006; Loren 2010; Miller 2009; Santos-Granero 2012; Turner 2012[1980]; Walker 2009; Warnier 2009). This implies a shift in focus from the potential messages carried by inert ornaments to how artefacts were capable of action: they affected, mediated, and transformed past bodies and minds. Whereas this realization frees us from the conundrum of not being able to assess the meaning of bodily adornment in the past, it does leave us with many unanswered questions. In particular, our main questions remain: how to approach bodily ornaments recovered from archaeological sites? How can we assess the ways in which specific ornaments

² Elsewhere, Mauss (1993[1947]) discusses body arts (cosmetics and ornaments) as forms of plastic arts, i.e. *techniques* marked by a pursuit for the aesthetic. Mauss (1973[1935]) defines a technique as traditional and efficacious action. Warnier (2009) notes that, even though scholars in the anthropology of techniques have taken this to exclusively mean action *on matter*, one should also consider action *on subjects*. As examples, he argues that ritual performance and skin care are technologies of the subject mediated by bodies, material culture, and words.

performed in specific past societies?

1.2.1. Status, career, and expectations: objects lead interesting lives

Despite their apparent lack of a pragmatic function, the diverse items that find themselves gathered in the adornment category may have performed multiple tasks: they may have created, unified, protected, reminded, empowered, or even subjugated people. More than labelling and "trapping" certain finds in a self-evident and somewhat static "personal adornment" category, it is important to acknowledge that their function, meaning, or agency are dependent on the archaeological contexts in which such artefacts have been produced, used, assembled, and, ultimately, found (Loren 2010, 10). For this reason, these attributions can also oscillate over the lifetime of such items. It is therefore our goal to inquire into these social lives led by objects (Appadurai 1986; Kopytoff 1986). Objects are expected to follow ideal "careers" in accordance with the social contexts they are part of, involving stages analogue to birth, life, and death (Kopytoff 1986). These pathways are intrinsically connected to their expected performance and perceived value or status.

Building onto the foundations first set out by Mauss (2003[1925]) in his *Essay on the Gift*, Kopytoff (1986) proposes that an object's status can be seen in a continuum that stretches from gift (sacred/inalienable) to commodity (profane/ fully alienable). Through processes of singularization or commoditization, objects can undergo changes in status during their biographies as they oscillate between different spheres of circulation. These shifts are particularly striking in cases of culture contact, as materials leave their original social context and enter a new one where they are expected to perform in rather different ways. Examples can be found in mass produced European glass beads received in exchange by indigenous peoples of the Americas, who perceived them to be valuable and powerful items (e.g., Keehnen 2012; 2019); and in indigenous material culture taken from source communities to be stored, catalogued, studied, and exhibited in Western museums (e.g., Françozo 2012; Gosden and Marshall 1999; Grognet 2005). In both cases, items used as bodily adornment have been notable (albeit not sole) "currency" of exchange. Contemporary processes, such as the cultural appropriation of forms of traditional dress by the fashion industry, can likewise serve to illustrate the idea of commoditization as a process: "as one makes [things] worthy of being collected, one makes them valuable; and if they are valuable, they acquire a price and become a commodity and their singularity is to that extent undermined" (Kopytoff 1986, 81). In modern and contemporary case-studies, historical sources and ethnographic insights play an important role in tracking the regional or global circulation of object types and the corresponding changes in expectations surrounding them.

By reconstructing object biographies, we can assess how objects were entangled in the biographies of people (Gosden and Marshall 1999; Hoskins 1998; 2006). In other words, a biographical approach offers a framework to understand the ways in which objects were appropriated by social actors, who interacted with them and who attributed sets of meanings to them. However, no specific research method is implied by a biographical approach; this has led to varied applications across and within each discipline concerned with the study of material culture. When studying archaeological artefacts, any biographical pursuit must inquire into the properties of materials and into the stages that predate those in which the artefacts are found—since the archaeological context is only their final repository.³ This is done by examining the qualities of objects and materials that demand and encourage action from humans (Gosden 2005; Hodder 2011; Jones 2004). Pursuing artefact biographies (Van Gijn 2010; 2012; Van Gijn and Wentink 2013) involves a focus on the materials themselves as means to seek answers. Archaeologists are well equipped to assess the changes artefacts undergo as a result of their successive life stages, as "[b]iographical information resides in the artefact, in the patina of age, wear and repair it acquires through its life" (Joy 2009, 545).

Archaeologists have indeed paid considerable attention to the life stages of artefacts, in particular by using an approach often referred to as the *chaîne opératoire*. This concept was originally proposed in francophone ethnology and archaeology and has since become an analytical tool for the understanding of technical processes (Balfet 1991; Cresswell 1983; Desrosiers 1991; Leroi-Gourhan 1993[1964]). This interest in technical sequences, gestures, and in bodily habits at large can be traced back to, among others, Mauss's (1973[1935]) essay on techniques of the body. The use of the *chaîne opératoire* in archaeology has involved the detailed study of entire assemblages of, *e.g.*, lithic remains recovered from archaeological sites (Bodu 1999; Cahen et al. 1980; Cahen and Karlin 1980; Inizan et al. 1999; Pelegrin 2000; 2005). Focus is not placed exclusively on (formal) tools to be classified into static typologies based on

³ That is, before they start their new careers as archaeological artefacts, museum objects, and their representations (Joyce and Gillespie 2015; Gosden and Marshall 1999).

their morphological or stylistic attributes. Instead, all remains are hierarchically organized according to their raw material and position in idealized operational sequences. These sequences of technical gestures and procedures would have had specific end-products, set as templates in the mind of the craftsperson (Pelegrin 1991). The recovered remains are thus understood as products of (technical) processes, rather than as fixed categories. The typical life stages of artefacts assessed in such manner can include raw material acquisition, production (itself divided in many successive stages: blank production, roughing-out, shaping, retouching, etc.), hafting, use, recycling, reuse, and discard (Cahen et al. 1980; Inizan et al. 1999; Wright 1992). The performance of technical operations, notably artefact production, is at the same time conservative and flexible: it involves individual skill and knowledge of materials, but follows sociallyconstrained procedures according to which materials can be successfully worked. In combination with experimental replications and contextual studies, such an approach has allowed researchers 1) to investigate processes of decision-making, knowledge transmission, and innovation (Cresswell 1983; Lemonnier 1993; Pelegrin 1991; 2005; Roux and Brill, eds. 2005; Tixier 1980) and 2) to understand how materials and resources were managed by prehistoric communities (Geneste 1992; Perlès 1980; 2007).

This understanding of the performance of techniques follows a social constructionist view of technology (sensu Killick 2004; Martinón-Torres and Killick 2015), according to which technological choices are not exclusively guided by material constraints, environmental conditions, pragmatism, or efficiency. Instead, the choices made from a pool of available alternatives are influenced by the socio-cultural context an individual was raised in and by what this person has been taught as the correct way of performing a given task (Cresswell 1983; Dobres 2010; Killick 2004; Lemonnier 1993; Pfaffenberger 1988; 1992; Sillar and Tite 2000). For this reason, a chaîne opératoire approach has also been regarded as providing an avenue into the social relationships and symbolism that shape and are shaped by craft practice (Dobres 2001; 2010; Farbstein 2011; Knappett 2012; Lemonnier 1993; Pfaffenberger 2001). Here I will use the chaîne opératoire approach to organize and make sense of the technological data gathered from the studied ornaments, such as techniques, tools, gestures, and sequences of production, alongside technical performance and technological choices. This data will constitute a key component of the ornament biographies that will be discussed in chapters 2, 4, and 5.

However, one must be aware of the limitations of the chosen approaches. In particular, pleas for a less mechanistic understanding of the life of objects have been made as a reaction to common assumptions in applications of the *chaîne* opératoire approach. The description and classification of material remains is arguably over-formalized and imposes an artificial linearity to the engagement of humans with materials, through the definition of discrete stages with clearly defined goals (Bar-Yosef and Van Peer 2009; Conneller 2006; Ingold 2013). Reconstructions have focused on an image of craft practice as the task of a single problem-solving individual. However, as Conneller (2006, 47) argues: "in practice chaînes opératoires are never individual, but always multiple, interconnected networks of action". A compartmentalized treatment of past activities often fails to grasp how certain artefacts were integrated in composite objects or in complex (inter-, multi-, or cross-)craft systems (Brysbaert 2007; 2011; Miller 2007; Shimada 1996; Tsoraki 2011; Van Gijn 2012; Van Gijn et al. 2008). Furthermore, an economic perspective is often prioritized when building the life of an artefact as a linear construct that follows a strict sequence of stages towards a single end-product with a specific function. Objects have use lives that extend beyond any purely utilitarian expectations; for instance, they can also be handled, passed down from hand to hand, wrapped and unwrapped, hidden away, displayed, cleaned, or be treated with a variety of substances (Breukel 2013; Choyke 2006; 2010; d'Errico 1993b; Van Gijn 2014b; 2017; Van Gijn and Wentink 2013; Wentink 2006; see also Chapter 3). We should not regard these processes as mere aesthetic or curious additions to an artefact's "real function". By recording the trajectories undergone by artefacts, we are equipped to highlight departures from our expected "utilitarian" biographies. Likewise, assuming that all object lives have a birth/beginning and a death/end, as understood in analogy with human lives, is rather limiting (Hahn and Weiss 2013; Joyce and Gillespie 2015). This had led researchers to propose *itineraries* as a more dynamic way to frame the lives of objects and their "extraordinary changeability" (Hahn and Weiss 2013, 9; also Fontijn 2013). This can be also linked to a concern with acknowledging that matter is in a perpetual state of becoming (Joyce and Gillespie 2015; also Ingold 2007; 2013). Here I opted for retaining the term biography, but keeping in mind that it does not need to be a coherent narrative with a beginning and an end. An object biography narrative is often incomplete due to limitations intrinsic to archaeological data (Joy 2009, 544). Despite the perpetual continuity of the lives of matter and the intrinsic

incompleteness of our reconstructions, a biographical approach can still be used to pursue a more holistic and relational view of how, throughout its life, an object is entangled in social interactions with other objects and humans. The biography metaphor will thus be used to provide a structuring framework with which we can make sense of the complex, dynamic, cyclical, and perhaps chaotic lives of objects.

1.2.2. No strings attached: pursuing the biographies of ornaments

Even if often found separated from each other in archaeological sites, beads and pendants were likely once connected to other components through string materials. The resulting objects (necklaces, belts, arm bands, and the like) are here collectively referred to as "composite ornaments"⁴. This often overlooked, but intrinsic characteristic of ornaments makes them particularly prone for having unexpected biographies, as aptly put in the following: "The integrity of a beaded dress ornament is as fragile as the material that holds it together [...]. Anyone who wears beaded jewellery or clothing is aware of its precarious nature, and has left at one time or another a trail of sequins or beads that if sufficiently valued are gathered up and refabricated" (Cifarelli 2018, 53; see also Bigi and Vidale 2009). Fragmentation and transformations are thus recurrent in the lives of composite ornaments. This may not be exclusively the product of accidental breakages, but also may be connected to a deliberate desire 1) to refashion a piece once it has served its purpose, 2) to add a personal touch to an object prior to further exchange, or 3) to gather pieces with different biographies in a single (powerful or memory-laden) object (e.g., Campbell 1983; Ewart 2012; Gaydarska et al. 2004; Van Gijn 2017; Wiessner 1982, 72; Walker 2009). This is because composite ornaments are assemblages of components, which are at a given point in time linked to each other. Despite the recurrent reassembly and reconstruction of archaeological necklaces as complete, symmetrical, and harmonious from a Western point of view, the individual components need not to have the same materials, colours, shapes, or even biographies (Frieman 2012; Woodward and Hunter 2015). Studying the biographies of individual components has allowed researchers to identify processes of fragmentation, singularization, and curation. For instance, objects may be removed from their typical life cycles, in order to be made into (parts of) something else. Through such processes, they can become "mnemonic devices" or "ancestor materials":

⁴ Examples of such objects are illustrated and discussed in Chapter 3.

new artefacts with a new role, but which are still reminiscent of their prior lives and their prior sets of meaning (Caple 2010; Cifarelli 2018; Jennings 2014; Loren 2009; Skeates 1995). The intergenerational circulation of ornaments as heirlooms has also been put forward on the basis of detailed artefact analysis (Choyke 2010; Van Gijn 2017; Woodward 2002; Woodward and Hunter 2015; see also Lillios 1999).

A biographical approach has often been used in the study of material exchange, particularly across different cultures. The capacities of a given object can be linked to its raw material and to its known or imagined origins. This can be illustrated by several case-studies from across the globe, such as ornaments made of skeletal materials (Chaumeil 2004; Choyke 2010), 18th-19th century remembrance hair jewellery (Holm 2004), and, more generally, exotic materials from faraway (Helms 1988). At the same time, the status of an object at any given time is a "state of being" (Lillios 1999, 243) dependent on the way it is regarded and dealt with by people (Fontijn 2013, 190-191; Stockhammer 2015). Nevertheless, the topic of exchange in archaeology has more often than not been addressed through studies that focus exclusively on the transfer of material. As Pollard and colleagues (2014) argue, a "simplistic view of provenance, with 'instantaneous' lines drawn from source to the final object, though objectively true, fails to engage with the rich life of the material beyond its first and last points" (Pollard et al. 2014, 627; see also Breukel 2019; Van Gijn and Wentink 2013). As argued above, this "rich life" can be assessed through the identification of processes such as technological modifications, fragmentation, curation, assemblage, and use (Brück and Davies 2018; Choyke 2006; Gavdarska et al. 2004; Perlès 2007; Sheridan and Davies 2012; Van Gijn 2017; Walker 2009; Woodward 2002; Woodward and Hunter 2015). For instance, we know from ethnographic accounts that composite ornaments acquired greater value depending on their specific histories of exchange and ownership, as visible on the surface of the objects themselves (Gosden and Marshall 1999; see references in Pollard et al. 2014, 628, and Spielmann 2002, 201). Practices of repolishing ornaments and groundstone celts upon receipt are also known archaeologically and ethnographically (Breukel 2019; Campbell 1983; Pétrequin and Pétrequin 2016). Researchers, therefore, need to also focus on elucidating what happens to a material after arrival and prior to (further) exchange. A purely quantitative assessment of the occurrence of exotic or presumably valuable materials cannot be sufficient for generating a

comprehensive understanding of how materials were circulated and made active in the past. Artefacts must also be investigated from a qualitative perspective that can further elucidate human action leading to observed patterns in material distribution (Lillios 1999, 238; Perlès 2007). This type of investigation is crucial in making the study of past exchange relevant from a social and technical point of view (Pollard et al. 2014). Furthermore, as discussed in section 1.1.3, certain materials may have been exchanged in the past, but present limited potential for provenance studies due to their wide regional availability. For instance, Kirch (1988) contrasts the exclusive focus archaeologists had placed on the exchange of mineral resources across the Pacific islands to the abundant and well-known ethnographic evidence for the long-distance exchange of shell ornaments. In order to demonstrate the exchange of shell valuables and explore its patterns, Kirch (1988) maps the occurrence of these items, taking into account not only raw material and typological variability, but also evidence for local production. In fact, the operations that compose a *chaîne opératoire* are organized in time and across geographical space (Perlès 1980; Geneste 1992). The hierarchical organization of an archaeological assemblage in technical stages can highlight the presence or absence of certain products, thus pointing to the states in which materials were brought into a given site (Perlès 2007). The percentage of each raw material and the corresponding states of importation can provide insight into the mechanisms of material acquisition and circulation. When seen as a group, these studies stress the need for pursuing the roles of ornaments in the past not only in connection with their types and raw materials, but also through careful examinations of their biographies.

1.3. Methodology

The previous section demonstrated that we cannot successfully inquire into the roles of ornaments by limiting ourselves to a typo-morphological approach. Furthermore, the identification of raw materials and their geological sources also present us with only part of the story. I argued that we should pursue the biographies of ornaments as a means of generating a more holistic understanding of the ways materials were dealt with by people in the past. This pursuit for a less static approach to the study of ornaments forms a key component of this dissertation. In the following, the method used here to operationalize artefact biographies is presented.

1.3.1. Through the jeweller's loupe: microwear analysis of ornaments

Biographies can be reconstructed by investigating the artefacts themselves. The direct observation of the surface of artefacts can provide information on the processes they have endured. Technological and functional approaches to artefact analysis have developed on the basis of this general idea, although not specifically visualizing these processes as part of a biography. While microscopic studies of wear traces have originally developed to study the function of isotropic lithic resources (Keelev 1974; 1980; Keelev and Newcomer 1977; Mansur 1990; Odell 2001; Plisson and Van Gijn 1989; Semenov 1973[1964]; Van Gijn 1990), they have been increasingly applied to other raw materials. In particular, microwear analysis⁵ has now been carried out on a much broader range of materials, focusing on traces connected to both technological and use activities (e.g., Adams 2004; Adams et al. 2009; Bradfield 2015; Breukel 2019; Buc 2011; Cuenca Solana et al. 2017; d'Errico 1993a; 1993b; De Angelis and Mansur 2010; Dubreuil and Savage 2014; Hamon 2008; Kelly 2003; Kononenko et al. 2010; Lammers-Keijsers 2007; Little et al. 2016; Maigrot 2005; Sidéra and Legrand 2006; Van Gijn et al. 2008; Van Gijn and Hofman 2008). The most common instruments of analysis are based on optical light microscopy (i.e. a stereomicroscope and a reflected or incident light metallographic microscope). At the same time, explorations of new instruments are ongoing, in particular of those providing quantitative measurements of wear (e.g., Borel et al. 2014; d'Errico et al. 2000; Evans and Donahue 2008; Ollé et al. 2016; Procopiou et al. 2013; Stemp et al. 2016). The identification of specific techniques, tools, and, more generally, contact materials is dependent on reproducing observed archaeological traces through controlled experiments (Bamforth 2010; Hurcombe 2008; Keeley 1980; Keeley and Newcomer 1977). Experiments may focus on reproducing specific tasks with controlled conditions (e.g., cleanness, time, number, type and strength of gesture), only changing one variable at a time. This type of clinical experiment allows for the characterization and identification of material interaction. Actualistic experiments can also be conducted, focusing instead on complex activities or production sequences that incorporate multiple gestures and variables. This has proven to be of importance, as real life conditions tend to be markedly different from laboratory settings (Van Gijn 2014a). Furthermore,

⁵ In order to highlight this focus on the study of traces from multiple origins, I opted for using the term microwear analysis throughout this dissertation, instead of other common terms, but of narrower scope, such as use-wear or functional analysis.

traces form on an artefact from multiple interactions over its biography, creating a micro-stratigraphy or even complex palimpsests on its surface (Akoshima and Kanomata 2015). Researchers have also investigated how natural or postexcavation processes affect studied materials and the preservation of wear, for instance by characterizing the damage caused by predators, taphonomic agents, and cleaning or curating practices on shell and bone (*e.g.*, d'Errico 1993a; Cuenca-Solana 2013; Graziano 2015; Orłowska 2018). It is in this context of an ever-growing and increasingly more diversified field of microwear studies that the present research is situated.

Here we consider primarily the study of ornaments produced through extractive-reductive crafts (sensu Miller 2007), such as the working of lithics and hard animal materials.⁶ This is because these are the most commonly recovered ornament raw materials from pre-colonial Caribbean contexts (section 1.1). Ornaments have received considerable attention from an artefact analysis perspective, in particular by researchers using some degree of magnification in search of greater insight on production, use, and taphonomy. The success and popularity of the use of magnification for ornament studies can be at least partially explained by: 1) the small sizes of ornaments, which limit the usefulness of direct observation with the naked eye, and 2) to the recurrent use of abrasive technologies in their production, which not only do not produce abundant remains such as debitage, but also tend to superpose and erase traces left by previous life stages. Many studies have used low power microscopy (magnifications of less than $100\times$), using a stereomicroscope or a DinoLite. Such instruments allow for the identification of manufacture traces, generally to the level of technique (i.e. percussion, pressure, drilling, and grinding), and their sequence of application. They also provide an understanding of use-wear presence, types, distribution, and degree of development. Archaeologists have focused especially on automorphic artefacts (in which the natural shape of the material has not been changed significantly), such as perforated whole shells or teeth (Alarashi 2010; Álvarez Fernández 2006; Bonnardin 2008; 2012; Cristiani and Borić 2012; Cristiani et al. 2014; d'Errico et al. 2005; Gutiérrez Zugasti and Cuenca Solana 2015; Langley and O'Connor 2016; Mărgărit et al. 2018; Sidéra and Giacobini 2002; Sidéra and Legrand 2006; Tatá et al. 2014). Low magnification microscopes have also been used for the study of lithic materials,

⁶ To the exclusion of ornament materials produced by transformative crafts, such as ceramic, porcelain, glass, and metals.

such as amber, jet, calcite, diorite, carnelian, and steatite (Alarashi 2016; Falci 2015; Sebire 2016; Van Gijn 2006; 2008; 2014b; 2017; Verschoof 2008).

Low magnification instruments are often used in combination with at least another microscope providing high magnifications (from 50x up to 1000x). A metallographic microscope can offer insight into contact materials, directionality, and superposition of traces. The analysis works through the same principles as more traditional use-wear studies, entailing the study of the surface micro-topography of an artefact. Observed features include polish, rounding, micro-removals, striations, pits, directionality, the micro-stratigraphy of traces, and potential residues (Adams et al. 2009; Keeley 1980; Mansur 1990; Van Gijn 1990). It has been used to identify both technological and use-related features, such as successive surface treatments, production toolkits, residues associated to attachment systems, and contact with other beads, skin, or fabrics (Brasser 2015; Breukel 2019; Cristiani and Borić 2012; Cristiani et al. 2014; Falci 2015; Groman-Yarolavski and Bar-Yosef Mayer 2015; Martí et al. 2017; Milner et al. 2016; Van Gijn 2006; 2008; 2014b; 2017; Verschoof 2008). The use of this type of microscope has been somewhat limited in ornament studies. This may be connected to the need for a 90° angle between the light source and the surface of the artefact, which can pose a challenge for the rounded surfaces common in ornaments. In addition, the bright, white, and/or reflective surfaces of certain materials, such as shell, teeth, and some lithics, may render observation of diagnostic features difficult. Furthermore, poor surface preservation affects this type of analysis to a greater degree than analyses with low magnification. Detailed examination of the inside of deep and steep features, such as perforations and incised grooves, requires the production of negative silicone impressions (casts) of the surface.

A Scanning Electron Microscope (SEM) has been used for a long time in bead studies, particularly for assessing the raw material of drill bits and the drilling mechanisms used (*e.g.*, twisting motion, palm drill, bow drill, etc.) (*e.g.*, Bains 2012; Gwinnett and Gorelick 1979; Gorelick and Gwinnett 1989; 1990; Kenoyer 1997; Kenoyer and Vidale 1992; Vidale 1995). This microscope allows good visibility of curvilinear surfaces, wider depth of field, a longer working distance, higher resolutions, and higher magnifications (Borel et al. 2014; Ollé et al. 2016). The SEM is also being used for the identification of carving techniques and toolkits, through the examination of the morphology and sequence of carved grooves and of the width of bands of striations under high magnification (d'Errico 1993a; 1993b; d'Errico et al. 2005; Melgar Tísoc and Andrieu 2016; Milner et al. 2016; Sax et al. 2004; Sax and Ji 2013; Velázquez Castro 2012). Multiple raw materials have been studied with the use of a SEM, both lapidary materials (agate, carnelian, nephrite, and jadeitite) and hard animal materials (shell, bone, and teeth). Limitations involved with the use of this microscope are higher costs, time-consuming analysis protocol, and the need for sample preparation (i.e. producing silicone casts of artefact surfaces and gold- or carbon-coating them for placement in a high vacuum chamber) (Borel et al. 2014). Furthermore, it does not permit direct observation and instant manipulation of samples.

More recently, X-ray micro-Computed Tomography (μ -CT scanning) has also been used for the study of (non-metallic) ornaments. It creates a 3D virtual model of the scanned object at high resolution $(5 - 10 \mu)$, including not only its surface, but also its inner structure. The model can be sectioned in multiple planes and observed features can be measured, isolated, or removed. In this way, it is possible to visualize both technological traces, such as the shape of the perforation and drilling marks, and structural features, such as different layers, inclusions, or air bubbles in a material (Huisman et al. 2012; Ngan-Tillard et al. 2014; 2018; Winnicka 2017; Yang et al. 2009; 2011; 2016). Thus far, it has been used for the study of beads made of glass, amber, steatite, jadeite, ostrich eggshell, and bone. It is a non-destructive technique and no sample preparation is required, as most beads are sufficiently small to be scanned in their entirety. Other analytical techniques have also been experimented with to assess their potential for the study of ornament making, such as microscopes for measuring surface roughness (e.g., Confocal Microscopy; Astruc et al. 2011; d'Errico et al. 2000; Wei et al. 2017) and Reflectance Transformation Imaging for examining incised carvings (Lauffenburger et al. 2015; Milner et al. 2016).

1.3.2. Adjusting the focus: studying ornaments from the Caribbean

The application of technological and, especially, microwear analyses to ornaments has been sparse in the Caribbean. Shell ornaments from sites in the French West Indies and Aruba have been studied, with emphasis on production sequences and toolkits (Lammers-Keijsers 2007; Serrand 1997; 2007). An experimental programme has been conducted alongside the study of shell bead-making remains from the workshop site at Grand Turk (Carlson 1993; 1995). In fact, experiments aiming to replicate the sequence of production and the use

of marine shell tools have been relatively more common in the region (Antczak 1999; Dacal Moure 1997; Lammers-Keijsers 2007; Lundberg 1987; O'Day and Keegan 2001). Despite the abundance of ornaments in lithic materials found throughout the Caribbean, there have not been many studies focused on their technology or use. Ornaments in lapidary materials from Saladoid and Huecoid contexts have received more attention from a technological point of view than later varieties (see Chapter 4 for a complete review). For instance, a study has been carried out on the reduction sequences involved in bead manufacture in lapidary materials, notably carnelian, from Montserrat (Bartone and Crock 1991; Crock and Bartone 1998). Four stages of ornament making were defined, involving hard hammer percussion and pressure flaking in the first two stages, respectively. The authors also recorded remnant drilled cones inside unfinished holes that suggest the use of hollow drill bits for perforating (Crock and Bartone 1998, 213). Other studies have been performed on assemblages recovered from sites in Martinique and St. Martin (Bérard 2004; Haviser 1999). Only a pilot experimental study focused on drilling technologies has been conducted, using SEM to examine traces produced on calcite (De Mille and Varney 2003; De Mille et al. 2008). In summary, despite the abundance of ornaments recovered from archaeological sites across the Caribbean, not many studies have focused on understanding crucial stages in their biographies. Chapters 4 and 5 provide more detailed reviews of previous studies focused on Caribbean ornaments, also including those primarily concerned with typology, iconography, raw material identification, and sourcing.

individual Microwear analysis of ornaments recovered from archaeological sites in the Caribbean will provide first-hand and fine-scale data that can be contrasted to the models reviewed in section 1.1. In order to create a dialogue and challenge previous ideas, we will investigate not only artefacts retrieved during recent systematic excavations, but also specimens from previously excavated and/or looted sites without good provenience data. Sites and collections that have for a long time served as basis for building the regional culture history need to be redressed by new approaches and methods, as noted at the onset of this chapter. Microwear analysis can be used to study artefacts with such different post-excavation biographies, provided that their limitations are acknowledged. Different collections require different approaches to their successful study. In each of the following chapters, collections of different composition and history of formation are researched. As a result, they have
experienced different degrees of modification after removal from archaeological sites or source communities. Furthermore, a great variety of ornament types and raw materials are encompassed in this selection. Different materials have different physico-chemical properties, which affect not only their workability, but also the formation of use-wear and their taphonomic preservation. Ornament types also varied considerably, encompassing minute "seed beads", 10cm-thick tubular beads, exquisitely carved anthropomorphic pendants, and a broad range of morphologies in between. The setting where the research was conducted oscillated between the Laboratory for Artefact Studies of Leiden University (Chapters 2 and 5), the Atelier de Conservation et Restauration of the Musée du quai Branly (Chapter 3), and field-based improvised laboratories in Grenada and the Dominican Republic (Chapters 4 and 5). This entailed the use of different microscope models for the studies: relatively portable equipment had to be transported to the Caribbean, while microscopes were available in the museum facilities in Paris. The Laboratory in Leiden is especially designed for microwear research; it thus provided ideal conditions for analysis. However, in many instances, it was decided not to take archaeological material from the Caribbean out of its country of origin. In each of the following chapters, the microscopic equipment used and the research protocol are specified. As a general rule, both low and high magnification microscopes were used. In spite of the differences in collections and research setting, the analysis form and registered features remained the same across all case-studies (form in Appendix 1). An image of the Access database used for registering each artefact can be found in Appendix 2. A supplementary analysis form was used for the ethnographic objects studied in Chapter 3 for general description (form in Appendix 3), alongside multiple forms for the individual ornaments that are part of each object. The cleaning protocol for ethnographic objects took into consideration their composite nature and fragility; it is described in detail in Chapter 3. For archaeological artefacts (Chapters 2, 4, and 5), the cleaning protocol involved carefully washing each artefact by hand in water with soap. When it was not possible to remove dirt by hand, artefacts were placed in an ultrasonic tank for a few minutes; this was only done in Leiden, as we did not have an ultrasound in the Caribbean. During analysis, the surfaces of artefacts were often cleaned with cotton soaked in alcohol or lighter fluid in order to remove grease produced by handling.

1.3.3. Reference collections

Bead research has a long tradition of experimental programmes, many of which concerned with technical performance, time expenditure, and craft specialization (e.g., Francis 1982; Carlson 1993; Miller 1996; Yerkes 1993). Only a portion of these experiments have been carried out with the goal of reproducing manufacture traces for comparison to microwear data (e.g., d'Errico et al. 1993; 2000; Groman-Yarolasvski and Bar-Yosef Mayer 2015; Gurova et al. 2013; Mărgărit et al. 2018; Tatá et al. 2014). În the present research, experiments related to ornament production were carried out to support interpretation. They have been performed in different occasions on the years of 2014, 2015, and 2016; experiments from the first two years have been previously reported elsewhere (Breukel 2019; Breukel and Falci 2017; Falci 2015). While the experiments of 2014 were exploratory, the experiments carried out in 2015 and 2016 were focused on addressing specific questions raised by the analysis of archaeological materials. Rather than replicating entire production sequences, I opted for reproducing individual techniques with use of different tools and additives. The techniques were intended to represent the main ornament making operations identified on the studied assemblages, namely blank acquisition (sawing), surface treatments (grinding and polishing), perforating (drilling and sawing), and carving for shaping or decorative purposes (incising and notching). In some cases, more than one technique was applied to a same bead blank; for instance, a surface was ground prior to polishing, while surfaces obtained through sawing were sometimes ground over. This provided insights on the micro-stratigraphy of traces, i.e. how traces belonging to earlier operations in the manufacture sequence would appear on (nearly) finished ornaments. Time was recorded for most experiments and photographic registration was made of all activities and products. The grinding and polishing experiments from 2016 were sequential experiments; in other words, casts were made of the worked surfaces at selected time intervals (for instance, 0', 15', 30', 60'). Moreover, the effects of the addition of abrasives (sand) and lubricants (water) were tested both individually and in combination.

Preference was given to working with only certain raw materials as ornament blanks, in particular those most common in the archaeological casestudies. This led to the choice of three marine shell species (*Lobatus gigas*, *Spondylus americanus*, and *Oliva reticularis*), one stony coral species (*Acropora cervicornis*), and the following lithic materials: calcite, diorite, amethyst, and, to a lesser degree, nephrite and serpentinite. The contact materials (i.e. tools) used for each experiment were chosen on the basis of a range of factors: preliminary hypotheses concerning the origin of observed traces on archaeological specimens, regional availability of raw materials, hypotheses previously advanced (Clerc 1974; Rostain 2006; Rodríguez Ramos 2010b), experiments by other researchers (Carlson 1993; Kelly 2003; Lammers-Keijsers 2007; Melgar Tísoc and Andrieu 2016), ethnohistoric sources (Las Casas 1992, 587), and ethnographic sources from lowland South America (Koch-Grünberg 2005; Ribeiro 1988; Roth 1924). The complete list of experiments conducted for this research can be found in Appendix 4, while the standard form used for recording the experiments can be found in Appendix 5. The relevant experiments are described and illustrated in Chapters 2 and 5, where they serve as basis for interpretation. Chapter 4 refers to the preliminary results of the sequential grinding and polishing experiments.

For the interpretation of ornament use-wear, we referred to published experiments that describe its location, characteristics, and formation rates (Álvarez Fernández 2006; Brasser 2015; d'Errico 1993a; d'Errico et al. 1993; Langley and O'Connor 2016; Mărgărit 2016; Minotti 2014; Vanhaeren et al. 2013; Verschoof 2008). The contributions and limitations of use-wear experiments for the study of ornaments are discussed in-depth in Chapter 3. Replicating the use of ornaments was not part of the experimental programme carried out here; this was due to the large number of studied raw materials and of artefacts that have undergone multiple stages of production. Their replication for use experiments would require more time and resources than at disposal. Here I investigate use-wear formation on ornaments through the systematic analysis of ethnographic composite ornaments. The studied objects belong to the lowland South American collections of the Musée du quai Branly. The choice for objects from this region is related to the traditionally advanced connections between this region and the Caribbean, as referred to in section 1.1. The studied objects include components made of mollusc shell, animal bone, quartz, among others. Even though we cannot control for variables such as use duration and contact materials when looking at such objects as a reference collection, they do provide a valuable window into attachment systems and the ways that individual components would have undergone processes of wear in real life. The variety of processes an ornament undergoes in its lifetime is very difficult to replicate in experimental programmes. A thorough overview of this study and its results can be found in Chapter 3.

1.4. Thesis outline

The remainder of this dissertation is composed of four chapters and a concluding chapter. The four main chapters have been published in peer-reviewed journals, as independent contributions to ornament studies and circum-Caribbean archaeology. The order of the chapters should not be regarded as a strict and predetermined sequence. Instead, it should be conceived as a beadwork: individual chapters are connected to each other at multiple levels and rely on each other for interpretation, but do not need to be read in the presented order. Nonetheless, they are separated in two consecutive parts, each dealing with one of the two main goals of this dissertation as proposed earlier in this introduction (Figure 3). The aim of Part 1 (Chapters 2 and 3) is to develop an approach for researching the biographies of bodily ornaments, taking into account challenges that are particularly common in circum-Caribbean archaeology—but, certainly not exclusive to it. In this sense, they provide the basis for the interpretations that will be made in the second part of the dissertation.



Figure 3: Graphical representation of the outline of this dissertation.

Part 2 (Chapters 4 and 5) focuses on applying the biographical approach developed in the previous chapters to the study of assemblages of ornaments from the two case-studies selected here. Each chapter primarily deals with the first research question posed above, i.e. how people dealt with ornaments in each of the studied contexts. The two case-studies give us the opportunity to delve into the biographies of ornaments not only from two different time periods, but also from different types of sites and assemblages: 1) a large assemblage of ornaments in different stages of production from a workshop site and 2) smaller assemblages of finished ornaments from settlement sites. In this sense, they illustrate the wide applicability of the approach proposed here. Both chapters include a review of archaeological debates surrounding ornaments and their raw materials for the relevant time period. The newly generated microwear data is interpreted in the form of ornament biographies, which are then contrasted to previous narratives about the socio-political roles of bodily adornment and its exchange.

Part 1: Designing a biographical approach to the study of bodily adornment

Chapter 2: Identifying challenges and proposing solutions

In this chapter, a case-study from north-central Venezuela is used as basis for developing a protocol for approaching ornaments from circum-Caribbean collections. We carried out a microwear study of 15 archaeological marine shell figurative ornaments from an early 20th century collection of the Ethnologisches Museum Berlin.⁷ This study deals with specific challenges faced during the analysis of collections that do not have (abundant) associated data concerning their provenience or specific archaeological context. This chapter, therefore, proposes an avenue for studying ornaments such as those found in many museum and private collections around the world. As (mostly) finished artefacts with no associated tools, production remains, or clear context of usage or deposition, the detailed analysis of their surfaces through microwear analysis offers one of the few avenues into their biographies. With this in mind, we propose a protocol for dealing with the micro-stratigraphy of traces observed on the surfaces

⁷ This research has been presented in its entirety in the author's Research Master thesis (Falci 2015). The processes of recontextualizing this collection in relation to, first, its particular history and, second, to trends in research and collecting in the Valencia Lake Basin are discussed in another two published journal articles (Antczak et al. 2019; Falci et al. 2017).

of such artefacts, involving technological stigma from multiple stages of production, use-wear and rejuvenation, post-depositional surface modifications, and curatorial interventions. The paper contextualizes the studied material in relation to other figurative ornaments, notably pendants, recovered across the Caribbean and northern South America. Similarly figurative artefacts in lithic materials and marine shells from the Antilles will be discussed in Chapters 4 and 5, so Chapter 2 also sets a protocol for investigating such complex items. The contents of this chapter have been published as the following:

Falci, C.G., Van Gijn, A.L, Antczak, M.M., Antczak, A.T., Hofman, C.L., 2017. Challenges for microwear analysis of figurative shell ornaments from pre-Colonial Venezuela. *Journal of Archaeological Science Reports* 11, 115-130. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jasrep.2016.11.029</u>

Chapter 3: Ornament biographies and use-wear studies

Following one of the research avenues in need of further study suggested in the previous chapter, this chapter looks at ethnographic collections of ornaments from lowland South America. The 38 objects studied here belong to multiple 19th-20th century collections housed at the Musée du quai Branly (Paris). Many specimens are composite objects, incorporating components made of organic, inorganic, and biomineral materials. The chapter reviews studies of ornament use-wear and notes some of their limitations. It critically discusses how the biographies of composite ornaments contrast to common archaeological interpretations, in particular regarding use-wear types and distribution. In other words, composite ornaments from real-world contexts are complex constructions whose biographies do not necessarily proceed in a linear manner. Many of the studied raw materials (*e.g.*, shell, bone, quartz) feature in the case-studies that follow; the ethnographic collection will thus be used as reference for the interpretation of use-wear. The contents of this chapter have been published as the following:

Falci, C.G., Cuisin, J., Delpuech, A., Van Gijn, A.L., Hofman, C.L., 2019. New insights into use-wear development in bodily ornaments through the study of ethnographic collections. *Journal of Archaeological Method and Theory* 26(2), 755-805. <u>http:// dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10816-018-9389-8</u>

Part 2: Biographical studies of Ceramic Age bodily ornaments

Chapter 4: A clash between production and exchange: lapidary biographies

The first case-study concerns the circulation of lapidary materials during the early part of the Early Ceramic Age in the eastern Caribbean. We focus on the study of a large private collection of ornaments retrieved from the site of Pearls on the island of Grenada. The site has been regarded as an important node in exchange networks of the period for its size, abundance of recovered materials, and proximity to South America (as discussed in section 1.1.2). This chapter presents the results of a combined study, involving identification of lithologies and technological analysis of 1273 ornaments in varied lithic raw materials and in different production stages. Of this total, a sample set of 100 ornaments was analysed for microwear. The studied collection is recontextualized through comparison with data stemming from previous research on the Pearls site and on other lapidary workshops from across the Caribbean. The combined use of these research methods provides insights on production logics and management strategies specific to each lapidary raw material. While the research carried out in this chapter is guided by a *chaîne opératoire* approach, the distribution of lapidary production sequences not only across time, but also across space highlights the importance of a biographical perspective. Only by tracing networks of action as expressed through the "fragmented" production sequences of many ornament materials, can we reconstruct past networks of interaction taking place across the Caribbean Sea. The contents of this chapter have been published as the following:

Falci, C.G., Knaf, A.C.S., Van Gijn, A.L., Davies, G.R., Hofman, C.L., 2020. Lapidary production in the eastern Caribbean: a typo-technological and microwear study of ornaments from the site of Pearls, Grenada. *Archaeological and Anthropological Sciences* 12:53. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12520-019-01001-4</u>.

Chapter 5: Recollecting lost beads: the biographies of ornaments from settlement sites The second case-study concerns bodily adornment in the later part of the

The second case-study concerns bodily adornment in the later part of the Late Ceramic Age in the Greater Antilles. As reviewed in section 1.1.2 and further argued in the chapter itself, ornaments are assumed to have a role in reinforcing inherited social hierarchies. However, few studies have been concerned with material-based research of ornaments from the period, despite

the great interest they have generally sparked. In this chapter, assemblages from five recently excavated settlement sites in the Dominican Republic are studied: the neighbouring sites of El Flaco, El Carril, and La Luperona in the northwestern region⁸, the site of Playa Grande on the northern coast, and the site of El Cabo on the eastern coast. The 312 recovered ornaments are made of a broad range of raw materials, but with clear predominance of calcite, plutonic rocks, and marine shells. The ornaments have been exhumed through modern and systematic excavation techniques, in contrast to materials in the previous chapters. Nevertheless, we are faced with challenges when making sense of such artefacts, albeit different ones: most of them are finished specimens, have been recovered either in isolation or in small groups from across the sites and in non-structured deposits, are not associated to identified ornament production tools or remains, and are not placed in burials that could offer insight on mode of wear and composite ornament type. A microwear study of these assemblages can provide a new perspective on their biographies and on the regional variability in ornament types, technologies, and raw materials. All artefacts were thus studied through microwear analysis and 10 specimens underwent µ-CT scanning to provide better visualization of their perforations. While researchers have stressed the role of bodily adornment in exchange, the widespread regional occurrence of the raw materials from which the studied ornaments are made prevents sourcing efforts. We circumvent this limitation by identifying ornament morpho-technical groups and their occurrence patterns across the five studied sites. The identification of such groupings provided insights into possible regional connections. The contents of this chapter have been published as the following:

Falci, C.G., Ngan-Tillard, D., Hofman, C.L., Van Gijn, A.L., 2020. The biographies of bodily ornaments from indigenous settlements of the Dominican Republic (AD 800–1600). *Latin American Antiquity* 0, 1-22. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1017/ laq.2019.101</u>

In the concluding chapter, the main findings of each study are revisited. In particular, the biographical patterns for ornaments in each time period are

⁸ Part of the research on the ornaments from the northwest of the Dominican Republic has been presented in the author's Research Master thesis (Falci 2015). It included materials from the 2013 and 2014 excavations of El Flaco and La Luperona, in addition to specimens recovered during surveys in the region.

summarized. The second and third research questions are addressed in this chapter: the contributions of our study to the understanding of exchange are discussed, at the same time as providing insights on the social roles held by bodily ornaments in the Caribbean. Furthermore, the contributions and limitations of the chosen approach and methods are evaluated. The implications of the results obtained here in regards to the (microwear) study of ornament collections are also stressed. Finally, avenues for future research are proposed.

1.5. Bibliography

- Adams, J.L., 2014. Ground stone use-wear analysis: A review of terminology and experimental methods. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 48, 129-138. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2013.01.030</u>
- Adams, J.L., Delgado-Raack, S., Dubreuil, L., Hamon, C., Plisson, H., and Risch, R., 2009. Functional analysis of macro-lithic artefacts: A focus on working surfaces.
 In: Sternke, F., Costa, L., and Eigeland, L. (eds.), *Non-Flint Raw Material Use in Prehistory: Old prejudices and new directions. Proceedings of the XV World Congress of the UISPP, Volume 11.* Oxford: Archaeopress, 43-66.
- Akoshima, K. and Kanomata, Y., 2015. Technological organization and lithic microwear analysis: an alternative methodology. *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology* 38, 17-24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaa.2014.09.003</u>
- Alarashi, H., 2010. Shell beads in the Pre-Pottery Neolithic B in Central Levant: Cypraeidae of Tell Aswad (Damascus, Syria). In: Álvarez Fernández, E. and Carvajal Contreras, D.R. (eds.), Not Only Food: Marine, terrestrial and freshwater molluscs in archaeological sites. Proceedings of the 2nd ICAZ Archaeomalacology Working group, Santander, 2008. Munibe Suplemento 31, 88-98.
- Alarashi, H., 2016. Butterfly beads in the Neolithic Near East: evolution, technology and socio-cultural implications. *Cambridge Archaeological Journal* 26(3), 493-512. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0959774316000342</u>
- Alberti, B., 2012. Cut, pinch and pierce. Image as practice among the Early Formative La Candelaria, First Millennium AD, northwest Argentina. In: Back Danielsson, I.M, Fahlander, F., and Sjöstrand, Y. (eds.), *Encountering Imagery. Materialities, perceptions, relations*. Stockholm: University of Stockholm Department of Archaeology and Classical Studies, 13-28.
- Alegría, R.E., 1995. La vestimenta y los adornos de los caciques Taínos y la parafernalia asociada a sus funciones mágico-religiosas. In: Alegría, R.E. and Rodríguez, M. (eds.), Proceedings of the XV International Congress for Caribbean Archaeology, San Juan, Puerto Rico, July 25th-30th 1993. San Juan: Centro de Estudios Avanzados de Puerto Rico y el Caribe, 295-310.

- Álvarez Fernández, E., 2006. Los objetos de adorno-colgantes del Paleolítico Superior y del Mesolítico en la cornisa cantábrica y en el valle del Ebro: Una visión europea. Salamanca: Ediciones Universidad de Salamanca.
- Antczak, A.T., 1999. Late prehistoric economy and society of the islands off the coast of Venezuela: A contextual interpretation of the non-ceramic evidence. London (unpublished Ph.D. thesis, University College London).
- Antczak, A.T., Antczak, M.M., and Falci, C.G., 2019. Vibrant pasts in museum drawers: Advances in the study of late precolonial (AD 800–1500) materials collected from north-central Venezuela. *Museum History Journal* 12(1), 52-74. <u>https://doi.org/10. 1080/19369816.2019.1609870</u>
- Appadurai, A., 1986. Introduction: commodities and the politics of value. In: Appadurai,A. (ed.), *The social life of things: commodities in cultural perspective*. Cambridge:Cambridge University Press, 3-63.
- Arnold, J., and Munns, A, 1994. Independent or attached specialization: the organization of shell bead production in California. *Journal of Field Archaeology* 21, 473-489. <u>https://doi.org/10.1179/009346994797175505</u>
- Arrom, J.J., 1975. *Mitología e artes prehispánicas de las Antillas*. Santo Domingo: Siglo XXI editores.
- Bains, R.K., 2012. *The social significance of Neolithic stone bead technologies at Çatalhöyük*. London (Ph.D. dissertation, University College London).
- Balfet, H., 1991. Des chaînes opératoires, pour quoi faire? In: Balfet, H. (ed.), Observer l'action technique: des chaînes opératoires, pour quoi faire? Paris: Éditions du CNRS, 11-19.
- Bamforth, D.B., 2010. Conducting experimental research as a basis for microwear analysis. In: Ferguson, J. (ed.), *Designing experimental research in archaeology: examining technology through production and use*. Boulder: University Press of Colorado, 93-109.
- Bartone, R.N. and Crock, J.G., 1991. Flaked stone industries at the early Saladoid Trants site, Montserrat, West Indies. In: Cummins, A. and King, P. (eds.), *Proceedings* of the Fourteenth International Congress for Caribbean Archaeology. Dover Convention Centre, Barbados, 22-28 July, 1991. Bridgetown: Barbados Museum and Historical Society, 124-146.
- Bar-Yosef Mayer, D.E. and Bosch, M.D., 2019. Special Issue: Early Personal Ornaments --- Humans' Earliest Personal Ornaments: An Introduction. *PaleoAnthropology* 2019, 19-23. <u>https://doi.org/10.4207/PA.2019.ART121</u>
- Baysal, E., 2013. Will the real specialist please stand up? Characterising early craft specialisation, a comparative approach for Neolithic Anatolia. *Documenta Praehistorica* 40, 233-246. <u>https://doi.org/10.4312/dp.40.19</u>
- Bellina, B., 2014. Maritime Silk Roads' ornament industries: Socio-political practices and cultural transfers in the South China Sea. *Cambridge Archaeological Journal*

24(3), 345-377. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0959774314000547

- Bérard, B., 2004. Les premières occupations agricoles de l'arc antillais, migration et insularité. Le cas de l'occupation Saladoïde ancienne de la Martinique. Oxford: Archaeopress.
- Bercht, F., Brodsky, E., Farmer, J.A., and Taylor, D. (eds.), 1997. *Taíno: Pre-Columbian art and culture from the Caribbean*. New York: Monacelli Press.
- Berman, M.J., 2011. Good as gold: The aesthetic brilliance of the Lucayans. In: Hauser, M.W. and Curet, L.A. (eds.), *Islands at the Crossroads: Migration, Seafaring, and Interaction in the Caribbean*. Tuscaloosa: The University of Alabama Press, 104-134.
- Bigi, E. and Vidale, M., 2009. Trashy treasures. Beads on the streets of Rome. *Ornament* 33(2), 54-57.
- Bodu, P., 1999. Paroles de pierre: Le concept de la chaîne opératoire appliqué aux industries lithiques paléolithiques. *Cahier des Thèmes Transversaux ArScAn* I, 86-90.
- Bonnardin, S., 2008. From traces to function of ornaments: Some examples. In: Longo, L. and Skakun, N.N. (eds.), 'Prehistoric technology' 40 years later: functional studies and the Russian legacy. Proceedings of the International Congress Verona (Italy), 20-23 April 2005. Oxford: Archaeopress, 297-308.
- Bonnardin, S., 2012. Parures de coquillages du néolitique en Europe (VIe-Ve millénaires av. J.-C.). *Techniques & Culture* 59, 26-43.
- Boomert, A., 1987. Gifts of the Amazons: "Greenstone" pendants and beads as items of ceremonial exchange in Amazonia and the Caribbean. *Antropológica* 67, 33-54.
- Boomert, A., 2000. Trinidad, Tobago, and the Lower Orinoco Interaction Sphere: An archaeological/ethnohistorical study. Alkmaar: Cairi Publications.
- Boomert, A., 2001a. Raptorial birds as icons of shamanism in the prehistoric Caribbean and Amazonia. In: Alofs, L. and Dijkhoff, R.A.C.F. (eds.), *Proceedings of the XIX International Congress for Caribbean Archaeology, Volume I. Aruba, July 22-28,* 2001. Aruba: Archaeological Museum Aruba, 121-157.
- Boomert, A., 2001b. Saladoid sociopolitical organization. In: Proceedings of the XVIII International Congress for Caribbean Archaeology, Grenada, July 11-17, 1999. Guadeloupe: L'Association Internationale d'Archéologie de la Caraïbe, 55-77.
- Boomert, A. 2007. Exotics from Pearls, Grenada. A preliminary assessment. In: *Proceedings of the XXII Conference of the International Association for Caribbean Archaeology (IACA)*, Kingston, Jamaica, July 23-29, 2007. Kingston, 1-25.
- Boomert, A. and Rogers, C.T., 2007. Troumassoid stone artifacts in Tobago: Rock types and source areas. In: Reid, B.A., Petitjean-Roget, H., and Curet, L.A. (eds), *Proceedings of the Twenty-First Congress of the International Association for Caribbean Archaeology, Volume 1. Trinidad and Tobago, 2005.* St. Augustine: The University of the West Indies, 282-294.

- Borel, A., Ollé, A., Vergés, J.M., and Sala, R., 2014. Scanning electron and optical light microscopy: two complementary approaches for the understanding and interpretation of usewear and residues on stone tools. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 48, 46-59. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2013.06.031</u>
- Bradfield, J., 2015. Use-trace analysis of bone tools: a brief overview of four methodological approaches. *The South African Archaeological Bulletin* 70(201), 3-14.
- Brasser, J.P., 2015. Jet artifacts from two Neolithic sites on the Dutch coast: An experimental approach. Leiden (Unpublished MSc thesis, University of Leiden).
- Breukel, T.W., 2013. *Threepointers on trial: a biographical study of Amerindian ritual artefacts from the pre-Columbian Caribbean*. Leiden (Unpublished RMA thesis, University of Leiden).
- Breukel, T.W., 2019. Tracing interactions in the indigenous Caribbean through a biographical approach: Microwear and material culture across the historical divide (AD 1200-1600). Leiden (Unpublished Ph.D. dissertation, University of Leiden).
- Breukel T.W. and Falci C.G., 2017. Experimental reproduction of wear traces on shell, coral, and lithic materials from the pre-colonial Caribbean. In: Velasquez C.B. and Haviser J.B. (eds.), *Proceedings of the 26th Congress of the IACA (International Association for Caribbean Archaeology)*. Sint Maarten: SIMARC.
- Brody, C.K., 2009. Studying the skeletons in the closet. Unprovenienced archeological collections in museums. Collections 5(3), 199-208. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/155019060900500303</u>
- Brück, J. and Davies, A., 2018. The social role of non-metal 'valuables' in Late Bronze Age Britain. *Cambridge Archaeological Journal* 28(4), 665-688. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S095977431800029X</u>
- Brumfiel, E.M. and Earle, T.K., 1987. Specialization, exchange and complex societies: an introduction. In: Brumfiel, E.M. and Earle, T.K. (eds), *Specialization, Exchange* and Complex Societies. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1-9.
- Brumm, A., Langley, M.C., Moore, M.W., Hakim, B., Ramli, M., Sumantri, I., Burhan, B., Saiful, A.M., Siagian, L., Sardi, R., Jusdi, A., 2017. Early human symbolic behavior in the Late Pleistocene of Wallacea. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences 114(16), 4105-4110. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1619013114</u>
- Brysbaert, A., 2007. Cross-craft and cross-cultural interactions during the Aegean and Eastern Mediterranean Late Bronze Age. In: Antoniadou, S. and Pace, A. (eds.), *Mediterannean Crossroads*. Athens: Pierides Museum, 325-359.
- Brysbaert, A., 2011. Technologies of re-using and recycling in the Aegean and beyond.
 In: Brysbaert, A. (ed.), *Tracing prehistoric social networks through technology: a diachronic perspective on the Aegean*. New York & London: Routledge, 183-203.
- Buc, N., 2011. Experimental series and use-wear in bone tools. Journal of Archaeological

Science 38(3), 546-557. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2010.10.009

- Cahen, D. and C. Karlin, 1980. Nouvelles voies pour l'étude des pierres taillées. In: Tixier, J. (ed.), *Préhistoire et technologie lithique. Journées d'études à Valbonne, 11-13 mai 1979*. Paris: Éditions du CNRS, 24-27.
- Cahen, D., C. Karlin, L.H. Keeley, and F. Van Noten, 1980. Méthodes d'analyse technique, spatiale et fonctionnelle d'ensembles lithiques. *Helinium Wetteren* 20(3), 209-259.
- Campbell, S., 1983. Attaining rank: a classification of shell valuables. In: Leach, J.W. and Leach, E. (eds.), *The Kula: New Perspectives on Massim Exchange*. Cambridge University Press, 229-248.
- Caple, C., 2010. Ancestor Artefacts–Ancestor Materials. *Oxford Journal of Archaeology* 29(3), 305-318. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0092.2010.00350.x</u>
- Carlson, L.A., 1993. Strings of command: manufacture and utilization of shell beads among the Taino indians of the West Indies. Gainesville (Unpublished MA thesis, University of Florida).
- Carlson, L.A., 1995. Strings of command: Manufacture and utilization of shell beads among the Taino. In: Alegría, R.E. and Rodríguez, M. (eds.), *Proceedings of the XV International Congress for Caribbean Archaeology, San Juan, Puerto Rico, July 25th-30th 1993.* San Juan: Centro de Estudios Avanzados de Puerto Rico y el Caribe, 97-109.
- Carter, A.K., 2015. Beads, exchange networks and emerging complexity: A case study from Cambodia and Thailand (500 BCE–CE 500). *Cambridge Archaeological Journal* 25(4), 733-757. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0959774315000207</u>
- Chanlatte-Baik, L.A., 1983. *Catálogo Arqueología de Vieques. Exposición del 13 de marzo al 22 de abril de 1983*. Santo Domingo: Editora Corripio.
- Chanlatte-Baik, L.A., 1987. Asentamiento poblacional Agro-I, complejo cultural La Hueca, Vieques, Porto Rico. In: Allaire, L. (ed.), Proceedings of the Tenth International Congress for the Study of the Pre-Columbian Cultures of the Lesser Antilles. Montréal: Centre de Recherches Caraïbes, Université de Montréal, 225-250.
- Chanlatte-Baik, L.A. and Narganes, Y.M., 1980. La Hueca Vieques: un nuevo complejo cultural agroalfarero en la arqueología antillana. In: Lewenstein, S.M. (ed.), Proceedings of the Eight International Congress for the Study of the Pre-Columbian Cultures of the Lesser Antilles. St. Kitts, July 30th-August 4th, 1979. Tempe: Arizona State University, 501-523.
- Chaumeil, J.P, 2004. Armados hasta los dientes. Los trofeos de dientes humanos en la Amazonia. In: Myers, T. and Cipolletti, M.S. (eds.), *Artifacts and society in Amazonia*. Bonn: Förderverein Bonner Amerikanistische Studien, 115-126.
- Choyke, A.M., 2006. Bone tools for a lifetime: Experience and belonging. In: L. Astruc, F. Bon, V. Léa, P.-Y. Milcent, and S. Philibert (eds.), *Normes techniques et pratiques*

sociales: De la simplicité des outillages pré-et protohistoriques. Actes des XXIVe Rencontres Internationales d'archéologie et d'histoire d'Antibes. Antibes: Éditions APDCA, 49-60.

- Choyke, A.M., 2010. The bone is the beast: Animal amulets and ornaments in power and magic. In: Campana, D.V., Crabtree, P., DeFrance, S.D., Lev-Tov, J. and Choyke, A. (eds.), Anthropological Approaches to Zooarchaeology: Complexity, Colonialism, and Animal Transformations. Oxford: Oxbow books, 197-209.
- Cifarelli, M., 2018. Entangled relations over geographical and gendered space: multicomponent personal ornaments at Hasanlu. In: Di Paolo, S. (ed.), *Composite Artefacts in the Ancient Near East. Exhibiting an imaginative materiality, showing a genealogical nature*. Oxford: Archaeopress, 51-61.
- Clerc, E., 1974. Le travail du coquillage dans les sites precolombiens de la Grande-Terre de Guadeloupe. In: Bullen, R.P. (ed.), Proceedings of the Fifth International Congress for the Study of pre-Columbian Cultures of the Lesser Antilles. Antigua, July 22-28, 1973. Antigua: The Antigua National Trust & The Antigua Archaeological Society, 127-132.
- Cody, A.K., 1991a. Prehistoric patterns of exchange in the Lesser Antilles: Materials, models, and preliminary observations. Unpublished MA thesis (San Diego State University).
- Cody A.K., 1991b. From the site of Pearls, Grenada: Exotic lithics and radiocarbon dates. In: Ayubi E.N. and Haviser J.B. (eds.), *Proceedings of the Thirteenth International Congress for Caribbean Archaeology Part 2, July 1989, Willemstad, Netherlands Antilles*. Willemstad: AAINA, 589-604.
- Cody, A.K., 1993. Distribution of exotic stone artifacts through the Lesser Antilles: Their implications for prehistoric interaction and exchange. In: Cummins, A. and King, P. (eds), Proceedings of the Fourteenth International Congress for Caribbean Archaeology, Dover Convention Centre, Barbados, 22-28 July 1991. Bridgetown: Barbados Museum and Historical Society, 204-226.
- Conklin, B.A., 1996. Reflections on Amazonian anthropologies of the body. *Medical Anthropology Quarterly. New Series* 10(3), 373-375.
- Conneller, C., 2004. Becoming deer. Corporeal transformations at Star Carr. Archaeological dialogues 11(1), 37-56. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S1380203804001357</u>
- Conneller, C., 2006. The Space and Time of the *Chaîne Opératoire*: Technological approaches to past landscapes. *Archaeological Review from Cambridge* 21(1), 38-49.
- Cresswell, R., 1983. Transferts de techniques et chaînes opératoires. *Techniques & Culture* 2, 143-159.
- Cristiani, E. and Borić, D., 2012. 8500-year-old Late Mesolithic garment embroidery from Vlasac (Serbia): technological, use-wear and residue analyses. *Journal* of Archaeological Science 39(11), 3450-3469. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.</u>

jas.2012.05.016

- Cristiani, E., Živaljević, I., and Borić, D., 2014. Residue analysis and ornament suspension techniques in prehistory: Cyprinid pharyngeal teeth beads from Late Mesolithic burials at Vlasac (Serbia). *Journal of Archaeological Science* 46, 292-310. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2014.03.018</u>
- Crock, J.G. and Bartone, R.N., 1998. Archaeology of Trants, Montserrat. Part 4. Flaked stone and stone bead industries. *Annals of Carnegie Museum* 67(3), 197-224.
- Cooper, J., Martinón-Torres, M., and Valcárcel Rojas, R., 2008. American gold and European brass: metal objects and indigenous values in the cemetery of El Chorro de Maíta, Cuba. In: Hofman, C.L., Hoogland, M.L.P., and Van Gijn, A.L. (eds.), *Crossing the Borders: New methods and techniques in the study of archaeological materials from the Caribbean*. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press, 34-42.
- Cuenca Solana, D., 2013. Utilización de instrumentos de concha para la realización de actividades productivas en las formaciones económico-sociales de los cazadoresrecolectores-pescadores y primeras sociedades tribales de la fachada Atlántica Europea. Santander: Servicio de Publicaciones de la Universidad de Cantabria.
- Cuenca Solana, D., Gutiérrez Zugasti, I., and González Morales, M.R., 2017. Usewear analysis: An optimal methodology for the study of shell tools. *Quaternary International* 427, 192-200. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quaint.2015.09.090</u>
- Curet, L.A., 1996. Ideology, chiefly power, and material culture: an example from the Greater Antilles. *Latin American Antiquity* 7(2), 114-131. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/971613</u>
- Curet, L.A., 2005. *Caribbean paleodemography: population, culture history, and sociopolitical processes in ancient Puerto Rico*. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press.
- Curet, L.A., 2014. The Taíno: Phenomena, concepts, and terms. *Ethnohistory* 61(3), 467-495. <u>https://doi.org/10.1215/00141801-2681759</u>
- Curet, L.A. and Hauser, M.W. (eds.), 2011. *Islands at the crossroads: migration, seafaring, and interaction in the Caribbean*. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press.
- Curet, L.A. and Hauser, M.W., 2011. Introduction: Migration, seafaring, and cultural contact in the Caribbean. In: Curet, L.A. and Hauser, M.W. (eds), *Islands at the crossroads: migration, seafaring, and interaction in the Caribbean*. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press, 1-10.
- Cybulski, J., 2010. Labrets and teeth on the Northwest Coast. In: Matson, R.G. (ed.), *The Crescent Beach Site and the Place of the Locarno Beach Phase*. Vancouver: University of British Columbia, 1-20.
- Dacal Moure, R., 1997. The recurrent forms in Tanki Flip. In: Versteeg, A.H. and Rostain, S. (eds.), *The archaeology of Aruba: the Tanki Flip site*. Oranjestad:

Archaeological Museum Aruba, 159-188.

- Dalton, G., 1977. Aboriginal economies in stateless societies. In: Earle, T.K. and Ericson, J.E. (eds), *Exchange Systems in Prehistory*. New York: Academic Press, 191-212.
- De Angelis, H. and Mansur, M.E., 2010. Artefactos de vidrio en contextos cazadores recolectores. consideraciones a partir del análisis tecnológico y funcional. *Revista Atlántica-Mediterránea de Prehistoria y Arqueología Social* 12, 59-73.
- De Mille, C.N. and Varney, T.L., 2003. A preliminary investigation of Saladoid stone bead manufacture. In: Proceedings of the XIX International Congress for Caribbean Archaeology, Aruba, July 22-28, 2001. Volume II. Aruba: Archaeological Museum Aruba, 43-55.
- De Mille, C.N., Varney, T.L., and Turney, M.H.J., 2008. Saladoid lapidary technology: New methods for investigating stone bead drilling techniques. In: Hofman, C.L., Hoogland, M.L.P., and Van Gijn, A.L. (eds.), *Crossing the Borders: New methods* and techniques in the study of archaeological materials from the Caribbean. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press, 78-89.
- d'Errico, F., 1993a. Identification des traces de manipulation, suspension, polissage sur l'art mobilier en os, bois de cervidés, ivoire. In: Anderson, P.C., Beyries, S., Otte, M., and Plisson, H. (eds.), *Traces et fonction: les gestes retrouvés. Actes du* colloque international de Liège Vol I. Liège: Service de Préhistoire, 177-188.
- d'Errico, F., 1993b. La vie sociale de l'art mobilier paléolithique. Manipulation, transport, suspension des objets on os, bois de cervidés, ivoire. *Oxford Journal of Archaeology* 12(2), 145-174. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0092.1993.tb00289.x</u>
- d'Errico, F., Jardón-Giner, P., and Soler-Mayor, B., 1993. Critères à base expérimentale pour l'étude des perforations naturelles et intentionnelles sus coquillages. In: Anderson, P.C., Beyries, S., Otte, M., and Plisson, H. (eds.), *Traces et fonction: les gestes retrouvés. Actes du colloque international de Liège Vol I*. Liège: Service de Préhistoire, 255-267.
- d'Errico, F., Roux, V., and Dumond, Y., 2000. Identification des techniques de finition des perles en calcédoine par l'analyse microscopique et rugosimétrique. In: Roux, V. (ed), *Cornaline de l'Inde. Des pratiques techniques de Cambay aux technosystèmes de l'Indus*. Paris: Maison des sciences de l'homme, 97-169.
- d'Errico, F., Henshilwood, C., Vanhaeren, M., and Van Niekerk, K., 2005. Nassarius kraussianus shell beads from Blombos Cave: Evidence for symbolic behaviour in the Middle Stone Age. Journal of Human Evolution 48(1), 3-24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhevol.2004.09.002</u>
- Desrosiers, S., 1991. Sur le concept de chaîne opératoire. In: Balfet, H. (ed.), *Observer l'action technique: des chaînes opératoires, pour quoi faire*? Paris: Éditions du CNRS, 21-25.
- Deter-Wolf, A. and Peres, T.M., 2013. Flint, bone, and thorns: using ethnohistorical data, experimental archaeology, and microscopy to examine ancient tattooing in Eastern

North America. In: Della Casa, P. and Witt, C. (eds.), *Tattoos and Modifications in Antiquity: Proceedings of the sessions at the EAA Annual Meetings in The Hague and Oslo, 2010/11. Zurich Studies in Archaeology* 9, 35-45.

- Díaz Peña, N., 2004. Documentación en colecciones arqueológicas de la cuenca del Lago de Valencia (Venezuela). *Acta Científica Venezolana* 55, 346-353.
- Dobres, M.-A., 2001. Meaning in the making: agency and the social embodiment of technology and art. In: Schiffer, M.B. (ed.), *Anthropological Perspectives on Technology*. Albuquerque: University of New Mexico Press, 47-76.
- Dobres, M.-A., 2010. Archaeologies of technology. *Cambridge Journal of Economics* 34(1), 103-114. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/cje/bep014</u>
- Dubreuil, L. and Savage, D., 2014. Ground stones: A synthesis of the use-wear approach. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 48, 139-153. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2013.06.023</u>
- Eicher, J.B. and Roach-Higgins, M.E., 1992. Definition and classification of dress: Implications for analysis of gender roles. In: Barnes R. and Eicher J.B. (eds.), *Dress and Gender: Making and Meaning*. Oxford: Berg Publishers, 8-28.
- Evans, A.A. and Donahue, R.E., 2008. Laser scanning confocal microscopy: a potential technique for the study of lithic microwear. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 35(8), 2223-2230. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2008.02.006</u>
- Ewart, E., 2012. Making and unmaking Panará beadwork Or, how to overcome the fixity of material things. *Anthropology and Humanism* 37(2), 177-190. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1548-1409.2012.01127.x</u>
- Faber Morse, B., 1989. Saladoid remains and adaptive strategies in St. Croix, Virgin Islands. In: Siegel, P.E. (ed.), *Early Ceramic population lifeways and adaptive strategies in the Caribbean*. Oxford: Archaeopress, 29-41.
- Falci, C.G., 2015. Stringing beads together: A microwear study of bodily ornaments in late pre-Colonial north-central Venezuela and north-western Dominican Republic. Leiden (unpublished RMA thesis Leiden University).
- Falci, C.G., Antczak, M.M., Antczak, A.T., and Van Gijn, A.L., 2017. Recontextualizing bodily ornaments from north-central Venezuela (AD 900-1500): the Alfredo Jahn collection at the Ethnologisches Museum Berlin. *Baessler-Archiv* 64, 87-112.
- Farbstein, R., 2011. Technologies of art: A critical reassessment of Pavlovian art and society, using chaîne opératoire method and theory. *Current Anthropology* 52(3), 401-432. <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/660057</u>
- Fewkes, J.W., 1903. Precolumbian West Indian amulets. *American Anthropologist* 5(4), 679-691.
- Fewkes, J.W., 1922. A prehistoric island culture of America. In: Hodge, F.W. (ed.), 34th Annual Report of the Bureau of American Ethnology to the Secretary of the Smithsonian Institution, 1912-1913. Washington: Government Printing Office, 35-281.

- Fewkes, J.W., 2009 [1907]. *The Aborigines of Porto Rico and Neighboring Islands*. The University of Alabama Press, Tuscaloosa.
- Fontijn, D.R., 2013. Epilogue: cultural biographies and itineraries of things: Second thoughts. In: Hahn, H.P. and Weiss, H. (eds.), *Mobility, meaning and transformations* of things: shifting context of material culture through time and space. Oxford: Oxbow Books, 183-195.
- Francis Jr., P., 1982. Experiments with early techniques for making whole shells into beads. *Current Anthropology* 23(6), 713-714. <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/202925</u>
- Françozo, M., 2012. "Dressed like an Amazon": The Transatlantic trajectory of a red feather coat. In: Hill, K. (ed.), *Museums and Biographies: Stories, Objects, Identities*. Suffolk: The Boydell Press, 187-199.
- Françozo, M. and Strecker, A., 2017. Caribbean collections in European museums and the question of returns. *International Journal of Cultural Property* 24(4), 451-477. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0940739117000248
- Françozo, M. and Ordoñez, M.P., 2019. Introduction to the special issue 'collecting Latin America in the nineteenth century'. *Museum History Journal* 12(1), 1-6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19369816.2019.1614754</u>
- Frieman, C., 2012. Going to pieces at the funeral: Completeness and complexity in early Bronze Age jet 'necklace' assemblages. *Journal of Social Archaeology* 12(3), 334-355. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1469605311431400</u>
- Frieman, C.J. and Janz, L., 2018. A very remote storage box indeed: The importance of doing archaeology with old museum collections. *Journal of Field Archaeology* 43(4), 257-268. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00934690.2018.1458527</u>
- Gamble, L.H., 2002. Fact or forgery: dilemmas in museum collections. *Museum* Anthropology 25(2), 3-20. https://doi.org/10.1525/mua.2002.25.2.3
- Garcia-Casco, A., Knippenberg, S., Rodríguez Ramos, R., Harlow, G.E., Hofman, C.L., Pomo, J.C., and Blanco-Quintero, I.F., 2013. Pre-Columbian jadeitite artifacts from the Golden Rock Site, St. Eustatius, Lesser Antilles, with special reference to jadeitite artifacts from Elliot's, Antigua: implications for potential source regions and long distance exchange networks in the Greater Caribbean, *Journal of Archaeological Science* 40, 3153-3169. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2013.03.025
- Gates St-Pierre, C., 2018. Needles and bodies: A microwear analysis of experimental bone tattooing instruments. *Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports* 20, 881-887. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jasrep.2017.10.027</u>
- Gaydarska, B., Chapman, J.C., Angelova, I., Gurova, M., and Yanev, S., 2004. Breaking, making and trading: the Omurtag Eneolithic Spondylus hoard. *Archaeologia Bulgarica* 8(2), 11-33.
- Geneste, J.-M. 1992. L'approvisionnement en matière première dans les systèmes de production lithique: la dimension spatiale de la technologie. In: Mora, R., Terradas, X., Parpal, A., and Plana, C. (eds.), *Tecnologia y cadenas operativas líticas*,

Treballs d'arqueologia I, reunión internacional, 15-18 enero de 1991. Bellaterra: Universitat Autónoma Barcelona, 1-36.

- Gilligan, I., 2010. The prehistoric development of clothing: archaeological implications of a thermal model. *Journal of Archaeological Method and Theory* 17(1), 15-80. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10816-009-9076-x
- Gorelick, L. and Gwinnett, A.J., 1989. Collars in the holes of Near Eastern cylinder seals. *Archeomaterials* 3(1), 39-46.
- Gorelick, L. and Gwinnett, A.J., 1990. Innovative lapidary in craft techniques in Neolithic Jarno. *Archeomaterials* 4(1), 25-32.
- Gosden, C., 2005. What do objects want? *Journal of Archaeological Method and Theory* 12(3), 193-211. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10816-005-6928-x</u>
- Gosden, C. and Marshall, Y., 1999. The cultural biography of objects. *World Archaeology* 31(2), 169-178. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00438243.1999.9980439</u>
- Graziano, S., 2015. Traces on Mesolithic bone spatulas: Signs of a hidden craft or postexcavation damage? In: Marreiros, J.M., Bicho, N.F., and Gibaja Bao, J.F. (eds.), *International Conference on Use-wear Analysis: Use-wear 2012.* Cambridge Scholars Publishing, 539-550.
- Groman-Yaroslavski, I. and Bar Yosef Mayer, D.E., 2015. Lapidary technology revealed by functional analysis of carnelian beads from the early Neolithic site of Nahal Hemar Cave, southern Levant. Journal of Archaeological Science 58, 77-88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2015.03.030
- Gurova, M., Bonsall, C., Bradley, B., and Anastassova, E., 2013. Approaching prehistoric skills: experimental drilling in the context of bead manufacturing. *Bulgarian e-journal of Archaeology* 3(2), 201-221.
- Guerra, M.F., 2008. Archaeometry and museums: Fifty years of curiosity and wonder. Archaeometry 50(6), 951-967. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-4754.2008.00415.x</u>
- Gutiérrez Zugasti, I. and Cuenca Solana, D., 2015. Ornaments from the Magdalenian burial area in El Mirón Cave (Cantabria, northern Spain). Were they grave goods? Journal of Archaeological Science 60, 112-124. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2015.04.012</u>
- Gwinnett, A.J. and Gorelick, L., 1979. Ancient lapidary. A study using Scanning Electron Microscopy and functional analysis. *Expedition* 22(1), 17-32.
- Hamilakis, Y., Pluciennik, M., and Tarlow, S., 2002. Introduction. In: Hamilakis, Y., Pluciennik, M., and Tarlow, S. (eds.), *Thinking through the body. Archaeologies of corporeality*. New York: Kluwer/Plenum, 1-21.
- Hamon, C., 2008. Functional analysis of stone grinding and polishing tools from the earliest Neolithic of north-western Europe. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 35(6), 1502-1520. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2007.10.017</u>
- Harlow, G.E., Murphy, A.R., Hozjan, D.J., De Mille, C.N., and Levinson, A.A., 2006. PreColumbian jadeite axes from Antigua, West Indies: Description and possible

sources. Canadian Mineralogist 44, 305-321.

- Hahn, H.P. and Weiss, H., 2013. Introduction: Biographies, travels and itineraries of things. In: Hahn, H.P. and Weiss, H. (eds.), *Mobility, meaning and transformations* of things: shifting contexts of material culture through time and space. Oxford: Oxbow Books, 1-14.
- Hardy, M.D., 2009. The St. Croix Archaeology Project and the Vescelius Collection: A Reexamination. *Bulletin of the Peabody Museum of Natural History* 50(1), 99-118. http://dx.doi.org/10.3374/014.050.0108
- Haviser, J.B., 1999. Hope Estate: lithics. In: Hofman, C.L. and Hoogland, M.L.P. (eds.), Archaeological Investigations on St. Martin (Lesser Antilles). The sites of Norman Estate, Anse des Peres, and Hope Estate. With a contribution to the 'La Hueca Problem'. Leiden: Leiden University Press, 203-213.
- Hauser, M.W. and Curet, L.A., 2011. Islands at the crossroads: archaeology of interaction in the Caribbean. In: Curet, L.A. and Hauser, M.W. (eds), *Islands at the crossroads: migration, seafaring, and interaction in the Caribbean*. University of Alabama Press, 219-232.
- Helms, M.W., 1987. Art styles as interaction spheres in Central America and the Caribbean: polished black wood in the Greater Antilles. In: Drennan, R.D. and Uribe, C.A. (eds), *Chiefdoms in the Americas*. Lanham: University Press of America, 67-84.
- Helms, M.W., 1988. Ulysses' Sail: An ethnographic odyssey of power, knowledge, and geographical distance. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Hicks, D. and Cooper, J., 2013. The Caribbean. In: Hicks, D. and Stevenson, A. (eds), World Archaeology at the Pitt Rivers Museum: a characterization. Oxford: Archaeopress, 401-408.
- Hirth, K.G., 1978. Interregional trade and the formation of prehistoric gateway communities. *American Antiquity* 43(1), 35-45. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/279629</u>
- Hodder, I., 1974. Regression analysis of some trade and marketing patterns. *World Archaeology* 6(2), 172-189. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00438243.1974.9979600</u>
- Hodder, I., 2011. Human-thing entanglement: towards an integrated archaeological perspective. *Journal of the Royal Anthropological Institute* 17(1), 154-177. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9655.2010.01674.x</u>
- Hofman, C.L., 2013. The Post-Saladoid in the Lesser Antilles (A.D. 600/800–1492).
 In: Keegan, W.F., Hofman C.L., and Rodríguez Ramos, R. (eds.), *The Oxford handbook of Caribbean archaeology*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 205-220.
- Hofman, C.L., Boomert, A., Bright, A.J., Hoogland, M.L.P., Knippenberg, S., and Samson, A.V.M., 2011. Ties with the homelands: archipelagic interaction and the enduring role of the South and Central American mainlands in the Pre-Columbian Lesser Antilles. In: Curet, L.A., and Hauser, M.W. (eds), *Islands at the crossroads: migration, seafaring, and interaction in the Caribbean*. University of Alabama

Press, 73-86.

- Hofman, C.L., Borck, L., Slayton, E., and Hoogland, M.L.P., 2019. Archaic Age voyaging, networks, and resource mobility around the Caribbean Sea. In: Hofman, C.L., and Antczak, A.T. (eds), *Early Settlers of the Insular Caribbean. Dearchaizing the Archaic*. Leiden: Sidestone Press.
- Hofman, C.L., Bright, A.J., Boomert, A., and Knippenberg, S., 2007. Island rhythms: The web of social relationships and interaction networks in the Lesser Antillean archipelago between 400 BC and AD 1492. *Latin American Antiquity* 18(3), 243-268. https://doi.org/10.2307/25478180
- Hofman, C.L., Bright, A.J., Hoogland, M.L., and Keegan, W.F., 2008. Attractive ideas, desirable goods: Examining the Late Ceramic Age relationships between Greater and Lesser Antillean societies. *Journal of Island and Coastal Archaeology* 3(1), 17-34. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15564890801984097</u>
- Hofman, C.L., Bright, A.J., and Rodríguez Ramos, R., 2010. Crossing the Caribbean Sea: towards a holistic view of pre-colonial mobility and exchange. *Journal of Caribbean Archaeology* Special Publication 3, 1-18.
- Hofman, C.L. and Hoogland, M.L.P., 2011. Unravelling the multi-scale networks of mobility and exchange in the pre-colonial circum-Caribbean. In: Hofman, C.L. and Van Duijvenbode, A. (eds.), *Communities in contact: Essays in archaeology, ethnohistory, & ethnography of the Amerindian circum-Caribbean*. Leiden: Sidestone Press, 15-44.
- Hofman, C.L., Mol, A.A.A., Rodríguez Ramos, R., and Knippenberg, S., 2014. Networks set in stone: Archaic-Ceramic interaction in the early pre-Colonial northeastern Caribbean. In: Bérard, B. and Losier, C. (eds), *Archéologie Caraïbe*. Leiden: Sidestone Press, 119-132 (Taboui. Collection d'Archéologie Caraïbe 2).
- Hofman, C.L. and Van Duijvenbode, A. eds., 2011. *Communities in contact: Essays in archaeology, ethnohistory, & ethnography of the Amerindian circum-Caribbean.* Leiden: Sidestone Press
- Hoogland, M.L.P and Hofman, C.L., 1999. Expansion of the Taino cacicazgos towards the Lesser Antilles. *Journal de la Société des Américanistes* 85, 93-113.
- Hoskins, J., 1998. *Biographical Objects: How things tell the story of people's lives*. London: Routledge.
- Hoskins, J., 2006. Agency, biography and objects. In: Tilley, C., Keane, W., Küchler, S., Rowlands, M., and Spyer, P. (eds.), *Handbook of Material Culture*. London: Sage Publications, 74-84.
- Hurcombe, L., 2008. Organics from inorganics: using experimental archaeology as a research tool for studying perishable material culture. *World Archaeology* 40(1), 83-115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00438240801889423</u>
- Ibáñez, J.J., Ortega, D., Campos, D., Khalidi, L., Méndez, V., and Teira, L., 2016. Developing a complex network model of obsidian exchange in the Neolithic Near

East: Linear regressions, ethnographic models and archaeological data. *Paléorient* 42(2), 9-32. https://doi.org/10.3406/paleo.2016.5718

- Ingold, T., 2001. Beyond art and technology: the anthropology of skill. In: Schiffer, M.B. (ed.), *Anthropological Perspectives on Technology*. Albuquerque: University of New Mexico Press, 17-31.
- Ingold, T., 2007. Materials against materiality. Archaeological Dialogues 14(1), 1-16.
- Ingold, T., 2013. *Making: anthropology, archaeology, art and architecture*. Oxford: Routledge.
- Inizan, M.L., Reduron-Ballinger, M., Roche, H., and Tixier, J., 1999. *Technology and Terminology of Knapped Stone*. Nanterre: Cercle de Recherches et d'Études Préhistoriques.
- Jones, A., 2004. Archaeometry and materiality: materials-based analysis in theory and practice. *Archaeometry* 46(3), 327-338. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-4754.2004.00161.x</u>
- Jennings, B., 2014. Repair, recycle or re-use? Creating mnemonic devices through the modification of object biographies during the Late Bronze Age in Switzerland. *Cambridge Archaeological Journal* 24(1), 163-176. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0959774314000055</u>
- Joy, J., 2009. Reinvigorating object biography: reproducing the drama of object lives. *World Archaeology* 41(4), 540-556. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00438240903345530</u>
- Joyce, R.A., 2005. Archaeology of the body. *Annual Review of Anthropology* 34, 139-158. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.anthro.33.070203.143729
- Joyce, R.A. and Gillespie, S.D., 2015. Making things out of objects that move. In: Joyce, R. and Gillespie, S.D. (eds.), *Things in Motion: Object Itineraries in Anthropological Practice*. Santa Fe: School for Advanced Research Press, 3-19.
- Keegan, W.F., 2000. West Indian archaeology. 3. Ceramic age. Journal of Archaeological Research 8(2), 135-167. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1009403127753</u>
- Keegan, W.F., 2004. Islands of chaos. In: Delpuech, A. and Hofman, C.L. (eds), *Late Ceramic Age societies in the eastern Caribbean*. Oxford: Archaeopress, 33-44.
- Keegan, W. F., 2013. The "classic" Taino. In: Keegan, W.F., Hofman C.L., and Rodríguez Ramos, R. (eds.), *The Oxford handbook of Caribbean archaeology*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 70-83.
- Keegan, W.F. and Hofman, C.L., 2017. *The Caribbean before Columbus*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Keehnen, F.W.M., 2012. Trinkets (f)or treasure? The role of European material culture in intercultural contacts in Hispaniola during early colonial times. Leiden (unpublished RMA thesis, Leiden University).
- Keehnen, F.W.M., 2019. Treating 'trifles': The indigenous adoption of European material goods in early colonial Hispaniola (1492–1550). In: Hofman, C.L. and Keehnen, F.W.M. (eds.), *Material Encounters and Indigenous Transformations in*

the Early Colonial Americas. Leiden: Brill, 58-83.

- Keeley, L.H., 1974. Technique and methodology in microwear studies: A critical review. World Archaeology 5(3), 323-336. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00438243.1974.997957</u> <u>7</u>
- Keeley, L.H., 1980. *Experimental Determination of Stone Tool Uses: A Microwear Analysis.* Chicago University Press.
- Keeley, L.H. and Newcomer, M.H., 1977. Microwear analysis of experimental flint tools: A test case. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 4(1), 29-52. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0305-4403(77)90111-X</u>
- Kelly, H.J., 2003. Amerindian coral tools: A pilot study in experimental archaeology on coral artefacts from Anse à la Gourde, Guadeloupe. Leiden (unpublished MA thesis, Leiden University).
- Kenoyer, J.M., 1997. Trade and technology of the Indus Valley: new insights from Harappa, Pakistan. World Archaeology 29(2), 262-280. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0</u> 0438243.1997.9980377
- Kenoyer, J.M. and Vidale, M., 1992. A new look at stone drills of the Indus Valley Tradition. In: Vandiver, P., Druzick, J.R., Wheeler, G.S., and Freestone, I. (eds), *Materials Issues in Art and Archaeology III*. Pittsburgh: Materials Research Society, 495-518.
- Kenoyer, J.M., Vidale, M., and Bhan, K.K., 1991. Contemporary stone beadmaking in Khambhat, India: Patterns of craft specialization and organization of production as reflected in the archaeological record. *World Archaeology* 23(1), 44-63. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00438243.1991.9980158</u>
- Killick, D., 2004. Social constructionist approaches to the study of technology. *World Archaeology* 36(4), 571-578. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0043824042000303746</u>
- King, J.A., 2016. Comparative colonialism and collections-based archaeological research: dig less, catalog more. *Museum Worlds* 4(1), 4-17. <u>https://doi.org/10.3167/</u> <u>armw.2016.040102</u>
- Kirch, P.V., 1988. Long-distance exchange and island colonization: The Lapita case. Norwegian Archaeological Review 21(2), 103-117. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00293</u> 652.1988.9965475
- Knappett, C., 2012. Materiality. In: Hodder, I. (ed.), *Archaeological Theory Today*. *Second edition*. Cambridge: Polity Press, 188-207.
- Knippenberg, S., 2007. Stone Artefact Production and Exchange among the Northern Lesser Antilles. Leiden: Leiden University Press (Archaeological Studies Leiden University 13).
- Koch-Grünberg, T., 2005. *Dois Anos entre os Indígenas: Viagens ao Noroeste do Brasil* (1903-1905). Manaus: Editora Universidade do Amazonas/Faculdade Dom Bosco.
- Kononenko, N., Torrence, R., Barton, H., and Hennell, A., 2010. Cross-cultural interaction on Wuvulu Island, Papua New Guinea: The perspective from use-wear

and residue analyses of turtle bone artifacts. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 37(11), 2911-2919. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2010.07.001</u>

- Kopytoff, I., 1986. The cultural biography of things: Commoditization as process. In: Appadurai, A. (ed.), *The Social Life of Things: Commodities in cultural perspective*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 64-91.
- Kuhn, S.L. and Stiner, M.C., 2007. Body ornamentation as information technology: Towards an understanding of the significance of early beads. In: Mellars, P., Boyle, K., Bar-Yosef, O., and Stringer, C. (eds.), *Rethinking the human revolution: New behavioural and biological perspectives on the origin and dispersal of modern humans*. Cambridge: McDonald Institute for Archaeological Research, 45-54.
- Laffoon, J.E., Rodríguez Ramos, R., Chanlatte Baik, L.A., Narganes Storde, Y.M., Rodríguez López, M., Davies, G.R., Hofman, C.L., 2014. Long-distance exchange in the precolonial Circum-Caribbean: A multi-isotope study of animal tooth pendants from Puerto Rico. *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology* 35, 220-235. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaa.2014.06.004
- Langley, M.C. and O'Connor, S., 2016. An enduring shell artefact tradition from Timor-Leste: Oliva bead production from the Pleistocene to Late Holocene at Jerimalai, Lene Hara, and Matja Kuru 1 and 2. *PloS ONE* 11(8), e0161071. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0161071</u>
- Las Casas, B. de, 1992. Apologética Historia Sumaria. 3 Volumes. Madrid: Alianza Editorial.
- Lauffenburger, J., Keats Webb, E., and Messier, P., 2015. SEM vs micro-Reflectance Transformation Imaging (RTI) for examining tool marks on Jade. Poster presented at the 43rd Annual Meeting of the American Institute for Conservation, Miami.
- Lemonnier, P., 1993. Introduction. In: Lemonnier, P. (ed.), *Technological Choices: Transformation in material cultures since the Neolithic*. London: Routledge.
- Lévi-Strauss, C., 1936. Contribution à l'étude de l'organisation sociale des Indiens Bororo. *Journal de la Société des Américanistes* 28(2), 269-304.
- Lévi-Strauss, C., 1963. Split representation in the art of Asia and America. In: Lévi-Strauss, C., *Structural anthropology*. New York: Basic Books Inc., 245-268.
- Leroi-Gourhan, A., 1993[1964]. Gesture and Speech. Cambridge: The MIT Press
- Lillios, K.T., 1999. Objects of memory: the ethnography and archaeology of heirlooms. *Journal of Archaeological Method and Theory* 6, 235-262. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1021999319447</u>
- Loren, D.D., 2009. Material manipulations: Beads and cloth in the French colonies. In: White, C.L. (ed.), *The Materiality of Individuality*. New York: Springer, 109-124.
- Loren, D.D., 2010. *Archaeology of clothing and bodily adornment in colonial America*. Gainesville: University Press of Florida.
- Lóven, S., 1935. Origins of the Tainan Culture, West Indies. Gothenburg: Elanders Boktryekeri Aktiebolag.

- Lundberg, E.R., 1987. Observations on Strombus columella fragments, cautionary notes and experimental microwear analysis. In: Allaire, L. and Mayer, F.-M. (eds.), Proceedings of the Tenth International Congress for the Study of the Pre-Columbian Cultures of the Lesser Antilles, Fort-de-France, Martinique, July 2-30, 1983. Montréal: Centre de Recherches Caraïbes, 347-361.
- Maigrot, Y., 2005. Ivory, bone and antler tools production systems at Chalain 4 (Jura, France), late Neolithic site, 3rd millennium. In: Luik, H., Choyke, A., Batey, C., and Lougas, L. (eds.), From Hooves to Horns, from Mollusc to Mammoth: Manufacture and Use of Bone Artefacts from Prehistoric Times to the Present. Proceedings of the 4th Meeting of the ICAZ Worked Bone Research Group at Tallinn, 26th-31st of August 2003. Tallinn Book Printers Ltd., 113-126.
- Malafouris, L., 2008. Beads for a plastic mind: The 'Blind Man's Stick'(BMS) hypothesis and the active nature of material culture. *Cambridge Archaeological Journal* 18(3), 401-414. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0959774308000449</u>
- Mansur, M.E., 1990. Instrumentos líticos: aspectos da análise funcional. *Arquivos do Museu de História Natural da UFMG* 11, 115-171.
- Mărgărit, M., 2016. Testing the endurance of prehistoric adornments: Raw materials from the aquatic environment. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 70, 66-81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2016.04.009
- Mărgărit, M., Radu, V., Boroneanţ, A., and Bonsall, C., 2018. Experimental studies of personal ornaments from the Iron Gates Mesolithic. Archaeological and Anthropological Sciences 10(8), 2095-2122. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12520-017-0522-5</u>
- Martí, A.P., Wei, Y., Gao, X., Chen, F., and d'Errico, F., 2017. The earliest evidence of coloured ornaments in China: The ochred ostrich eggshell beads from Shuidonggou Locality 2. *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology* 48, 102-113. <u>http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.jaa.2017.07.002</u>
- Martinón-Torres, M. and Killick, D., 2015. Archaeological theories and archaeological sciences. In: A. Gardner, M. Lake, and U. Sommer (eds.), *The Oxford Handbook* of Archaeological Theory. Oxford University Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/</u> oxfordhb/9780199567942.013.004
- Martinón-Torres, M., Valcárcel Rojas, R., Sáenz Samper, J., and Guerra, M.F., 2012. Metallic encounters in Cuba: the technology, exchange and meaning of metals before and after Columbus. *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology* 31(4), 439-454. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaa.2012.03.006</u>
- Mauss, M., 2003[1925]. Ensaio sobre a dádiva. In: Mauss, M., *Sociologia e Antropologia*. São Paulo: CosacNaify, 183-314.
- Mauss, M., 1973[1935]. Techniques of the body. Economy and society 2(1), 70-88.
- Mauss, M., 1993[1947]. Estética. In: Mauss, M., *Manual de etnografia*. Lisbon: Editorial Dom Quixote, 93-126.

- Melgar Tísoc, E.R. and Andrieu, C., 2016. Informe del análisis tecnológico de objetos de jadeíta de el Perú Waká. In: Pérez J.C. and Pérez, G. (eds.), Proyecto Arqueológico Regional Waká. Informe No. 13, temporada 15. Informe entregado a la Dirección General del Patrimonio Cultural y Natural, Nueva Guatemala de la Asunción, 265-280.
- Merriman, N. and Swain, H., 1999. Archaeological archives: serving the public interest? *European Journal of Archaeology* 2(2), 249-267. <u>https://doi.org/10.1179/</u> eja.1999.2.2.249
- Miller, M.A., 1996. The Manufacture of Cockle Shell Beads at Early Neolithic Franchthi Cave, Greece: A Case of Craft Specialization? *Journal of Mediterranean Archaeology* 9(1), 7-37.
- Miller, H.M.-L., 2007. Archaeological Approaches to Technology. London: Elsevier Academic Press.
- Miller, J., 2009. Things as persons: Body ornaments and alterity among the Mamaindê (Nambikwara). In: Santos-Granero, F. (ed.), *The occult life of things: Native Amazonian theories of materiality and personhood*. Tucson: University of Arizona Press, 60-80.
- Milner, N., Bamforth, M., Beale, G., Carty, J., Chatzipanagis, K., Croft, S., Conneller, C., Elliott, B., Fitton, L.C., Knight, B., Kröger, R., Little, A., Needham, A., Robson, H.K., Rowley, C.C.A., Taylor, B., 2016. A unique engraved shale pendant from the site of Star Carr: the oldest Mesolithic art in Britain. *Internet Archaeology* 40. http://dx.doi.org/10.11141/ia.40.8
- Minotti, M., 2014. Ornaments and use-wear analysis: Methods of study applied to the Adaïma necropolises. In: Marreiros, J.M., Bicho, N.F., and Gibaja Bao, J.F. (eds.), International Conference on Use-wear Analysis: Use-wear 2012. Cambridge: Cambridge Scholars Publishing, 80-89.
- Mol, A.A.A., 2007. Costly giving, giving guaiza's: towards an organic model of the exchange of social valuables in the Late Ceramic Age Caribbean. Leiden: Sidestone Press.
- Mol, A.A.A., 2011. The gift of the "face of the living": Shell faces as social valuables in the Caribbean Late Ceramic Age. *Journal de la Société des Américanistes* 97(2), 7-43. <u>https://doi.org/10.4000/jsa.11834</u>
- Mol, A.A.A., 2014. *The connected Caribbean. A socio-material network approach to patterns of homogeneity and diversity in the pre-colonial period.* Leiden: Sidestone Press.
- Moro Abadía, O. and Nowell, A., 2015. Palaeolithic personal ornaments: Historical development and epistemological challenges. *Journal of Archaeological Method and Theory* 22, 952-979. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10816-014-9213-z</u>
- Naji, M. and Douny, L., 2009. Editorial: Special issue on 'making' and 'doing' the material world. *Journal of Material Culture* 14(4), 411-432. <u>https://doi.</u>

org/10.1177/1359183509346184

- Narganes Storde, Y.M., 2005. Pendientes Antillanos, animales Suramericanos. In: Tavárez, M.G. and García Arévalo, M.A. (eds.) Proceedings of the XX International Congress for Caribbean Archaeology, Part I, Santo Domingo, June 29 – July 6, 2003. Santo Domingo: Museo del Hombre Dominicano and Fundación García Arévalo, 213-220.
- Newell, R.R., Kielman, D., Constandse-Westermann, T.S., Van der Sanden, W.A.B., and Van Gijn, A.L., 1990. An inquiry into the ethnic resolution of Mesolithic regional groups: The study of their decorative ornaments in time and space. Leiden: E.J. Brill.
- O'Day, S.J. and Keegan, W.F., 2001. Expedient shell tools from the northern West Indies. *Latin American Antiquity* 12(3), 274-290. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/971633</u>
- Odell, G.H., 2001. Stone tool research at the end of the millennium: Classification, function, and behavior. *Journal of Archaeological Research* 9(1), 45-100. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1009445104085</u>
- Oliver, J.R., 2000. Gold Symbolism among Caribbean Chiefdoms: Of Feathers, Çibas and Guanín Power among Taíno Elites. In: McEwan, C. (ed.), *Precolumbian Gold. Technology, Style and Iconography*. London: British Museum Press, 196-219.
- Oliver, J.R., 2009. Caciques and cemí idols: The web spun by Taíno rulers between Hispaniola and Puerto Rico. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press.
- Ollé, A., Pedergnana, A., Fernández-Marchena, J.L., Martin, S., Borel, A., and Aranda, V., 2016. Microwear features on vein quartz, rock crystal and quartzite: A study combining Optical Light and Scanning Electron Microscopy. *Quaternary International* 424, 154-170. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.quaint.2016.02.005</u>
- Olsen, B., 2012. Symmetrical archaeology. In: Hodder, I. (ed.), *Archaeological theory today. Second edition.* Cambridge: Polity press, 208-228.
- Orłowska, J., 2018. The same or different? Experimenting with the influence of peat environment on use-wear traces on antler tools. *International Journal of Osteoarchaeology* 28(2), 120-130. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/oa.2638
- Ortega, E.J., 2005. *Compendio General Arqueológico de Santo Domingo*. Vol. 1. Santo Domingo: Academia de Ciencias de la República Dominicana.
- Ostapkowicz, J., 2018. To produce "a pleasing effect:" Taíno shell and stone cibas and Spanish cuentas in the early colonial Caribbean. *Beads* 30, 3-15.
- Ostapkowicz, J., Ramsey, C.B., Brock, F., Higham, T., Wiedenhoeft, A.C., Ribechini, E., Lucejko, J.J., and Wilson, S.M., 2012. Chronologies in wood and resin: AMS 14C dating of pre-Hispanic Caribbean wood sculpture. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 39(7), 2238-2251. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2012.01.035</u>
- Panofsky, E., 1955. Iconography and iconology: an introduction to the study of Renaissance art. In: Panofsky, E., *Meaning in the visual arts. Papers in and on art history*. New York: Doubleday & Company, 26-54.

Pelegrin, J., 1991. Les savoir-faire: Une très longue histoire. Terrain 16, 106-113.

- Pelegrin, J., 2000. Les techniques de débitage laminaire au Tardiglaciaire: Critères de diagnose et quelques réflexions. Mémoires du Musée de préhistoire d'Ile-de-France 7, 73-86.
- Pelegrin, J., 2005. Remarks about archaeological techniques and methods of knapping: Elements of a cognitive approach to stone knapping. In: Roux, V. and Bril, B. (eds.), *Stone Knapping: The necessary condition for a uniquely hominid behavior*. Exeter: Short Run Press, 23-33.
- Perlès, C., 1980. Économie de la matière première et économie de la débitage: Deux exemples Grecs. In: Tixier, J. (ed.), *Préhistoire et technologie lithique: Journées* du 11-12-13 mai 1979. Valbone: Éditions du CNRS, 37-41.
- Perlès, C., 2007. Échanges et technologie: L'exemple du Néolithique. In: Évin, J. (ed.), Un siècle de construction du discours scientifique en Préhistoire. Volume III. Paris: Société préhistorique française, 53-62.
- Petitjean-Roget, J., 1963. The Caribs as seen through the dictionary of the Reverend Father Breton. In: Marin, B. and Theuvenin, H. (eds.), *Proceedings of the First International Convention for the Study of Pre-Columbian Culture in the Lesser Antilles Vol. 1.* Fort-de-France: Société d'Histoire de la Martinique, 43-68.
- Pétrequin, P., and Pétrequin, A.M., 2016. The production and circulation of Alpine jade axe-heads during the European Neolithic: Ethnoarchaeological bases of their interpretation. In: Biagetti, S., and Lugli, F. (eds.), *The Intangible Elements of Culture in Ethnoarchaeological Research*. Cham: Springer, 47-76.
- Pfaffenberger, B., 1988. Fetishised objects and humanised nature: towards an anthropology of technology. *Man* 23(2), 236-252. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2802804</u>
- Pfaffenberger, B., 1992. Social anthropology of technology. *Annual Review of Anthropology* 21(1), 491-516. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.an.21.100192.002423</u>
- Pfaffenberger, B., 2001. Symbols do not create meanings-activities do: or, why symbolic anthropology needs the anthropology of technology. In: Schiffer, M.B. (ed.), *Anthropological perspectives on technology*. Albuquerque: University of New Mexico Press, 77-86.
- Plisson, H. and Van Gijn, A.L., 1989. La tracéologie: mode d'emploi. L'Anthropologie 93(3), 631-642.
- Polanyi, K., 1957. The economy as instituted process. In: Polanyi, K., Arensberg, C.M., and Pearson, H.W. (eds.), *Trade and market in the early empires: Economies in history and theory*. Chicago: Henry Regnery Company, 243-270.
- Pollard, A.M., Bray, P.J., and Gosden, C., 2014. Is there something missing in scientific provenance studies of prehistoric artefacts? *Antiquity* 88(340), 625-631. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1017/S0003598X00101255</u>
- Procopiou, H., Morero, E., Vargiolu, R., Suarez-Sanabria, M., and Zahouani, H., 2013. Tactile and visual perception during polishing: An ethnoarchaeological study

in India (Mahabalipuram, Tamil Nadu). *Wear* 301(1-2), 144-149. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wear.2012.11.058</u>

- Renfrew, C., 1977. Alternative models for exchange and spatial distribution. In: Earle, T.K. and Ericson, J.E. (eds), *Exchange Systems in Prehistory*. New York: Academic Press, 71-90.
- Ribeiro, B.G., 1988. *Dicionário do artesanato indígena*. São Paulo: Editora da Universidade de São Paulo.
- Rifkin, R.F., Dayet, L., Queffelec, A., Summers, B., Lategan, M., d'Errico, F., 2015. Evaluating the photoprotective effects of ochre on human skin by in vivo SPF assessment: Implications for human evolution, adaptation and dispersal. *PLoS ONE* 10(9), e0136090. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0136090</u>
- Rigaud, S., d'Errico, F., and Vanhaeren, M., 2015. Ornaments reveal resistance of North European cultures to the spread of farming. *PLoS ONE* 10(4), e0121166. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0121166</u>
- Rival, L., 2005. Introduction: what constitutes a human body in native Amazonia? *Tipití: Journal of the Society for the Anthropology of Lowland South America* 3(2), 1-6.
- Roach-Higgins, M.E., and Eicher, J.B., 1992. Dress and identity. *Clothing and Textiles Research Journal* 10(4), 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1177/0887302X9201000401
- Rodet, M.J., Duarte-Talim, D., and dos Santos Junior, V., 2013. Cadeia operatória e análise tecnológica: uma abordagem metodológica possível mesmo para coleções líticas fora de contexto (exemplo das pontas de projétil do nordeste do Brasil). *Cuadernos del Instituto Nacional de Antropología y Pensamiento Latinoamericano–Series Especiales* 1(2), 264-278.
- Rodríguez, M.A., 1993. Early trade networks in the Caribbean. In: Cummins, A. and King, P. (eds.), Proceedings of the Fourteenth International Congress for Caribbean Archaeology, Dover Convention Centre, Barbados, 22-28 July 1991. Bridgetown: Barbados Museum and Historical Society, 306-314.
- Rodríguez, M.A., 1997. Religious beliefs of the Saladoid people. In: Wilson, S.M. (ed.), *The Indigenous People of the Caribbean*. Gainesville: University Press of Florida, 80-87.
- Rodríguez Ramos, R., 2010a. *Rethinking Puerto Rican Precolonial History*. Tuscaloosa: University Alabama Press.
- Rodríguez Ramos, R., 2010b. What is the Caribbean? An archaeological perspective. *Journal of Caribbean Archaeology Special Publication* 3, 19-51.
- Rodríguez Ramos, R., 2011. Close encounters of the Caribbean kind. In: Curet, L.A. and Hauser, M.W. (eds.), *Islands at the crossroads: migration, seafaring, and interaction in the Caribbean*. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press, 164-192.
- Rodríguez Ramos, R., 2013. Isthmo-Antillean engagements. In: Keegan, W.F., Hofman, C.L., and Rodríguez Ramos, R. (eds.), *The Oxford handbook of Caribbean archaeology*. New York: Oxford University Press, 155-170.

- Rodríguez Ramos, R., Babilonia, E., Curet, L.A., and Ulloa Hung, J., 2008. The Pre-Arawak pottery horizon in the Antilles: a new approximation. *Latin American Antiquity* 19(1), 47-63. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1045663500007653
- Rodríguez Ramos, R. and Pagán Jiménez, J., 2006. Interacciones multivectoriales en el Circum-Caribe precolonial: Un vistazo desde las Antillas. *Caribbean Studies* 34(2), 99-139.
- Roe, P.G., 1989. A grammatical analysis of Cedrosan Saladoid vessel form categories and surface decorations: Aesthetic and technical styles in early Antillean ceramics.
 In: Siegel, P.E. (ed.), *Early Ceramic Population Lifeways and Adaptive Strategies in the Caribbean*. Oxford: Archaeopress, 267-382.
- Roe, P.G., 1997. Just wasting away: Taíno shamanism and concepts of fertility. In: Bercht, F., Brodsky, E., Farmer, J.A., and Taylor, D. (eds.), *Taíno: Pre-Columbian art and culture from the Caribbean*. New York: Monacelli Press, 124-157.
- Rostain, S., 2006. Spécialisation et commerce dans les Guyanes amérindiennes. *Techniques & Culture* 46/47, 139-174.
- Roth, W.E., 1924. An introductory study of the arts, crafts, and customs of the Guiana Indians, in F.W. Hodge (ed), *Thirty-eighth Annual Report of the Bureau of American Ethnology to the secretary of the Smithsonian Institute, 1916-1917.* Washington: Government Printing Office, 25-745.
- Rouse, I.B., 1982. Ceramics and religious development in the Greater Antilles. *Journal* of New World Archaeology 5(2), 45-55.
- Rouse, I.B., 1986. *Migrations in Prehistory: inferring population movement from cultural remains.* Yale University Press.
- Rouse, I.B., 1992. *The Tainos: Rise and decline of the people who greeted Columbus.* New Haven: Yale University Press.
- Roux, V. and Bril, B., eds., 2005. *Stone Knapping: The necessary condition for a uniquely hominid behavior*. Exeter: Short Run Press.
- Sahlins, M.D., 1963. Poor man, rich man, big-man, chief: political types in Melanesia and Polynesia. *Comparative studies in society and history* 5(3), 285-303. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1017/S0010417500001729</u>
- Samson, A.V.M., 2010. *Renewing the house: trajectories of social life in the* yucayeque (community) of El Cabo, Higüey, Dominican Republic, AD 800 to 1504. Leiden: Sidestone Press.
- Santos-Granero, F., 2012. Beinghood and people-making in native Amazonia: A constructional approach with a perspectival coda. *HAU: Journal of Ethnographic Theory* 2(1), 181-211. <u>https://doi.org/10.14318/hau2.1.010</u>
- Schertl, H.-P., Maresch, W.V., Knippenberg, S., Hertwig, A., Belando, A.L., Rodríguez Ramos, R., Speich, L., and Hofman, C.L., 2019. Petrography, mineralogy and geochemistry of jadeite-rich artefacts from the Playa Grande excavation site, northern Hispaniola: evaluation of local provenance from the Río San Juan

Complex. *Geological Society, London, Special Publications* 474, SP474-3. <u>https://doi.org/10.1144/SP474.3</u>

- Sebire, M., 2016. The Marks of Metal. An experimental project using microwear analysis to investigate prehistoric amber beads from the northern Netherlands. Leiden (unpublished MSc thesis, Leiden University).
- Seeger, A., 1975. The meaning of body ornaments: A Suya example. *Ethnology* 14(3), 211-224. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/3773253</u>
- Semenov, S.A., 1973[1964]. Prehistoric Technology: An Experimental Study of the Oldest Tools and Artefacts from Traces of Manufacture and Wear. Bath: Adams & Dart.
- Serrand, N., 1997. Tanki Flip shell artifacts with a relatively high level of modification. In: Versteeg, A.H. and Rostain, S. (eds.), *The archaeology of Aruba: the Tanki Flip site*. Oranjestad: Archaeological Museum Aruba, 189-217.
- Serrand, N., 2007. Exploitation des invertébrés par les sociétés précolombiennes des Petites Antilles. *Journal de la société des américanistes* 93(1), 7-47. <u>https://doi.org/10.4000/jsa.6213</u>
- Serrand, N. and Cummings, K.S., 2014. Occurrences of exogenous freshwater mussel shells (Bivalvia: Unionoida) during the precolumbian ceramic age of the Lesser Antilles. In: Szabó, K., Dupont, C., Dimitrijević, V., Gastélum, L.G., and Serrand, N. (eds.), Archaeomalacology: Shells in the Archaeological Record. Oxford: Archaeopress, 65-75.
- Service, E.R., 1971[1962]. *Primitive Social Organization: An Evolutionary Perspective*. New York: Random House.
- Sheridan, A., Davis, M., Clark, I., and Redvers-Jones, H., 2002. Investigating jet and jetlike artefacts from prehistoric Scotland: The National Museums of Scotland project. *Antiquity* 76(293), 812-825. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0003598X00091298</u>
- Shimada, I., 1996. Sicán metallurgy and its cross-craft relationships. *Boletín Museo del Oro* 41, 27-61.
- Sidéra, I. and Giacobini, G., 2002. Outils, armes et parures en os funéraires à la fin du Néolithique d'après Val-de-Reuil et Porte-Joie (Eure) [Représentations individuelles et pratiques collectives]. *Gallia préhistoire* 44, 215-230. <u>https://doi.org/10.3406/galip.2002.2035</u>
- Sidéra, I. and Legrand, A., 2006. Tracéologie fonctionnelle des matières osseuses: Une méthode. *Bulletin de la société préhistorique française* 103(2), 291-304.
- Siegel, P.E., 1997. Ancestor worship and cosmology among the Taíno. In: Bercht, F., Brodsky, E., Farmer, J.A., and Taylor, D. (eds.), *Taíno: Pre-Columbian art and culture from the Caribbean*. New York: Monacelli Press, 106-111.
- Siegel, P.E., 2009. Curating the Past: Caribbean Archaeology at the Yale Peabody Museum of Natural History. Bulletin of the Peabody Museum of Natural History 50(1), 209-215. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3374/014.050.0115</u>

- Siegel, P.E., 2010. Continuity and change in the evolution of religion and political organization on pre-Columbian Puerto Rico. *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology* 29(3), 302-326. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaa.2010.04.002
- Sillar, B. and Tite, M., 2000. The challenge of 'technological choices' for materials science approaches in archaeology. *Archaeometry* 42(1), 2-20.
- Spielmann, K.A., 2002. Feasting, craft specialization, and the ritual mode of production in small-scale societies. *American Anthropologist* 104(1), 195-207. <u>https://doi.org/10.1525/aa.2002.104.1.195</u>
- Stemp, W.J., Watson, A.S., and Evans, A.A., 2015. Surface analysis of stone and bone tools. Surface Topography: Metrology and Properties 4(1), 013001. <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/2051-672X/4/1/013001</u>
- Stockhammer, P.W., 2015. Lost in things: an archaeologist's perspective on the epistemological potential of objects. *Nature and Culture* 10(3), 269-283. <u>https://</u> doi.org/10.3167/nc.2015.100302
- Taborin Y., 1991. La parure des Solutréens et des Magdaléniens anciens des Jamblancs. *Paléo* 3, 101-108. <u>https://doi.org/10.3406/pal.1991.1039</u>
- Taborin, Y., 1993. Traces de façonnage et d'usage sur les coquillages perforés. In: Anderson, P.C., Beyries, S., Otte, M., and Plisson, H. (eds.), *Traces et Fonction: Les gestes retrouvés. Actes du colloque international de Liège Vol I.* Liège: Service de Prehistoire, 255-267.
- Tátá, F., Cascalheira, J., Marreiros, J., Pereira, T., and Bicho, N., 2014. Shell bead production in the Upper Paleolithic of Vale Boi (SW Portugal): An experimental perspective. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 42, 29-41. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2013.10.029</u>
- Thomas, J., 2002. Archaeology's humanism and the materiality of the body. In: Hamilakis, Y., Pluciennik, M., and Tarlow, S. (eds.), *Thinking through the Body. Archaeologies of corporeality.* New York: Kluwer/Plenum, 29-46.
- Tixier, J., 1980. Expériences de taille. In: Tixier, J. (ed.), Préhistoire et Technologie Lithique. Journées d'études à Valbonne, 11-13 mai 1979. Paris: Éditions du CNRS, 47-49.
- Torres-Rouff, C., 2012. Piercing the body: Labret use, identity, and masculinity in prehistoric Chile. In: Baadsgaard, A., Boutin, A.T., and Buikstra, J.E. (eds.), *Breathing new life into the evidence of death: contemporary approaches to bioarchaeology*. Santa Fe: School for Advanced Research Press.
- Trubitt, M.B.D., 2003. The production and exchange of marine shell prestige goods. Journal of Archaeological Research 11(3), 243-277. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1025028814962</u>
- Tsoraki, C., 2011. Disentangling neolithic networks: Ground stone technology, material engagements and networks of action. In: Brysbaert, A. (ed.), *Tracing Prehistoric Social Networks through Technology: A diachronic perspective on the Aegean.*

New York & London: Routledge, 12-29.

- Turner, T., 2012 [1980]. The social skin. *HAU: Journal of Ethnographic Theory* 2(2), 486-504. <u>https://doi.org/10.14318/hau2.2.026</u>
- Valcárcel Rojas, R., Martinón-Torres, M., Cooper, J., and Rehren, T., 2007. Oro, guanines y latón. Metales en contextos aborígenes de Cuba. *El Caribe Arqueológico* 10, 116-131.
- Van Duijvenbode, A., 2012. A reappraisal of intentional cranial modification among the indigenous inhabitants of Suriname in Prehistoric and Historic times. *Caribbean Connections* 2(1), 1-11.
- Van Gijn, A.L., 1990. *The Wear and Tear of Flint. Principles of functional analysis applied to Dutch Neolithic assemblages.* Leiden: Institute of Prehistory.
- Van Gijn, A.L., 2006. Ornaments of jet, amber and bone. In: Louwe Kooijmans, L.P. and Jongste, P.F.B. (eds.), *Schipluiden: A Neolithic Settlement on the Dutch North Sea Coast c. 2500 cal. BC.* Leiden: Faculty of Archaeology, 195-205.
- Van Gijn, A.L., 2008. De ornamenten van Ypenburg. In: Koot, J.M., Bruning, L., and Houkes, R.A. (eds.), *Ypenburg-locatie 4. Een nederzetting met grafveld uit het Midden-Neolithicum in het West-Nederlandse kustgebied.* Leiden: Station Drukwerk Leiden, 277-288.
- Van Gijn, A.L., 2010. *Flint in Focus: Lithic biographies in the Neolithic and Bronze Age.* Leiden: Sidestone Press.
- Van Gijn, A.L., 2012. New perspectives for microwear analysis. In: Bakels, C.C. and Kamermans, H. (eds.), *The End of our Fifth Decade*. Leiden: Faculty of Archaeology, 275-282.
- Van Gijn, A.L., 2014a. Science and interpretation in microwear studies. Journal of Archaeological Science 48,166-169. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2013.10.024</u>
- Van Gijn, A.L., 2014b. Beads and pendants of amber and jet. In: Theunissen, E.M., Brinkkemper, O., Kleijne, J.P., Lauwerier, R.C.G.M., and Smit, B.I. (eds.), A mosaic of habitation at Zeewijk (the Netherlands). Late Neolithic behavioural variability in a dynamic landscape. Amersfoort: Cultural Heritage Agency of the Netherlands, 119-128.
- Van Gijn, A.L., 2017. Bead Biographies from Neolithic Burial Contexts: Contributions from the Microscope. In: Bar-Yosef Mayer, D.E., Bonsall, C., and Choyke, A.M. (eds.), Not just for show: The archaeology of beads, beadwork, and personal ornaments. Oxford: Oxbow Books, 103-114.
- Van Gijn, A.L. and Hofman, C.L., 2008. Were they used as tools? An exploratory functional study of abraded potsherds from two pre-colonial sites on the island of Guadeloupe, northern Lesser Antilles. *Caribbean Journal of Science* 44(1), 21-36. <u>https://doi.org/10.18475/cjos.v44i1.a4</u>
- Van Gijn, A.L., Lammers-Keijsers, Y.M.J., and Briels, I., 2008. Tool use and technological choices: An integral approach toward functional analysis of Caribbean tool

assemblages. In: Hofman, C.L., Hoogland, M.L.P., and Van Gijn, A.L. (eds.), *Crossing the Borders: New methods and techniques in the study of archaeological materials from the Caribbean*. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press, 101-114.

- Van Gijn, A.L. and Wentink, K., 2013. The role of flint in mediating identities: The microscopic evidence. In: Hahn, H.P., and Weiss, H. (eds.), *Mobility, meaning and transformations of things: shifting contexts of material culture through time and space*. Oxford: Oxbow Books, 120-132.
- Vanhaeren, M. and d'Errico, F., 2006. Aurignacian ethno-linguistic geography of Europe revealed by personal ornaments. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 33(8), 1105-1128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2005.11.017
- Vanhaeren, M., d'Errico, F., Van Niekerk, K.L., Henshilwood, C.S., and Erasmus, R.M., 2013. Thinking strings: Additional evidence for personal ornament use in the Middle Stone Age at Blombos Cave, South Africa. *Journal of Human Evolution* 64(6), 500-517. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhevol.2013.02.001</u>
- Vega, B., 1979. *Los metales y los aborígenes de la Hispaniola*. Santo Domingo: Ediciones Museo del Hombre Dominicano.
- Veloz Maggiolo, M., Ortega, E.J., and Caba, A. 1981. *Los modos de vida Meillacoides y sus posibles orígenes*. Santo Domingo: Editora Taller.
- Verschoof, W.B., 2008. Kralen voor de doden: Het gebruik van barnsteen in de TRBperiode (3400-2750 cal. BC). Leiden (unpublished BA thesis Leiden University).
- Vescelius, G.S. and Robinson, L.S., 1979. Exotic Items in Archaeological Collections from St. Croix: Prehistoric Imports and their Implications. Paper presented to the Eighth International Congress for the Study of the Pre-Columbian Cultures of the Lesser Antilles, St. Kitts.
- Vidal, L. (ed.), 1992. *Grafismo Indígena. Estudos de Antropologia Estética*. São Paulo: EdUSP.
- Vidale, M., 1995. Early beadmakers of the Indus tradition. The manufacturing sequence of talc beads at Mehrgarh in the 5th Millennium BC. *East and West* 45, 45-80.
- Vilaça, A., 2005. Chronically unstable bodies: Reflections on Amazonian corporalities. Journal of the Royal Anthropological Institute 11 (3), 445-464.<u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9655.2005.00245.x</u>
- Walker, H., 2009. Baby hammocks and stone bowls: Urarina technologies of companionship and subjection. In: Santos-Granero, F. (ed.), *The Occult Life of Things: Native Amazonian theories of materiality and personhood*. Tucson: The University of Arizona Press, 81-102.
- Warnier, J.P., 2009. Technology as efficacious action on objects... and subjects. *Journal of Material Culture* 14(4), 459-470. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1359183509345944</u>
- Watson, A.S., Plog, S., Culleton, B.J., Gilman, P.A., LeBlanc, S.A., Whiteley, P.M., Claramunt, S., and Kennett, D.J., 2015. Early procurement of scarlet macaws and the emergence of social complexity in Chaco Canyon, NM. *Proceedings*

of the National Academy of Sciences 201509825. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/</u>pnas.1509825112

- Watters, D.R., 1997. Maritime trade in the prehistoric Eastern Caribbean. In: Wilson, S.M. (ed.), *The Indigenous people of the Caribbean*. Gainesville: University Press of Florida, 88-99 (Ripley P. Bullen Series 6).
- Watters, D.R. and Brown, J.A., 2001. New data from old Caribbean collections at Carnegie Museum of Natural History. In: Richard, G. (ed.), *Proceedings of the* 18th International Congress for Caribbean Archaeology Vol. 2. St. George: International Association for Caribbean Archaeology, 291-303.
- Watters, D.R. and Scaglion, R., 1994. Beads and pendants from Trants, Montserrat: Implications for the prehistoric lapidary industry of the Caribbean. *Annals of the Carnegie Museum* 63(3), 215-237.
- Wentink, K., 2006. Ceci n'est pas une hache: *Neolithic depositions in the northern Netherlands*. Leiden: Sidestone Press.
- White, C.L. and Beaudry, M.C., 2008. Artifacts and personal identity. In: Gaimster, D. and Majewski, T. (eds.), *International Handbook of Historical Archaeology*. New York: Springer, 209-225.
- White, R., 1992. Beyond art: Toward an understanding of the origins of material representation in Europe. *Annual Review of Anthropology* 21, 537-564.
- White, R., 2002. Observations technologiques sur les objets de parure de la grotte de Renne. In: Schmider, B. (ed.), Les fouilles d'André Leroi-Gourhan à Arcy-sur-Cure (Yonne). *Gallia Préhistoire* Supplément XXXIVe, 257-266.
- White, R., 2007. Systems of personal ornamentation in the Early Upper Palaeolithic: Methodological challenges and new observations. In: Mellars, P., Boyle, K., BarYosef, O., and Stringer, C. (eds.), *Rethinking the Human Revolution: New Behavioural and Biological Perspectives on the Origin and Dispersal of Modern Humans*. Cambridge: McDonald Institute for Archaeological Research, 287-302.
- Wilson, S.M., 1993. The cultural mosaic of the Indigenous Caribbean. *Proceedings of the British Academy* 81, 37-66.
- Wilson, S.M., 2007. The Archaeology of the Caribbean. Cambridge University Press.
- Winnicka, K., 2017. Late Neolithic V-perforated buttons from a female burial in SE Poland: a comprehensive study of raw material, bone technology and use-life. *Analecta Praehistorica Leidensia* 47, 59-73.
- Wobst, H.M., 1977. Stylistic behavior and information exchange. In: Cleland, C.E. (ed.), For the director: research essays in honor of James B. Griffin. Anthropology Papers 61. Ann Arbor: Museum of Anthropology, University of Michigan, 317-342.
- Woodward, A., 2002. Beads and beakers: heirlooms and relics in the British Early Bronze Age. *Antiquity* 76(294), 1040-1047.
- Woodward, A. and Hunter, J., 2015. Ritual in Early Bronze Age grave goods. Oxford:

Oxbow Books.

- Wright, K.I., 1992. A classification system for ground stone tools from the prehistoric Levant. *Paleorient* 18(2), 53-81.
- Wright, K.I. and Garrard, A.N., 2003. Social identities and the expansion of stone beadmaking in Neolithic western Asia: new evidence from Jordan. *Antiquity* 77(296), 267-284. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0003598X00092267</u>
- Yang, Y., Yang, M., Xie, Y., and Wang, C., 2009. Application of micro-CT: A new method for stone drilling research. *Microscopy research and technique* 72(4), 343-346. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jemt.20659</u>
- Yang, M., Yang, Y., and Wang, C., 2011. A new 3D information acquisition method of micro-drilling marks on ancient perforated stone bead through micro-CT. *Journal* of X-ray science and technology 19(3), 333-343. <u>https://doi.org/10.3233/XST-2011-0297</u>
- Yang, Y., Wang, C., Gao, X., Gu, Z., Wang, N., Xiao, T., and Wang, C., 2018. Micro-CT investigation of ostrich eggshell beads collected from Locality 12, the Shuidonggou site, China. Archaeological and Anthropological Sciences 10(2), 305-313. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1007/s12520-016-0355-7</u>
- Yerkes, R.W., 1993. Methods of manufacturing shell beads at prehistoric Mississippian sites in southeastern North America. In: Anderson, P.C., Beyries, S., Otte, M., and Plisson, H. (eds.), *Traces et Fonction: Les Gestes Retrouvés. Actes du colloque international de Liège Vol I*. Liège: Service de Prehistoire, 235-242.
- Zerboni, A., Salvatori, S., Vignola, P., Mohammed, A.E.R.A., and Usai, D., 2018. The long-distance exchange of amazonite and increasing social complexity in the Sudanese Neolithic. *Antiquity* 92(365), 1195-1209. <u>https://doi.org/10.15184/</u> aqy.2018.196
Part 1: Designing a biographical approach to the study of bodily adornment

Challenges in the analysis of circum-Caribbean collections

Published as:

Falci, C.G., Van Gijn, A.L, Antczak, M.M., Antczak, A.T., Hofman, C.L., 2017. Challenges for microwear analysis of figurative shell ornaments from pre-Colonial Venezuela. *Journal of Archaeological Science Reports* 11, 115-130. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jasrep.2016.11.029</u>



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jasrep

Challenges for microwear analysis of figurative shell ornaments from pre-Colonial Venezuela



Catarina Guzzo Falci*, Annelou Van Gijn, M. Magdalena Antczak, Andrzej T. Antczak, Corinne L. Hofman

Faculty of Archaeology, Leiden University, Einsteinweg 2, 2333 CC Leiden, The Netherlands

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 17 June 2016 Received in revised form 11 November 2016 Accepted 15 November 2016 Available online 1 December 2016

Keywords: Shell ornaments Microwear analysis Bodily adornments Pre-Colonial South America Circum-Caribbean Valencioid archaeology Museum collections

1. Introduction

In recent years, a number of microwear studies have been conducted on the topic of production technologies and use of archaeological bodily ornaments, especially beads and pendants. Specimens made of stone, minerals and hard animal materials, such as shell and teeth have received considerable attention (e.g., Bonnardin, 2008, 2012; D'Errico et al., 2009; Gorelick and Gwinnett, 1989; Groman-Yaroslavski and Bar-Yosef Mayer, 2015: Gutiérrez-Zugasti and Cuenca-Solana, 2015: Rigaud et al., 2014; Sax and Ji, 2013; Stiner et al., 2013; Van Gijn, 2006, 2014a; Vanhaeren et al., 2006; Vanhaeren and D'Errico, 2003). Automorphic shell artefacts and simple geometric beads predominate as the main objects of study. In spite of the abundance of shell and lithic ornaments recovered in the circum-Caribbean, a microwear approach has only seldom been applied to such artefacts (De Mille et al., 2008; Falci, 2015; Lammers-Keijsers, 2007; Serrand, 1999). It is our goal to show how the ornaments from the region can bring new insights for the field of ornament studies worldwide.

In the circum-Caribbean, figurative ornaments made of lithic materials and shells were recovered from Early Ceramic Age sites (400 BCE–600 CE/800) in the Lesser Antilles and Puerto Rico and from the Late Ceramic Age (600 CE/800–1500) in the Greater Antilles and north-eastern South America (Antczak and Antczak, 2006; Boomert, 1987, 2001; Chanlatte Baik, 1984; Falci, 2015; Hofman et al., 2007; Narganes Storde, 1995). The pendants depict beings with zoomorphic

ABSTRACT

Figurative ornaments displaying biomorphic and geometric designs have often been recovered from pre-Colonial sites in the Caribbean and northern South America. Such artefacts are held in museum and private collections, but often have not been the focus of systematic research. On the other hand, recent research into ornaments world-wide has focused on simple beads and automorphic shell ornaments. In this article, microwear analysis is used to assess technologies of production and use-wear of figurative shell ornaments from north-central Venezuela. It is our goal to reflect on the challenges posed by such collections, in terms of reproducibility of traces through experiments, post-depositional and curatorial modifications, and the complexity of past attachment configurations. The underlying question is how to deal with the limitations posed by the very nature of the studied collection in terms of preservation and of the high skill required in the reproduction of figurative artefacts.

© 2016 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

(e.g., frogs, turtles, and birds) and/or anthropomorphic (males, females, or undefined) traits. A wide range of lithic materials was used for the production of figurative ornaments, including calcite, plutonic rocks, jadeite, nephrite, and serpentinite (Boomert and Rogers, 2007; Hofman et al., 2007, 2014a; Murphy et al., 2000; Rodríguez Ramos, 2010, 2013; Watters and Scaglion, 1994). In northern South America, ornaments, especially frog-shaped pendants known as muiraquitãs, have been widely exchanged, as suggested by their wide occurrence across the Amazon and the Guianas during the late pre-Colonial period (Barata, 1954; Boomert, 1987; Moraes et al., 2014; Falci and Rodet, 2016; Rostain, 2006, 2014). The muiraquitãs are made of varied raw materials, including jadeite, nephrite, albite, variscite-strengite, and quartz (Meirelles and Costa, 2012). Bivalve and gastropod shells, common raw materials on the islands and the coast of South America, have also been shaped into biomorphic ornaments (Antczak and Antczak, 2006; Lammers-Keijsers, 2007; Murphy et al., 2000; Vargas Arenas et al., 1997). Such artefacts received attention from researchers interested in iconographic designs, raw materials, cultural interaction, and cosmologies in the circum-Caribbean (e.g., Boomert, 2001; Chanlatte Baik, 1984; Hofman et al., 2007, 2014a; Laffoon et al., 2014; McGinnis, 1997; Mol, 2011; Roe, 2011). However, technology and use-wear remain underexplored.

The present research focuses on figurative ornaments from the eastern shore of Lake Valencia in north-central Venezuela. Produced in the area from approximately 800 CE to 1500, the ornaments have been associated with other *muiraquitã* production centres, due to the similarity in iconographic motifs (Boomert, 1987; Rostain, 2006, 2014). Many artefact assemblages from the Valencia Lake Basin are the result of

Corresponding author.
 E-mail address: c.guzzo.falci@arch.leidenuniv.nl (C.G. Falci).

unsystematic excavations during the late 19th and 20th centuries (Antczak and Antczak, 2006; Díaz Peña, 2006). A collection of ornaments made of shells and lithics is currently housed in the Ethnologisches Museum Berlin (formerly the Museum für Völkerkunde). The artefacts display multiple perforations, notches and figurative elements. Such elaborate morphologies lead us to questions regarding the presence of highly skilled and specialized craftsmen in the region, as suggested by other researchers (Vargas Arenas et al., 1997).

At the same time, designing a research methodology necessitates an evaluation of whether task-oriented experiments can offer us insight into production technologies and patterns of wear. Similarly, post-depositional surface modifications (PDSM) and long post-excavation trajectories have to be taken into account during analysis. It is necessary to assess how detrimental those are to a microscopic analysis. The aim of the present article is therefore threefold: 1) to present the results of the microwear analysis of the ornaments and suggest new avenues for future research in the studied regions; 2) to discuss the challenges faced during laboratory analysis can shed light into the complex biographies of figurative ornaments which involve multiple stages of production and use.

1.1. The Valencia Lake Basin

The north-central Venezuela region comprises a rich combination of diverse geological and topographic features, and ecosystems. From north to south it includes: 1) the oceanic islands and archipelagos; 2) the Caribbean coast; 3) the Cordillera de la Costa mountain range; and 4) the Valencia Lake Basin with islands and alluvial/lacustrine fertile valleys (Fig. 1). To the south, the Serranía del Interior separates the lake from the llanos (savanna plains) and the Orinoco River valley. The geographical centre of the study region is Lake Valencia, a landlocked formation that dates back to the Middle Tertiary (Böckh, 1956; Schubert,

1978, 1980). Located in an area with seasonally dry tropical climate, the lake is the largest, permanent freshwater reservoir in lowland South America, north of the Amazon (Bradbury Platt et al., 1981; Curtis et al., 1999; Leyden, 1985; Raymond and Chardón, 1941; Xu and Jaffé, 2008). It rests at an altitude of 402 m ASL, and has a spill point at 427 m ASL, attaining a maximum depth of 38 m. It covers an area of 350 km² with a watershed of 2646 km². In the recent past, the lake reached a maximum areal extent of 1050 km² and a maximum depth of 63 m (Berry, 1939). The Valencia Lake Basin and the Cordillera de la Costa mountain range to the north are geological formations rich in a variety of rocks of igneous and metamorphic origin (Berry, 1939; Urbani, 2000; Urbani and Rodríguez, 2003).

The basin was a magnet for humans probably since the late Pleistocene-initial Holocene times. It housed pottery making horticulturalists since the beginning of the Common Era, and from 800 CE, the bearers of Valencioid material culture. Around 1200 CE, these societies fostered the conformation of the Valencioid Sphere of Interaction that covered the entire north-central Venezuela region (Antczak and Antczak, 2006). On wide geographical scale of northeastern South America, the region has been portrayed as an entrepôt of interregional exchange, and the circulation of peoples and ideas to and fro the Andean west, the insular Caribbean north, and the Tropical Lowland south (Kidder, 1944, 1948; Osgood, 1943; Rouse and Cruxent, 1963).

Thousands of artefacts have been collected by amateurs and scholars since late 19th century (Ernst, 1895; Marcano, 1971[1889–1891]; Requena, 1932). However, attention was placed on artefacts with perceived "museum value", leading to a limited collection of non-formal lithic tools. In the cases when lithics were collected in stratigraphically controlled excavations (Bennett, 1937; Del Valle and Salazar, 2009; Kidder, 1944; Osgood, 1943), they were not thoroughly studied. Preliminary studies were conducted on lithic artefacts from the north-central coast (Martín, 1995) and from the Los Roques Archipelago (Antczak and Antczak, 2006). Diverse lithic raw materials have been reported in tools from the Valencia Lake Basin, including chert, schist, andesite,



Fig. 1. The north-central Venezuela region with Lake Valencia in its centre and the archaeological sites of Los Cerritos, El Zamuro, El Camburito and La Cabrera situated on its eastern and north-eastern shores. Maracay, Valencia and Güigüe are modern cities surrounded by urbanized and industrialized areas. Map by Oliver Antczak.

granite, sandstone, quartzite, and steatite (Kidder, 1944). It is likely that some of these raw materials were regionally available around the shores of the Lake Valencia and in the Cordillera's coastal bays.

Numerous beads and pendants made of a variety of materials (shells, lithics, bone, metal, etc.) have been recovered from domestic and burial contexts in artificial mound structures in the Valencia Lake Basin (Antczak and Antczak, 2006). Many ornament raw materials are not local and were brought from different areas of Venezuela; for instance, serpentinite was probably traded from the Andean region and jet from the Venezuelan south or west (Cirimele, 1989; Wagner and Schubert, 1972). In the case of the shell material, both the recent and the archaeological distribution of different mollusc species on the coast and islands immediately to the north have been the topic of extensive previous studies (Antczak, 1998; Antczak and Antczak, 2005, 2006, 2008). Marine shells, especially Lobatus gigas (commonly known as Queen Conch), seem to have held great importance and were not only used as food source, but also for making bodily ornaments, musical instruments, and tools. Whole and preliminarily shaped shells were brought to the basin from the coast and the offshore oceanic islands, through a total distance of 150 km across the Cordillera de la Costa, with peaks reaching up to almost 3000 masl (Antczak and Antczak, 2006, 2008). While there is no available information on a potential ornament making toolkit, corals brought inland together with the shells and recovered from the archaeological sites could have been used as grinding platforms (Berry, 1939, 558).

2. Materials and methods

The ornaments analyzed in this paper come predominantly from sites located on the eastern shore of the Lake Valencia (Fig. 1). The collection was excavated between 1901 and 1903 by Alfredo Jahn, an engineer commissioned by the Museum für Völkerkunde Berlin (Antczak and Antczak, 2006; unpublished results; Jahn, 1932; Osgood, 1943). The entire collection consisted of approximately 1000 artefacts made of ceramics, lithics, and shell from the sites of Los Cerritos, El Zamuro, El Camburito, and La Cabrera. The collection included "28 necklaces" of different raw materials, although the actual numbers are not clear. Almost a quarter of the whole collection comprised lithic beads and pendants, as well as abrading and pecking lithic tools. However, no contextual or stratigraphic data is available for most objects. Moreover, a significant part of Jahn's original collection has been lost over time, particularly bodily ornaments (Antczak and Antczak, unpublished results; Díaz Peña, 2006). The surviving artefacts identified as potential bodily ornaments (n = 62) were analyzed through microwear analysis (Falci, 2015). For the purpose of the present paper, 15 carved shell ornaments are discussed, which encompasses the beads and pendants with figurative and geometric shapes (Fig. 2). Table 1 includes a summary of the information gathered for each analyzed artefact.

2.1. Description of the material

The ornaments from the studied Lake Valencia collection are xenomorphic, since the blanks for their production had to be removed from the shell before being shaped into an ornament (sensu Lammers-Keijsers, 2007; Linville, 2005; Vargas Arenas et al., 1997). In contrast, automorphic artefacts are directly made from whole shells which undergo minimal modification. While beads of simple geometric shapes are also xenomorphic, this article focuses on ornaments with complex morphologies, especially non-circular, asymmetrical, and biomorphic. Most ornaments discussed in this study are classified as pendants (66,7%), given the decentred position of the perforations (cf. Barge, 1982; Watters and Scaglion, 1994). Despite the abundance of shell beads reported from the region, only five beads were analyzed, due to their irregular shape mimicking the folded legs of a frog.

The use of shells as raw materials in the pre-Colonial Caribbean can be related to their properties, such as colour, workability, toughness, and homogeneity (Clerc, 1974; Serrand, 1999, 2007; Sutty, 1990). In the studied collection, bivalve shells predominate, including *Spondylus americanus* (n = 9) and specimens of unidentified genera (n = 3). The *S. americanus* shell (known as Atlantic thorny oyster) is characterized by a relative thickness, large size, red colour, and thorny appearance with long spines (Abbott and Dance, 2000) (Fig. 3a). The gastropod *L. gigas* is also present in the collection (n = 3) (Fig. 3b). Its shell is large, thick, and has a cross-lamellar microstructure, rendering the shell tough and suitable for the production of tools and ornaments (Kamat et al., 2000; Lammers-Keijsers, 2007; O'Day and Keegan, 2001). The lip was commonly used for artefact manufacture, due to its large size and thickness, but other parts such as the body whorl, the columella, the spire, and nodules have also been used by Amerindian communities (Antczak, 1998; O'Day and Keegan, 2001; Serrand, 1999, 2007).

Shell artefacts can undergo a range of post-depositional mechanical and chemical processes that eliminate or superimpose anthropogenic traces depending on the conditions of the soil (Claassen, 1998; Cuenca-Solana, 2013; Cuenca-Solana et al., 2015; Dittert et al., 1980). Surface erosion, pitting and detachment of the coloured layer were observed on some analyzed ornaments (11; 73,3%) (Fig. 4a–b). Additionally, 12 ornaments (80%) have sediment from the archaeological deposits encrusted to the surface (Fig. 4b, c). Breaks were observed on two artefacts, one displaying an old patina while the other one appeared fresh and recent.

Long-term curation and storage may also result in modifications of artefact surfaces. Different systems of identification were used in the past: the attachment of labelling stickers to the surfaces of two ornaments (13,3%), ink markings (7; 46,7%), and nail polish (5; 33,3%). Both systems can be observed on the same artefact due to successive recording episodes. When added to the surface, nail polish creates a reflective layer that hinders the use of high-power magnifications for analysis (Fig. 4d). Pencil lead stains, accidentally created during the drawing of artefacts, were also noted (4; 26,7%) (Fig. 4b). Even though the modifications covered part of the surfaces of the ornaments, none of them rendered analysis impossible; certain traces and residues had to be nevertheless considered with caution. Likewise, for certain specimens, analysis had to be restricted to low magnification.

2.2. Microwear analysis and experiments

A broad range of research has been conducted on technologies of production of shell ornaments in the circum-Caribbean (Carlson, 1995; Falci, 2015; Lammers-Keijsers, 2001, 2007; Serrand, 1999, 2007; Turney, 2001; Van der Steen, 1992; Vargas Arenas et al., 1997) and elsewhere (e.g., Barge, 1982; Bar-Yosef Mayer, 1997; D'Errico et al., 1993, 2005, 2009; D'Errico and Villa, 1997; Francis, 1982; Stiner et al., 2013; Suarez, 1981; Taborin, 1991, 1993; Tátá et al., 2014; Vanhaeren et al., 2006; Velázquez-Castro, 2011, 2012; Thomas, 2015). Microwear analysis has proved to be successful in identifying perforating techniques, differentiating them from natural features caused by predators and by wave and sand action (Cadée and Wesselingh, 2005; Çakirlar, 2009; D'Errico, 1993; D'Errico et al., 1993, 2009; Francis, 1982; Joordens et al., 2014). In addition, microscopic and experimental studies have provided insight into past systems of attachment and degrees of usage (Bonnardin, 2008, 2012; Langley and O'Connor, 2015; Mărgărit, 2016; Taborin, 1993; Vanhaeren and D'Errico, 2003; Vanhaeren et al., 2013). Studies have also demonstrated that shell mechanics and the formation of wear can vary according to the species and its (micro-)structure (Cuenca-Solana et al., 2015; Szabó, 2010; Weston et al., 2015).

The approach used here couples microscopic analysis with experiments in order to assess the technologies, toolkits, and stages involved in the *chaîne opératoire* of ornament production. Technology is regarded as encompassing cultural choices and transmission of knowledge across generations within a same community (Dobres, 2010; Gosselain, 2000; Lemonnier, 1993; Sillar and Tite, 2000). It may involve not only a mental C.G. Falci et al. / Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports 11 (2017) 115-130



Fig. 2. Shell ornaments from the Alfredo Jahn collection analyzed in this article. Staatliche Museen zu Berlin - Ethnologisches Museum, Preußischer Kulturbesitz, (a) VA 14014, (b) VA 14018, (c) VA 15425, (d) VA15522, (e) VA 14017, (f) VA 14019, (g) VA 13994, (h-j) VA 15431 III, II, II, (k-o) VA 14021 I, II, III, IV, V.

template and *savoir-faire* guiding the execution of an activity, but also an active engagement with materials giving room for flexibility and creativity (Leroi-Gourhan, 1993; Pelegrin, 1991, 2005). A Leica M80 Stereomicroscope was used for the observation of traces under low magnifications (7.5 to $64 \times$), together with a Leica MC120HD camera. Grooves, notches, and perforations are indicative of varied production techniques depending on their location, disposition, morphology, and presence of striations. Photographs of entire artefacts were made with a Nikon Digital Camera D5100. For high magnifications ($50 \times$ to $200 \times$), a Leica DM 6000 m Metallographic microscope was used, equipped with a Leica DFC 450 camera, which can create Z-stack photographs. The analysis involved recording the location, distribution, topography, and directionality of polish and striations (Cuenca-Solana, 2013; Cuenca-Solana et al., 2015; Lammers-Keijsers, 2007). It was focused on evaluating the presence and extent of use-wear and also surface treatments, such as grinding traces. Specific wear patterns on the surfaces were considered as evidence of use: 1) polish and rounding on the rim of perforation; 2) deformation of the rim; 3) scratches

Table 1

VA14017

VA14014

VA13994

Lobatus

Snond

Lobatus

Т w Weight Perf PDSM Technology Sample id Taxa Туре L Post-excavt. Use Provenience (g) 'n Polishing Sawing Grinding Decoration VA14021-I 17 14 0.910 E, Sed Los Cerritos Spond. Bead, frog 1 1 No Yes Yes No Inc Yes VA14021-II Spond. Bead, frog 16 15 2 1.030 E, Sed No Yes No Inc Los Cerritos Yes Yes 1 VA14021-III Bead, frog 19 17 0.870 E, Sed Los Cerritos Spond. 1 No Yes Yes No Inc Yes 1 VA14021-IV Bead, frog 16 0.680 E Sed Los Cerritos Spond. 14 1 1 No Yes Yes No Inc Yes VA14021-V Spond. Bead, frog 18 15 2 1410 E Sed No Yes Yes No Inc Yes Los Cerritos 1 VA14018 Spond. Pend. turtle 33 25 7 7.410 2 E. Sed Yes Yes Yes Inc, Exc, Dril Hi Los Cerritos, burial I VA15431-I Bivalve Pend, knob 24 10 2 0.830 Sed No Yes Yes No No Hi El Zamuro 1 VA15431-II Bivalve Pend, knob 43 10 2 1.370 E, Sed No Yes Yes No Yes Yes El Zamuro 1 VA15431-III Bivalve Pend, knob 39 10 1.330 No Yes No Yes El Zamuro 2 E Yes Yes I, NP, PO VA15522 Spond. Pend, shell 30 32 3 5.220 E Yes Yes Yes Dril Yes El Zamuro/Camburito VA14019 Spond. Pend, triangle 22 40 3.590 E, Sed Inc, dril Los Cerritos, burial 2 2 Yes Yes Yes No VA15425 Pend, owl 49 I, NP, PO Inc, Exc, Dril Lobatus 48 5 31.630 1 OB. Sed Yes Yes Yes Hi El Zamuro

I, NP, PO

I, NP, S, SN

I. NP. S. PO. MR

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Ves

Yes

Yes

No

No

Attributes of the analyzed shell ornaments from the Alfredo Jahn collection. Measurements are in mm. I: ink, NP: nail polish, S: labelling sticker, PO: pencil outline, MR: modern residue, SN: stains, E: erosion; Sed: encrusted sediment, OB: old break, FB: fresh break.

entering the rim of perforation; and 4) polish and rounding on the edges. The presence, distribution, and intensity of these traces provided data regarding the relative length of use.

32

76

43 22 11 19.820 1

16 12 3.000

46 3

2 No

1

F Sed

FB, Sed

25 220

Pend, armadillo

Pend, hybrid

Pend, axe

Interpretation in microwear research works through analogies and inferential leaps whose limits must be acknowledged (Van Gijn, 2010, 2014b). Artefacts undergo several processes that can

No

Inc. Exc. Dril

Inc. Exc. Dril

No

No

No

Los Cerritos, burial

Los Cerritos burial

La Cabrera



Fig. 3. Shells used in the production of Valencioid ornaments: (a) water worn Spondylus americanus, (b) Lobatus gigas with a hole made on the apex by a fisherman to remove the animal.



Fig. 4. Post-depositional and post-excavation modifications on the surface of shell ornaments: erosion (a, b, c), encrusted sediment (c), pencil outline (b), ink and nail polish (d). Staatliche Museen zu Berlin - Ethnologisches Museum, Preußischer Kulturbesitz, VA 14021 V (a), VA 15431 II (b), VA 14019 (c), VA 14018 (d).

impair the recognition of traces on their surfaces. In addition to the already mentioned post-depositional and curatorial modifications, new traces superpose previous ones, modifying or erasing them during ornament manufacture and use. Experiments reproduce activities in a mechanical and controlled fashion which offers limited comparison to the complex activities that take place in a real social context (Van Gijn, 2014b). In this sense, traces on experimental pieces cannot be taken as replicas of those on archaeological artefacts. The limits of interpretation become clearer in the case of figurative ornaments, whose production involved the application of several techniques in succession, thus requiring high skill and experience. For the present research, it was decided to just reproduce individual techniques, i.e. testing the interaction between certain tools and contact materials, in order to contrast the microscopic traces experimentally generated to the archaeological ones. This somewhat mechanical approach would avoid the issue of our lack of skills and expertise to some extent. Attention was also given to the microstratigraphy of traces on artefacts: this allowed us to assess how the techniques were applied in succession, thus constituting a production sequence.

Table 2

Experiments conducted; slurries used: water (W), sand (S), coral (C).

Exp n°	Blank	Technique	Tool	Slurry	Time	Efficiency
2480	L. gigas lip	Percussion	Hammer-stone, wood anvil	No	-	Effective
2484-1	L. gigas lip	Grinding	Acropora palmata	W	-	Effective
2484-2	L. gigas lip	Drilling	Hafted flint palms	No	-	Effective
2486	L. gigas lip	Drilling	Bow drill flint	No	-	Effective
2487-1	L. gigas lip	Drilling	Hafted G. officinale wood palms	S, W, C	-	Ineffective
2487-2	L. gigas lip	Drilling	Mechanical drill wood	S, W	102′55″	Effective
2490-1	L. gigas lip	Sawing	Flint blade	No	-	Effective
2500	L. gigas lip	Grinding	A. palmata	No	24′	Effective
3055-1	L. gigas lip	Sawing	Flint	S, W	135′	Effective
3043	Spondylus sp.	Sawing	Flint	No	63′	Effective
3045	Spondylus sp.	Grinding	A. palmata	S, W	35′	Effective
3061-1	Spondylus sp.	Percussion	Hammer-stone, wood anvil	No	-	Effective
3061-2	Spondylus sp.	Drilling	Mechanical drill bone	S, W	110′	Effective
3062-1	Spondylus sp.	Grinding	Sandstone	W	80′	Effective
3062-2	Spondylus sp.	Notching	Flint	No	25′	Effective
3062-3	Spondylus sp.	Notching	G. officinale wood	S, W	91′	Effective

The main objective of the experimental research was to assess production techniques of S. americanus and L. gigas ornaments. The choice for toolkits was based on observed archaeological traces, and ethnographic and ethnohistoric descriptions from the Caribbean and lowland South America. Other experiments previously conducted in the Caribbean also served as reference (e.g., Antczak, 1998; Carlson, 1995; De Mille et al., 2008; Lammers-Keijsers, 2007). Our experiments covered different stages of manufacture, including blank acquisition, grinding, decorating, and drilling (Table 2). Whereas hard lithic tools have been found associated to bead-making debitage in some Caribbean sites (Carlson, 1995; Haviser, 1990; Narganes Storde, 1995; Rodríguez, 1991), different sources suggest that wood, bone and cotton strings were probably likewise used for sawing and drilling (Koch-Grünberg, 2005; Las Casas, 1967; Lothrop, 1955; Ribeiro, 1988; Rodríguez Ramos, 2013; Rostain, 2006; Roth, 1924). As grinding platforms, coral slabs made of Acropora palmata (Lamarck, 1816) were used in our experiments, as suggested by abundant Caribbean literature and site inventories (Antczak, 1998; Clerc, 1974; Kelly, 2003; Kelly and Van Gijn, 2008; Lammers-Keijsers, 2007; Van Gijn et al., 2008). The results of the experiments will be discussed below (Section 3), where they will be contrasted to traces observed on the Valencia Lake artefacts.

3. Results: production sequence

In the sections below, the different stages, techniques, and tools involved in the *chaîne opératoire* of complex figurative ornaments will be discussed. Potential challenges in the analysis and interpretation will also be highlighted. As we hope to demonstrate, shell ornament technology in the Valencia Lake Basin involved multiple stages, high skill, and good understanding of raw material properties, alongside clear forward planning.

3.1. Blank acquisition

The majority of ornaments were made through sawing and breaking flat blanks from a shell (11; 73,3%), which can be recognized by their flat or convex cross-section with straight or tilted sides. These traits were observed on frog-shaped beads (VA 14021 I-V) and on the shell- (VA 15522), the triangle- (VA14019) and the "knob"-shaped pendants (VA 15421 I-III). Cut marks were left on the sides, although they were often erased by subsequent surface treatments (Fig. 5). The application of this technique involved the sawing of cut grooves, followed by snapping the piece of raw material. Whereas sawing a *Spondylus* sp. shell with flint is quite fast and allows for the production of controlled blanks (exp. 3043), flaking the shell does not easily produce blanks of a desired shape (exp. 3061-1). The choice for sawing could therefore be related to

an efficient use of the marine shells given their sparse availability in the Valencia Lake Basin.

In contrast, the pendants made from shells of the L gigas required a preliminary method of blank acquisition. No clear traces from this stage are observed on the ornaments, as their manufacture led to considerable modification of the original blank. Nevertheless, the natural morphology and curvature of the shell, in addition to the presence of nacre and natural irregularities, provide insight into the sectors of the shell from which the blanks were obtained: the lip and the body whorl. Sawing experiments with a flint tool on L. gigas showed that the technique is time-consuming and results in constant breakage of the edge of the flint flake (exp. 3055-1). The complex cross-lamellar microstructure of the L. gigas shell renders it tough, and alongside its thickness, makes the shell resistant in the natural environment (Kamat et al., 2000). Flaking or breaking the shell is necessary, especially if the primary goal is to separate the lip from the body whorl or to open the whorl (Antczak, 1998). One can also take advantage of the natural layering of the shell to obtain blanks (Suarez, 1981; Vargas Arenas et al., 1997). Antczak (1998, 399-401) demonstrated the varied ways in which the L. gigas shell was broken in the islands off the Venezuelan coast for the creation of usable parts to be taken to the Valencia Lake Basin, Knapping operations could be performed using the apex of the shell or a hammerstone, and a slab of Acropora palmata or stone as anvil.

3.2. Grinding

In the shaping stage, different techniques were applied in order to render the morphology of the blank closer to that of the desired endproduct. Grinding was the most common shaping technique, being used to remove irregularities of the shell, the nacreous layer and to create a smooth surface for carving. The microtopography observed on artefacts, with flat and striated polish predominantly on the tops, suggests the use of mineral hard materials for grinding, possibly stones or corals (Fig. 6a, c, e). The experimental grinding of L. gigas shells was time-consuming, especially when compared to Spondylus sp. (exp. 3045). The use of sandstone platforms with abrasives generated an intensively flattened microtopography and abundant regular striations on the shells, produced by the grains dislodged from the platform and/or added abrasives (Fig. 6d). Grinding with an A. palmata platform was facilitated by the addition of water, due to the formation of a thin abrasive paste by the dislodged coral grains (Breukel, 2013; Kelly, 2003; Lammers-Keijsers, 2007). The Spondylus sp. blank ground on coral presented less pronounced flattening and fewer striations, probably related to the lack of coarse abrasives (Fig. 6f), while the L. gigas blank presents intense thin striations (Fig. 6b). In this sense, at this stage, it is not possible to distinguish the material used for grinding the archaeological artefacts. Further experiments are required.



Fig. 5. Partially erased cutting traces on archaeological (a) and experimental (b) shell ornaments. Staatliche Museen zu Berlin - Ethnologisches Museum, Preußischer Kulturbesitz, VA 14021 V (a).



Fig. 6. Archaeological (a, c, e) and experimental (b, d, f) grinding traces. Staatliche Museen zu Berlin - Ethnologisches Museum, Preußischer Kulturbesitz, VA 14017 (a), VA 14019 (c), VA 14018 (e).

3.3. Notching and incising

Notches with V-shaped profiles and striations were observed on frog-shaped beads and "knob" pendants (Fig. 7a). These notches could be made by sawing with a hard lithic tool on the side of the artefacts, in order to give the blanks specific figurative designs. After the first cuts in a same position, notches were expanded by the execution of multiple cuts by the same tool in slightly different positions. Both notch the V- and stepped V-shapes were reproduced during the experiments using flint (Fig. 7b). Other notches, observed on *S. americanus* and *L. gigas* biomorphic pendants, have a U-shape and striations (Fig. 7c). These notches may have also been started with a hard lithic tool, but were subsequently widened with a softer tool, for instance wood or bone. It has been argued that, when using soft tools for sawing, slurries must be added as the abrasiveness of the hard grains, carried back-

and-forth by the tool's edge, is the active agent, while the water is lubricating and cooling both surfaces in contact (Miller, 2007, 59; Hodges, 1971, 105). In order to reproduce a U-shaped notch on the side of a *Spondylus* sp. shell fragment with a *Guaiacum officinale* wooden flake (Fig. 7d), a preliminary notch had to be made with flint (exp. 3062-3). On archaeological specimens, the notch was produced by first sawing the opposing faces of the shell, before linking the two grooves by sawing the side. During experiments, this proved to be easier than directly sawing the thin side, where there is less support for the edge of the tool.

On the studied ornaments, sawing was also used to add decorative designs or to create morphological patterns on the depicted animals. The technique produced U-shaped incised lines with striations (Fig. 8a–d). The carved lines are generally thicker on the centre of the surface, while they appear thinner closer to the edges of the artefacts. This is a



Fig. 7. Archaeological (a, c) and experimental (b, d) side notches. Staatliche Museen zu Berlin - Ethnologisches Museum, Preußischer Kulturbesitz, VA 15522 (a) and VA 14014 (c).

result of the sequence of gestures used for sawing: according to the experiments, it is easier to start by sawing the pronounced centre of a convex surface, and only afterwards proceed towards the edges. Therefore, a greater number of cuts are present on the centre, generating a wider and deeper incision groove. The observation of the artefacts shows that side notches were often produced after the decorative incisions. In fact, certain incisions were applied at an early stage of manufacture probably to serve as a sketch of the desired shape, guiding its execution (Fig. 8e). This can be regarded as evidence that the choice for a specific blank is connected to the desire of creating an end-product with a certain shape. For example, morphological features of zoomorphic ornaments were excised through the execution of multiple incisions and notches, isolating an area from the rest of the artefact (Fig. 8f). In this sense, a sufficiently long and thick blank had to be selected for making the armadillo-shaped pendant, so that its head and tail could be separated from the main body. This blank is rather different from the one necessary for the production of, for instance, the turtle-shaped pendant. The maker knew how to manipulate the volumes and properties of each raw material in order to create the desired figures.

3.4. Drilling

Drilling was used to create suspension holes and as a decorating technique, producing dots, eye sockets and mouths on the ornaments. Decorative perforations were not completed, creating just a shallow stepped circle (Figs. 7c, 8c, f). The abundance of this feature on the artefacts shows that their production was not considered risky from a technological point of view. The drilling technique produced suspension holes with similar characteristics in all ornaments, suggesting the use

of a specialized massive drill. Features include cone-shaped or cylindrical perforations, a diameter of 2–3 mm, a tapering but relatively flat leading edge, and thick and regular circular furrows (Fig. 9a, b). Perforations were made predominantly from one face and only finished from the other. The exceptions are the perforations in which the two cones are placed in angles close to 90°.

To explore the kind of drill that would produce these features, experiments were conducted using different drilling mechanisms and bits. A handheld flint tool was used to start perforations, so that the drilling devices could be stabilized. While all the experiments with flint proved to be effective, the use of drill bits of organic materials was only efficacious when mounted on a mechanical drill and with addition of sand and water. G. officinale wood and mammal bone were used to drill L. gigas and Spondylus sp. respectively (exp. 2487-2 and 3061-2). Both tasks were time-consuming, but nevertheless efficacious. Depending on the morphology of the drill bit, the perforations were cone-shaped or cylindrical. The micromorphology of the experimental perforation made with wood is closer to the archaeological ones, including a tapering cylindrical shape, furrows, and a flattened leading edge (Fig. 9c, d). The furrows are quite regular in shape, in contrast to those experimentally obtained by working with a flint drill bit. They could have been caused both by accumulations of abrasive powder and debris and by the wearing of the wood, which makes the edge blunt and larger. More experiments need to be carried out to test this hypothesis.

3.5. Polishing

The presence of modern additions to the surface of some ornaments prevented a detailed analysis of the polish on a number of cases. Many



Fig. 8. Decorating techniques: incision (a–e), excision (f), and unfinished perforations (c, f). Staatliche Museen zu Berlin - Ethnologisches Museum, Preußischer Kulturbesitz, VA 15425 (a), VA 14014 (b, c), VA 14018 (d), VA 14017 (e, f).

artefacts had a rounded appearance and polish along the edges, which is likely connected to continuous use (see Section 4). The presence of a polishing stage, understood as a surface treatment designed to smoothen the artefacts' surfaces, alongside giving it sheen, was only possible to ascertain on few artefacts. It was used for the zoomorphic ornaments, where traces from the preceding production stages were intentionally smoothened. A soft and malleable material was rubbed on low areas of the artefacts in order to erase cut marks from notching and excising. These low-lying areas would not be in direct contact with the skin during use. However, the abundance of misplaced cut marks on the figurative ornaments suggests that, in comparison to the extent of the grinding stage, the effort put into polishing was minimal. The technique was also used for giving certain features a more rounded appearance.

4. Results: use-wear

Most shell ornaments display evidence for having been used (12; 80%), often in the form of polish and rounding on the rim of perforation (6; 40%) (Fig. 10). These traces are produced by friction of the string on the rim of perforation during attachment and by the presence of body fluids (Vanhaeren et al., 2013). On one pendant, scratches entering the rim were observed, probably caused by the abrasive nature of the string



Fig. 9. Holes produced by drilling on Lobatus gigas shell: detail of the holes on VA 15425 (a) and VA 13994 (b). Staatliche Museen zu Berlin - Ethnologisches Museum, Preußischer Kulturbesitz. Hole experimentally produced with a Guiacum officinale tip (c) and its cast made with polyvinylsiloxane (d).

material, as in the case of siliceous plants (Fig. 10a, b). Deformation of the rim of perforation was noted on seven artefacts (46,7%), being probably connected to long-term usage of the ornament (Fig. 10c, e). The association of deformed grooves and scratches with the use polish allows for a clear differentiation from deliberate cut marks. Contact with the human body and/or clothing caused a distinctive polish around the edges of artefacts on the non-decorated, concave faces (n = 7) and on both faces (n = 3). Three artefacts do not display use-wear traces. Post-depositional surface modifications affected the interpretation of some artefacts, whenever they underwent breakage, extensive erosion of the rim, and sediment encrustation. On the concave surfaces, the remains of nacre, alongside nail polish and ink, impaired interpretation. No residues that could have been used to attach the ornaments, such as adhesives or gums, have been observed on the artefacts. The interpretation of any potential residue as archaeological is also considered problematic due to the long post-excavation trajectory of the collection.

The two perforations at angles of approximately 90° on the sides observed on two studied pendants (VA 14018 and VA 14017) are also typical of the Amazonian *muiraquitãs*; it has been suggested that they were related to a specific system of attachment, different from just hanging the artefact on a necklace (Barata, 1954; Gomes, 2001; Moraes et al., 2014). Similarly, size and weight must have been relevant in the placement of ornaments, as larger artefacts were potentially placed in positions of notice (e.g., on the centre front, on the back or on the sides). Most zoomorphic pendants display highly developed traces on these zones. The combination of the different use-wear traces on each artefact suggests that they were in fact woven into a composition. For instance, the owl-shaped pendant probably had strings attached from the sides and through the mouth (Fig. 10e, f). The turtle-shaped pendant was likely attached with a single string passing along the width of the artefact, but with knots on the end of each perforation in order to keep the pendant in place (Fig. 10g, h).

In relation to the asymmetric and geometric specimens, deformation was clearly observed on the "knob" pendants, which displayed grooves on both faces, extending from the perforation to one of the edges of the artefacts (Fig. 10d). The grooves were caused by use and are indicative of strings being tied on both sides of the pendant. They were probably kept in place by multiple strings (or the same one passing inside the hole more than once), which attached it to a fixed position on a band. The shell-shaped pendant had a similar system of attachment, but the trisible part would be the coloured face, rather than the side. In the frog-shaped beads, the erosion of the perforation area prevented an interpretation of the systems of attachment.

5. Discussion and conclusion

Microscopic analysis of ornaments has developed into an established field of studies over the past 20 years (Moro Abadía and Nowell, 2015; White, 2007). In the present article, we expand this method to a region where it has seldom been applied, i.e. the circum-Caribbean (see also Falci, 2015). By displaying complex and varied shapes, the Venezuelan collections studied here pose new questions for the field. We identified three challenges regarding the nature of these collections that require a critical approach to interpretation: 1) the conditions of preservation, 2) the complexity of the three-dimensional artefact shapes and our limitations in replicating them, and 3) the varied ways in which the artefacts may have been used. These will be further discussed below.



Fig. 10. Use-wear traces on shell ornaments (a, c, e, g) and potential attachment systems (b, d, f, h). Staatliche Museen zu Berlin - Ethnologisches Museum, Preußischer Kulturbesitz, VA 15522 (a, b), VA 15431 I (c), VA 15431 II (d), VA 15425 (e, f), VA 14018 (g, h).

The state of preservation of the artefacts that make part of museum collections was the first challenge dealt with. Post-depositional and curatorial surface modifications cannot be ignored, as analysis and interpretation of a number of specimens is impaired. The great variability in types in the assemblage, alongside modern surface modifications, limited analysis to low power stereomicroscopy. Nevertheless, a careful examination of most artefacts under varying magnifications, alongside an experimental programme, allowed a range of conclusions to be drawn in relation to the production and use of these complex figurative ornaments.

The microwear method, for its focus on individual artefacts, proved to be particularly useful in understanding complex biographies. At the same time, it provided insight into the local tradition in ornament making. In this sense, despite the variety of shapes, the same basic techniques were used, involving a combination of hard stone tools to start knapping, incising, sawing, and drilling, and softer materials to widen the features produced. The microstratigraphy of traces on individual ornaments points to a systematic and recurring sequence in which the techniques were applied. This evidence, alongside the choice for specific shell parts for the production of certain shapes, suggests the existence of a common technological system and mental templates guiding manufacture. The three-dimensional shapes of the ornaments and the lack of technical errors are evidence of the high craftsmanship involved in shell working. Future research on Valencioid collections is necessary to provide further insights into the topic of craft specialization in the production of complex figurative ornaments and its relation to increasing social complexity in the Valencia Lake Basin.

Regarding the experimental programme, the choice for replicating only certain techniques and toolkits, instead of entire production sequences, provided an appropriate reference collection. However, the superposition of different surface treatments and the toolkits used for these purposes also require more extensive research. The performance of several techniques in a sequence in order to produce complex figurative shapes can only be better understood with further experiments in collaboration with skilled artisans.

In relation to use-wear traces, there is a gap between systems of attachment of individual artefacts and actual composite ornaments. Our preconceptions regarding how ornaments were used in the past can lead to biased analysis and interpretation (Frieman, 2012; Van Gijn, 2010, 2014a). On a practical level, these assumptions may result in exclusive attention to areas on ornaments where traces are expected (i.e. rim of perforation and edges) and in overlooking artefacts which are not typologically categorized as ornaments. In broader terms, the very idea that composite ornaments would have been constituted solely by a string, beads of a single type and a pendant is misleading. While further interpretation of the position of individual beads and pendants in composite pieces is hampered by different preservation rates of materials in the archaeological record, drawing a linkage between usewear traces and actual ethnographic artefacts (e.g., necklaces, bands and clothing items) can provide fruitful insights (e.g., Bonnardin, 2008; Cristiani et al., 2014, 2016; Langley and O'Connor, 2015).

Ethnographic and early historic composite ornaments belonging to indigenous communities from the lowlands of South America involve a range of raw materials, such as seed or glass beads, nuts, bird feathers, stones, metal sheets, animal parts, and plastic (Ribeiro, 1986; Ribeiro, 1988). However, figurative ornaments are not common. Whilst necklaces with carved animal figures of tucum nut (Astrocaryum sp.) are made by the Tukúna and Mehináku peoples (Ribeiro, 1988, 167), the tucum pendants are small and light-weighted and, therefore, not comparable to the pendants studied here. The other known example is of a figurative pendant of polished black stone, which was added to belts and necklaces made of shell disc beads by communities in the Upper Xingu (Hartmann, 1986, 190; Ribeiro, 1988, 160). While different types of attachment were present, they all involved the stone pendants being suspended from a string. Conversely, the use-wear evidence suggests that the large figurative pendants (VA14018 and VA15425) were integrated in woven bands, rather than suspended from a string. Freshwater and land snail shell ornaments are recurrent among some communities in southern Amazonia and central Brazil as necklace pieces, but are generally light-weighted and display simple geometric shapes (Ribeiro, 1988). The shell-shaped pendant (VA15522) may have been part of similar necklaces. The attachment system seen on the "knob" pendants (VA15431) is comparable to necklaces and crowns with jaguar claws found in the Upper Xingu and among the Borôro (Ribeiro,

1988, 166–69). The claws are tied in a band so that the sharp tip of the claws faces upwards. In the future, a systematic comparison with indigenous ornaments from the South American lowlands will be made by generating microscopic data from ethnographic specimens.

Lapidary industries have gained considerable attention in circum-Caribbean archaeology in the last decades, as they play an important role in accounts of the Caribbean as a hub of intense indigenous mobility and interaction (Boomert, 1987; Cody, 1991; Hofman et al., 2007, 2014a, 2014b; Serrand and Cummings, 2014; Watters, 1997). Nevertheless, the majority of research has focused on rock identification and typo-technological studies. As a result, the toolkits used in the production of ornaments of varied types and raw materials are unknown; likewise, little is known regarding the extent to which there would have been specialization in their production. Future microwear research on other collections can provide a better understanding of the biographies of ornaments in the circum-Caribbean. Despite the challenges these artefacts may pose to microwear analysis, they should be further studied due to their varied nature in terms of raw materials, designs, and the skill involved in their production.

Acknowledgements

This work was made possible through the collaboration of the Ethnologisches Museum Berlin, especially Dr. Manuela Fischer, curator and department head of the South American Collections. We would further like to thank Diederik Pomstra and Tom Breukel for their collaboration in the experimental programme, and the latter for his comments on an early version of this manuscript. This research is part of the project NEXUS1492, which has received funding from the European Research Council under the European Union's Seventh Framework Programme (FP7/2007-2013)/ERC Grant agreement n° 319209, under the direction of Prof. dr. C. L. Hofman. This research has also benefitted from the support of the NWO Spinoza Prize awarded to Prof. dr. C. L. Hofman in 2014.

References

- Abbott, R.T., Dance, S.P., 2000. Compendium of Seashells. Odyssey Publishing, El Cajón.
- Antczak, A.T., 1998. Late Prehistoric Economy and Society of the Islands off the Coast of Venezuela: A Contextual Interpretation of the Non-ceramic Evidence. University College London, London (unpublished Ph.D. thesis).
- Antczak, A.T., Antczak, M.M., 2005. Pre-Hispanic fishery of the queen conch (Strombus gigas) on the islands off the coast of Venezuela. In: Miloslavich, P., Klein, E. (Eds.), Caribbean Biodiversity: The Known and the Unknown. DesTech Publications, Inc., Lancaster, pp. 213–243.
- Antczak, M.M., Antczak, A.T., 2006. Los Ídolos de las Islas Prometidas: Arqueología prehispánica del Archipiélago de Los Roques. Equinoccio, Caracas.
- Antczak, M.M., Antczak, A.T., 2008. Between food and symbol: the role of marine mollusks in the late pre-Hispanic north-central Venezuela. In: Antczak, A.T., Cipriani, R. (Eds.), Early Human Impact on MegamolluscsBAR International Series Vol. 1865. Archaeopress, Oxford, pp. 231–245.
- Antczak, M.M., Antczak, A.T., (unpublished results). Adding Flesh to the Bones. (Manuscript on file at the Ethnologisches Museum Berlin).Barata, F., 1954. O muiraquită e as "contas" dos Tapajó. Revista do Museu Paulista 8,
- Barata, F., 1954. O muiraquitã e as "contas" dos Tapajó. Revista do Museu Paulista 8, 229–259.
- Barge, H., 1982. Les Parures du Néolithique Ancien au début de l'Age des Métaux en Languedoc. Editions du CNRS, Paris.
- Bar-Yosef Mayer, D.E., 1997. Neolithic shell bead production in Sinai. J. Archaeol. Sci. 24 (2):97–111. http://dx.doi.org/10.1006/jasc.1995.0097.
- Bennett, W.C., 1937. Excavations at La Mata, Maracay, Venezuela. Anthropological Papers of the American Museum of Natural History 36, Part II. New York.
- Berry, E.W., 1939. Geology and palaeontology of Lake Tacarigua, Venezuela. Proc. Am. Philos. Soc. 81 (4), 547–552.
- Böckh, A., 1956. El Desecamiento del Lago de Valencia. Ediciones de la Fundación Eugenio Mendoza, Caracas.
- Bonnardin, S., 2008. From traces to function of ornaments: some examples. In: Longo, L., Skakun, N.N. (Eds.), 'Prehistoric Technology' 40 Years Later: Functional Studies and the Russian Legacy. Proceedings of the International Congress Verona (Italy), 20–23 April 2005. Archaeopress (BAR International Series 1783), Oxford, pp. 297–308.
- Bonnardin, S., 2012. Parures de coquillages du néolitique en Europe (VIe-Ve millénaires av. J.-C.). Technol. Cult. 59:26–43. http://tc.revues.org/6518. Boomert, A., 1987. Gifts of the amazons: "greenstone" pendants and beads as items of cer-
- emonial exchange in Amazonia and the Caribbean. Antropológica 67, 33–54. Boomert, A., 2001. Raptorial birds as icons of shamanism in the prehistoric Caribbean and
- Amazonia. In: Alois L, Dijkhoff, R.A.C.F. (Eds.), Proceedings of the XIX International Congress for Caribbean Archaeology, Volume I. Aruba, July 22–28, 2001.

Archaeological Museum Aruba (Publications of the Archaeological Museum Aruba 9), Aruba, pp. 121–157.

- Boomert, A., Rogers, C.T., 2007. Troumassoid stone artifacts in Tobago: rock types and source areas. In: Reid, B.A., Petitjean-Roget, H., Curet, L.A. (Eds.), Proceedings of the Twenty-First Congress of the International Association for Caribbean ArchaeologyTrinidad and Tobago, 2005 Volume 1. The University of the West Indies, St. Augustine, pp. 282–294.
- Bradbury Platt, J., Leyden, B., Salgado-Labouriau, M., Lewis Jr., W.M., Schubert, C., Binford, M.W., Frey, D.G., Whitehead, D.R., Weibezahn, F.H., 1981. Late quaternary environmental history of Lake Valencia, Venezuela. Science 214 (4527), 1299–1305.
- Breukel, T.W., 2013. Threepointers on Trial: A Biographical Study of Amerindian Ritual Artefacts From the Pre-Columbian Caribbean. University of Leiden, Leiden (Unpublished RMA thesis).
- Cadée, G.C., Wesselingh, F.P., 2005. Van levend schelpdier naar fossiele schelp: tafonomie van Nederlandse strandschelpen. Spirula 343, 36–52.
- Çakirlar, C., 2009. Problems in determining the chain of production in shell "objects". Observations on shell assemblages from coastal sites in the Eastern Mediterranean. In: de Beauclair, R., Münzel, S., Napierala, H. (Eds.), Knochen pflastern ihren Weg: Festschrift fur Margarethe und Hans-Peter Uerpmann. Verlag Marie Leidorf GmbH (BioArchaeologica 5), Rahden.
- Carlson, B., 1995. Strings of command: Manufacture and utilization of shell beads among the Taino. In: Alegría, R.E., Rodríguez, M. (Eds.), Proceedings of the XV International Congress for Caribbean Archaeology, San Juan, Puerto Rico, July 25th–30th 1993. Centro de Estudios Avanzados de Puerto Rico y el Caribe, San Juan, pp. 97–109.
- Chanlatte Baik, L.A., 1984. Catálogo arqueologia de Vieques. Editora Corripio, Santo Domingo.
- Cirimele, L.G., 1989. Artesanía en Azabache. Consejo Nacional de la Cultura, Caracas. Claassen, C., 1998. Shells. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Clerc, E., 1974. Le travail du coquillage dans les sites precolombiens de la Grande-Terre de Guadeloupe. In: Bullen, R.P. (Ed.), Proceedings of the Fifth International Congress for the Study of Pre-Columbian Cultures of the Lesser AntillesAntigua, July 22–28, 1973. The Antigua National Trust & The Antigua Archaeological Society, Antigua, pp. 127–132.
- Cody, A.K., 1991. Distribution of exotic stone artifacts through the Lesser Antilles: their implications for prehistoric interaction and exchange. In: Cummins, A., King, P. (Eds.), Proceedings of the Fourteenth International Congress for Caribbean Archaeology, Dover Convention Centre, Barbados, 22–28 July 1991. Bridgetown, Barbados Museum and Historical Society, pp. 204–226.
- Cristiani, E., Dimitrijević, V., Vitezović, S., 2016. Fishing with lure hooks at the Late Neolithic site of Vinča-Belo Brdo, Serbia. J. Archaeol. Sci. 65:134–147. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jas.2015.11.005.
- Cristiani, E., Živaljević, I., Borić, D., 2014. Residue analysis and ornament suspension techniques in prehistory: cyprinid pharyngeal teeth beads from Late Mesolithic burials at Vlasac (Serbia). J. Archaeol. Sci. 46:292–310. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2014.03. 018.
- Cuenca-Solana, D., 2013. Utilización de instrumentos de concha para la realización de actividades productivas en las formaciones económico-sociales de los cazadoresrecolectores-pescadores y primeras sociedades tribales de la fachada Atlántica Europea. Servicio de Publicaciones de la Universidad de Cantabria, Santander (Serie Tesis Doctorales 4).
- Cuenca-Solana, D., Gutiérrez-Zugasti, I., González-Morales, M.R., 2015. Use-Wear Analysis: An Optimal Methodology for the Study of Shell Tools. Quaternary International. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.quaint.2015.09.090.
- Curtis, J.H., Brenner, M., Hodell, D.A., 1999. Climate change in the Lake Valencia Basin, Venezuela, ~12600 yr BP to present. The Holocene 9, 609–619.
- Las Casas, B.d., 1967. Apologética Historia Sumaria. Vol. 1. Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, Instituto de Investigaciones Históricas, Mexico.
- De Mille, C.N., Varney, T.L., Turney, M.H.J., 2008. Saladoid lapidary technology: new methods for investigating stone bead drilling techniques. In: Hofman, C.L., Hoogland, M.L.P., Van Gijn, A.L. (Eds.), Crossing the Borders: New Methods and Techniques in the Study of Archaeological Materials From the Caribbean. University of Alabama Press (Caribbean Archaeology and Ethnohistory), Tuscaloosa, pp. 78–89.
- Del Valle, C., Salazar, C. (Eds.), 2009. La Prehistoria en la Cuenca del Lago; Carabobo y Aragua, Venezuela. Valencia, Cosmográfica, C.A.
- D'Errico, F., 1993. Identification des traces de manipulation, suspension, polissage sur l'art mobilier en os, bois de cervidés, ivoire. In: Anderson, P.C., Beyries, S., Otte, M., Plisson, H. (Eds.), Traces et Fonction: Les gestes retrouvés. Actes du colloque international de Liège Vol I. Service de Prehistoire (Etudes et Recherches Archéologiques de l'Université de Liège 50), Liège, pp. 177–188.
- D'Errico, F., Villa, P., 1997. Holes and grooves: the contribution of microscopy and taphonomy to the problem of art origins. J. Hum. Evol. 33 (1):1–31. http://dx.doi.org/10. 1006/jhev.1997.0141.
- D'Errico, F., Henshilwood, C., Vanhaeren, M., Van Niekerk, K., 2005. Nassarius kraussianus shell beads from Blombos cave: evidence for symbolic behaviour in the Middle Stone Age. J. Hum. Evol. 48 (1):3–24. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jhevol.2004.09.002.
- D'Errico, F., Jardón-Giner, P., Soler-Mayor, B., 1993. Critères à base expérimentale pour l'étude des perforations naturelles et intentionnelles sur coquillages. In: Anderson, P.C., Beyries, S., Otte, M., Plisson, H. (Eds.), Traces et Fonction: Les gestes retrouvés. Actes du colloque international de Liège Vol I. Service de Prehistoire (Etudes et Recherches Archéologiques de l'Université de Liège 50), Liège, pp. 255–267.
- D'Errico, F., Vanhaeren, M., Barton, N., Bouzouggar, A., Mienis, H., Richter, D., Hublin, J.J., McPherron, S.P., Lozouet, P., 2009. Additional evidence on the use of personal ornaments in the Middle Paleolithic of North Africa. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 106 (38): 16051–16056. http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0903532106.

- Díaz Peña, N., 2006. La Colección Arqueológica del Lago de Valencia. Documentación y nueva museología. Ediciones de la Fundación para la Cultura de Valencia y el Centro de Investigaciones Antropológicas, Arqueológicas y Paleontológicas de la UNEF, Valencia.
- Dittert Jr., A.E., Sipe, E.S., Goodwin, R.C., 1980. The conservation of shell and shell artifacts: archaeological contexts. In: Lewenstein, S.M. (Ed.). Proceedings of the Eighth International Congress for the Study of the Pre-Columbian Cultures of the Lesser Antilles. Arizona State University, Tempe, pp. 218–236 (Anthropological Research Papers 22).
- Dobres, M.-A., 2010. Archaeologies of technology. Camb. J. Econ. 34 (1):103–114. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1093/cje/bep014.
- Ernst, A., 1895. Drei Nephrit-Beile Aus Venezuela. Verhandlungen der Berliner Gesellschaft f
 ür Anthropologie. Berlin 36–38.
- Falci, C.G., 2015. Stringing Beads Together: A Microwear Study of Bodily Ornaments in late pre-Colonial north-central Venezuela and north-western Dominican Republic. Leiden University, Leiden (unpublished RMA thesis).
- Falci, C.G., Rodet, M.J., 2016. Adornos corporais em Carajás: a produção de contas líticas em uma perspectiva regional. Boletim do Museu Paraense Emílio Goeldi Ciências Humanas 11 (2):481–503. http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/1981.81222016000200008.
- Francis Jr., P., 1982. Experiments with early techniques for making whole shells into beads. Curr. Anthropol. 23 (6):713–714. http://dx.doi.org/10.1086/202925.
- Frieman, C., 2012. Going to pieces at the funeral: completeness and complexity in early Bronze Age jet 'necklace' assemblages. J. Soc. Archaeol. 12 (3):334–355. http://dx. doi.org/10.1177/1469605311431400.
- Gomes, D.M.C., 2001. Santarém: Symbolism and Power in the Tropical Forest. In: McEwan, C., Barreto, C., Neves, E.G. (Eds.), Unknown Amazon. Culture in Nature in Ancient Brazil. The British Museum Press, London, pp. 134–154.
- Gorelick, L., Gwinnett, A.J., 1989. Collars in the holes of Near Eastern cylinder seals. Archeomaterials 3 (1), 39–46.
- Gosselain, O.P., 2000. Materializing identities: an African perspective. Journal of Archaeological Method and Theory 7 (3):187–217. http://dx.doi.org/10.1023/A: 1026558503986.
- Groman-Yaroslavski, I., Bar-Yosef Mayer, D.E., 2015. Lapidary technology revealed by functional analysis of carnelian beads from the early Neolithic site of Nahal Hemar Cave, southern Levant, J. Archaeol. Sci. 58:77–88. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jas. 2015.03.030.
- Gutiérrez-Zugasti, L, Cuenca-Solana, D., 2015. Ornaments from the Magdalenian burial area in El Mirón cave (Cantabria, northern Spain). Were they grave goods? J. Archaeol. Sci. 60, 112–124 (http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2015.04.012).
- Hartmann, G., 1986. Xingú: unter Indianern in Zentral-Brasilien. Museum für Völkerkunde, Berlin.
- Haviser, J.B., 1990. Perforated prehistoric ornaments of Curaçao and Bonaire, Netherlands Antilles. Beads: Journal of the Society of Bead Researchers 2, 85–92.
- Hodges, H.W.M., 1971. Artefacts: An Introduction to Early Materials and Technology. John Baker, London.
- Hofman, C.L., Mol, A.A.A., Hoogland, M.L.P., Valcárcel Rojas, R., 2014b. Stage of encounters: migration, mobility and interaction in the pre-colonial and early colonial Caribbean. World Archaeol. 46 (4):590–609. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/00438243.2014.925820.
- Hofman, C.L., Mol, A.A.A., Rodríguez Ramos, R., Knippenberg, S., 2014a. Networks set in stone: archaic-ceramic interaction in the early pre-Colonial northeastern Caribbean. In: Bérard, B., Losier, C. (Eds.), Archéologie Caraïbe. Sidestone Press, Leiden, pp. 119–132 (Taboui. Collection d'Archéologie Caraïbe 2).
- Hofman, C.L., Bright, A.J., Boomert, A., Knippenberg, S., 2007. Island rhythms: the web of social relationships and interaction networks in the lesser Antillean archipelago between 400 BCE and 1492 CE. Lat, Am. Antiq. 18 (3):243–268. http://dx.doi.org/10. 2307/25478180.
- Jahn, A., 1932. Los cráneos deformados de los aborígenes de los valles de Aragua. Actas y Trabajos Científicos del XXV Congreso Internacional de Americanistas I. La Plata 59–68.
- Joordens, J.C.A., D'Errico, F., Wesselingh, F.P., Munro, S., Vos, J. de, Wallinga, J., Ankjærgaard, C., Reimann, T., Wijbrans, J.R., Kuiper, K.F., Mücher, H.J., Coqueugniot, H., Prié, V., Joosten, I., van Os, B., Schulp, A.S., Panuel, M., van der Haas, V., Lustenhouwer, W., Reijmer, J.J.G., Roebroeks, W., 2014. *Homo erectus* at Trinil on java used shells for tool production and engraving. Nature 518(7538), 228–31. 10.1038/nature13962
- Kamat, S., Su, X., Ballarini, R., Heuer, A.H., 2000. Structural basis for the fracture toughness of the shell of the conch *Strombus gigas*. Nature 405 (6790):136–140. http://dx.doi. org/10.1038/35016535.
- Kelly, H.J., 2003. Amerindian Coral Tools: A Pilot Study in Experimental Archaeology on Coral Artefacts From Anse à la Gourde, Guadeloupe. University of Leiden, Leiden (Unpublished MA thesis).
- Kelly, H.J., Van Gijn, A.L., 2008. Understanding the function of coral tools from Anse à la Gourde: an experimental approach. In: Hofman, C.L., Hoogland, M.L.P., Van Gijn, A.L. (Eds.), Crossing the Borders: New methods and techniques in the study of archaeological materials from the Caribbean. University of Alabama Press, Tuscaloosa, pp. 115–124 (Caribbean Archaeology and Ethnohistory).
- Kidder, A., 1944. Archaeology of Northwestern Venezuela. Papers of the Peabody Museum of American Archaeology and Ethnology 26. Harvard University, Cambridge, Massachusetts, p. 1.
- Kidder, A., 1948. The archaeology of Venezuela. In: Steward, J.H. (Ed.), Handbook of South American Indians. vol. 4, pp. 413–438 (Washington).
- Koch-Grünberg, T., 2005. Dois Anos entre os Indígenas: Viagens ao Noroeste do Brasil (1903–1905). Editora Universidade do Amazonas/Faculdade Dom Bosco, Manaus.
- Laffoon, J.E., Rodríguez Ramos, R., Chanlatte Baik, L.A., Narganes Storde, Y., Rodríguez Lopez, M., Davies, G.R., Hofman, C.L., 2014. Long-distance exchange in the precolonial circum-Caribbean: a multi-isotope study of animal tooth pendants from Puerto Rico. J. Anthropol. Archaeol. 35:220–233. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jaa.2014.06.004.

- Lammers-Keijsers, Y.M.J., 2001. Use wear analysis on pre-Columbian shell artefacts of the Anse à la Gourde site, Guadeloupe. Proceedings of the XVIII International Congress for Caribbean Archaeology, Grenada, July 11–17, 1999. L'Association Internationale d'Archéologie de la Caraïbe, Guadeloupe, pp. 179–186.
- Lammers-Keijsers, Y.M.J., 2007. Tracing Traces from Present to Past: A Functional Analysis of Pre-Columbian Shell and Stone Artefacts from Anse à La Gourde and Morel, Guadeloupe, FWI. Leiden University Press, Leiden.
- Langley, M.C., O'Connor, S., 2015. 6500-Year-old Nassarius shell appliqués in Timor-Leste: technological and use wear analyses. J. Archaeol. Sci. 62:175–192. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jas.2015.06.012.
- Lemonnier, P., 1993. Introduction. In: Lemonnier, P. (Ed.), Technological Choices: Transformation in Material Cultures since the Neolithic. Routledge, London, pp. 1–35. Leroi-Gourhan, A., 1993. Gesture and Speech. The MIT Press, Cambridge.
- Leyden, B.W., 1985. Late Quaternary Aridity and Holocene Moisture Fluctuations in the Lake Valencia Basin, Venezuela. Ecol. 66 (4):1279–1295. http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/ 1939181.
- Linville, M.S., 2005. Marine Shell as Medium in Amerindian Aruba. City University of New York, New York (unpublished Ph.D. thesis).
- Lothrop, S.K., 1955. Jade and string sawing in northeastern Costa Rica. Am. Antiq. 21 (1): 43–51. http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/276107.
- Marcano, G., 1971. [1889–1891]. Etnografía Precolombina de Venezuela. Instituto de Antropología e Historia, Universidad Central de Venezuela. Caracas (Translation from the original published in French between 1889–1991 in Paris).
- Mărgărit, M., 2016. Testing the endurance of prehistoric adornments: raw materials from the aquatic environment. J. Archaeol. Sci. 70:66–81. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jas. 2016.04.009.
- Martín, C.A., 1995. El Método del Análisis Lítico Para Establecer Modelos Tecnoeconómicos en Poblaciones Prehispánicas. Universidad Central de Venezuela, Caracas (unpublished thesis).
- McGinnis, S.A.M., 1997. Ideographic Expression in the Precolumbian Caribbean. University of Texas at Austin, Austin (unpublished Ph.D. thesis).
- Meirelles, A.C.R., Costa, M.L.D., 2012. Mineralogy and chemistry of the green stone artifacts (muiraquitãs) of the museums of the Brazilian state of Pará. Rem: Revista Escola de Minas 65 (1):59–64. http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/S0370-44672012000100008.
- Miller, H.M.-L., 2007. Archaeological Approaches to Technology. Elsevier Academic Press, London.
- Mol, AAA., 2011. The gift of the "Face of the Living": shell faces as social valuables in the Caribbean Late Ceramic Age. Journal de la Société des Américanistes 97 (2):7–43. http://dx.doi.org/10.4000/jsa.11834.
- Moraes, C.P., Amaral Lima, A.M., Andrade dos Santos, R., 2014. Os artesãos das Amazonas: a diversidade da inústria lítica dos Tapajó e o Muiraquitã. In: Rostain, S. (Ed.), Antes de Orellana. Actas del 3er encuentro internacional de arqueología amazónica. Instituto Francés de estudios Andinos, Quito, pp. 133–140.
- Moro Abadía, O., Nowell, A., 2015. Palaeolithic personal ornaments: historical development and epistemological challenges. J. Archaeol. Method Theory 22 (3):952–979. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10816-014-9213-z.
- Murphy, A.R., Hozjan, D.J., de Mille, C.N., Levinson, A.A., 2000. Pre-Columbian gems and ornamental materials from Antigua, West Indies. Gems and Gemology 36 (3), 234–245. Narganes Storde, Y.M., 1995. La lapidaria de La Hueca, Vieques, Puerto Rico. In: Alegría,
- Narganes Storde, Y.M., 1995. La lapidana de La Fuleca, Vieques, Puerto Rico, In: Alegna, R.E., Rodríguez, M. (Eds.), Proceedings of the XV International Congress for Caribbean Archaeology, San Juan, Puerto Rico, July 25th–30th 1993. Centro de Estudios Avanzados de Puerto Rico y el Caribe, San Juan, pp. 141–151.
- O'Day, SJ., Keegan, W.F., 2001. Expedient shell tools from the northern West Indies. Lat. Am. Antiq. 12 (3):274–290. http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/971633.
- Osgood, C., 1943. Excavations at Tocorón, Venezuela. Yale University Press, New Haven (Yale University Publications in Anthropology 29).
- Pelegrin, J., 1991. Les savoir-faire: Une très longue histoire. Terrain. Revue d'ethnologie de l'Europe 16, 106–113.
- Pelegrin, J., 2005. Remarks about archaeological techniques and methods of knapping: elements of a cognitive approach to stone knapping. In: Roux, V., Bril, B. (Eds.), Stone Knapping: The Necessary Condition for a Uniquely Hominid Behavior. Short Run Press, Exeter : pp. 23–33. http://terrain.revues.org/index3001.html.
- Raymond, C.A., Chardón, C.E., 1941. Changing patterns of land use in the Valencia Lake Basin of Venezuela. The Geographical Review 31 (3), 430–443.
- Requena, R., 1932. Vestigios de la Atlántida. Tipografía Americana, Caracas.
- Ribeiro, D. (Ed.), 1986. Suma Etnológica Brasileira, vol 3 Arte índia. Vozes, Petrópolis. Ribeiro, B.G., 1988. Dicionário do Artesanato Indígena. Editora da Universidade de São
- Paulo, São Paulo.
 Rigaud, S., Roussel, M., Rendu, W., Primault, J., Renou, S., Hublin, J.J., Soressi, M., 2014. Les pratiques ornementales à l'Aurignacien ancien dans le Centre-Ouest de la France. Bulletin de la Société préhistorique française 111 (1), 19–38.
- Rodríguez, M.A., 1991. Early trade networks in the Caribbean. In: Cummins, A., King, P. (Eds.), Proceedings of the Fourteenth International Congress for Caribbean Archaeology, Dover Convention Centre, Barbados, 22–28 July 1991. Barbados Museum and Historical Society, Bridgetown, pp. 306–314.
- Rodríguez Ramos, R., 2010. What is the Caribbean? An archaeological perspective. Journal of Caribbean Archaeology Special Publication 3, 19–51.
- Rodríguez Ramos, R., 2013. Ishtmo-Antillean engagements. In: Keegan, W.F., Hofman, C.L., Rodríguez Ramos, R. (Eds.), The Oxford Handbook of Caribbean Archaeology. Oxford University Press, New York, pp. 155–170 (Oxford Handbooks in Archaeology).
- Roe, P.G., 2011. Walking upside-down and backwards: art and religion in the ancient Caribbean. In: Insoll, T. (Ed.), The Oxford Handbook of the Archaeology of Ritual and Religion. Oxford University Press, Oxford http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/ 9780199232444.013.0034.
- Rostain, S., 2006. Spécialisation et commerce dans les Guyanes amérindiennes. Technol. Cult. 46 (47), 139–174.

- Rostain, S., 2014. Fauna del arte precolombino en las Guayanas. In: Rostain, S. (Ed.), Antes de Orellana. Actas del 3er encuentro internacional de arqueología amazónica. Instituto Francés de estudios Andinos, Quito, pp. 69–74.
- Roth, W.E., 1924. An introductory study of the arts, crafts, and customs of the Guiana Indians. In: Hodge, F.W. (Ed.), Thirty-Eighth Annual Report of the Bureau of American Ethnology to the Secretary of the Smithsonian Institute, 1916–1917. Government Printing Office, Washington, pp. 25–745.
- Rouse, I., Cruxent, J.M., 1963. Venezuelan Archaeology. Yale University Press, New Haven and London.
- Sax, M., Ji, K., 2013. The technology of jades excavated at the Western Zhou, Jin Marquis cemetery, Tianma-Qucun, Beizhao, Shanxi province: recognition of tools and techniques. J. Archaeol. Sci. 40 (2):1067–1079. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2012.08. 041.
- Schubert, C., 1978. Evolución del Lago de Valencia. Líneas 254, 8-13.
- Schubert, C., 1980. Contribution to the Palaeolimnology of Lake Valencia, Venezuela: seismic stratigraphy. Catena 7, 275–292.
- Serrand, N., 1999. Strombus gigas: parts and their utilization for artefacts manufacture: a case study from the Tanki Flip site, Aruba. In: Richard, G. (Ed.), Proceedings of the XVI International Congress for Caribbean Archaeology Part IIBasse-Terre, July 24–28th, 1995. Conseil Régional de la Guadeloupe et Auditorium de la Ville de Basse-Terre, Basse-Terre, pp. 17–26.
- Serrand, N., 2007. Exploitation des invertébrés par les sociétés précolombiennes des Petites Antilles. Journal de la société des américanistes 93 (1):7–47. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.4000/jsa.6213.
- Serrand, N., Cummings, K.S., 2014. Occurrences of exogenous freshwater mussel shells (Bivalvia: Unionoida) during the precolumbian ceramic age of the Lesser Antilles. In: Szabó, K., Dupont, C., Dimitrijević, V., Gastélum, L.G., Serrand, N. (Eds.), Archaeomalacology: Shells in the Archaeological RecordBAR International Series 2666. Archaeopress, Oxford, pp. 65–75.
- Sillar, B., Tite, M.S., 2000. The challenge of 'technological choices' for materials science approaches in archaeology. Archaeometry 42 (1):2–20. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j. 1475-4754.2000.tb00863.x.
- Stiner, M.C., Kuhn, S.L., Güleç, E., 2013. Early upper Paleolithic shell beads at Üçağızlı cave I (Turkey): technology and the socioeconomic context of ornament life-histories. J. Hum. Evol. 64 (5):380–398. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jhevol.2013.01.008.
- Suarez, L, 1981. Técnicas prehispánicas en los objetos de concha. Instituto Nacional de Antropología e Historia, Mexico (Colección Científica Arqueología 14).
- Sutty, LA., 1990. Seashells of the Caribbean. London: Macmillan (Macmillan Caribbean Natural History series).
- Szabó, K.A., 2010. Shell artefacts and Shell-working within the Lapita cultural complex. Journal of Pacific Archaeology 1 (2), 115–127.
- Taborin, Y., 1991. La parure des Solutréens et des Magdaléniens anciens des Jamblancs. Paléo 3, 101–108.
- Taborin, Y., 1993. Traces de façonnage et d'usage sur les coquillages perforés. In: Anderson, P.C., Beyries, S., Otte, M., Plisson, H. (Eds.), Traces et Fonction: Les gestes retrouvés. Actes du colloque international de Liège Vol I. Service de Prehistoire (Etudes et Recherches Archéologiques de l'Université de Liège 50), Liège, pp. 255–267.
- Tátá, F., Cascalheira, J., Marreiros, J., Pereira, T., Bicho, N., 2014. Shell bead production in the upper Paleolithic of Vale Boi (SW Portugal): an experimental perspective. J. Archaeol. Sci. 42:29–41. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2013.10.029.
- Thomas, K.D., 2015. Molluscs emergent, part II: themes and trends in the scientific investigation of molluscs and their shells as past human resources. J. Archaeol. Sci. 56: 159–167. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2015.01.015.
- Turney, M.H.J., 2001. Classification and interpretation of Saladoid period shell artifacts from Elliot's and Royall's archaeological sites, Antigua, West Indies. University of Calgary, Calgary (unpublished MA thesis).
- Urbani, F., 2000. Revisión de las unidades de rocas-ígneas y metamórficas de la Cordillera de la Costa, Venezuela, GEOS Revista Venezolana de Ciencias de la Tierra 33, 1–170.
- Urbani, F., Rodríguez, J.A., 2003. Atlas Geológico de la Cordillera de la Costa, Venezuela. 148 hojas geológicas a escala 1:25.000. Ediciones UCV and FUNVISIS, Caracas.
- Van der Steen, E.J., 1992. Shell artefacts of Golden Rock. In: Versteeg, A.H., Schinkel, K. (Eds.), The Archaeology of St. Eustatius: the Golden Rock site. The Foundation for Scientific Research in the Caribbean Region & St. Eustatius: The St. Eustatius Historical Foundation, Amsterdam, pp. 93–118.
- Van Gijn, A.L., 2006. Ornaments of jet, amber and bone. In: Louwe Kooijmans, L.P., Jongste, P.F.B. (Eds.), Schipluiden: A Neolithic Settlement on the Dutch North Sea Coast c. 2500 cal. BC. Faculty of Archaeology, Leiden, pp. 195–205 (Analecta Praehistorica Leidensia 37/38).
- Van Gijn, A.L., 2010. Flint in Focus: Lithic Biographies in the Neolithic and Bronze Age. Sidestone Press, Leiden.
- Van Gijn, A.L., 2014a. Beads and pendants of amber and jet. Nederlandse Archeologische Rapporten 10, 119–128.
- Van Gijn, A.L., 2014b. Science and interpretation in microwear studies. J. Archaeol. Sci. 48: 166–169. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2013.10.024.
- Van Gijn, A.L., Lammers-Keijsers, Y.M.J., Briels, I., Hoogland, M.L.P., Van Gijn, A.L., 2008. Tool use and technological choices: an integral approach toward functional analysis of Caribbean tool assemblages. In: Hofman, C.L. (Ed.), Crossing the Borders: New methods and techniques in the study of archaeological materials from the Caribbean Archaeology and Ethnohistory. University of Alabama Press, Tuscaloosa, pp. 101–114.
- Vanhaeren, M., D'Errico, F., 2003. Le mobilier funéraire de la Dame de Saint-Germain la-Rivière et l'origine paléolithique des inégalités sociales. Paléo 15, 195–238.
 Vanhaeren, M., D'Errico, F., Stringer, C., James, S.L., Todd, J.A., Mienis, H.K., 2006. Middle
- Vanhaeren, M., D'Errico, F., Stringer, C., James, S.L., Todd, J.A., Mienis, H.K., 2006. Middle Paleolithic shell beads in Israel and Algeria. Science 312 (5781):1785–1788. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1126/science.1128139.

- Vanhaeren, M., D'Errico, F., van Niekerk, K.L., Henshilwood, C.S., Erasmus, R.M., 2013. Thinking strings: additional evidence for personal ornament use in the Middle Stone Age at Blombos Cave, South Africa. J. Hum. Evol. 64 (6):500–517. http://dx. doi.org/10.1016/j.jhevol.2013.02.001.
- Vargas Arenas, I., Toledo, M.I., Molina, L.E., Montcourt, C.E., 1997. Los Artífices de la Concha. Ensayo sobre tecnología, arte y otros aspectos Socioculturales de los Antiguos habitantes del Estado Lara. Museo Arqueológico de Quibor, Quibor.
- Velázquez-Castro, A., 2011. El reinado de axayacatl y la creación del estilo Tenochca del trabajo de la concha. Anc. Mesoam. 22 (2), 437–448.
- Velázquez-Castro, A., 2012. The study of shell object manufacturing techniques from the perspective of experimental archaeology and work traces. In: Ollich-Castanyer, I. (Ed.), Archaeology, New Approaches in Theory and Techniques. Rijeka, Intech, pp. 229–250.
- Wagner, E., Schubert, C., 1972. Pre-Hispanic workshop of serpentinite artefacts, Venezuelan Andes, and possible raw material source. Science 175 (4024), 888–890.Watters, D.K., 1997. Maritime trade in the prehistoric Eastern Caribbean. In: Wilson, S.M.
- Watters, D.R., 1997. Maritime trade in the prehistoric Eastern Caribbean. In: Wilson, S.M. (Ed.), The Indigenous People of the CaribbeanRipley P. Bullen Series 6. University Press of Florida, Gainesville, pp. 88–99.

- Watters, D.R., Scaglion, R., 1994. Beads and pendants from Trants, Montserrat: implications for the prehistoric lapidary industry of the Caribbean. Ann. Carnegie Museum 63 (3), 215–237.
- Weston, E., Szabó, K., Stern, N., 2015. Pleistocene shell tools from Lake Mungo lunette, Australia: identification and interpretation drawing on experimental archaeology. Ouat. Int. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.quaint.2015.11.048.
- White, R., 2007. Systems of personal ornamentation in the Early Upper Palaeolithic: methodological challenges and new observations. In: Mellars, P., Boyle, K., Bar-Yosef, O., Stringer, C. (Eds.), Rethinking the Human Revolution: New Behavioural and Biological Perspectives on the Origin and Dispersal of Modern Humans. McDonald Institute for Archaeological Research, Cambridge, pp. 287–302.
- Xu, Y., Jaffé, R., 2008. Biomarker-based paleo-record of environmental change for an eutrophic, tropical freshwater lake, Lake Valencia, Venezuela. J. Paleolimnol. 40, 179–194.

Use-wear and the complex biographies of ornaments

Published as:

Falci, C.G., Cuisin, J., Delpuech, A., Van Gijn, A.L., Hofman,
 C.L., 2019. New insights into use-wear development in bodily ornaments through the study of ethnographic collections.
 Journal of Archaeological Method and Theory 26(2), 755-805.
 http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10816-018-9389-8



New Insights into Use-Wear Development in Bodily Ornaments Through the Study of Ethnographic Collections

Catarina Guzzo Falci¹ · Jacques Cuisin² · André Delpuech³ · Annelou Van Gijn¹ · Corinne L. Hofman¹

Published online: 5 September 2018 © The Author(s) 2018

Abstract

The use of microwear analysis has made substantial contributions to the study of archaeological bodily ornaments. However, limitations persist with regard to the interpretation of use and the reconstruction of systems of attachment, hampering a holistic understanding of the diversity of past bodily adornment. This is because the complexities of ornament biographies and the resulting wear traces cannot be grasped exclusively from the study of experimental reference collections. In this paper, we propose to bridge this gap in interpretation by systematically researching ethnographic collections. We conducted a microscopic study of 38 composite ornaments from lowland South America housed at the Musée du quai Branly (Paris). These objects involve organic, biomineral, and inorganic components, attached through different string configurations. The combined use of optical and 3D digital microscopy at different magnification ranges provided a thorough understanding of wear trace formation, distribution, and characterization. We demonstrate how individual beads develop characteristic use-wear in relation to one another and to the strings. We further challenge common assumptions made in the analysis of archaeological ornaments. In sum, this research addresses methodological and interpretative issues in the study of bodily adornment at large, by providing insight into the biographies of objects that were actually worn in a lived context. In the future, our results can be applied as reference for a more effective understanding of the use of ornaments worldwide.

Keywords $Ornaments \cdot Use-wear \cdot Hard animal materials \cdot Ethnographic collections \cdot Lowland South America \cdot Object biography$

Electronic supplementary material The online version of this article (https://doi.org/10.1007/s10816-018-9389-8) contains supplementary material, which is available to authorized users.

Catarina Guzzo Falci c.guzzo.falci@arch.leidenuniv.nl

Extended author information available on the last page of the article

Introduction

Bodily adornment is a prevalent feature of human societies, whose richness and variability are attested in both ethnographic and archaeological contexts. Ethnographic sources have shown that ornaments are often associated with symbolic systems, ethnic identity, and personhood (Miller 2009; Roach-Higgins and Eicher 1992; Seeger 1975; Strathern 1979; Turner 1995, 2012; Wiessner 1982). For this reason, ornaments are thought to provide a window into social, cultural, and cognitive aspects of past human societies otherwise elusive in the archaeological record (DiPaolo Loren 2009; Joyce 2005; Kuhn and Stiner 2007; Moro Abadía and Nowell 2015; Newell et al. 1990; Vanhaeren and d'Errico 2006; White 1992; White and Beaudry 2009; Wright and Garrard 2003). Great efforts have thus been put into the study of ornament assemblages from a wide variety of contexts and time periods. Microwear analysis forms a key method in assessing the biographies of ornaments, in particular their production and use. Many researchers have carried out experimental programs, replicating techniques, toolkits, and sequences of production (e.g., Álvarez Fernández 2006; d'Errico et al. 1993; d'Errico et al. 2005; Francis Jr 1982; Gurova et al. 2013; Mărgărit et al. 2016; Melgar Tísoc 2012; Sax and Ji 2013; Tátá et al. 2014; Velázquez-Castro 2012; Vidale 1995; Yerkes 1993). Experiments generally focus on certain variables considered to be relevant in a given study; this control allows the researcher to establish a relation between observed production microtraces and specific variables (Adams 2010; Bamforth 2010; Outram 2008; Reynolds 1999). In its turn, the study of use-wear has offered insight into how individual ornaments integrated composite constructions. However, few studies have addressed the conditions under which this type of wear develops, in spite of the abundance of research dedicated to the observation of use-wear in archaeological ornaments.

Experimental studies focused on the use of beads include both the actualistic wearing of ornaments (Álvarez Fernández 2006; d'Errico 1993a; d'Errico *et al.* 1993; Mărgărit 2016; Minotti 2014; Verschoof 2008) and the (mechanical) replication of use-wear in a clinical setting (Brasser 2015; d'Errico 1993a, b; d'Errico *et al.* 1993; Langley and O'Connor 2016; Rainio and Mannermaa 2014; Vanhaeren *et al.* 2013). On the one hand, actualistic experiments provide a more accurate reference collection, as artifacts are subjected to conditions that are more similar to those of the past: they rest against the human body and may be worn during a range of quotidian activities. On the other hand, a mechanized system is capable of more easily isolating and adding variables, in addition to including longer durations or more intense use. Use duration and intensity are relevant variables to explore, as certain raw materials seem to require different periods of time to develop use-wear of comparable extent (*e.g.*, compare results for 3-month-long use of beads in Mărgărit 2016 and Verschoof 2008; also Álvarez Fernández 2006).

There are, nevertheless, a number of limiting factors in the creation of experimental ornament use-wear reference collections, whether they are actualistic or clinical. First, the differential preservation of raw materials in the archaeological record results in a partial view of past ornament components. A large variety of organic bead and string materials may have been part of a composite ornament but left no evidence in an archaeological site. Second, beads can be integrated in multiple types of ornaments, for instance bracelets, necklaces, anklets, aprons, and earrings. It is generally not possible to know the exact ornament type a studied artifact was part of, although wellpreserved burial contexts can provide a wealth of information. This is an issue because the specific attachment system and composition of each ornament type have been shown to affect the distribution of use-wear (Langley and O'Connor 2016; Vanhaeren *et al.* 2013). Third, ornaments can be placed directly against the human skin, which may have paint or oils, or on top of clothing made of a variety of materials. Added substances and contact materials must be taken into account, as they affect the formation of use-wear. Fourth, wearing an ornament cannot be reduced to either a specific task or activity; in other words, it cannot be completed or finished, unless the components fall apart. Furthermore, it is not clear how different activities carried out while wearing an ornament may affect use-wear formation, such as dancing, hunting, fighting, or bathing. In sum, it is nearly impossible to tackle all such variables in experimental programs.

An alternative approach has been the study of composite ornaments belonging to ethnographic museum collections (Cristiani *et al.* 2014; Langley and O'Connor 2015; Wright *et al.* 2016). Thus far, this type of research has been conducted alongside the study of archaeological assemblages and, for this reason, has focused on specific ornament typologies and raw materials. Its main concern has been to provide comparison between ethnographic and archaeological microtraces in the context of specific case studies. Such collections can offer a great variety of use scenarios and provide (potentially highly developed) use-wear formed in a daily or ceremonial context. Differences between ethnographic and experimental collections can be connected to the specific *savoir-faire* involved in object production, length of usage, multiple types of use, storage, cleaning (or lack thereof), maintenance, and other forms of curation of objects over time (Choyke 2006; González-Urquijo *et al.* 2015; Hamon and Le Gall 2013; Stone 2011; Van Gijn 2014a).

In the study of archaeological artifacts, inferences are made concerning the presence or absence of use-wear, the relative degree of usage, and the system of attachment. However, such interpretations often implicitly reduce the lives of ornaments to a linear sequence that proceeds from raw material acquisition to stringing and, eventually, to discard. This assumed linearity dictates how we interpret ornaments to the exclusion of evidence that suggests that ornaments can have complex object biographies (sensu Kopytoff 1986), being restrung, repaired, broken apart, hidden away, widely exchanged, or kept as heirlooms over generations (e.g., Chaumeil 2004; Ewart 2012; Lillios 1999; Oliveira 2017; Wiessner 1982). This is because assessing such specific intentionalities and biographies archaeologically is rather challenging. In this sense, the study of ethnographic ornaments may help us challenge commonly held assumptions in the analysis of archaeological artifacts, such as the idea that a necklace is a homogenous construct, in which all components have the same biography (Frieman 2012; Van Gijn 2017; Walker 2009; Woodward 2002). The ornament as a heterogeneous assemblage of components can be connected to the particular agentive capacities that it was expected to hold. Furthermore, any approach to ornaments that aims to focus on their communicative or agentive roles in society has to address the incompleteness of the archaeological record: a presumably complete necklace will be missing essential components. The choice for specific materials may not be related to an intrinsic value; rather, it may be connected to the presentation of such material in a specific composition together with other bead types and raw materials. In this sense, ethnographic composite ornaments can provide a more holistic picture of bodily adornment that should serve as reference for archaeological research—both from a methodological and conceptual

standpoint. Their study can aid us in reconceptualizing the biographies of ornaments and the way the use of beads has been regarded in archaeological and anthropological research.

In the present paper, we provide new insights into the formation of use-wear in bodily ornaments. Rather than studying a specific type of ornament, a systematic research of a varied assemblage was carried out. Different ornament types were selected from indigenous South American collections of the Musée du quai Branly - Jacques Chirac in Paris (henceforth, MQB). The goal is to elucidate the relation between usewear, systems of attachment, and contact materials. First, the present paper will evaluate how microwear research of ethnographic ornaments can be optimally conducted. The challenges involved in the analysis of complex and fragile composite objects must be clearly addressed. Second, the performances of three types of microscopes are evaluated: a stereomicroscope, a metallographic microscope, and a 3D digital microscope. While the first two have traditionally been used in use-wear research, the use of high magnification optical microscopy has been somewhat limited in the study of ornaments, especially of ethnographic ones. Furthermore, we apply for the first time the 3D digital microscope with a rotary head to the microwear study of ornaments and demonstrate how its use aided with handling and observation issues encountered during the study of composite objects. Third, this study characterizes usewear across different raw materials and ornament types. The evidence will then be contrasted to common assumptions in the study of archaeological ornaments, such as whether specific wear trace distributions can be correlated to certain attachment systems. The study therefore constitutes a reference for future interpretations, providing a window into the biographies of ornaments actually worn in a lived context and into how this use affected their surfaces. It ultimately aims to bring us a step closer to understanding how artifacts retrieved from archaeological sites once composed whole objects that were integrated in the social fabric of past societies.

Material and Methods

Ethnographers and voyagers have often recorded numerous and diverse bodily ornaments among indigenous communities from the lowlands of South America. Depending on the ethnic group, there is great typological and material diversity, further varying according to age group, gender, social position, and other affiliations, such as to clans or moieties (Albisetti and Venturelli 1962; Lévi-Strauss 1936; Ribeiro 1988; Seeger 1975; Turner 1995). Recent anthropological studies have stressed the mythical and social importance of ornaments in the region, as well as their agentive and prophylactic capacities (Chaumeil 2004; Erikson 2001; Lagrou 2013; Ladeira 2007; Miller 2009; Oliveira 2017; Santos-Granero 2009, 2012; Walker 2009). Collaborations between museums, anthropologists, and indigenous communities have provided new information and perspectives on Amerindian collections (e.g., Françozo and Van Broekhoven 2017; Oliveira 2017; Silva and Gordon 2013; Shepard Jr et al. 2017; Van Broekhoven 2010). Nevertheless, approaches focused on the analysis of the biographies of ornaments are still missing. This pronounced diversity, combined with the lack of previous studies, led to the choice of lowland South American ornaments as the focus of this study.

More than 12,000 objects from the lowlands of South America make part of the collection of the MQB, encompassing items collected as early as the sixteenth century up to the present day (Delpuech et al. 2013). As a result, the collection presents considerable regional and cultural variability, alongside a long and complex history. Among such objects, 38 bodily ornaments were selected for the present study due to their composite nature. Composite ornaments offer a contrast to the disconnected beads commonly recovered in the archaeological record. Most objects were collected between the late nineteenth and twentieth centuries in the context of scientific expeditions. They represent a broad range of ornament types and raw materials. The typological variability allows us to build a rich use-wear reference collection with diverse systems of attachment and bead raw materials. This study brings together objects belonging to 17 ethnic groups, in addition to three objects with unknown provenience. Diverse geographical regions are encompassed, notably Amazonia (n = 22), Central Brazil (n = 6), and the Gran Chaco (n = 6). The most prevalent indigenous communities represented in this study are the Bororo from Central Brazil (n = 6), the Guaycurú (n = 5) from the Gran Chaco, and the Capanahua from the Peruvian Amazon (n = 4).

In general, each composite ornament involves a supporting attachment system, in the form of strings or woven bands, and a range of attached components. Necklaces constitute over 60% of the sample (n = 23), whereas ornaments of other types are present in lower numbers: bracelets (n = 3), ear (n = 4) and nose (n = 2) ornaments, a labret (n = 1), and a baby sling (n = 1). Noncomposite ornaments are additionally included: two labrets (71.1936.48.163 and 71.1884.29.38) and two ear discs (71.1884.29.29.1-2). Such artifacts are generally underrepresented in the archaeological record, being identified only when they present a characteristic morphology. Therefore, the analysis focused on understanding the distribution and characteristics of use-wear on artifacts that were inserted directly into the skin. Glues, dyes, and other residues of unknown origin and functionality are present on 18 objects, in all but two cases added directly to the string.

Whereas the collection of the museum encompasses large numbers of objects made of feathers, plant fibers, wood, and seeds, we gave preference to ornaments with mineral and biomineral beads, pendants, and plaques. These raw materials are comparable to those typically found in the archaeological record. At the same time, material diversity within the same object formed a relevant factor in the sample selection, since it offers insight into the wear traces formed as a result of the interaction between different bead materials during use (bead-on-bead wear). Table 1 provides an overview of the studied ornaments. Mollusk shell components are by far dominant in the selected sample, with a total of 21 objects including them (55.3%). Of this total, eight are objects with only shell components and 11 are composed of shell and a single other material. Animal teeth are present in 23.7% of the objects, most commonly in combination with other materials, such as bone, seeds, and nuts. Similarly, bone components (18.4%) are always accompanied by other raw materials, with the exception of the noncomposite bone labret. Lithic materials are generally poorly represented in ornaments from the lowlands (Ribeiro 1988); here they are present in the form of a quartz and two rock crystal pendants (7.9%). Nuts, seeds, glass, porcelain, and feathers only appear alongside other raw materials. Use-wear on seeds, glass, and porcelain will not be discussed here, even though it was often observed on the studied objects.

Inventory no.	Object type	Provenience	Compon	ents		String material	Use-wear
			Raw ma	terials	Types		
71.1980.61.27	Baby sling	Peru, Ucayali department, Urubamba River,	Teeth	Peccary canines and incisors (Tayassu sp.)	Automorphic	Cotton	Rim polish Rim deformation
		Matsigenga	Bones	Peccary long, squamosal, sphenoid bones (<i>Tayassu</i> sp.) Tapir scapula, mandible, basin (<i>Tapirus</i> sp.)	Elongated pendants Double-perforated pendant		Erasure of manufacture traces/natural patterns Polish on the edges No use-wear on some components
			Shell (G)	Corona incisa or C. regalis	Automorphic		
			Seeds	Indet.	Automorphic		
			Nuts	Indet.	Automorphic		
71.1929.8.292	Bracelet (fragment)	Brazil, Acre State, Capanahua	Shell (B)	Unionoida order	Disc beads	Cotton	Polish on the edges Erasure of manufacture traces/natural patterns Residue Perforation cannot be observed
71.1900.47.14.1	Bracelet	Peru, Ucayali River, Capanahua	Teeth	Monkey canines (Aotus azarai)	Automorphic	Cotton	Rim polish Erasure of manufacture traces/natural patterns Polish on the edges Flattening

Table 1 (continu	led)						
Inventory no.	Object type	Provenience	Compor	lents		String material	Use-wear
			Raw ma	terials	Types		
71.1900.47.14.2	Bracelet	Peru, Ucayali River, Capanahua	Teeth	Monkey canines (Aotus azarai)	Automorphic	Cotton	Rim polish Erasure of manufacture traces/natural patterns Polish on the edges Flattening
71.1929.8.81	Nose ornament	Brazil, Acre or Amazonas State, Kanamari	Shell (B) Glass	Anodontites sp.	Crescent-shaped Disc heads	Indet. plant	Shell: no use-wear Wood: surface damage Wood: rounding
			Wood	Indet.	Cylindrical stick		
71.1929.8.225	Nose ornament	Brazil, Acre or Amazonas State,	Shell (B)	Anodontites sp.	Crescent-shaped	Indet. plant	Shell: no use-wear
		Kanamari	Glass	Indet.	Disc beads (glass)		
71.1884.29.38	Labret (noncompo- site)	Bolivia, Santa Cruz department, Vallegrande Province, Chiriguano	Wood	Indet.	T-shaped (short)	NA	Surface damage Polish Residue (?)
71.1936.48.150	Labret (noncompo- site)	Brazil, Mato Grosso State, Vermelho River, Bororo	Bone	Mammal tibia, jaguar (<i>Panthera onca</i>)*	T-shaped (long)	ΥN	Polish Deformation Erasure of manufacture traces/natural patterns
71.1936.48.163	Labret	Brazil, Mato Grosso State, Vermelho River, Bororo	Shell (B)	Unionidae family	T-shaped mouth piece Double-perforated plaques	Cotton	Surface damage Bead-on-bead wear (damage) Residue
			Feather	Macaw (Ara chloropterus)	NA		

Table 1 (continu-	ed)						
Inventory no.	Object type	Provenience	Compone	ants		String material	Use-wear
			Raw mat	erials	Types		
71.1884.29.29	Necklace	Bolivia, Santa Cruz department, Vallegrande Province, Toba (Guaycurú)	Shell (B)	Unionidae family	Double-perforated rectangular pendants	Cotton	Rim polish Rim deformation Flattening Bead-on-bead wear (scratches)
71.1900.47.7	Necklace	Peru, Ucayali River, Capanahua	Shell (G) Nuts	<i>Pomacea</i> sp. Indet.	Drop-shaped pendants Drop-shaped pendants	Cotton	Rim polish Rim deformation Polish on the edges Bead-on-bead wear (damage and scratches)
71.1900.47.9	Necklace	Peru, Ucayali River, Capanahua	Shell (G) Nuts	Indet. gastropod Indet.	Drop-shaped beads Drop-shaped beads	Cotton	Rim polish Rim deformation Polishing on the edges Erasure of manufacture traces/natural patterns Bead-on-bead wear (flattening)
71.1971.30.62	Necklace	Brazil, Amazonas State, Upper Solimões, Tikuna	Nuts Seeds	Tucum* (Astrocaryum sp.) Inajá* (Maximiliana martiana) Indet.	Zoomorphic pendants Automorphic	cf. Astrocaryum chambira*	Rim polish Rim deformation Rounding of the edges Erasure of manufacture traces/natural patterns Bead-on-bead wear (widening of perforation)

Falci et al.

Table 1 (continu	led)					
Inventory no.	Object type	Provenience	Components		String material	Use-wear
			Raw materials	Types		
71.1881.34.75	Necklace	Colombia, Vichada River, Guahibo	Tooth Caiman (Caimaninae fàmily)	Automorphic	Indet. plant	Rim polish Rim deformation Polish on the edges Erasure of manufacture traces/natural patterns Bead-on-bead wear (microbreakage) Residue
			Rock crystal	Automorphic		
71.1881.34.78	Necklace	Colombia, Vichada River, Guahibo	Rock crystal	Automorphic	Indet. plant	Polish Residue Attachment sector partially concealed
70.2015.8.34	Necklace	Colombia, Amazonas department, Tikuna	Teeth Peccary canines (Tayassu sp.)	Automorphic	Indet. plant (A. <i>chambir</i> -	No use-wear observed
			Bone Flat bone (frog?)	Elongated pendants	$a^{?*})$	
			Seeds Ormosia sp.* Coix lacryma-jobi*	Automorphic		
			Nuts Tucum* (Astrocaryum sp.)	Automorphic		

Table 1 (continue)	(pər						
Inventory no.	Object type	Provenience	Components			String material	Use-wear
			Raw materials		Types		
71.1880.7.14	Necklace	Peru, Amazonas department, Marañón River, unknown ethnonym	Shell Unionic (B)	lae family	Drop-shaped pendants	Cotton	Rim polish Rim deformation Polish on the edges Erasure of manufacture traces/natural patterns Bead-on-bead wear (microbreakage and deformation)
			Glass		Disc and spherical beads		
71.1881.34.28	Necklace	French Guiana, Wayana	Shell <i>Megalo</i> (G)	bulimus sp.	Double-perforated rectangular plaques	Cotton	Rim polish Rim deformation Erasure of manufacture traces/natural patterns Bead-on-bead wear (damage and scratches)
71.1884.29.63	Necklace	Bolivia, Santa Cruz department, Vallegrande Province, Toba (Guaycurú)	Shell Uniono (B)	ida order	Disc beads	Indet. plant	Rim polish Rim deformation Erasure of manufacture traces/natural patterns Bead-on-bead wear (scratches)

Table 1 (continue	(pe					
Inventory no.	Object type	Provenience	Components		String material	Use-wear
			Raw materials	Types		
71.1884.102.40	Necklace	Chile, Tierra del Fuego, Hoste Island, Yamana	Shell Margarella violacea (G)	Automorphic	Sinew (whale?*)	Polish Deformation Flattening Bead-on-bead wear (damage)
71.1903.13.20	Necklace	Colombia, Ecuador, or Peru, Amazonia, Shuar/Achuar	Bone Bird femurs (<i>Nyctidromus</i> sp.*) Feather Toucan (Ramphastidae family)	Cylindrical pendants NA	Indet. plant	Rim polish Polish on the edges Bead-on-bead wear (deformation, residue)
			Porcelain	Disc and tubular beads		resture
71.1908.22.1524	Necklace	Ecuador, Shuar/Achuar	Shell <i>Mycetopoda</i> sp. (B) Glass	Crescent-shaped pendants Disc beads	Indet. plant	Rim polish Erasure of natural patterns Surface damage Perforation cannot be fully observed
71.1929.8.36	Necklace	Brazil, Amazonas State, Juruá River, Kulina	Shell Unionidae family (B)	Double-perforated rectangular pendants	Monocot plant (A. <i>chambir-</i> a?*)	Rim polish Rim deformation Polish on the edges Erasure of manufacture traces/natural patterns

Table 1 (continu	(pa)					
Inventory no.	Object type	Provenience	Components		String material	Use-wear
			Raw materials	Types		
71.1929.8.83	Necklace	Brazil, unknown ethnonym	Bone Bony fish vertebrae Tooth Monkey canine (<i>Cebus</i> sp.)	Automorphic Automorphic	Indet. plant	Rim polish Polish on the edges Erasure of manufacture
			Porcelain	Disc beads		traces/natural patterns Bead-on-bead wear (flattening, deformation, residue)
71.1939.88.693	Necklace	Brazil, Mato Grosso or Rondônia State, Pimenta Bueno River, Kabisiana	Shell Unionoida order (B)	Disc bead	Cotton	Rim polish Rim deformation Erasure of manufacture traces/natural patterns Bead-on-bead wear (scratches)
71.1948.76.296	Necklace	Brazil, Tiquié River, Bará	Milky quartz Bone Hawk-eagle talons (<i>Spizaetus</i> sp.)	Cylindrical pendant Automorphic	cf. Ananas erectifolius (Bromeliacea-	Rim polish Rim deformation Polish on the edges
			Teeth Peccary canines (<i>Tayassu</i> sp.) Seeds Inder	Automorphic	e)*	Erasure of manufacture traces Residue

	(
Inventory no.	Object type	Provenience	Compoi	nents		String material	Use-wear
			Raw mé	ıterials	Types		
71.1948.76.297	Necklace	South America, unknown ethnonym	Teeth	Caiman (Caimaninae family) Peccary canine (Tayassu sp.)	Automorphic	Indet. plant	Rim polish Polish on the edges Bead-on-bead wear (deformation and
			Bone Wood	Clavicle (turtle?) Indet.	Automorphic Hour-glass shaped beads Elongated pendants		scratches) Residue
71.1964.39.42	Necklace	Paraguay, Caazapá department, San Juan Nepomuceno, Arroyo Moroti, Aché (Guayaki)	Teeth	Monkey canines (<i>Cebus</i> sp. and <i>Alouatta cf. caraya</i>)	Automorphic	cf. Urera baccifèra (Urticaceae)*	Rim polish Rim deformation Bead-on-bead wear (root deformation) Residue (?)
71.1964.119.23	Necklace	Brazil, Pará State, Zinho River, Kayapó	Shell (B)	Mycetopodidae family	Trapezoid pendants	Cotton	Rim polish Polish on the edges Bead-on-bead wear (damage and scratches)
			Glass		Disc and spherical beads		
71.1971.30.82	Necklace	Brazil, Amazonas State, Upper Solimões River, Tikuna	Bone	Monkey humeri (<i>Cebus</i> sp.) Indet. long bones (<i>cf</i> . agouti, <i>Dasyprocta</i> sp.)	Tubular beads	cf. A. chambira (Arecaceae)*	Rim polish Polish on the edges Erasure of manufacture traces Bead-on-bead wear
			Seed	Indet.	Automorphic		(polish and scratches)

Table 1 (continu	ed)						
Inventory no.	Object type	Provenience	Components		String material	Use-wear	
			Raw materials	Types			
71.1971.43.26	Necklace	Brazil, Mato Grosso State, Upper Xingu River, Mehinaku	Shell Megalobulimus (G) oblongus	Double-perforated rectangular plaques	Cotton	Perforation cannot be fully observed Rim polish Erasure of manufacture traces/natural patterns	
71.1933.72.638	Necklace	Argentina, Formosa Province, Estero Patiño, Guaycurú	Wood Indet.	Figurative pendant	Wool (indet. animal)	Polish Erasure of manufacture traces Attachment area cannot be directly observed Residue	
			Porcelain inlay	Disc bead			
71.1884.29.24.1	Ear ornament (noncompo- site)	Bolivia, Santa Cruz department, Vallegrande Province, Toba (Guaycurú)	Wood Indet.	Disc	NA	Surface damage Erasure of manufacture traces Residue (?)	
71.1884.29.24.2	Ear ornament (noncompo- site)	Bolivia, Santa Cruz department, Vallegrande Province, Toba (Guaycurú)	Wood Indet.	Disc	NA	Surface damage Erasure of manufacture traces Residue (?)	
Table 1 (continued)							
---------------------	--------------	---	-----------	--	---	-----------------	--
Inventory no. 0	bject type	Provenience	Compon	ents		String material	Use-wear
			Raw mat	erials	Types		
71.1936.48.168.1 E	ar ornament	Brazil, Mato Grosso State, Vermelho River, Bororo	Shell (B)	Unionidae family	T-shaped attachment piece Double-perforated rectangular plaques	Cotton	Bead-on-bead wear (damage) Residue
			Feather	Macaw (Ara macao) Parrot (Amazona cf. aestiva)	NA		
71.1936.48.168.2 E	lar ornament	Brazil, Mato Grosso State, Vermelho River, Bororo	Shell (B)	Unionidae family	T-shaped attachment piece Double-perforated rectangular plaques	Cotton	Bead-on-bead wear (damage) Residue
			Feather	Macaw (<i>Ara macao</i>)	NA		
71.1936.48.195.1 E	lar ornament	Brazil, Mato Grosso State, Vermelho River, Bororo	Shell (B)	Unionidae family	Rectangular plaques with 2–3 perforations	Cotton	Bead-on-bead wear (damage) Residue
			Feather	Macaw (Ara chloropterus)	NA		
71.1936.48.195.2 E	lar ornament	Brazil, Mato Grosso (state), Vernelho River, Bororo	Shell (B)	Unionidae family	Rectangular plaques with 2–10 perforations	Cotton	Bead-on-bead wear (damage) Residue
			Feather	Macaw (Ara chloropterus)	NA		

The taxonomical identification of animal components was based on visual examination and comparison with specimens from the collections of the Muséum National d'Histoire Naturelle (MNHN). The process was particularly easy when the parts (or fragments) were sufficiently large or distinctive to be identified immediately or very quickly according to the morphology, the biometry, or any diagnostic features (certain bones, teeth, shells, feathers, etc.). In this case, the identification was based upon external characteristics: pattern of coloration in relation to dimensions (e.g., feathers,shells), visual and touching aspects (odor in some cases), and anatomical features. Anatomical characteristics of bone are considerably different between mammals, birds or reptiles, and fishes. Bone density, thickness, type of porosity, bony structures, and traces of vascular vessels can provide good indications of the animal taxon. Identifications of bony elements were only made when a sufficient number of such traits were available. Generally speaking, the methodology used is the same as for archaeozoological investigations. Regarding dental elements, the same method used for bone artifacts was applied, *i.e.*, the size of the tooth or of the worked part was used to reconstruct the size of the original animal. The shape and general morphology of the tooth was also fundamental, allowing to distinguish a monkey from a carnivore, for example. In relation to the shells, identification was quite easy, given their good state of preservation; the more complete the organic material is, the easier it is to identify them.

In the case of small or highly worked fragments, the first step was to determine what the used part is. From this point, it was possible to estimate the size of the original animal, then to compare the considered fragment with reference collections or literature. Finally, the possible species was selected on the basis of physical criteria mentioned above. It could also be necessary to check the distribution of the identified species in relation to that of the ethnic group considered. Depending on the level of certainty, the identifications were made to the family, genus, or species level. Some fragments remain without precise identification, especially when highly modified. Identifications followed by question mark or by "sp." represent the most reasonable proposition according to observed traits. In this study, only external methods have been used, without any help of molecular analysis. Finally, reference collections are fundamental, as well as prior experience.

State of Preservation

While postdepositional surface modification is not a concern for an ethnographic assemblage, other events during the biography of an object may affect its integrity. Overall, the components of the objects made from different raw materials presented well-preserved surfaces, sometimes covered by original residues or more recent additions. Breakages were noted on 14 objects, being restricted to few components. In contrast, the strings often presented pronounced use-wear, leading to the shedding of fibers and breakage. Most studied ethnographic ornaments have a long postcollection biography, during which they belonged to three different museums: the Musée d'Ethnographie du Trocadéro, the Musée de l'Homme, and, lastly, the Musée du quai Branly (Delpuech and Roux 2015; Delpuech *et al.* 2013; Grognet 2005). As demonstrated elsewhere (Falci *et al.* 2017a; also Breukel *et al.*, in prep.), modifications to the surface of artifacts carried out in museum contexts must be acknowledged, as they can affect microwear analysis. The change from one museum to the others resulted in the

addition of successive glued identification tags and ink markings with varnish. Glued tags and ink markings coexist on nine specimens, while only ink with varnish is found on another 13 objects. They are placed directly on top of individual components, partially concealing their surface. Furthermore, the removal of identification tags, carried out at some point along their museum biography, also left macro- or micro-scopic traces of glue, which can mislead the interpretation of microwear (Fig. 1b–d). It was possible to note that new complementary strings were added to six objects prior to collection as a means of repairing them. The new strings could be identified on the basis of differential raw material or relative degree of wear. The wear displayed by the strings, the complex modes of attachment, and the presence of residues confirm that the objects have not been restrung after arrival at the museum.

Objects can present considerable dirt on their surfaces, such as dust, stains, sediment, and handling grease. Therefore, the cleaning of artifacts prior to analysis plays an important role in microwear studies, as a means of preventing the misinterpretation of traces. For instance, at low magnification, handling grease can be mistaken for the presence of use polish and rounding. At high magnification, it conceals the surface's microtopography (Fig. 1a). Depending on the raw material, cleaning can be carried out with different products, such as water and soap, alcohol, acetone, or other chemical solutions (*e.g.*, HCl, KOH, and H_2O_2) (Evans and Donahue 2005; Macdonald and Evans 2014; Van Gijn 1990, 2014a). An ultrasonic bath can also be used in combination with these products. However, such types of thorough cleaning were considered to be potentially damaging to the studied objects, as they often involve organic and fragile components. For the present research, only individual components were cleaned, making use of ethanol, carefully applied with cotton buds. Areas with original residues



Fig. 1 Postcollection modifications on individual components of the studied objects, including handling grease (**a**), ink marking with varnish (**b**), and remains of glued identification tags, directly visible (**c**) and only observable with high magnification (**d**). MQB inventory numbers: 71.1884.102.40 (**a**), 71.1929.8.81 (**b**), 71.1881.34.28 (**c**), and 71.1936.48.150 (**d**). ©Musée du quai Branly - Jacques Chirac, photos by C. Guzzo Falci, 2017

were avoided during cleaning. Excessive postcollection handling may lead to the formation of wear traces on the studied objects, which can be confused with original use-wear. However, this problem could be ruled out on the basis of two factors: (1) the individual components in composite pieces are not often handled due to their fragile attachments, and (2) original use-wear has a distinctive distribution, being often located only on certain sectors of the individual components, rather than on their entire surfaces.

Methods of Analysis

The present study was conducted at the Atelier de Conservation et Restauration of the MOB. The microwear analysis of objects involved the combined use of low- and highmagnification microscopes. In the first stage of analysis, an Olympus SZX7 stereomicroscope was used, with magnifications of 8-56. We identified traces and residues on ornaments, recording their location, association to each other, and characteristics. This could be done relatively fast and comprised the observation of all components in a given object (*i.e.*, all the beads in a necklace). In the second stage, an Olympus BX51 microscope was used with incident light and magnifications of 40–200. It allowed for the observation and analysis of the surface's microtopography and polish, which can be diagnostic of materials an artifact has been in contact with. This stage of analysis was time-consuming; thus, it was restricted to two to four components depending of the object. Through the combination of the two magnification ranges, the observed traces could be better contextualized and interpreted. The main goal was to record all microwear on the objects, including the technology (techniques, toolkits, and production sequence), use-wear (characteristics and distribution), residue, and preservation of individual components.

In the present paper, we will focus exclusively on use-wear. Traces recorded on individual components include polish, rounding, deformation, smoothing of manufacture traces and natural patterns, flattening, surface damage, microbreakages, and scratches. Such features were further characterized by their location in relation to the attachment and to other components, brightness, presence of fine striations, distribution, directionality, and invasiveness. The latter was assessed by the degree to which the use polish entered the interstices of used sectors, in comparison to the surrounding surface. Intensity of use could be qualitatively assessed by evaluating to what extent natural and man-made surface features appear rounded, erased, or deformed. Wear traces were recorded on different analysis forms: a general form for low magnification analysis of an object and supplementary forms for each individual component analyzed with high magnification. Figure 2 summarizes the terminology used to describe the location of use-wear on individual components.

Microwear analysis has been applied to artifacts made of minerals, stone, bone, shell, and wood, thus proving its suitability for their study (*e.g.*, Buc 2011; Caruso Fermé *et al.* 2015; Cuenca-Solana *et al.* 2017; Dubreuil and Savage 2014; Kononenko *et al.* 2010; Lammers-Keijsers 2007; Lavier *et al.* 2009; Ollé *et al.* 2016; Sidéra and Legrand 2006; Van Gijn 1990, 2005, 2006, 2014a, 2014b). To our knowledge, it has not been previously applied to artifacts made of nut (palm endocarps); here, we evaluate which information can be gained by their study, in comparison to more commonly researched raw materials. The interpretation of microwear as correlated to



Fig. 2 Terminology used to describe individual components and use-wear distribution on them: beads $(\mathbf{a-c})$, pendants $(\mathbf{d-f})$, and plaques $(\mathbf{g-i})$. Note that perforation position and number in relation to the general shape of a component is used as diagnostic of type. MQB inventory numbers: 71.1939.88.693 (b), 71.1900.47.9 (c), 71.1980.61.27 (e), 71.1929.8.81 (f), 71.1971.43.126 (h), and 71.1936.48.195.1 (i). ©Musée du quai Branly - Jacques Chirac, photos by C. Guzzo Falci, 2017

specific activities was based on previous studies, especially on those focused on the replication of ornament use-wear. There are, however, important differences between ethnographic objects and archaeological artifacts: ethnographic ornaments are often large, composite, and fragile. In addition, they have many individually connected parts, being therefore difficult to carefully handle and to stabilize under a microscope. This contrasts to the archaeological ornaments, which are often small single items that can be easily fixed on a regular microscope plate. As a consequence, it was necessary to modify the protocol, which was originally designed for the study of archaeological specimens. A similar issue has been previously noted by Kononenko et al. (2010), leading them to use a Dino-Lite USB digital microscope for low-magnification analysis. Here, the stereomicroscope was adapted to a free arm, thus allowing the microscope's height to be changed according to each studied object. Conversely, the metallographic microscope had a short working distance, preventing the analysis of certain objects (e.g., 71.1964.39.42 and 71.1884.29.24.1–2). Furthermore, stabilizing individual beads or pendants under the microscope's incident light at a 90° angle also proved to be difficult, as they were still attached to each other in a composition. Another limitation to analysis was that use-wear is predominantly located under the strings of attachment. As these strings cannot be removed, the analysis often had to focus on

partially broken or loosely attached components. Despite the limitations, the use of high magnification proved to be important, as it provides direct visualization of the microtopography and state of preservation of a surface. This was central in (1) verifying the traces observed with lower magnifications; (2) differentiating between handling grease and use polish; (3) recognizing natural patterns, damage, striations, and glue remains; and (4) characterizing use-wear according to different contact materials.

A third microscope was used in order to tackle some of the noted limitations and to evaluate its general usefulness for use-wear analysis: a 3D digital microscope (HIROX KH-8700) with magnifications of 20-160 and a Rotary-Head adapter (HIROX AD-2016RLM). The adapter includes a rotating prism that allows 360° view of an object. This mechanism made the observation of difficult-to-reach areas possible, without the constant manipulation of the objects. In addition, it provided views of a given feature from different angles in relation to the light source and a better understanding of the shape and characteristics of the observed traces. The 360° view could also be made into videos that provided an invaluable 3D recording of the characteristics and distribution of traces (see Videos 1-6). All components in each object were analyzed with this microscope. This model does not replace the metallographic microscope, as its light configuration (dark field vertical lighting) and image quality prevent the observation of microtopographical features of wear polishes. At the same time, it provided superior magnifications in comparison to the stereomicroscope, thus allowing for better observation and descriptions of microtraces. The data provided by each microscope proved to be complementary, leading us to rely on the combined use of the three models for the study of this collection (Fig. 3).

Use-Wear Patterns Across Materials

In the following, we discuss use-wear patterns according to the raw material of the individual components, as the properties of each have been shown to influence wear formation. The data will be further organized according to use-wear types and how these relate to both attachment system and composition of each object (*i.e.*, the neighboring beads and string material). The observed use-wear types develop in connection to one another and will only be divided here in order to highlight how, where, and in which conditions they occur. Finally, the challenges faced during analysis and their implications for interpretation are also discussed.

Shell

Mollusk shell is probably the material category that has received the greatest attention in ornament use-wear studies (*e.g.*, Bonnardin 2008, 2012; Breukel 2018; d'Errico *et al.* 1993; d'Errico *et al.* 2005; Falci *et al.* 2017a, b; Lammers-Keijsers 2007; Mărgărit *et al.* 2016; Taborin 1993; Vanhaeren *et al.* 2013). Abundant studies have recorded usewear patterns on automorphic shell ornaments, that is, on shells that underwent only minor technological modifications before being integrated into a composite ornament. Xenomorphic shell beads and pendants have received comparatively minor attention, in particular complex figurative carvings (Falci *et al.* 2017a). The sample studied here is primarily composed of shell beads, pendants, and plaques, encompassing freshwater,



Fig. 3 Compared microscope performance in use-wear observation: stereomicroscope (b), metallographic microscope (c), and 3D digital microscope (d–f); b–d illustrate the same perforation on a freshwater bivalve pendant, while e–f show opposing sides of another perforation. All images (a–f) taken from the same necklace. MQB inventory number: 71.1929.8.36. ©Musée du quai Branly - Jacques Chirac, photos by C. Guzzo Falci, 2017

land, and marine specimens. Mollusks present different layers, with different microstructural arrangements. The microstructure varies according to shell taxa and has an impact on the shell's working properties and wear development (Claassen 1998; Cuenca-Solana *et al.* 2017; Debruyne 2014; Szabó 2008).

Freshwater Bivalves

The majority of shell species were identified as freshwater bivalves (n = 15; 71.4%); however, most specimens cannot be attributed to a species or genus. Most pendants and plaques can be described as nearly flat shell fragments, with at least one nacreous face. In addition, many specimens present a natural dark layer (periostracum), which has been partially ground off. There is considerable variability in attachment systems in the sample, with only two necklaces (71.1884.29.63 and 71.1939.88.693) having beads attached in a similar way (Fig. 4j, g).

Seven shell objects present clear evidence of having been worn as bodily adornment. identified by the combination of multiple use-wear types present on their components. The first use-wear type, observed on 10 objects, was the formation of polish and rounding on the rim of the perforations from which the artifacts are suspended (Figs. 4b, i, 1 and 5h, i). Such traces tend to develop directly under the string. The sectors of the hole that are not in constant contact with the string still display fresh drilling traces and a ragged aspect (Fig. 3). In four objects, string contact additionally led to the deformation of the rim. This can be characterized as the formation of a depression adjacent to the perforation rim in a specific direction (a "notch," see Fig. 4k) or the general widening of the hole. The shape of the pendants and the positioning of the hole may also be connected to the presence of rim deformation, as they may cause greater string tension (e.g., 71.1880.7.14) (Fig. 4a-d). The characteristics of the deformation can also vary on different faces of a same component, as observed on two disc bead necklaces (71.1884.29.63 and 71.1939.88.693) (Fig. 4g-1; Video 1). On one face of the beads, notches with specific directionality were formed following the string position; on the other face, a general widening of the rim occurred, due to the presence of two thick strings. On another necklace (71.1884.29.29) (Fig. 5a-c), slight notches are seen on one face, while only flattening on the other. The notches on the nacreous face are caused by direct contact with the string, while the flattening on the back of the pendants is connected to the presence of a woven cotton band (Fig. 5d-f). In this face, the rims are still fresh because the string is not in direct contact with the rim, but the surrounding surface is flattened and whitened due to the placement of the band.

Polish formation and rounding also occurred on the sides and edges of eight ornaments. On a macroscale, it can be characterized by the smoothening of manufacture traces, sharp edges, breakages, and microremovals. With high magnification, it can be recognized as a bright, invasive, and smooth polish developing on top of previous traces, accompanied by fine and multidirectional scratches. It is likely the result of contact between the ornaments and the human body during use. The partial or complete erasure of natural shell patterns and manufacture traces was observed on eight objects. It occurred on different areas of the ornaments, especially in and around the rim of perforation (Fig. 4c, f). Depending on the extent of wear, the erasure of traces may also happen on the faces and sides of ornaments that are in contact with the human body. On the Bororo labret (71.1936.48.163) (Fig. 6a–c), there is extensive damage on the exterior face of the top plaque, which has a Tshape and would be inserted in the lower lip of the wearer. Damage is only seen on the top two plaques of the labret, probably resulting from the constant contact with saliva in the case of the top plaque and with the chin of the wearer, in the case of the second plaque (Fig. 6e). The other plaques in the composition do not present clear use-wear. The contact between individual components on six objects during use has created "bead-on-bead wear." Observed features include (1) microbreakage and deformation created by friction between the shell pendants and beads of a harder material, such as glass (71.1880.7.14, Fig. 4e, f; Video 2); (2) flattening, scratches, and the erasure of features on the backs of the components due to their partial superposition (71.1964.119.23, 71.1884.29.29, and 71.1939.88.693, Fig. 5j-l); and (3) damage to the ends of the Bororo plaques that are tightly attached to each other (71.1936.48.163, Fig. 6f).



Fig. 4 Use-wear types on ornaments with freshwater bivalve components. MQB inventory numbers: 71.1880.7.14 (**a**–**f**), 71.1939.88.693 (**g**–**i**), and 71.1884.29.63 (**j**–**l**). ©Musée du quai Branly - Jacques Chirac, photos by C. Guzzo Falci, 2017

No clear use-wear was observed on the Bororo earrings (71.1936.48.168.1–2 and 71.1936.48.195.1–2) (Fig. 6g–l) and on the Kanamari nose ornaments (71.1929.8.81 and 71.1929.8.225) (Fig. 2f). These objects are composite ornaments that were inserted directly into the skin through the use of perishable attachment components. In the case of the nose ornaments, wooden sticks perform this function; for the Bororo earrings, attachment strings would have been used, but they are missing. The Bororo plaques appear unused, with well-preserved periostracum and production traces (Fig. 6h, 1). However, it must be highlighted that, during use, the shell components would not necessarily be in constant contact with the wearer's skin, limiting the formation of wear traces even in used specimens.



Fig. 5 Use-wear types and on ornaments with freshwater bivalve components. MQB inventory numbers: 71.1884.29.29 (**a**–**f**) and 71.1964.119.23 (**g**–**l**). ©Musée du quai Branly - Jacques Chirac, photos by C. Guzzo Falci, 2017

Gastropods

Terrestrial, freshwater, and marine gastropods are represented in the studied collection. Rounding and polish on the perforation rim were observed on five objects (83.3%), although observation was limited on some specimens. For instance, the tight string attachment on the top perforation of the Mehinaku plaques (71.1971.43.126) limited the observation of use-wear (Fig. 2h). In contrast, the attachment of the lower perforation is relatively loose, resulting in less pronounced use-wear development. In the Yamana necklace (71.1884.102.40) (Fig. 7a–c), the string is connected to a relatively thin "bridge" of shell in between the lip and the perforation, thus rendering it fragile and



Fig. 6 Use-wear types on ornaments with freshwater bivalve components. MQB inventory numbers: 71.1936.48.163 (**a**–**f**) and 71.1936.48.168.2 (**g**–**l**). ©Musée du quai Branly - Jacques Chirac, photos by C. Guzzo Falci, 2017

difficult to handle. Rounding and polish are present exclusively on the parts in contact with the braided sinew. These areas are also greasy, flattened, and display microdamage as a result of permanent contact with the sinew.

Rim deformation was observed on four necklaces. Notches are seen on the perforation rim of the Wayana plaques (71.1881.34.28) (Fig. 7d, g), being more pronounced on their back than on the front. This is because only one string is passing between the holes of neighboring plaques in the front (Fig. 7d–f), while two strings are passing on the back (Fig. 7g–i). Rim deformation is also very pronounced on the Capanahua necklaces: on the beads (71.1900.47.9) (Fig. 8a–c), the presence of two strings attached in different



Fig. 7 Use-wear types on ornaments with gastropod shell components. MQB inventory numbers: 71.1884.102.40 (a–c) and 71.1881.34.28 (d–i). ©Musée du quai Branly - Jacques Chirac, photos by C. Guzzo Falci, 2017

directions resulted in the general widening of the perforations, creating at the same time side notches. This is also accompanied by the rounding of the material that remains under the strings. The attachment of the *Pomacea* sp. necklace (71.1900.47.7) is relatively loose, which means that the pendants can move more freely (Fig. 8d–g; Video 3). Despite this, the perforation rim presents side notches on most specimens. The presence and orientation of the notches are, however, not as regular and predictable as on the other ornaments. They can be present on both sides of the rim and on both faces of a pendant or only on one side or face. This variability in the placement of the notches could not be related to the specific position of a given pendant on the necklace; it may therefore be also related to other parameters that are not easily controllable, such as the size of each pendant and the specific shell layers used in its production. Such parameters vary considerably in this necklace, especially pendant length and thickness.

Manufacture traces and natural patterns were partially erased on five objects, in particular, on the areas adjacent to the strings on the shell plaques (71.1881.34.28 and 71.1971.43.126) (Figs. 2h and 7d–f). All specimens present edge rounding and polish. Short and bright fine scratches can be observed associated with polish on the edges and



Fig. 8 Use-wear types on ornaments with gastropod shell components. MQB inventory numbers: 71.1900.47.9 (**a**–**c**) and 71.1900.47.7 (**d**–**h**). ©Musée du quai Branly - Jacques Chirac, photos by C. Guzzo Falci, 2017

on the perforation rim of all specimens. Bright and randomly distributed scratches are observed on the *Pomacea* sp. pendants (71.1900.47.7) (Fig. 8h), on top of a surface that appears damaged with high magnification. The combined presence of the traces on the center of the pendants, where they are in contact with each other, suggests that such features are caused by bead-on-bead wear. The beads on the other Capanahua necklace (71.1900.47.9) (Fig. 8b, c) present slightly flattened sides due to the placement of beads side by side in the same string loop. On the Wayana necklace (71.1881.34.28) (Fig. 7f), bead-on-bead wear is recognizable on the areas where each plaque is partially placed on top of another one. This area of contact presents a damaged shell layer, thus being whiter, scratched, and lacking grinding traces. With high magnification, the damaged sectors can be clearly differentiated from the used areas adjacent to the perforation, which are greasier, brighter, and present a characteristic use polish. Finally, the shells of the Yamana necklace (71.1884.102.40) (Fig. 7a) are in constant contact, as the top of the body whorl of one specimen touches the lower part of the whorl of the next one. The resulting wear can be characterized by the formation of a white abraded patch on the area of contact.

Osseous Materials

Ornaments made of bones and teeth have also been the focus of considerable use-wear research (*e.g.*, Cristiani and Borić 2012; d'Errico 1993a; Mărgărit *et al.* 2016; Poulmarc'h *et al.* 2016; Radovčić *et al.* 2015; Rigaud *et al.* 2014; Vanhaeren and d'Errico 2003; Winnicka 2016; Wright *et al.* 2016). Both raw materials are relatively soft and develop diagnostic microtraces fairly quickly (Van Gijn 2005); this also means that postdepositional and curation traces may form quite easily, in particular those related to handling, storage, and cleaning (d'Errico 1993a; Graziano 2015). In total, 11 objects present components made of osseous materials, including teeth, bones, and hawk-eagle talons. In most cases, bone ornaments were produced through the removal of a blank from a long or flat bone, which subsequently went through several shaping and abrasive production stages. In contrast, the natural morphology was preserved on the teeth ornaments, as they were only removed from a mandible and perforated. The exceptions are the vertebrae beads, which did not require extensive modification, and some teeth ornaments that were ground, sawn, and/or decorated by incising and drilling.

Teeth

The teeth of five different animal species were used for nine objects, with peccary (*Tayassu* sp.) canines being the most common. Monkey teeth are also quite common, notably 86 incisors of *Aotus azarai* in two bracelets (71.1990.47.14.1–2) and *ca.* 900 canine teeth of *Cebus* sp. and *Alouatta cf. caraya* monkeys in a single necklace (71.1964.39.42). The attachment systems of three objects limited use-wear observation (71.1948.76.297 and 71.1900.47.14.1–2), whereas the teeth on two objects did not present use-wear (71.1980.61.27 and 70.2015.8.34).

Use-wear was observed on the teeth of seven objects, in particular as rim polish and rounding, accompanied by a general greasy aspect. This appearance is probably a result of contact with the human body, as rounding and polish on the edges are also recurrently present. The erasing of manufacture traces was also common, often in the form of partial elimination of drilling traces. In addition, decorative perforations and cut marks on the large caiman tooth (71.1881.34.28) have also been smoothened by use (Fig. 14d–f). Deformation of the rim is, once again, a less predominant use-wear type, only present in connection with specific attachment systems. Notches were formed on top of the perforations of the hanging peccary canines that make part of the Bará necklace (71.1948.76.296, Fig. 9c, d). Large worn down circular depressions are present around the perforations on the teeth of an unprovenienced necklace (71.1948.76.297) (Fig. 9e-g). This deformation is produced by contact with wooden beads that are tightly placed next to the teeth. With high magnification, fine, short, and bright scratches are visible in the polish of the area, distributed in multiple directions. In another necklace (71.1929.8.83) (Fig. 10f, g), the tooth is in contact with a knot made with the string, which led to the formation of a concavity around the tooth's perforation. This feature is only seen on the face that is in contact with the knot, but not on the other face. The other face is in contact with a vertebra bead and appears slightly flattened, presenting scratches (Fig. 10h). The perforation on the caiman tooth (71.1881.34.28) is also deformed due to the presence of two thick strings. In the Aché necklace



Fig. 9 Use-wear types on ornaments with teeth components. MQB inventory numbers: 71.1964.39.42 (**a**–**e**) and 71.1929.8.83 (**f**–**h**). ©Musée du quai Branly - Jacques Chirac, photos by C. Guzzo Falci, 2017

(71.1964.39.42) (Fig. 10a), the perforations of the teeth were widened by contact with the nettle string. The teeth are tightly attached to each other, so that each tooth is in an angle in relation to the next one. The contact between the teeth led to deformation and flattening of their roots (Fig. 10a–c; Video 4). The deformation of the roots is, in this case, a product of bead-on-bead wear. In contrast, the teeth located closer to the end knot of the necklace are more loosely attached. In these specimens, the perforation is facetted and ragged, being clearly less worn (Fig. 10d, e).

Bone

Seven of the studied ornaments included bones of at least 10 different animal taxa, with mammals, fishes, and birds identified with certainty (Table 1). Use-wear was observed on the bones integrating all but two objects (70.2015.8.34 and 71.1948.76.296). Rim rounding and polish, alongside the erasure of drilling traces, were the most common use-wear types (Figs. 11 and 12). Smoothening of cut marks on the faces of tubular beads was observed on a Tikuna necklace (71.1971.30.82, Fig. 11a, b). On the Matsigenga baby sling (71.1980.61.27) (Fig. 13), use-wear is observed on only three out of six bone artifacts, where it is accompanied by the erasure of drilling traces and smoothening of incised designs. The extension of the use-wear also varies between the worn pendants (Fig. 13, compare d, g, i, and k). Rim deformation is only seen in a double-perforated pendant integrating the baby sling, but the direction of the deformed notches does not match the present attachment system (Fig. 13j-l). This suggests that the pendant had been previously used and that it was attached to this baby sling in a different position. A Bororo labret (71.1936.48.150) (Fig. 12d) is the only noncomposite and nonperforated bone object. It appears very rounded and with welldeveloped polish. The T-shaped attachment sector, which would have been inserted in the lower lip, is partially deformed, due to the extreme rounding of its edges (Fig. 12e, f). This is accompanied by a characteristic smooth, invasive, and scratched polish that superposes production traces. The latter can only be observed with high magnification (Fig. 12g, h), as the advanced degree of use-wear development has made the grinding traces invisible at low magnification.

On the Jivaro necklace (71.1903.13.20) (Fig. 11f), worn down circular patches are present on the areas of contact between the bones and the porcelain beads. While grinding traces can be recognized, suggesting that the concavities were created during manufacture, they have been smoothened and expanded by bead-on-bead wear. This contact also produced a bright and poorly linked polish, associated with a black residue (Fig. 11f-h; Video 5). Bead-on-bead wear also seems to be the main mechanism behind the formation of use-wear on two other necklaces. In the Tikuna necklace (71.1971.30.82) (Fig. 11a), the contact between the ends of the bone tubes produced a smooth surface, with use-wear only visible on the rim of perforation. With high magnification, the polish seems to cover most of the surface, but it is flat and restricted to the tops (Fig. 11e). In contrast, the contact with a seed bead created a more rounded aspect on the end of the bones (Fig. 11d). With high magnification, this polish is bright and invasive, displaying long scratches in multiple directions. In the vertebrae necklace (71.1929.8.83) (Fig. 12a), use-wear is recognizable on the vertebrae faces, which have become bright and slightly flattened due to bead-on-bead wear. The drilling traces have been partially smoothened on the walls of perforation and, on the specimens in contact



Fig. 10 Use-wear types on ornaments with teeth components. MQB inventory numbers: 71.1964.39.42 (a–e) and 71.1929.8.83 (f–h). ©Musée du quai Branly - Jacques Chirac, photos by C. Guzzo Falci, 2017

with porcelain beads, been covered in the black residue left by these beads. In addition, contact between vertebrae and porcelain beads led to the widening of the vertebrae's centrum. The hole at the center of each vertebra appears smooth, clean, and with a lighter color than the surrounding surface, due to the friction produced by the string (Fig. 12a–c).

Quartz

Studies focused on ornament use-wear on hard and brittle lithic materials are not common (Alarashi 2016), despite the abundance of studies focused on gemstone technology (*e.g.*, Groman-Yaroslavski and Bar-Yosef Mayer 2015; Gwinnett and Gorelick 1979; Kenoyer 1997; Roux 2000; Roux *et al.* 1995; Sax and Ji 2013). Quartz materials have received more attention in use-wear studies as flaked lithic tools (Clemente Conte *et al.* 2015; Fernández-Marchena and Ollé 2016; Ollé *et al.* 2016). It has been argued that polish in rock crystal only forms as a result of "highly abrasive activities with great pressure and after a relatively long working period" (Fernández-Marchena and Ollé 2016, p. 183). In addition, despite the shared basic chemical composition and hardness, quartz and rock crystal develop use-wear differently due



Fig. 11 Use-wear types on ornaments with bone components. MQB inventory numbers: 71.1971.30.82 (a–e) and 71.1903.13.20 (f–h). ©Musée du quai Branly - Jacques Chirac, photos by C. Guzzo Falci, 2017

to their specific material structures (Ollé *et al.* 2016, p. 166). Differences in the usewear characteristics on the two materials were noted in the present study, although we cannot rule out the potential role played by the morphology of the components, string raw material, and length of use. A larger sample will help to properly address this issue in the future.

The Bará quartz pendant (71.1948.76.286) (Fig. 14a) is the only perforated specimen, displaying extensively developed string wear with clear directionality. The polish developed on the top of the perforation, at the same time smoothening drilling traces, microcraters, and cracks. With low magnification, the polish appears dull and is accompanied by a deformed notch on the perforation rim (Fig. 14a–c; Video 6). With high magnification, the polish is more invasive and less pitted than the surrounding manufacture polish, presenting some scratches. Despite the fact that the pendant is hanging loosely on the string, the use-wear on the perforation is extremely localized. This may be connected to the considerable weight of the quartz pendant in comparison to the other necklace components (two peccary teeth and the bird talons).

The two rock crystal pendants are secured by a string placed around the root end, together with adhesive residue (Fig. 14d, g). This string attachment hampers the complete visualization of the worn sectors. Additionally, it is not possible to observe the attachment area of the crystal that is inserted in a caiman tooth (71.1881.34.75)



Fig. 12 Use-wear types on ornaments with bone components. MQB inventory numbers: 71.1929.8.83 (a–c) and 71.1936.48.150 (d–h). ©Musée du quai Branly - Jacques Chirac, photos by C. Guzzo Falci, 2017

(Fig. 14d), thus preventing the characterization of string wear. Minimal use-wear was observed on the body of the crystal, with the exception being a broken notch on its side, likely caused by brusque contact with the tooth during use (Fig. 14d–f). Rounding and the formation of a dull polish were observed on the other rock crystal pendant (71.1881.34.78) (Fig. 14g). Such traces could only be observed on areas where the string seems to have moved from its original position. However, the use-wear is less developed on this specimen, being characterized primarily by a discreet dulling of the surface (Fig. 14g–i). In this case, stress is only present on certain contact areas, due to the natural faceted morphology of the crystal. Use-wear is also partially concealed by string residue and by the ink marking and identification tag glued to the artifact. Despite such limitations, the analysis suggests that use-wear development on both milky quartz and rock crystal is characterized by rounding and the formation of a dull polish in contrast to the surrounding surface (Ollé *et al.* 2016).

Wood

While microwear studies have been conducted on wooden artifacts (Breukel 2018; Caruso Fermé *et al.* 2015; Lavier *et al.* 2009), research focused on use-wear of wooden



Fig. 13 Teeth (b, c), bone (d–l), and nut (m–o) components on baby sling (a), with (g–o) and without usewear (b–f). Note different degrees of use-wear development on bone components. MQB inventory number: 71.1980.61.27. ©Musée du quai Branly - Jacques Chirac, photos by C. Guzzo Falci, 2017

ornaments is still missing, thus hampering the comparability of the traces described here. Considerable typological variability is found among the six objects with wooden components. All components are notably light-weight, in particular the Toba ear discs (Fig. 15a, d) in spite of their large size (*ca.* 6×3 cm). While the species used in their production among the Toba is indeterminate, similar discs were made with the *barriguda* tree (*Ceiba ventricosa*) among the Botocudo from eastern Brazil (Ehrenreich 2014, p. 75). In the Guaycurú necklace (71.1933.72.638) (Fig. 15m), the



Fig. 14 Use-wear types on necklaces with milky quartz and rock crystal components. MQB inventory numbers: 71.1948.76.196 (**a–c**), 71.1881.34.75 (**d–f**), and 71.1881.34.78 (**g–i**). ©Musée du quai Branly - Jacques Chirac, photos by C. Guzzo Falci, 2017

pendants appear greasy and worn, but the position of the string inside a notched area prevented the direct observation of string wear (Fig. 15n). The back of the pendants has a more developed polish on its center, greasier, invasive, and with fine scratches in different directions. This polish stands out from the manufacture traces, being potentially connected to body contact during use (Fig. 15o). In the case of the nose ornament (71.1929.8.81) (Fig. 2f), the wooden attachment stick has a greasy appearance and some damage on its lower surface, which would rest against the nasal septum. However, this association is only tentative, relying primarily on low magnification, as the area cannot be directly observed with the metallographic microscope.

The main evidence of use on the other four objects is damage to the surface of the wood, rather than polish development. The observed damage patterns correspond to the way these objects would likely be used. By recording their extension, it is possible to establish which faces of the ear discs (71.1884.29.24.1–2) were placed against the skin and which ones faced outward. The former is light-colored and cratered (Fig. 15d–f), while the latter is darker and better preserved (Fig. 15a–c). This pattern corresponds to the slanted position of the discs in the earlobes, according to illustrations of the Botocudos wearing this type of ornaments (Branner 1893; photos by W. Garbe in Ehrenreich 2014). The damage distribution on the face in contact with the skin additionally suggests which disc was used in which ear: 71.1884.29.24.2 in the right and 71.1884.29.24.1 on the left. Damage patterns were also seen on the labret



Fig. 15 Use-wear types on ornaments with wooden components. MQB inventory numbers: 71.1884.29.24.2 (**a-f**), 71.1884.29.38 (**g–l**), and 71.1933.72.638 (**m–o**). ©Musée du quai Branly - Jacques Chirac, photos by C. Guzzo Falci, 2017

(71.1884.29.38) (Fig. 15g, j), concentrated on the back of the "wings" and on the sides of the knob (Fig. 15i–k). The face of the knob, which would not be in contact with the skin during use, is better preserved (Fig. 15h). As with the ear discs, the damage can be tentatively attributed to contact with the human skin, which

carries acidic bodily fluids capable of affecting the wooden objects' surface over a certain period of usage. However, the surfaces of the ear discs and labret are partially covered by identification tags, ink markings, and unidentified residues (Fig. 15l), limiting interpretation.

Nuts

Palm endocarps make part of many Amerindian ornaments, either serving as tinkling bells or as blanks for figurative and geometric carvings (Harding 2003; Ribeiro 1988). All studied ornaments made of nuts present use-wear, except for the sectioned nuts in one necklace (70.2015.8.34) (Fig. 9a). Use-wear appears as polish and rounding of the rim of perforation on three objects, sometimes associated with rim deformation. Erasure of manufacture traces and a general greasy aspect were also observed. The distribution of use-wear on the nut components of the Capanahua necklaces (71.1900.47.7 and 71.1900.47.9) is the same as on their shell counterparts (Fig. 16h-j). In fact, use-wear characteristics and distribution on nuts are largely comparable to those developed on the hard animal materials previously discussed. Different degrees of use-wear were observed on figurative pendants present in the same necklace (71.1971.30.62, Fig. 16a). Four pendants present use-wear more developed (Fig. 16b, d, f) than all other specimens in the necklace (Fig. 16c, e.g.): greater deformation of the perforation and nearly complete erasure of manufacture traces. In the place of manufacture striations, a bright polish with short and fine scratches in multiple directions can be observed on their surface with high magnification. The natural patterns of the *tucum* nuts have also been largely erased, giving them a darker color in comparison to the other specimens. The edges are markedly rounded, in particular on the back of the pendants, where a highly developed invasive polish is also observed. The pendants with more developed use-wear were probably reused in this necklace, after being removed from an older object. Bead-on-bead wear was only observed on the baby sling (71.1980.61.27) (Fig. 13): the nut pendants are stacked on top of each other, which led to polish development and slight deformation of the rim (Fig. 13m, o). Some polish is also observed on a narrow opening through which the string is inserted on the top of the nut (Fig. 13n).

Discussion: Interpreting Ornament Use-Wear

The systematic microwear study of ethnographic ornaments has provided insights into the characteristics and distribution of microtraces on the surfaces of individual components. In the following, the patterns observed across raw materials will be discussed, in order to assess how they relate to specific conditions, such as the type of attachment, contact materials, and composition of a given ornament (Table 2). The diagnostic value of the traces for archaeological analysis will be evaluated. Finally, we address how the observed patterns may challenge common assumptions or showcase the limits of archaeological interpretation.



Fig. 16 Use-wear types on ornaments with nut components. Note poorly developed use-wear $(\mathbf{b}, \mathbf{d}, \mathbf{f})$ in contrast to highly developed traces $(\mathbf{c}, \mathbf{e}, \mathbf{g})$ in components of the same necklace. MQB inventory numbers: 71.1971.30.62 (a–g), 71.1900.47.7 (h, i), and 71.1900.47.9 (j). ©Musée du quai Branly - Jacques Chirac, photos by C. Guzzo Falci, 2017

Use-Wear Characteristics, Distribution, and Diagnostic Features

Most raw material categories analyzed consistently presented the following use-wear types: (1) polish formation and rounding of the attachment area (generally, the rim of perforation), (2) its deformation, (3) the erasure of manufacture traces and natural patterns, (4) polish formation and rounding of the edges, (5) a general greasy aspect, and (6) bead-on-bead wear. Such traces were systematically observed, despite the generally different mechanical and chemical properties of the materials. Another type of use-wear, observed mainly on wooden artifacts and on a shell labret, was (7) damage to the worn surface. The first use-wear type is the most common and forms the main indication of use regardless of attachment system. Use-wear distribution on the rims and walls of perforation is extremely localized on most specimens. This was seen on objects in which the attachment is tightly secured, but not necessarily glued in place.

	Beads		Pendants/plaqu	les				Elements inserte skin	l through the
	L o o s e l attached $(n = 2)$	y Tightly attached to the string and to other beads (n = 4)	T i g h t l y attached to beads $(n = 4)$	L o o s e l y attached $(n = 2)$	Tightly attached to string, but not to other pendants $(n = 7)$	Tightly attached to string and to other pendants $(n = 6)$	Tightly attached to other pendants, but not to the string (n = 1)	Noncomposite $(n = 4)$	Composite $(n=2)$
String wear									
Polish	‡	+	+	‡	‡	+	+++	NA	+
Deformation	Ι	‡	+	‡	+	+	++++	NA	I
Erasure of	‡	ŧ	+	‡	+	+	+	NA	I
production traces and									
natural									
pauerns									
Surface flattening	I	+	I	I	1	+	‡	NA	1
Surface damage	I	I	+	Ι	+	+	1	NA	Ι
Body wear									
Polish	++	‡	+	‡	+	+	+++	‡	+
Deformation	Ι	I	Ι	Ι	I	I	I	+	I
Erasure of production traces and natural patterns	+	+	+	+	+	+	1	‡	+

			-					skin	0
att	Loosely tached t=2)	Tightly attached to the string and to other beads (n = 4)	T i g h t l y attached to beads $(n = 4)$	L o o s e l y attached $(n = 2)$	Tightly attached to string, but not to other pendants $(n = 7)$	Tightly attached to string and to other pendants $(n = 6)$	Tightly attached to other pendants, but not to the string $(n = 1)$	Noncomposite $(n = 4)$	$C \circ m p \circ s i t e$ $(n = 2)$
Surface – flattening		+	I	1	1	I	I	I	1
Surface – damage		1	Ι	+	1	I	1	+	+
Bead-on-bead wear									
Polish +-	+	I	+	Ι	Ι	+	++	NA	I
Deformation +		I	+++++	Ι	Ι	+	+	NA	I
Flattening +-	+	+	Ι	Ι	I	I	+	NA	Ι
Surface – damage		+	+++++	+	I	+	I	NA	+
Examples 71	1.1971.30.82	71.1900.47.9	71.1880.7.14	71.1900.47.7	71.1884.29.29	71.1881.34.28	71.1964.39.42	71.1936.48.150	71.1936.48.163

Falci et al.

Table 2 (continued)

The distribution of the traces follows the position where the string is most commonly resting and generating tension. For this reason, such distribution can be highly diagnostic of the placement of the string. In contrast, the rim polish on the pendants of the Capanahua necklace (71.1900.47.7) has a larger distribution than the immediate position of the string (Fig. 8e–g). Nevertheless, its location does correspond to the areas that the string is sometimes in contact with (Video 3), given that the attachment is relatively loose and the pendants can oscillate back and forth.

Rim deformation was observed on fewer specimens, both on objects with components fixed in place (71.1980.61.27, 71.1900.47.9, 71.1884.29.63, and 71.1939.88.693) and on objects with loosely attached components (71.1900.47.7 and 71.1948.76.296). In the study of archaeological assemblages, the presence of use notches to the sides of the perforation is generally interpreted as the presence of two strings placed in opposing directions, similar to the attachment of the Capanahua beads (71.1900.47.9) (Fig. 8a). In this necklace, the deformation of the perforation is characteristic of its attachment, as it is more pronounced on the areas right beneath the strings. In contrast, the position of the use notches on the other Capanahua necklace (71.1900.47.7) (Fig. 8d) cannot be directly correlated to string position. This highlights the interpretation limits associated with estimating necklace configurations from archaeological artifacts. Likewise, the top of the peccary teeth in the Bará necklace (71.1948.76.296) (Fig. 9c, d) has deformed notches, even though they are loosely attached on the string. This distribution may be connected to the presence of the quartz pendant on the center of this necklace. The quartz is larger and heavier than the other components, thus creating greater string tension. A localized and well-developed usewear is also found on the quartz pendant itself (Video 6). The differential development of use-wear on the two perforations of the Mehinaku plaques (71.1971.43.126) (Fig. 2h) can also be indicative of the tension of the string attachment. The lower perforation does not present considerable use-wear, only some rounding and polish on an otherwise ragged rim. This is probably connected to the loose string attachment on this perforation, as opposed to the top one.

In sum, multiple factors affect the formation and distribution of string wear on ornaments: (1) the position of the string, (2) whether the string and the ornaments being hung are in a static or in a free-moving attachment, (3) the tension of the string attachment, and (4) the thickness and/or number of strings passing through the hole of a component. While the position of the string is a main factor, it is not possible to isolate it from other variables. Regarding the polish formed in association to string wear, it has been suggested that the presence of scratches is connected to the use of silica-rich plants as string raw material. However, no direct correlation between specific string raw materials and scratches within use-wear polishes was noted: scratches are part of the use polish produced by different string materials, such as cotton and palm fibers. Furthermore, strings attract and trap abrasives from both the human body and the environment during the use of ornaments. The dirt particles trapped in the string may account for the fine scratches observed in association to the polish. The erasure of manufacture traces was also a recurrent use-wear type observed, especially inside of the perforations, where drilling traces are smoothened. On other areas of a component, such traces are connected to contact wear, in particular with the human body. In most studied composite ornaments, the observed contact use-wear is primarily the result of objects loosely hanging against the body (naked or clothed). Scratches were often

observed in association to the body-contact polish along the edges. They were likely produced by particles already present on the contact surface (possibly the human skin), similarly to what is suggested by d'Errico (1993a, p. 150) in relation to the formation of scratches in the polish produced by handling.

Bead-on-bead wear refers to the use-wear formed due to contact between two neighboring components of an ornament. It concerns the contact between beads or pendants of the same type or of different types and raw materials. It is not as common as the other use-wear types, being strictly connected to attachment systems where individual components touch each other. The contact between adjacent beads or pendants generates traces that are fairly diagnostic of the object's configuration. In many cases, bead-on-bead wear formed as a product of the mechanical interaction between two materials, when they abrade each other as a result of any movement. In this sense, it can be found in artifacts that were just strung together, but not actually worn. Its specific traits and distribution can be indicative of the way in which the components were attached in relation to each other and what materials they were made of. For instance, diagnostic traces were observed in the following cases: bone-bone and bone-seed contact (71.1971.30.82), vertebra-porcelain and vertebra-vertebra contact (71.1929.8.83), porcelain-bone contact (71.1903.13.20), and also glass-shell contact (71.1880.7.14). The use-wear created by comparable materials (bone-bone) or artificial materials (shell-glass) produces greater damage and abrasion, while the wear produced by softer and organic materials (seeds-bone) generates more rounding and a more invasive polish. The specific morphology of the components in contact also influences use-wear distribution, as evidenced by the wooden beads and teeth pendants (71.1948.76.297) (Fig. 9e-g).

While many traces can be recognized with low magnification, the combination of different microscopes proved to be central for a correct identification. For instance, while some scratches in the use polish may be visible with low magnification, their secure identification requires the use of a metallographic microscope. This is because other activities, such as polishing and bead-on-bead contact, may lead to the formation of linear traces, which cannot be properly distinguished with low magnification. Another example is the general greasy appearance attested on the components of many objects. While this appearance may serve as macroscopic indication of the use of an artifact, it may also result from a range of other activities, such as handling, transporting, or wrapping an artifact (Breukel 2013; d'Errico 1993a; Graziano 2015; Wentink 2006).

Different Degrees of Use-Wear

The variation in use-wear development between artifacts of the same type and raw material has been used by archaeologists as an indication of degrees of use within an assemblage (*e.g.*, Bonnardin 2008, 2012; Sidéra and Giacobini 2002; Sidéra and Legrand 2006; Van Gijn 2017). Controlled experiments corroborate the relation between intensity and extent of wear development and its duration (Mărgărit 2016). In the present research, different degrees of use-wear have been observed on the components of the baby sling and on the nut figurines necklace. The variation in use-wear can be interpreted in both cases as related to extent of use. In the baby sling, we see the gathering of individual components with different biographies, including freshly made

and reused pendants, either highly or moderately used. On the other hand, beads integrating a necklace with a homogeneous biography may still present different degrees of use-wear development or may not even present all the types of traces that other components in the same object do. For instance, in the Aché necklace (71.1964.39.42) (Fig. 10a), the difference is connected to how tightly attached the teeth are in different sectors of the necklace. However, the causes of variability are not always clear. In some cases (71.1929.8.36, 71.1900.47.7, and 71.1900.47.9), differences in wear development cannot be safely correlated to different use trajectories for the components. Other factors may also influence wear development, such as the specific layer of the material used for the production of each bead, the thickness of the bead, and the positioning and nature of the drilled hole. All these variables can easily vary from bead to bead in the same composition.

In addition, we must consider other variables in the biographies of ornaments. As mentioned previously, six objects present evidence of the replacement of their strings, possibly due to degradation. The relative degree of wear of the new strings suggests that such replacements happened to the objects prior to collection. This type of "recycling" practice also stresses the complexity of the lives of ornaments. Discard and replacement of components may be important parts of the biographies of objects, but cannot be easily observed in the study of archaeological assemblages. The selection of beads with particular biographies to compose a new ornament may have held social and cosmological significance (Walker 2009), but has only seldom been noted in archaeological assemblages (Van Gijn 2017).

The Absence of Use-Wear

The presence of use-wear on most studied ornaments indicates that they were produced for use within the community and not just to be traded with collectors. At the same time, its absence on some objects highlights the fact that use-wear is not only the result of the friction between a string and a given raw material. The formation of string wear further involves the interaction with acidic bodily fluids (d'Errico 1993a, p. 168; Vanhaeren et al. 2013), as well as body paint, oils, and dirt particles. When interpreting objects that do not present use-wear, we are faced with a limit of this method of study. While use length can be suggested with some security by compared analysis of artifacts within an assemblage, it is not possible to establish whether an artifact has been worn sporadically or not been used at all. For instance, some ornaments may only be worn in specific ceremonies or by certain age groups, leading to the formation of little to no use-wear. Nevertheless, when analyzing the Bororo earrings (71.1936.48.168.1–2 and 71.1936.48.195.1–2) and the Tikuna necklace (70.2015.8.34), it became clear that not only the use-wear was absent, but also the dirt typically observed on used objects. In this sense, the analysis of ethnographic ornaments cannot determine that an ornament has definitely not been worn, but it does allow us to build a strong case for it. Even if the Bororo ear ornaments have not been worn, the individual plaques present residue added to the string (Fig. 6i, k) and bead-on-bead wear. These traces are the result of the attachment of the plaques, but not necessarily of their use. Exposed to the same conditions, archaeological artifacts would likely present the same traces. However, it is very unlikely that the "correct" interpretation (*i.e.*, having been strung, but

not worn) would be reached. Similarly, the individual components would hardly be recognized as integrating ear or lip ornaments if recovered from an archaeological context. With the exception of the attachment pieces that have a T-shape and may develop characteristic use-wear on the external surface and edges, there is no distinguishable evidence of this particular composition and usage on the other plaques. In this case, the interpretation remains elusive.

Conclusion

In the last couple of decades, many studies have addressed the technology and use of archaeological ornaments, generally focusing on specific raw material categories. While material specialization is a common, and generally desired, feature of archaeological research, it is not necessarily an accurate portrait of how such artifacts were integrated within a living community. More often than not, ornaments are composite constructions, involving multiple materials: strings, bands, and a variety of bead and pendant raw materials. In order to bridge this gap, archaeologists have often referred to ornament compositions, uses, meanings, and social roles among traditional communities (*e.g.*, Bonnardin 2008; Falci *et al.* 2017a; Vanhaeren and d'Errico 2003). This microwear study of an ethnographic collection is a step further toward bridging this gap.

The primary goal of the present research was to create a reference collection that sheds light on the formation, characterization, and distribution of use-wear on ornaments from a lived context. This collection serves as a strong basis for interpreting traces on ornaments made of different raw materials recovered from a variety of contexts worldwide. It showcases many types of traces that can be searched for during the analysis of archaeological ornaments and how they may be interpreted. This study further demonstrates that the specific conditions of attachment influence ornament use-wear: raw material, morphology, and relative weight of the elements in contact, composition, tension and fixity of the attachment, body contact, among other factors. The study of this collection helps us broaden the scope of possible interpretations of beads, pendants, and plaques, not only in terms of how they were integrated in composite ornaments, but also of how they may have been taken apart, replaced, and/or discarded.

At the same time, it should not be understood as an ideal reference collection, as the objects are not the result of controlled experiments. Rather, this is a collection constituted in a lived context, which means that we cannot reconstruct every given situation an object has gone through. Its value lies precisely in the complexity of its biographies that resulted in the formation and superposition of traces in a less "orderly" manner when compared to experimental specimens. For this reason, the practical and interpretative limits to such a research have to be acknowledged and the ways they have been dealt with clearly stated. Previous research has not been sufficiently clear about such crucial issues. The different magnifications and visual possibilities afforded by each microscope had a crucial role in designing a critical, careful, and feasible analysis protocol for this assemblage. While the stereomicroscope served as the basis for initial interpretation, the 3D digital and metallographic microscopes permitted a more thorough understanding of the characteristics and distribution of microwear.

This research sheds light into the biography of a museum collection, as ethnographic objects display several traces that are witness to their specific histories. Therefore,

microwear research can be used not only as a way to interpret archaeological artifacts but also as a standalone study. Future microwear research of ethnographic ornaments can shed light into the interactions between people and ornaments, in regard to their conceptualization, production, use, social role, and temporality. By focusing on the microtraces left on the surfaces of the objects and organizing them into specific biographies, such an approach will provide valuable insights for archaeologists and anthropologists regarding the multiple and active roles of bodily adornment in human societies.

Acknowledgments The authors would like to thank the assistance of the staff of the Musée du quai Branly -Jacques Chirac, in particular Dr. Christophe Moulherat for his contributions to the research. Céline Kerfant is additionally thanked for her input in the identification of plant fibers. Finally, the authors are also grateful to the editor and the four anonymous reviewers for their comments, which improved the manuscript considerably.

Funding This study was funded by the *Bourse d'étude pour la documentation des collections 2016–2017* of the Musée du quai Branly - Jacques Chirac and by the NWO Spinoza Prize awarded to Prof. Dr. Corinne L. Hofman in 2014. This research is part of the project NEXUS1492, which has received funding from the European Research Council under the European Union's Seventh Framework Programme (FP7/2007–2013)/ ERC Grant agreement no. 319209.

Compliance with Ethical Standards

Conflict of Interest The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Open Access This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license, and indicate if changes were made.

References

- Adams, J. L. (2010). Understanding grinding technology through experimentation. In J. R. Ferguson (Ed.), Designing experimental research in archaeology: examining technology through production and use (pp. 129–152). Boulder: University Press of Colorado.
- Alarashi, H. (2016). Butterfly beads in the Neolithic Near East: evolution, technology and socio-cultural implications. *Cambridge Archaeological Journal*, 26(03), 493–512. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0959774316000342.
- Albisetti, C., & Venturelli, A. J. (1962). Enciclopédia Bororo. Volume I: Vocabulários e etnografia. Campo Grande: Museu Regional Dom Bosco.
- Álvarez Fernández, E. (2006). Los objetos de adorno-colgantes del Paleolítico Superior y del Mesolítico en la cornisa cantábrica y en el valle del Ebro: Una visión europea. Salamanca: Ediciones Universidad de Salamanca.
- Bamforth, D. B. (2010). Conducting experimental research as a basis for microwear analysis. In J. R. Ferguson (Ed.), *Designing experimental research in archaeology: examining technology through production and* use (pp. 93–109). Boulder: University Press of Colorado.

Bonnardin, S. (2008). From traces to function of ornaments: some examples. In L. Longo, & N.N. Skakun (Eds.), 'Prehistoric technology' 40 years later: functional studies and the Russian legacy. Proceedings of the International Congress Verona (Italy), 20–23 April 2005 (pp. 297–308), Oxford: Archaeopress.

- Bonnardin, S. (2012). Parures de coquillages du néolitique en Europe (VIe-Ve millénaires av. J.-C.). *Techniques and Culture*, (59), 26–43.
- Branner, J. C. (1893). The lip and ear ornaments of the Botocudos. The Popular Science Monthly, 43(6), 753–757.
- Brasser, J.P. (2015). Jet artifacts from two Neolithic sites on the Dutch coast: an experimental approach. Leiden, University of Leiden (unpublished Master's thesis).

- Breukel, T.W. (2013). *Threepointers on trial: a biographical study of Amerindian ritual artefacts from the pre-Columbian Caribbean*. University of Leiden, Leiden (unpublished RMA thesis).
- Breukel, T.W. (2018). *Tracing interactions in the indigenous Caribbean through a biographical approach* (AD 1200–1600): microwear and material culture across the historical divide. Leiden University, Leiden (unpublished PhD dissertation).
- Buc, N. (2011). Experimental series and use-wear in bone tools. *Journal of Archaeological Science*, 38(3), 546–557. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2010.10.009.
- Caruso Fermé, L., Clemente, I., & Civalero, M. T. (2015). A use-wear analysis of wood technology of Patagonian hunter-gatherers. The case of Cerro Casa de Piedra 7, Argentina. *Journal of Archaeological Science*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2015.03.015.
- Chaumeil, J. P. (2004). Armados hasta los dientes. Los trofeos de dientes humanos en la Amazonia. In T. Myers & M. S. Cipolletti (Eds.), *Artifacts and society in Amazonia* (pp. 115–126). Bonn: Förderverein Bonner Amerikanistische Studien.
- Choyke, A.M. (2006). Bone tools for a lifetime: Experience and belonging. In L. Astruc, F. Bon, V. Léa, P.-Y. Milcent, & S. Philibert (Eds.), Normes techniques et pratiques sociales: De la simplicité des outillages pré-et protohistoriques. Actes des XXIVe Rencontres Internationales d'archéologie et d'histoire d'Antibes (pp.49–60). Antibes: Éditions APDCA.
- Claassen, C. (1998). Shells. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Clemente Conte, I., Fernández, T. L., Astruc, L., & Rodríguez, A. R. (2015). Use-wear analysis of nonflint lithic raw materials: the cases of quartz/quartzite and obsidian. In J. M. Marreiros, J. F. Gibaja Bao, & N. F. Bicho (Eds.), Use-wear and residue analysis in archaeology (pp. 59–81). Heidelberg: Springer International Publishing.
- Cristiani, E., & Borić, D. (2012). 8500-year-old Late Mesolithic garment embroidery from Vlasac (Serbia): technological, use-wear and residue analyses. *Journal of Archaeological Science*, *39*(11), 3450–3469. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2012.05.016.
- Cristiani, E., Živaljević, I., & Borić, D. (2014). Residue analysis and ornament suspension techniques in prehistory: cyprinid pharyngeal teeth beads from Late Mesolithic burials at Vlasac (Serbia). *Journal of Archaeological Science*, 46, 292–310. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2014.03.018.
- Cuenca-Solana, D., Gutiérrez-Zugasti, I., & González-Morales, M. R. (2017). Use-wear analysis: an optimal methodology for the study of shell tools. *Quaternary International*, 427, 192–200. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. quaint.2015.09.090.
- d'Errico, F. (1993a). La vie sociale de l'art mobilier paléolithique. Manipulation, transport, suspension des objets on os, bois de cervidés, ivoire. Oxford Journal of Archaeology, 12(2), 145–174. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1468-0092.1993.tb00289.x.
- d'Errico, F. (1993b). Identification des traces de manipulation, suspension, polissage sur l'art mobilier en os, bois de cervidés, ivoire. In P.C.Anderson, S. Beyries, M. Otte, & H. Plisson (Eds.), *Traces et Fonction: Les gestes retrouvés. Actes du colloque international de Liège Vol I* (pp. 177–188). Liège: Service de Prehistoire.
- d'Errico, F., Jardón-Giner, P., & Soler-Mayor, B. (1993). Critères à base expérimentale pour l'étude des perforations naturelles et intentionnelles sur coquillages. In P.C. Anderson, S. Beyries, M. Otte, & H. Plisson (Eds.), *Traces et Fonction: Les gestes retrouvés. Actes du colloque international de Liège Vol I* (pp. 255–267). Liège: Service de Prehistoire.
- d'Errico, F., Henshilwood, C., Vanhaeren, M., & Van Niekerk, K. (2005). Nassarius kraussianus shell beads from Blombos Cave: evidence for symbolic behaviour in the Middle Stone Age. Journal of Human Evolution, 48(1), 3–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhevol.2004.09.002.
- Debruyne, S. (2014). Stacks and sheets: the microstructure of nacreous shell and its merit in the field of archaeology. *Environmental Archaeology*, *19*(2), 153–165. https://doi.org/10.1179/1749631413 Y.0000000014.
- Delpuech, A., & Roux, B. (2015). À la recherche de la culture matérielle des "Caraïbes insulaires". Collections amazoniennes et antillaises d'Ancien Régime en France. In B. Grunberg (Ed.), À la recherche du Caraïbe perdu. Les populations amérindiennes des Petites Antilles de l'époque précolombienne à la période coloniale (pp. 319–344). Paris: L'Harmattan.
- Delpuech, A., Marrache-Gouraud, M., & Roux, B. (2013). Valses d'objets et présence des Amériques dans les collections françaises: Des premiers cabinets de curiosités aux musées contemporains. In D. Moncond'huy (Ed.), *La licorne et le bézoard. Une histoire des cabinets de curiosités* (pp. 270–283). Poitiers: Gourcuff Gradenigo.
- DiPaolo Loren, D. (2009). Material manipulations: beads and cloth in the French colonies. In C. L. White (Ed.), *The materiality of individuality* (pp. 109–124). New York: Springer.

- Dubreuil, L., & Savage, D. (2014). Ground stones: a synthesis of the use-wear approach. Journal of Archaeological Science, 48, 139–153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2013.06.023.
- Ehrenreich, P. (2014 [1887]). *İndios botocudos do Espírito Santo no século XIX*. Translated by Sara Baldus; edited by Julio Bentivoglio. Vitória: Arquivo Público do Estado do Espírito Santo.
- Erikson, P. (2001). Myth and material culture: matis blowguns, palm trees, and ancestor spirits. In L. M. Rival & N. L. Whitehead (Eds.), *Beyond the visible and material: the Amerindianization of society in the work* of Peter Rivière (pp. 101–121). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Evans, A. A., & Donahue, R. E. (2005). The elemental chemistry of lithic microwear: an experiment. *Journal of Archaeological Science*, 32(12), 1733–1740. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2005.06.010.
- Ewart, E. (2012). Making and unmaking Panará beadwork—or, how to overcome the fixity of material things. *Anthropology and Humanism*, *37*(2), 177–190. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1548-1409.2012.01127.x.
- Falci, C. G., Van Gijn, A. L., Antczak, M. M., Antczak, A. T., & Hofman, C. L. (2017a). Challenges for microwear analysis of figurative shell ornaments from pre-Colonial Venezuela. *Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports, 11*, 115–130. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jasrep.2016.11.029.
- Falci, C. G., Antczak, M. M., Antczak, A. T., & Van Gijn, A. L. (2017b). Recontextualizing bodily ornaments from north-central Venezuela (AD 900-1500): the Alfredo Jahn collection at the Ethnologisches Museum Berlin. *Baessler-Archiv*, 64, 87–112.
- Fernández-Marchena, J. L., & Ollé, A. (2016). Microscopic analysis of technical and functional traces as a method for the use-wear analysis of rock crystal tools. *Quaternary International*, 424, 171–190. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quaint.2015.10.064.
- Francis Jr., P. (1982). Experiments with early techniques for making whole shells into beads. *Current Anthropology*, 23(6), 713–714. https://doi.org/10.1086/202925.
- Françozo, M. C., & Van Broekhoven, L. (2017). Dossiê "Patrimônio indígena e coleções etnográficas". Boletim do Museu Paraense Emílio Goeldi. Ciências Humanas, 12(3), 709– 711. https://doi.org/10.1590/1981.81222017000300002.
- Frieman, C. (2012). Going to pieces at the funeral: completeness and complexity in early Bronze Age jet 'necklace' assemblages. *Journal of Social Archaeology*, 12(3), 334–355. https://doi.org/10.1177/1469605311431400.
- González-Urquijo, J., Beyries, S., & Ibáñez, J. J. (2015). Ethnoarchaeology and functional analysis. In J. M. Marreiros, J. F. Gibaja Bao, & N. F. Bicho (Eds.), Use-wear and residue analysis in archaeology (pp. 27–40). Heidelberg: Springer International Publishing.
- Graziano, S. (2015). Traces on Mesolithic bone spatulas: signs of a hidden craft or post-excavation damage? In J. M. Marreiros, N. F. Bicho, & J. F. Gibaja Bao (Eds.), *International conference on use-wear analysis:* use-wear 2012 (pp. 539–550). Cambridge: Cambridge Scholars Publishing.
- Grognet, F. (2005). Objets de musée, n'avez-vous donc qu'une vie? Gradhiva. Revue d'Anthropologie et d'Histoire des Art, (2), 49–63. https://doi.org/10.4000/gradhiva.473.
- Groman-Yaroslavski, I., & Bar-Yosef Mayer, D. E. (2015). Lapidary technology revealed by functional analysis of carnelian beads from the early Neolithic site of Nahal Hemar Cave, southern Levant. *Journal of Archaeological Science*, *58*, 77–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2015.03.030.
- Gurova, M., Bonsall, C., Bradley, B., & Anastassova, E. (2013). Approaching prehistoric skills: experimental drilling in the context of bead manufacturing. *Bulgarian e-Journal of Archaeology*, 3(2), 201–221.
- Gwinnett, A. J., & Gorelick, L. (1979). Ancient lapidary. A study using scanning electron microscopy and functional analysis. *Expedition*, 22(1), 17–32.
- Hamon, C., & Le Gall, V. (2013). Millet and sauce: the uses and functions of querns among the Minyanka (Mali). *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology*, 32(1), 109–121. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jaa.2012.12.002.
- Harding, D. G. (2003). Birds, beasts, and botanicals: organic beads and pendants from the Amazon Basin. *BEADS*, 15, 53–64.
- Joyce, R. A. (2005). Archaeology of the body. *Annual Review of Anthropology*, 34(1), 139–158. https://doi. org/10.1146/annurev.anthro.33.070203.143729.
- Kenoyer, J. M. (1997). Trade and technology of the Indus Valley: new insights from Harappa, Pakistan. World Archaeology, 29(2), 262–280. https://doi.org/10.1080/00438243.1997.9980377.
- Kononenko, N., Torrence, R., Barton, H., & Hennell, A. (2010). Cross-cultural interaction on Wuvulu Island, Papua New Guinea: the perspective from use-wear and residue analyses of turtle bone artifacts. *Journal of Archaeological Science*, 37(11), 2911–2919. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2010.07.001.
- Kopytoff, I. (1986). The cultural biography of things: commoditization as process. In A. Appadurai (Ed.), *The social life of things: commodities in cultural perspective* (pp. 64–91). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Kuhn, S. L., & Stiner, M. C. (2007). Body ornamentation as information technology: towards an understanding of the significance of early beads. In P. Mellars, K. Boyle, O. Bar-Yosef, & C. Stringer (Eds.),

Rethinking the human revolution: new behavioural and biological perspectives on the origin and dispersal of modern humans (pp. 45–54). Cambridge: McDonald Institute for Archaeological Research.

- Ladeira, M.I. (2007). Notas etnográficas sobre o uso dos adornos corporais Guarani-Mbyà na infância. In Anais da VII Reunião de Antropologia do Mercosul. Porto Alegre: UFRGS.
- Lagrou, E. (2013). No caminho da miçanga. Arte e alteridade entre os ameríndios. Enfoques, 11(2), 18–49.
- Lammers-Keijsers, Y.M.J. (2007). Tracing traces from present to past: a functional analysis of pre-Columbian shell and stone artefacts from Anse à la Gourde and Morel, Guadeloupe, FWI. Leiden: Leiden University Press.
- Langley, M. C., & O'Connor, S. (2016). An enduring shell artefact tradition from Timor-Leste: Oliva bead production from the Pleistocene to Late Holocene at Jerimalai, Lene Hara, and Matja Kuru 1 and 2. *PLoS* One, 11(8), e0161071. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0161071.
- Langley, M. C., & O'Connor, S. (2015). 6500-year-old Nassarius shell appliqués in Timor-Leste: technological and use wear analyses. *Journal of Archaeological Science*, 62, 175–192. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jas.2015.06.012.
- Lavier, C., Borel, T., & Vigears, D. (2009). Tracéologie appliquée aux objets et oeuvres d'art en bois des musées de France: premiers exemples d'adaptations, de développements techniques et de résultats au sein du C2RMF. Technè, 29, 15–20.
- Lévi-Strauss, C. (1936). Contribution à l'étude de l'organisation sociale des indiens Bororo. Journal de la Société des Américanistes, 28(2), 269–304.
- Lillios, K. T. (1999). Objects of memory: the ethnography and archaeology of heirlooms. Journal of Archaeological Method and Theory, 6(3), 235–262. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1021999319447.
- Macdonald, D. A., & Evans, A. A. (2014). Evaluating surface cleaning techniques of stone tools using laser scanning confocal microscopy. *Microscopy Today*, 22(3), 22–26.
- Mărgărit, M. (2016). Testing the endurance of prehistoric adornments: raw materials from the aquatic environment. *Journal of Archaeological Science*, 70, 66–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2016.04.009.
- Mărgărit, M., Radu, V., & Popovici, D. N. (2016). From operculum to bead: production of pearls from opercular bones of *Cyprinus carpio* in the Romanian Eneolithic. *Environmental Archaeology*, 21(4), 351– 360. https://doi.org/10.1179/1749631414Y.0000000019.
- Melgar Tísoc, E. R. (2012). Análisis tecnológico de los objetos de piedra verde Del Templo Mayor de Tenochtitlan. In W. Wiesheu & G. Guzzy (Eds.), *El jade y otras piedras verdes: Perspectivas interdisciplinarias e interculturales* (pp. 181–195). México: Instituto Nacional de Antropología e Historia.
- Miller, J. (2009). Things as persons: body ornaments and alterity among the Mamaindê (Nambikwara). In F. Santos-Granero (Ed.), *The occult life of things: native Amazonian theories of materiality and personhood* (pp. 60–80). Tucson: University of Arizona Press.
- Minotti, M. (2014). Ornaments and use-wear analysis: methods of study applied to the Adaïma necropolises. In J. M. Marreiros, N. F. Bicho, & J. F. Gibaja Bao (Eds.), *International conference on use-wear analysis: use-wear 2012* (pp. 80–89). Cambridge: Cambridge Scholars Publishing.
- Moro Abadía, O., & Nowell, A. (2015). Palaeolithic personal ornaments: historical development and epistemological challenges. *Journal of Archaeological Method and Theory*, 22(3), 952–979. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10816-014-9213-z.
- Newell, R. R., Kielman, D., Constandse-Westermann, T. S., Van der Sanden, W. A. B., & Van Gijn, A. L. (1990). An inquiry into the ethnic resolution of Mesolithic regional groups: the study of their decorative ornaments in time and space. Leiden: E.J. Brill.
- Oliveira, T. L. C. (2017). Corpos partidos: Adornos cerimoniais, benzimentos rituais e a estética da produção no alto Rio Negro. *Mana*, 23(1), 37–76. https://doi.org/10.1590/1678-49442017v23n1p037.
- Ollé, A., Pedergnana, A., Fernández-Marchena, J. L., Martin, S., Borel, A., & Aranda, V. (2016). Microwear features on vein quartz, rock crystal and quartzite: a study combining optical light and scanning electron microscopy. *Quaternary International*, 424, 154–170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quaint.2016.02.005.
- Outram, A. K. (2008). Introduction to experimental archaeology. World Archaeology, 40(1), 1–6. https://doi. org/10.1080/00438240801889456.
- Poulmarc'h, M., Christidou, R., Bălăşescu, A., Alarashi, H., Le Mort, F., Gasparyan, B., & Chataigner, C. (2016). Dog molars as personal ornaments in a Kura-Araxes child burial (Kalavan-1, Armenia). *Antiquity*, 90(352), 953–972. https://doi.org/10.15184/aqy.2016.132.
- Radovčić, D., Sršen, A. O., Radovčić, J., & Frayer, D. W. (2015). Evidence for Neandertal jewelry: modified white-tailed eagle claws at Krapina. *PLoS One*, 10(3), e0119802. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0119802.
- Rainio, R., & Mannermaa, K. (2014). Tracing the rattle of animal tooth pendants from the Middle Neolithic graves of Ajvide, Gotland, Sweden. World Archaeology, 46(3), 332–348. https://doi.org/10.1080/00438243.2014.909105.
- Reynolds, P. J. (1999). The nature of experiment in archaeology. In A. F. Harding (Ed.), *Experiment and design: archaeological studies in honour of John Coles* (pp. 156–162). Oxford: Oxbow Books.

Ribeiro, B. G. (1988). Dicionário do Artesanato Indígena. São Paulo: Editora da Universidade de São Paulo.

- Rigaud, S., Vanhaeren, M., Queffelec, A., Le Bourdon, G., & d'Errico, F. (2014). The way we wear makes the difference: residue analysis applied to Mesolithic personal ornaments from Hohlenstein-Stadel (Germany). Archaeological and Anthropological Sciences. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12520-013-0169-9.
- Roach-Higgins, M. E., & Eicher, J. B. (1992). Dress and identity. *Clothing and Textiles Research Journal*, 10(4), 1–8.
- Roux, V. (Ed.). (2000). Cornaline de l'Inde: Des pratiques techniques de Cambay aux techno-systèmes de l'Indus. Paris: Editions de la Maison des Sciences de l'Homme. https://doi.org/10.4000/books. editionsmsh.8706.
- Roux, V., Bril, B., & Dietrich, G. (1995). Skills and learning difficulties involved in stone knapping: the case of stone-bead knapping in Khambhat, India. World Archaeology, 27(1), 63–87. https://doi.org/10.1080/00438243.1995.9980293.
- Santos-Granero, F. (2009). From baby slings to feather bibles and from star utensils to jaguar stones: the multiple ways of being a thing in the Yanesha lived world. In F. Santos-Granero (Ed.), *The occult life of things: native Amazonian theories of materiality and personhood* (pp. 105–127). Tucson: University of Arizona Press.
- Santos-Granero, F. (2012). Beinghood and people-making in native Amazonia: a constructional approach with a perspectival coda. *HAU: Journal of Ethnographic Theory*, 2(1), 181–211.
- Sax, M., & Ji, K. (2013). The technology of jades excavated at the Western Zhou, Jin Marquis cemetery, Tianma-Qucun, Beizhao, Shanxi province: recognition of tools and techniques. *Journal of Archaeological Science*, 40(2), 1067–1079. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2012.08.041.
- Seeger, A. (1975). The meaning of body ornaments: a Suyá example. Ethnology, 14(3), 211-224.
- Shepard Jr., G. H., López Garcés, C. L., de Robert, P., & Chaves, C. E. (2017). Objeto, sujeito, inimigo, vovô: Um estudo em etnomuseologia comparada entre os Mebêngôkre-Kayapó e Baniwa do Brasil. Boletim do Museu Paraense Emílio Goeldi. Ciências Humanas, 12(3), 765–787. https://doi.org/10.1590/1981.81222017000300006.
- Sidéra, I., & Giacobini, G. (2002). Outils, armes et parures en os funéraires à la fin du Néolithique d'après Valde-Reuil et Porte-Joie (Eure) [Représentations individuelles et pratiques collectives]. *Gallia préhistoire*, 44(1), 215–230. https://doi.org/10.3406/galip.2002.2035.
- Sidéra, I., & Legrand, A. (2006). Tracéologie fonctionnelle des matières osseuses: Une méthode. Bulletin de la société préhistorique française, 103(2), 291–304.
- Silva, F. A., & Gordon, C. (2013). Anthropology in the museum. Reflections on the curatorship of the Xikrin Collection. Vibrant: Virtual Brazilian Anthropology, 10(1), 425–468.
- Stone, E. A. (2011). The role of ethnographic museum collections in understanding bone tool use. In J. Baron & B. Kufel-Diakowska (Eds.), Written in bones: studies on technological and social contexts of past faunal skeletal remains (pp. 25–37). Wrocław: Institute of Archaeology, University of Wrocław.
- Strathern, M. (1979). The self in self-decoration. Oceania, 49(4), 241-257.
- Szabó, K. (2008). Shell as a raw material: mechanical properties and working techniques in the tropical Indo West Pacific. Archaeofauna, 17, 125–138.
- Taborin, Y. (1993). Traces de façonnage et d'usage sur les coquillages perforés. In P.C. Anderson, S. Beyries, M. Otte, & H. Plisson (Eds.), *Traces et fonction: Les gestes retrouvés. Actes du colloque international de Liège Vol I* (pp. 255–267). Liège: Service de Prehistoire.
- Tátá, F., Cascalheira, J., Marreiros, J., Pereira, T., & Bicho, N. (2014). Shell bead production in the Upper Paleolithic of Vale Boi (SW Portugal): an experimental perspective. *Journal of Archaeological Science*, 42, 29–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2013.10.029.
- Turner, T. (1995). Social body and embodied subject: bodiliness, subjectivity, and sociality among the Kayapo. *Cultural Anthropology*, 10(2), 143–170. https://doi.org/10.1525/can.1995.10.2.02a00010.
- Turner, T. (2012) [1980]. The social skin. HAU: Journal of Ethnographic Theory, doi: https://doi. org/10.14318/hau2.2.026, 2, 2, 486, 504
- Van Broekhoven, L. (2010). Yesterday's knowledge, tomorrow's future. Setting up community consultations at the NME, Leiden. In L. Van Broekhoven, C. Buijs, & P. Hovens (Eds.), Sharing knowledge and cultural heritage: first nations of the Americas. Studies in collaboration with indigenous peoples from Greenland, North and South America (pp. 141–163). Leiden: Sidestone Press.
- Van Gijn, A. L. (1990). The wear and tear of flint. Principles of functional analysis applied to Dutch Neolithic assemblages. Leiden: Institute of Prehistory.
- Van Gijn, A.L. (2005). A functional analysis of some late Mesolithic bone and antler implements from the Dutch coastal zone. In H. Luik, A. Choyke, C. Batey, & L. Lougas (Eds.), From hooves to horns, from mollusc to mammoth: manufacture and use of bone artefacts from prehistoric times to the present;

proceedings of the 4th meeting of the ICAZ Worked Bone Research group at Tallinn, 26th-31st of August 2003 (pp. 47–66). Tallinn: Tallinn Book Printers.

- Van Gijn, A.L. (2006). Ornaments of jet, amber and bone. In L.P. Louwe Kooijmans, & P.F.B. Jongste (Eds.), Schipluiden: a Neolithic settlement on the Dutch North Sea Coast c. 2500 cal. BC (pp. 195–205). Leiden: Faculty of Archaeology (Analecta Praehistorica Leidensia 37/38).
- Van Gijn, A. L. (2014a). Science and interpretation in microwear studies. *Journal of Archaeological Science*, 48, 166–169. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2013.10.024.
- Van Gijn, A.L. (2014b). Beads and pendants of amber and jet. In E.M. Theunissen, O. Brinkkemper, J.P. Kleijne, R.C.G.M. Lauwerier, & B.I. Smit (Eds.), A mosaic of habitation at Zeewijk (the Netherlands); Late Neolithic behavioural variability in a dynamic landscape (pp. 119–128). Amersfoort: Cultural Heritage Agency of the Netherlands.
- Van Gijn, A. L. (2017). Bead biographies from Neolithic burial contexts: contributions from the microscope. In D. Bar-Yosef Mayer, C. Bonsall, & A. M. Choyke (Eds.), Not just for show: the archaeology of beads, beadwork, and personal ornaments (pp. 103–114). Oxford: Oxbow Books.
- Vanhaeren, M., & d'Errico, F. (2003). Le mobilier funéraire de la Dame de Saint-Germain la Rivière et l'origine paléolithique des inégalités. *Paléo*, 15, 195–238.
- Vanhaeren, M., & d'Errico, F. (2006). Aurignacian ethno-linguistic geography of Europe revealed by personal ornaments. *Journal of Archaeological Science*, 33(8), 1105–1128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2005.11.017.
- Vanhaeren, M., d'Errico, F., Van Niekerk, K. L., Henshilwood, C. S., & Erasmus, R. M. (2013). Thinking strings: additional evidence for personal ornament use in the Middle Stone Age at Blombos Cave, South Africa. *Journal of Human Evolution*, 64(6), 500–517. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhevol.2013.02.001.
- Velázquez-Castro, A. (2012). The study of shell object manufacturing techniques from the perspective of experimental archaeology and work traces. In I. Ollich-Castanyer (Ed.), Archaeology, new approaches in theory and techniques (pp. 229–250). Rijeka: Intech.
- Verschoof, W.B. (2008). *Kralen voor de doden: Het gebruik van barnsteen in de TRB-periode (3400–2750 cal. BC)*. University of Leiden, Leiden (unpublished BA thesis).
- Vidale, M. (1995). Early beadmakers of the Indus tradition. The manufacturing sequence of talc beads at Mehrgarh in the 5th Millennium BC. *East and West*, 45, 45–80.
- Walker, H. (2009). Baby hammocks and stone bowls: Urarina technologies of companionship and subjection. In F. Santos-Granero (Ed.), *The occult life of things: native Amazonian theories of materiality and personhood* (pp. 81–102). Tucson: The University of Arizona Press.
- Wentink, K. (2006). Ceci n'est pas une Hache: Neolithic depositions in the northern Netherlands. Leiden: Sidestone Press.
- White, R. (1992). Beyond art: toward an understanding of the origins of material representation in Europe. Annual Review of Anthropology, 21(1), 537–564.
- White, C. L., & Beaudry, M. C. (2009). Artifacts and personal identity. In T. Majewski & D. R. Gaimster (Eds.), *International handbook of historical archaeology* (pp. 209–225). New York: Springer. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-0-387-72071-5_12.
- Wiessner, P. (1982). Risk, reciprocity and social influence on !Kung San economics. In E. Leacock & R. Lee (Eds.), *Politics and history in band societies* (pp. 61–84). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Winnicka, K. (2016). More than meets the eye: microscopic and technological studies on Early Bronze Age bone and antler beads from Kichary Nowe, south-eastern Poland. In S. Vitezović (Ed.), *Close to the bone: current studies in bone technologies* (pp. 376–394). Belgrade: Institute of Archaeology.
- Woodward, A. (2002). Beads and beakers: heirlooms and relics in the British Early Bronze Age. Antiquity, 76(294), 1040–1047. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0003598X00091845.
- Wright, K., & Garrard, A. (2003). Social identities and the expansion of stone bead-making in Neolithic western Asia: new evidence from Jordan. Antiquity, 77(296), 267–284. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0003598X00092267.
- Wright, D., Langley, M. C., May, S. K., Johnston, I. G., & Allen, L. (2016). Painted shark vertebrae beads from the Djawumbu–Madjawarmja complex, western Arnhem Land. *Australian Archaeology*, 82(1), 43– 54. https://doi.org/10.1080/03122417.2016.1164356.
- Yerkes, R.W. (1993). Methods of manufacturing shell beads at prehistoric Mississippian sites in southeastern North America. In P.C. Anderson, S. Beyries, M. Otte, & H. Plisson (Eds.), *Traces et Fonction: Les Gestes Retrouvés. Actes du colloque international de Liège Vol I* (pp. 235–242). Liège: Service de Prehistoire.
Affiliations

Catarina Guzzo Falci¹ · Jacques Cuisin² · André Delpuech³ · Annelou Van Gijn¹ · Corinne L. Hofman¹

- ¹ Faculty of Archaeology, Leiden University, Einsteinweg 2, 2333 CC Leiden, The Netherlands
- ² Muséum National d'Histoire Naturelle, 55 rue Buffon, 75231 Paris, France
- ³ Musée de l'Homme, 17 Place du Trocadéro, 75116 Paris, France

Part 2: Biographical studies of Ceramic Age bodily ornaments

Early Ceramic Age lapidary

Published as:

Falci, C.G., Knaf, A.C.S., Van Gijn, A.L., Davies, G.R., Hofman, C.L., 2020. Lapidary production in the eastern Caribbean: a typo-technological and microwear study of ornaments from the site of Pearls, Grenada. *Archaeological and Anthropological Sciences* 12:53.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s12520-019-01001-4

ORIGINAL PAPER



Lapidary production in the eastern Caribbean: a typo-technological and microwear study of ornaments from the site of Pearls, Grenada

(2020) 12:53

Catarina Guzzo Falci¹ · Alice C. S. Knaf² · Annelou van Gijn¹ · Gareth R. Davies² · Corinne L. Hofman¹

Received: 2 July 2019 / Accepted: 16 October 2019 © The Author(s) 2020

Abstract

The present paper examines bodily ornaments made of semiprecious lithic materials from the site of Pearls on the island of Grenada. The site was an important node in long-distance interaction networks at play between circum-Caribbean communities during the first centuries of the Common Era. Pearls was an amethyst bead-making workshop and a gateway to South America, from where certain lapidary raw materials likely originated. The importance of the site for regional archaeology and local stakeholders cannot be overstated. However, it has undergone severe destruction and looting over the decades. Here, we present a study of a private collection of ornaments from Pearls, which combines raw material identification, typo-technological analysis and microwear analysis. We identify great diversity in lithologies and in techniques adapted to their working properties. Multiple abrasive techniques for sawing, grinding, polishing and carving are identified. Furthermore, the use of ornaments is examined for the first time. Finally, we contrast our dataset to other Antillean sites and propose management patterns for each raw material. Our approach ultimately provides new insights on ornament making at Pearls and on its role in regional networks.

Keywords Ornaments · Technological analysis · Microwear analysis · Jade · Caribbean archaeology · Exchange

Introduction

Bodily ornaments have been regarded as proxies for the existence of large-scale exchange networks connecting the eastern Caribbean islands with northern South America, the Isthmo-Colombian region and Mesoamerica (Fig. 1a) (Cody 1993; Hofman et al. 2007, 2014a; Rodríguez López 1993; Rodríguez Ramos 2010; Watters 1997). In the first centuries of the Common Era, lithic materials used as ornaments were extremely varied and unequally distributed across the circum-Caribbean (Chanlatte Baik 1983; Hofman et al. 2007; Murphy et al. 2000; Watters and Scaglion 1994). The identification of

Electronic supplementary material The online version of this article (https://doi.org/10.1007/s12520-019-01001-4) contains supplementary material, which is available to authorized users.

workshop sites specialized in certain raw materials has further supported the idea of continuous reciprocal exchanges between islands (Hofman et al. 2007, 2014a; Watters 1997). Lapidary items have been linked to ceremonial and competitive interactions between village big men and aspiring individuals (Boomert 2001; Curet 2003; Hofman et al. 2007, 2019; Roe 1989; Siegel 2010). Despite the great interest sparked by lapidary circulation, the near absence of technological studies has hindered our understanding of the skilled production of ornaments in hard lithics. Decoding such patterns is a crucial step in acknowledging the sophistication of the indigenous heritage of the region.

The Pearls archaeological site, on the southeastern Caribbean island of Grenada ($-61^{\circ}36'51.78''$ W 12°8' 39.45" N¹; Fig. 1b), was a key node in the exchange networks connecting the Antilles with northern South America (Cody 1993; Boomert 2007; Hofman et al. 2007; Laffoon et al. 2014). The site was the locus of a lapidary workshop, with marked focus on amethyst bead making. However, the data produced since its discovery in the 1960s remains limited. This is due to the continuous

Catarina Guzzo Falci c.guzzo.falci@arch.leidenuniv.nl

¹ Faculty of Archaeology, Leiden University, Einsteinweg 2, 2333 CC Leiden, The Netherlands

² Geology and Geochemistry Research Cluster, Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam, De Boelelaan 1085, 1081HV Amsterdam, The Netherlands

¹ DMS coordinates for the airport landing strip that crosses the site of Pearls. See Supplementary data 2.



Fig. 1 a Map of the eastern Caribbean with locations of lapidary workshop sites mentioned in the text: 1 Tecla (Puerto Rico), 2 Punta Candelero (Puerto Rico), 3 La Hueca/Sorcé (Vieques), 4 Prosperity (St.

destruction, and looting the site has undergone over the decades. As this is the only lapidary workshop on the southern Antilles during this period, an investigation of its assemblages fills a significant gap in our understanding of indigenous networks. The present research is carried out in the context of a MoU between Leiden University and the government of Grenada. Our goal is to provide a thorough study of a large assemblage from Pearls, which has been unsystematically collected from the site and now makes part of a private collection.² We assess variability in raw materials, ornament types and production technologies. Lithologies were determined by macroscopic examination with a hand lens. Production technologies and technical stages were studied through a typotechnological approach; furthermore, a microwear study of a selected sample set was carried out in order to provide an in-depth assessment of production micro-traces and use-wear.

This new data is compared with the assemblages recovered during the excavations of the Pearls site (Cody 1990; Keegan and Cody 1990) and of other eastern Caribbean sites dated to the same period (e.g. Chanlatte Baik 1983; Murphy et al. 2000; Watters and Scaglion 1994). This study provides an approach for investigating previously looted sites that hold an important place in both

Croix), 5 Hope Estate (St. Martin), 6 Royall's (Antigua), 7 Elliot's (Antigua), 8 Trants (Montserrat), 9 Golden Grove (Tobago). **b** Map of Grenada with the location of the archaeological site of Pearls

archaeological narratives and society at large. At the same time, it documents this collection and makes its dataset available for a wider archaeological public. While new archaeological assessments of the site and preservation measures are necessary, we argue that the lapidary collections that have already been exposed need to be thoroughly researched. The proper documentation of such collections is indispensable to archaeological debates concerned with the specialized production and exchange of valuables across the Caribbean.

Archaeological background

The Early Ceramic Age period (400 BC–AD 600/800) has been traditionally defined by the arrival to the Antilles of pottery-bearing horticulturalist populations from northern South America (Rouse 1992, 34–37). These new occupants have been identified with the Cedrosan Saladoid and the Huecoid pottery series. More recently, the research focus has changed towards a more dynamic understanding of island occupation, involving constant voyaging, contact and exchange between communities (Curet and Hauser 2011; Hofman et al. 2007, 2014a, b, 2019; Mol 2014; Rodríguez Ramos 2010). Of particular interest, here are lapidary industries, i.e. assemblages of bodily ornaments made of a large variety of lithic materials found at several Saladoid and Huecoid sites.

 $^{^{2}}$ Artefacts from the collection have also been featured in previous archaeological research (Breukel 2019; Keegan and Hofman 2017, 60, 213; Petitjean Roget 2015, 147–150; Scott et al. 2018).

State of the art on Antillean lapidary studies

Lapidary workshops

Lapidary workshop contexts have been identified on many islands (Fig. 1a): Tecla and Punta Candelero on Puerto Rico and La Hueca/Sorcé on Vieques (Chanlatte Baik 1983; Chanlatte Baik and Narganes Storde 1989; Rodríguez López 1991), Prosperity on St. Croix (Vescelius and Robinson 1979), Elliot's and Royall's on Antigua (Murphy et al. 2000), Trants on Montserrat (Watters and Scaglion 1994), Hope Estate on St. Martin (Bonnissent 2008; Haviser 1999) and Pearls on Grenada. Their production output varied quantitatively, with some sites producing less than others (Boomert 2007). Certain sites were specialized in the working of selected raw materials (Hofman et al. 2007; Watters 1997; Watters and Scaglion 1994). However, the low chronological resolution and the use of different excavation strategies hamper true comparability between sites and inferences concerning sociopolitical organization (Curet 2003; Oliver 1999; Rodríguez Ramos et al. 2010).

Raw material provenance

Overviews of Early Ceramic Age lapidary circulation are continually revised as new data comes to light (Cody 1990, 1993; Hofman et al. 2007, 2014a; Knippenberg 2007; Rodríguez López 1993). Lithic identification has involved the use of macroscopic examination, refractive index and specific gravity tests, petrography, SEM-EDS, XRD and Raman spectroscopy (Cody 1990, 46; Cody 1993; Hardy 2008, 223-226; Murphy et al. 2000; Queffelec et al. 2018; Watters and Scaglion 1994). However, the sources of most raw materials remain uncertain. For instance, nephrite sources may be located in the Brazilian Amazon (Costa et al. 2002) or in the Sierra Nevada de Santa Marta (Acevedo Gómez et al. 2018). Turquoise veins have been reported from St. John (Virgin Islands) (Alminas et al. 1994; Knippenberg 2007, 152) and from near the mouth of the Amazon River (Costa et al. 2004). Carnelian was arguably sourced in Antigua, mainly worked in Montserrat, and exchanged with other islands (Crock and Bartone 1998; Hofman et al. 2014a; Mol 2014; Murphy et al. 2000; Watters and Scaglion 1994). Amethyst sources have been identified in Martinique and southeastern Amazonia (Cody 1993; Epstein 1988; Watters 1997). However, it is not clear whether the Antillean amethyst and turquoise sources were exploited, due to the small size of their products and the lack of evidence for local exploitation (Cody 1993; Knippenberg 2007, 168; Queffelec et al. 2018). Jadeitite sources are known in the Motagua Fault Zone on Guatemala (Foshag and Leslie 1955; Harlow et al. 2011), eastern Cuba (García-Casco et al. 2009), and northern Dominican Republic (Schertl et al. 2012). Whereas stone celts from Early Ceramic

Age sites have been identified as jadeitite, "greenstone" ornaments have been shown to be made of materials such as nephrite and serpentinite (García-Casco et al. 2013; Hardy 2008; Harlow et al. 2006; Rodríguez Ramos 2011). Quartz, calcite and diorite are found in multiple islands, hampering sourcing efforts (Boomert and Rogers 2007; Hofman et al. 2007).

Production technologies

Flaking technologies involved in lapidary production have only been studied for the site of Trants (Crock and Bartone 1998). Due to the abundance of carnelian production waste in Trants, greater focus was placed on quartz varieties. Drilling technologies have been the focus of experimental and SEM studies, with the preliminary suggestion of the use of drill bits made of wood (De Mille et al. 2008). Finally, the use of string sawing has been suggested for the creation of decorative grooves (Rodríguez Ramos 2010). The use of abrasive technologies is a crucial evidence for assessing high technological achievement, as they require great skill, fore-planning and appropriate toolkits (e.g. Beck and Mason 2002; d'Errico et al. 2000; Gwinnett and Gorelick 1979; Kenoyer and Vidale 1992; Pétrequin et al. 2012). But our current understanding of such techniques is exclusively based on the presence of associated tools, such as quartz and flint drill bits and grooved grinding stones (e.g. Chanlatte Baik 1983, 34-35; Crock and Bartone 1998; Rodríguez Ramos 2010).

The site of Pearls, Grenada

Grenada lies at approximately 145 km north from the island of Trinidad and the northern coast of Venezuela. The island has an area of 306 km², with a mountainous topography whose highest peak reaches 840 m above sea level. Five volcanic centres have been identified on the centre and western coast of the island, with basic lava flows of basanitoids and alkalic basalts, as well as subalkalic basalts, andesites and dacites (Arculus 1976). Geologically reworked volcanics are predominant on the eastern coast. Plutonic rocks can be brought to the surface as small intrusions in the lava flow; likewise, they are occasionally found washing ashore (Arculus and Wills 1980).

The site of Pearls is located in an alluvial plain to the north of the Simon River, about 400 m inland from the Atlantic Ocean (Keegan and Cody 1990). Pearls is a large and dense archaeological site, covering approximately 500,000 m² (Hanna 2019, 13; also Bullen 1964, 18). Saladoid ceramics found at Pearls were traditionally attributed to the first centuries AD (Bullen 1964). Excavations took place from 1988 to 1990 (Cody 1990; Keegan and Cody 1990); three radiocarbon dates were obtained from marine shells found in the central midden: 1711 ± 74 BP, 1725 ± 54 BP and 1914 ± 51 BP (Cody 1990). The dates were recently calibrated by Hanna (2019), who proposes a time span of AD 370–770.

However, the occupation timespan remains unclear due to the stratigraphic complexity and extension of the site.

Domestic middens were identified at the eastern and western portions of the site, comprising faunal and plant remains, plain ceramics and beads (Cody 1990, 43). A large midden at the centre of the site (unit B) displayed decorated ceramics, hand-stones, a chert whetstone and ornaments (Cody 1990, 41). To the north, a thin midden layer (unit A) included lapidary making remains, a worn drill bit and another chert whetstone. This unit was interpreted as the setting of a lapidary workshop, where part-time craft specialists worked (Cody 1990). A map showing the location of the excavations was only recently made available (see Hanna 2019, 13). Furthermore, the site has been continuously impacted by bulldozing for airport construction, levelling, sand mining, soil removal, storm action, agriculture and long-term looting (Cody 1990, 40; Hanna 2019).

Pearls is regarded as the main centre for amethyst bead production, whose products were exchanged with the islands to the north (Boomert 2007; Hofman et al. 2007; Watters 1997). It is also an important heritage site due to both its indigenous and historic components. Destruction of the site through multiple mechanisms is still ongoing (Fitzpatrick 2012; Hanna and Jessamy 2017). Ceramic adornos and lapidary items illegally removed from Pearls are part of multiple private collections (Boomert 2007; Hofman and Hoogland 2016). In this sense, new archaeological research, recontextualization of private collections and preservation measures are necessary.

Materials and methods

The present research aimed to document lapidary artefacts that form a part of a large private collection. The studied assemblage has been reported to be exclusively from Pearls. However, this assemblage is the product of an unsystematic collection strategy: the association of artefacts to each other, to ornament making contexts, or to toolkits is unclear. There may also be diachronic variability between artefacts. Another expected bias is the low presence of artefacts in the early stages of modification.

The studied collection is composed of 1273 ornaments made of lithic raw materials, encompassing beads (n = 1056; 82.95%), pendants (n = 167; 13.12%) and buttons (n = 15; 1.18%). Many unfinished ornaments were identified (n =317; 24.9%), next to crystals, unmodified pebbles and debitage (n = 29; 2.28%). The typological classification was based on artefact morphology and position of the suspension holes (Supplementary data 3). The sizes of beads varied between 4 and 27 mm of diameter and between 2 and 99 mm of thickness. Pendants varied from 11 to 63 mm of length, 6 to 40 mm of width and 3 to 25 mm of thickness. A large variety of geometric pendants was identified, both with and without carvings (Supplementary data 8, d1, g1, i1, j1; Supplementary data 9, g1, j1). Most flat pendants present a triangular morphology, although there are also rectangular, oval and square specimens. Three-dimensional pendants (Supplementary data 8, f1, h1; Supplementary data 9, b1, e1, h1, i1) have more varied shapes, afforded by larger and thicker blanks and more naturalistic carving patterns. Figure-in-profile pendants (Supplementary data 9, a1) are characterized by a triangular cross section displaying two faces with matching carvings and a narrow plain face. Finally, buttons present a broadly circular morphology, alongside a plano-convex cross section and a Vshaped perforation on one face (Supplementary data 5, f1). Their sizes varied from 11 to 15 mm of length, 10 to 14 of width and 7 to 10 mm of thickness.

A *chaîne opératoire* approach will be used here to characterize ornament making in Pearls. This approach offers an analytical tool for the identification of technical processes and for their hierarchical organization in operational sequences (Inizan et al. 1999; Sellet 1993; Soressi and Geneste 2011). The organization of the assemblage in technical stages highlights which products are present or absent, thus pointing to the states in which materials were brought into a given site (Perlès 2007). In combination with microwear analysis, insights can be gained on use, reuse or recycling of artefacts, the inter-relation between *chaînes opératoires* of different materials and the states in which artefacts have been disposed of (a.o. Cahen et al. 1980; Van Gijn 2012).

Lithologies were determined by examination of each ornament with a hand lens, with reference to geological collections housed at the Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam. The resulting raw material groups served as basis for the subsequent two stages of analysis. In the first stage, a typo-technological analysis of the entire lapidary assemblage was carried out. Macroscopic examination was used to identify flake scars, pecking marks, drilling traces, surface treatments, breakages, recycling, and possible use evidence. Technical stages (Table 1) were thus defined following previous studies on ornament making (Falci and Rodet 2016; Kenoyer et al. 1991; Roux 2000; Wright et al. 2008). The goal of this stage of analysis was to establish operational sequences per raw material and to assess which

Table 1 Definition of ornament-making technical stages

Technical stage	Definition
Raw material	Unmodified pieces (pebbles, nodules, crystals)
Debitage	Flaking products (cores, flakes and blanks)
Rough-out	Only knapped or sawn pieces (no grinding)
Preform 1	Partially or completely ground preform (no perforation)
Preform 2	Preform completely ground and carved (no perforation)
Preform 3	Pieces with unfinished perforations
Complete	Finished ornament (completed perforation)

technical procedures were carried out at the site. In the second stage of the study, a sample of 100 artefacts was subjected to microwear analysis in order to identify pecking marks, abrasive techniques and use-wear (Supplementary data 1). This sample set was formed by selecting preforms and finished ornaments representing every stage present in the Pearls collection for each raw material group.

The analysis was carried out in Grenada with equipment from the Laboratory for Artefact Studies of Leiden University. A DinoLite USB digital microscope (model AD7013MZT Premier) was used for low magnification observation ($\times 20 - \times$ 60). An incident light, metallographic microscope (Nikon Optiphot-1) was used for high magnification analysis $(\times 100 - \times 200)$. Micrographs were made through the oculars using a digital camera (Olympus VR-340). High magnifications afford better insights into the contact materials used for treating the surface of lithic artefacts during manufacture, such as stone platforms, polishing materials and abrasives (Breukel 2019; d'Errico et al. 2000; Groman-Yaroslavski and Bar-Yosef Mayer 2015; Melgar Tísoc et al. 2013; Procopiou et al. 2013). Interpretation was based on comparison with the preliminary results of an on-going experimental programme focused on pre-colonial Caribbean technical systems (Breukel 2019; Breukel and Falci 2017; Falci 2015; Falci et al. 2017).

Results: raw materials

Lithic ornaments were split in 15 raw material categories (Supplementary data 3) (Fig. 2). Plutonic rocks are predominant in the collection, particularly diorite (29.07% of 1273). Diorite has a similar proportion of mafic to felsic minerals, resulting in a distinctive mottled white and black appearance (Supplementary data 7, a-g2). It is a hard, heterogeneous and medium to coarse-grained rock (Rapp 2009, 51). The group other than plutonic rocks encompasses great diversity (Supplementary data 7, h1-l2): from specimens presenting exclusively pyroxene to specimens with nearly 100% plagioclase.

Quartz varieties are also numerous in the collection. Amethyst is a macrocrystalline quartz with purple colouration caused by the presence of iron impurities (9.5%; Supplementary data 5, a-h2). Ornaments made of both rock crystal (i.e. translucent and colourless specimens) and milky quartz were grouped together as "quartz" (9.8%; Supplementary data 5, i1-m3). Macrocrystalline quartz varieties are characterized by their composition (SiO₂), conchoidal fracture and hardness of 7 in Mohs scale (Oldershaw 2009, 184–185). Carnelian is a microcrystalline quartz variety, with hardness of 6.5, conchoidal fracture and yellow to red colour (5.2%; Supplementary data 6, a-g2). Turquoise was one of the most numerous raw materials (13.3%; Supplementary data 6, h1-k2). It is a hydrated phosphate of copper and aluminium, being opaque and displaying a light to intense blue colour. It is a brittle mineral, also having a conchoidal fracture and hardness of 5–6 in Mohs scale.

Among metamorphic rocks, the most numerous is jadeitite $(Na(Al Fe^{3+})Si_2O_6)$ (13%). Jadeite is a high pressure pyroxene mineral, which is very tough and hard (6.5-7 in Mohs scale) and has a splintery to uneven fracture. In the studied collection, jadeitite appears as a light green opaque rock and as a coarse-grained and sparkly granular rock (Supplementary data 8, a-i4). Other metamorphosed ultramafic rocks with serpentine alteration were also identified (0.8%; Supplementary data 9, g1-j2). Nephrite $(Ca_2(Mg,Fe^{2+})_5Si_8O_{22}(OH)_2)$ is a tremolite-actinolite rock, characterized by its considerable toughness and hardness (6.5 in Mohs scale), being also fibrous and elastic (2%, Supplementary data 9, a1-e4). Other metamorphic rocks rich in tremolite were also identified (2.12%). Specimens were often opaque and with pronounced schistosity (Supplementary data 9, f1-h4). Low temperature hydrothermal alteration products (2.12%) also presented different shades of green (Supplementary data 8, j1-k2).

Results: production sequences

In general, the studied collection is well preserved. Fragmentation is present in 23 artefacts among the 100 analysed specimens, but only three of them are recent breaks. Traces produced by contact with heat are not common in the general assemblage, but almost ubiquitous among carnelian artefacts. This may be an indication that carnelian was heattreated for better workmanship and colour, as known from other regions of the world (Kenoyer et al. 1991; Roux 2000).

The most common raw materials were predominantly used for the production of beads, for instance, macro- and microcrystalline quartz varieties (n = 275), diorite (n = 369) and a yellowish variety of plutonic rocks containing few mafic minerals (n = 62) (Supplementary data 7, k1-l2). Many beads were also made of jadeitite (n = 106) and turquoise (n = 157). The main raw materials used for the production of pendants were jadeitite (n = 57), nephrite (n = 18), diverse metamorphic rocks (n = 41) and other plutonic rocks (n = 64). Buttons were only made of quartz, amethyst and opal. The debitage is predominantly made of quartz varieties and diverse metamorphic rocks (Supplementary data 4). Table 2 compiles all identified production techniques for each raw material group (see also Supplementary Data 1).

Blank production

Flaking

Debitage products are present in low numbers in the assemblage, thus limiting our understanding of the early stages of raw material exploitation. Most ornament preforms and



Fig. 2 Main raw material groups found in the studied collection: a amethyst, b quartz, c carnelian, d turquoise, e diorite, f other plutonic

rocks, ${\bf g}$ low temperature alteration products, ${\bf h}$ jadeitite, ${\bf i}$ nephrite, ${\bf j}$ metamorphic with tremolite, and ${\bf k}$ metamorphosed ultramafics".

rough-outs do not retain remnants of natural surfaces. Exceptions are the preforms of a quartz button and of an amethyst tubular bead, which display crystal facets. The scars on flaked amethyst cores point to the production of small flakes (with a maximum of 1 cm length), possibly to be used as blanks for disc beads. Flake scars were observed on a core point to the use of percussion on an anvil to work it from multiple directions (Supplementary data 5, a). Small carnelian pebbles are also present, alongside a partially flaked core (Supplementary data 6, a). A jadeitite core displays flake

	Blank acquisition	Shaping	Surface treatment	Decorating	Drilling	Technical errors/recycling	Tota
Amethyst	Flaking	Flaking Pecking	Grinding 1, 2 Polishing 1	-	Biconical	Re-pecking Re-grinding Second hole	121
Quartz	Flaking	Flaking Pecking	Grinding 1, 2 Polishing 1, 2, 3	-	Biconical	Poorly aligned perforations	125
Carnelian	Flaking	Flaking Pecking	Grinding 1, 2 Polishing 1, 2, 3	-	Biconical Conical	_	66
Calcite	No evidence	Flaking (?) Notching	Grinding 1 Polishing 3	Incising	Biconical Bi-cylindrical	_	6
Turquoise	Sawing (rigid saw?)	Flaking Notching	Grinding 1, 2 Polishing 3	Incising Notching	Biconical Bi-cylindrical	Poorly aligned perforations	169
Diorite	Sawing (rigid saw) Flaking	Flaking Notching	Grinding 1, 2 Polishing 1, 3	Notching	Biconical Conical Cylindrical	Re-grinding Second hole	370
Other plutonics	Sawing (rigid saw) Sawing (string)	Notching	Grinding 1, 2 Polishing 2, 3	Incising Excising	Biconical Bi-cylindrical	Second hole Re-grinding Poorly aligned perforations	99
Jadeitite	Flaking Sawing (rigid saw)	Flaking Notching	Grinding 1, 2 Polishing 2, 3	Notching Incising Excising Drilling	Biconical	Re-grinding	166
Nephrite	Sawing (rigid saw?) Sawing (string)	Notching Pecking Flaking	Grinding 1, 2 Polishing 1, 3	Incising Notching Drilling	Biconical Cylindrical	-	26
Metamorphosed ultramafics	Sawing (?)	Flaking Notching	Grinding 1, 2 Polishing 3	Incising	Biconical	-	11
Metamorphic with tremolite	Sawing (rigid saw)	Notching	Polishing 3	Incising	Biconical	Re-polishing and carving	27
Low temperature alteration product	Flaking Sawing (?)	Flaking Notching	Grinding 1, 2	Incising	Biconical	Poorly aligned perforations	27

 Table 2
 Production techniques identified for each technical operation and raw material^a

^a Opal (n = 1), basement schist (n = 2) and indeterminate (n = 57) are not included in this table

removals made from multiple directions through hard hammer percussion (Supplementary data 8, a). A flaked diorite core has been observed on the surface of the site by one of the authors. These cores point to the use of flaking in the early stages of ornament making. The lack of flaking evidence in other raw materials may be connected to the poor suitability of this technique for working tough and/or heterogeneous materials.

Sawing

Sawing was used for blank production through a groove-andsnap technique. Small beads of diorite and turquoise were made by splitting a long blank in small sections (Supplementary data 7, a, e1). The blanks for geometric, three-dimensional and figure-in-profile pendants were also produced in this way. Such multi-ornament preforms were ground prior to sawing, so that sawing products already had the desired shape to be made into ornaments. A second grinding operation removed sawing traces and irregularities left from snapping. We identified two types of traces produced by sawing: (1) cut grooves with triangular cross section, in which the bottom is markedly narrower than the outer edges and the sides display straight scratches and (2) narrow cut grooves (ca. 2 mm) with parallel sides and a convex bottom, on which semi-circular scratches are visible. The first set of traces has been attributed to the use of rigid straight saws possibly made of lithic materials (Supplementary data 8, c1, c2; Supplementary data 9, f1). The second set of traces was attributed to sawing with a string accompanied by abrasives (Kovacevich 2011; Sax and Ji 2013). Such traces correspond to those obtained in previous experiments sawing conch shell, diorite and amber with cotton strings (Breukel and Falci 2017; Falci 2015, 146–148; Verchoof and Van der Vaart 2010). String sawing was attested on (multi-)pendant preforms (Supplementary data 7, h1-h3, i1-i3; Supplementary data 9, a2, b2). Preliminary cut grooves made with rigid saws were placed to fix the string for sawing. String sawing was then carried out in both parallel and perpendicular plans on plutonic rock preforms, suggesting that it was adapted to the shape of the block to be sawn.

Shaping

Flaking was used to shape the sides and sometimes the faces of beads made of quartz varieties. Pressure flaking has been identified on beads from Trants, being used for the controlled removal of small flakes (Crock and Bartone 1998, 213). In the Pearls collection, the flake scars observed on rough-outs and preforms are small, narrow and long, giving the beads an irregular faceted appearance (Supplementary data 5, b1; Supplementary data 6, b1). The flake scars are often superposed by pecking and grinding traces, thus preventing further technological characterization. Similarly, faceted sides were sometimes observed on turquoise, diorite and nephrite beads (Supplementary data 6, i1; Supplementary data 7, b1).

Pecking traces can be recognized as several adjacent concentric impact craters (Supplementary data 5, b1, b2, c1). The use of microscopy permitted their identification even when the traces had been largely removed by subsequent surface treatments (Supplementary data 5, b3, c1, c2, f2, i2; Supplementary data 6, b2, c2). Pecking was used as a means of removing excessive material, sharp ridges left by flaking and grinding facets (Supplementary data 5, h2, k2, k3).

Surface treatments

Different grinding and polishing types were identified on the samples studied through microwear analysis. The characteristics of the observed polishes are produced by differences in the nature of the tool, abrasives and coolants used. They are further dependent on the raw materials of the ornaments themselves, as their mechanical properties vary greatly. Half of the ornaments display partially overlapping polishes that result from the successive application of different surface treatments.

Grinding

A first rough grinding stage (grinding 1) was noted across different materials (n = 34). In this stage, the shape of the ornament is defined, but in many cases, the surface remains dull and faceted. Pecking traces are gradually replaced by abraded patches on the tops of the microtopography, sometimes with incipient striations (Supplementary data 5, b3, d2; Supplementary data 6, b2, c2, h2; Supplementary data 7, b2, c2; Supplementary data 8, d2, j2). The general flattening of the micro-surface and the overall absence of polish suggests the use of a hard contact material without water. Grinding 2 is characterized by the presence of a continuous polish located on the tops of the microtopography (n = 53). Furthermore, it displays fine and regularly spaced striations on a flat and bright polish (Supplementary data 5, e3, j2, j3; Supplementary data 6, i2, i3; Supplementary data 8, e2; Supplementary data 9, h3). This treatment is likely the result of the use of a grinding stone with added abrasives and water.

Polishing

Polishing is directed toward erasing manufacturing traces, smoothening the surface and increasing the sheen of the material. Different polishing types can be distinguished. Polishing 1 is characterized by a flat mirror-like polish (n =14). Hard fine-grained stone platforms with added water could have produced this type of polishing, such as the chert whetstones found at Pearls (Cody 1990, 41-42). Polishing 1 is commonly seen on certain sectors of plano-convex and tubular beads, as well as on buttons (Supplementary data 5, e3, f2, k3; Supplementary data 6, g2; Supplementary data 7, d2, d3, j2; Supplementary data 9, d2, d3). The polished shiny surfaces would be visible when the buttons are attached to a composition, whereas the surfaces with dull surface treatment are hidden. Polishing 2 is characterized by domed and smooth patches of polish (n = 5). It is not continuous or extensively developed, leaving the general microtopography rough and irregular (Supplementary data 5, i2). Polishing 3 is greasy, bright and invasive, reaching the lowest interstices of the microtopography (n = 45). It often displays abundant fine scratches, created by the use of abrasives. The polish was produced with unidentified soft and pliable contact materials (Supplementary data 6, e2, j2; Supplementary data 7, e2, f2, j3; Supplementary data 8, f2, k2; Supplementary data 9, a3, h4).

Carving

Shaping and decorating operations carried out through sawing can be divided into notching, incising and excising. Notching refers to the creation of indentations on the sides of ornaments in order to give them elaborate shapes, often zoomorphic (n = 28). Incising was used to create decorative lines and zoomorphic depictions (n = 19). Excision involved the combined use of incising and notching to isolate certain sectors of a pendant, thus giving to a depiction greater naturalism (n = 5).

The cross-section of cut grooves varies according to the specific shape and raw material of the tool used. Sharp, Vshaped notches were observed on nine specimens (29% of 31 carved specimens; Supplementary data 7, k1; Supplementary data 8, f3, f4; Supplementary data 9, e2, h2). They were likely made with hard lithic tools, such as the flaked chert tools recovered from the site (Cody 1990, 41-42, 57–58). Notches were sometimes made through multiple cuts, creating a wide and composite groove (Supplementary data 7, j4; Supplementary data 8, h2). The remaining artefacts displayed U-shaped grooves (67.7%; Supplementary data 8, i2; Supplementary data 9, c2, c3). Lithic tools that are not as hard, fine-grained and brittle as chert may have been used to produce such wider notches. Alternatively, U-shaped grooves displaying linear scratches may be the result of widening and polishing after their initial carving. Widening may have been carried out using organic saws with abrasives, which have a rounded cross-section or wear more easily when working hard lapidary materials. Three frog-shaped pendants display wide and shallow central incisions with abundant and continuous

Table 3 Distribution of ornaments analysed by		Analys	sed sample (n =	= 100)	Con	nplete arte	efacts $(n = 71)$)
microwear according to raw material and presence of use-wear		Total	Unfinished	Complete	Use	wear	No use-	Indeterminate
in this analysed sample					n	%	wear	
	Amethyst	11	3	8	1	12.50	7	-
	Quartz	8	2	6	1	16.67	2	3
	Carnelian	8	3	5	1	20	4	-
	Calcite	2	-	2	1	50	1	-
	Turquoise	8	2	6	3	50	3	-
	Diorite	14	3	11	4	36.36	4	3
	Other plutonics	14	4	10	7	70	2	1
	Jadeitite	18	6	12	8	66.67	3	1
	Nephrite	7	-	7	6	85.71	1	-
	Metamorphosed ultramafics	3	2	1	1	100	-	
	Metamorphics with tremolite	2	2	-	-	-	-	-
	Low temperature alteration product	2	-	2	1	50	1	-
	Basement schist	1	1	-	-	-	-	-
	Indeterminate	2	1	1	1	100	-	-
	Total	100	29	71	35	-	28	8

striations (Supplementary data 8, g2; Supplementary data 9, b3, i1, i2). Such incisions were likely produced by the use of pliable soft materials (e.g. plant leaf or strips of hide), which were pulled back-and-forth while the pendants were held still. Finally, drilling was used for creating decorative circular depressions on three zoomorphic pendants (Supplementary data 9, a1, c1, c2).

Perforation

Drilling was used for creating the suspension holes. Most perforations are biconical (83.1% of 83), i.e. the holes are formed by two opposing cones, each presenting a tapering profile (Supplementary data 5, d1, g2, h2, k1, 11; Supplementary data 8, g3, h3, h4; Supplementary data 9, j2). Abundant and regular circular scratches are observed on the perforation walls. This indicates the use of solid (non-hollow) drill bits across all raw materials, in contrast to the use of hollow drills reported for the site of Trants (Crock and Bartone 1998, 213). The diameter of the perforations varied between 1.0 and 6.0 mm (measured on the surface), with most specimens presenting between 2.0 and 3.0 mm (68.6%). The perforations of beads made of quartz varieties are of up to 4.5 cm in length, whereas they are of up to 10 cm in the plutonic rock beads. Semi-circular striations were observed in association with a bright and flat polish adjacent to the rim of the perforation of some quartz and carnelian beads (Supplementary data 6, b3, b4, f2, f3). This polish suggests the use of a lithic drill. This is in agreement with purported chert and quartz drill bits recovered from Pearls and other

lapidary workshops. However, experimental studies have questioned the suitability of chert for drilling ornaments made of materials of comparable hardness (Gurova et al. 2013). In fact, some tool variability can be attested: while most perforations are biconical, the sector where the cones meet in the centre of the bead can have a cylindrical cross-section and be quite narrow (less than 1.0 mm; Supplementary data 5, g2). This suggests the use of a different and smaller tool for uniting the perforation cones. Likewise, cylindrical perforations with discreet tapering were noted on nine artefacts made of nonquartz materials (10.8%). Cylindrical perforations may have been produced by drill bits made of different raw materials.

We noted unperforated ornaments displaying a highly developed polishing and fully perforated specimens with a coarse surface treatment and faceted sides. Drilling traces on some specimens are sometimes quite fresh, suggesting that these sectors were not reground or polished after drilling. In this sense, the order between polishing and drilling was not strict. This evidence suggests that some flexibility were afforded in ornament production sequences.

Technical errors and recycling

Artefacts displaying technical errors were noted in the studied collection, namely ornaments (1) with unfinished perforations (preform 3), (2) with poorly aligned perforation cones, (3) broken along the perforation and (4) that snapped in the wrong place. This collection was recovered from a site containing workshop contexts; in this sense, many of such artefacts may have been perceived as undesirable products to be

discarded. Likewise, 12 recycled beads and pendants were observed (Table 2; Supplementary data 1). Recycling was carried out through the (re-)application of various techniques, such as grinding (Supplementary data 5, e1, e2; Supplementary data 7, 11) and drilling. Recycling has also been noted in other lapidary workshops, being interpreted as an efficient management of rare raw materials (Durand and Petitjean-Roget 1991; Narganes Storde 1995, 1999; Rodríguez López 1991).

Results: use-wear

Of the 100 artefacts studied through microwear analysis, only specimens with complete perforations are considered in this section (n = 71). Many studied artefacts display a fresh and partially ragged rim of perforation when examined with microscopy (39.4% of 71). In addition, the intersection of the cones in the centre of the perforation is often narrow and fragile. The lack of use-wear did suggest that such ornaments were not strung. In contrast, almost half of the studied ornaments display use-wear (49.2%) in the form of smoothening of the rim of perforation and formation of a distinctive polish. The perforation becomes more uniform as a result of the progressive erasure of drilling traces. In double perforated pendants, use-wear often led to the deformation of the perforation rims dependant on the position of the string (Supplementary data 8, g3, g4, i3, i4, j3; Supplementary data 9, e3, e4). Another observed use-wear type was the formation of polish and rounding on the edges of the pendants due to the contact with the body during use. Table 3 presents the percentage of artefacts with use-wear per analysed raw material group. General trends can be noted despite the reduced sample size. Nearly all nephrite ornaments present use-wear (85.7%). Jadeitite, plutonic rocks and turquoise also present notable percentages of used artefacts (Supplementary data 6, k2; Supplementary data 7, f3, g2, k1, k2, 11, l2). In contrast, a relatively low percentage of amethyst and carnelian ornaments displays use-wear (12.5% and 20%). Quartz also records a low percentage of used specimens (16.6%; Supplementary data 5, m2, m3), although the evidence was not conclusive on three other beads. This is a low value when contrasted to the large numbers of analysed ornaments for each of these quartz varieties.

Discussion

The present study documented unprecedented variability in the collection from the site of Pearls. In an effort to recontextualize it, we now compare the typological and raw material variability observed with assemblages from other eastern Caribbean sites.

Ornament typology

Considerable archaeological debate has taken place regarding the chronological and socio-cultural relations between the Saladoid and Huecoid series, with focus on site distributions and relative chronologies based on ceramic styles (Chanlatte Baik 1983; Chanlatte Baik and Narganes Storde 1989; Roe 1989; Rouse 1992; Rouse and Alegría 1990). However, no conclusive decisions have been reached after decades of debate (Oliver 1999; Rodríguez Ramos et al. 2010; also Keegan and Hofman 2017, 67–68). With regard to lapidary materials, distinctive styles have also been proposed and attributed to one of the series.

Comparison with Saladoid lapidary production

It has been argued that Saladoid lapidary production is more limited, homogeneous and stylistically different from the Huecoid varieties (Bérard 2013; Chanlatte Baik and Narganes Storde 1989; Narganes Storde 1995, 1999; Rodríguez Ramos et al. 2010). The former is characterized by tubular and barrel-shaped beads made of quartz, amethyst, carnelian and diorite (Murphy et al. 2000; Narganes Storde 1999; Watters and Scaglion 1994). The studied beads are very similar to those recovered from Saladoid sites in Montserrat and Antigua. At the same time, we identified other ornament types, such as disc beads, buttons and a pendant. The two first types had already been reported during the excavations of Pearls (Cody 1990, 54) and of Sorcé and Tecla (Narganes Storde 1999). Beads and pendants of other materials, such as turquoise, malachite, calcite and jasper, have been recovered from sites associated to both archaeological series.

Zoomorphic pendants are known from Saladoid contexts, notably three-dimensional frog-shaped pendants (e.g. Bonnissent 2008, 491; Durand and Petitjean-Roget 1991; Murphy et al. 2000; Narganes Storde 1999). There is considerable stylistic and material variability between known specimens. The two nephrite three-dimensional frog-shaped pendants from Pearls are similar to specimens often referred to as *muiraquitãs*, due to their similarity to Amazonian pendants (Boomert 1987; Cody 1993; Costa et al. 2002).

Comparison with Huecoid lapidary production

The sites of La Hueca and Punta Candelero contained large numbers of "segmented frog pendants". These are flatschematized frog-shaped pendants with a perforation across the neck and made of varied raw materials (serpentinite, jasper, nephrite and calcite) (Chanlatte Baik 1983, 16; Cody 1993; Narganes Storde 1995, 142). Few of such specimens are found in the studied collection (n = 6; Supplementary data 8, j1), mostly made of jadeitite. The abundance and stylistic variability of small and flat frog-shaped pendants led us to

Raw materials	Suggested geological sources ^a	Local production	Which stages	Brought into the site
Amethyst $(n = 121)$	Martinique Southeastern Amazon (Brazil)	Yes (beads and buttons)	All stages	Raw material
Quartz ($n = 125$)	Available throughout the archipelago	Yes (beads and buttons) Minor evidence (pendants)	All stages	Raw material
Carnelian $(n = 66)$	Antigua	Yes (beads)	Disc bead production Finishing barrel-shaped beads	Raw material (pebbles) Preforms of barrel-shaped beads Finished tubular beads
Turquoise $(n = 169)$	St. John (Virgin Islands) Lower Amazon (Brazil)	Yes (beads and pendants)	Polishing Drilling	Preforms Finished beads and pendants
Diorite (<i>n</i> = 370)	Tobago Available throughout the archipelago	Yes (beads and pendants)	All stages Flaking (minor evidence) Shaping (minor evidence)	Raw material Preforms
Other plutonics (<i>n</i> = 99)	Available throughout the archipelago	Yes (pendants) No evidence (beads)	All stages (pendants)	Raw material Partially worked specimens to be made into pendants (?) Beads
Jadeitite (<i>n</i> = 166)	Northern Dominican Republic Eastern Cuba Motagua Fault Zone (Guatemala)	Yes (pendants) Minor evidence (beads)	All stages	Raw material Bead preforms Finished beads
Nephrite $(n = 26)$	Lower Amazon (Brazil) Sierra Nevada de Santa Marta (Colombia)	Yes (beads and pendants in light green variety)	Grinding Polishing Drilling	Pebbles (light green variety) Preforms (light green variety) Finished pendants (dark green variety)
Metamorphosed ultramafics (n = 11)	Greater Antilles South America	Yes (mostly pendants)	Grinding Polishing Drilling	Raw material (?) Blanks, rough-outs, preforms (?) Finished beads and pendants (?)
Metamorphic rocks with tremolite (n = 27)	Greater Antilles South America	Yes (pendants)	All stages, except for blank acquisition	Raw material Blanks, rough-outs (?)
Low temperature alteration products (n = 27)	Available throughout the archipelago	Yes (pendants) Minor evidence (beads)	All stages	Raw material Finished beads Bead preforms

Table 4 Raw material management at the site of Pearls based on the studied collection

^a Based on bibliographic references mentioned in the "Raw material provenance" section

group them under the broader subtype "carved flat pendants", as they were made on similar blanks. Pendants that do not fit in the segmented frog type were also found at La Hueca, but in comparatively low numbers (Chanlatte Baik 1983, 43; Narganes Storde 1995). Many plain geometric pendants noted in the Pearls collection share the same production sequence as the flat frog-shaped pendants, but do not display carvings. Pendants shaped as raptorial birds were also numerous in Huecoid sites. As the pendants are thought to depict bird species not endemic to the Antilles, they have been regarded as evidence of the continental origins of Huecoid people (Chanlatte Baik 1983, 40–42; Chanlatte Baik and Narganes Storde 1989). A single specimen has been reported from

another private collection from Pearls (Boomert 2007). The studied figure-in-profile pendants share certain morphological features with the bird pendants: the orientation of the carved figure and the blank morphology obtained by sawing. This similarity is also noted by Narganes Storde (1995, 144), who suggests that the figure-in-profile pendants (*pendientes cefalomorfos*) could be reworked raptorial bird pendants (also Durand and Petitjean-Roget 1991). In summary, we note elements traditionally attributed to both series on this assemblage from Pearls. However, no systematic comparison of zoomorphic pendants across Antillean sites has been carried out to date, thus limiting the value of such cultural attributions.

Raw material management

The limitations imposed by the unsystematic means by which this collection was formed should not be overlooked. First, the low numbers of artefacts in early production stages may partially be a product of this collection strategy. Second, the absence of chronological control prevents us from grasping how identified patterns may have changed over time. Nevertheless, raw material management patterns can be suggested based on suggested raw material sources and on the technical stages identified in the collection (Table 4). We recorded a large number of amethyst artefacts, encompassing most beadmaking stages. Pearls was likely the main provider of amethyst beads to the islands to the north. Similar percentages of quartz and carnelian unfinished ornaments and debitage were found. Even though carnelian artefacts are less numerous (n =66), more than half of them are in the form of production waste. Therefore, at least part of the manufacture of carnelian beads took place at Pearls. Carnelian pebbles and preforms were brought from Antigua (the geological source) or Montserrat and were locally made into beads using the same procedures used for amethyst and quartz.

Diorite is the most prevalent raw material in the collection, but presents only 19.4% of unfinished specimens. A large number of similar diorite beads are also reported from Trants, with an even lower percentage of unfinished specimens (Watters and Scaglion 1994, 226). Some diorite beadmaking activities took place at Pearls, as already noted by Cody (1990, 41). The lack of rough-outs and debitage suggests that there was a focus on the last stages of the production sequence, such as fine grinding, polishing and drilling. Diorite and other plutonic rocks are not commonly found on Grenada, so they had to be brought in. Diorite could be obtained from Tobago, from where geological sources and bead workshop sites are known (Boomert and Rogers 2007). Whereas the occupation of the Golden Grove site on Tobago starts at a later period (AD 690-900), there is an overlap with the newly calibrated dates for Pearls (Hanna 2019). Regarding the other plutonic rocks, there is evidence for the production of geometric pendants, but no evidence for the production of yellowish plutonic rock beads.

Other lapidary workshop sites contain few turquoise ornaments. Despite their large numbers in the Pearls collection, turquoise is represented by almost exclusively finished beads and pendants (91.1%). Most specimens have small sizes (1.0 cm of diameter or less) and large portions of brownish matrix. Jadeitite is found in large numbers in the studied collection, even though its presence in other lapidary workshops has been contested. In the studied group, non-modified pebbles and preforms represent nearly 25%. Among pendants, 49.1% are unfinished. Therefore, similarly to plutonic rocks, there is more evidence of pendant production, despite the predominance of beads in the assemblage. Nephrite ornaments have been reported from many sites, but in low numbers and with limited production evidence. This pattern is repeated in the studied collection, although there are some unfinished specimens (n = 7; 26.9%). Most unfinished specimens are made from a light coloured and translucent variety of nephrite (e.g. Supplementary data 9, c). Most nephrite pendants have a dark colour and are not markedly translucent; this variety was probably obtained as finished pendants. The metamorphic rocks with tremolite include a large number of unfinished specimens mostly related to pendant production (n = 17; 62.9%). The other two raw material categories, metamorphosed ultramafics and low temperature hydrothermal alteration products, include large percentages of unfinished beads and pendants (54.5% and 59.3%, respectively).

Ornament production technologies

The working of ornaments made of quartz varieties follows a relatively standardized sequence for bead production. It involved flaking for blank acquisition and shaping, followed by pecking, two stages of grinding, polishing and drilling. The creation of long and regular perforations on hard materials demonstrates great skill in ornament making. The general production sequence remains largely the same across different ornament types. The main differences are related to blank production and blank morphology, which are chosen according to the desired end product. Two techniques were identified for blank production through flaking: direct hard hammer percussion and percussion on an anvil. However, the low amount of debitage prevents further insights on their use. We also identified varied surface treatments used on different ornaments and even on different sectors of a same specimen.

Abrasive techniques had not been previously investigated in the Caribbean. Their identification is a direct result of the microwear analysis. Non-quartz raw materials have been used for the production of multiple bead and pendant types. Prior to this study, no information was available on how such ornaments were produced. We identified the use of diverse blank production and shaping techniques, even within a same raw material group. For instance, turquoise and diorite tubular beads were produced from both multi-bead preforms and from flake blanks. Likewise, pendants were produced through the use of both string sawing and rigid lithic saws. Different decorative tools and techniques have also been identified, alongside vast stylistic diversity in carved pendants. Technological variability may have corresponded to differences in production loci within the site, to diachronic variation or to the production of some artefacts in another workshop. Nonetheless, the diversity of raw materials being worked highlights the great technological achievement of the indigenous inhabitants of the Caribbean to a degree that had not been previously attested.

The use of ornaments

Most analysed macro- and microcrystalline quartz ornaments did not display use-wear, despite their presence in large numbers. It is therefore possible that certain locally produced ornaments were not for local use, even though the raw materials were brought from other islands or even from South America. In other words, Pearls would have been primarily a production site for amethyst, quartz and carnelian. A specific pattern has also been noted for nephrite ornaments: all but one of the analysed specimens displayed use-wear. Three-dimensional frog-shaped pendants have been reported from funerary contexts in many eastern Caribbean sites (Bonnissent 2008, 103; Durand and Petitiean-Roget 1991), including Pearls (Cody 1990, 44, 50). We can thus suggest that nephrite ornaments were acquired through exchange, used as bodily adornment and ultimately deposited with the dead. Jadeitite, diorite, other plutonic rocks and turquoise assemblages also include large percentages of worn specimens (Table 3). Whether they arrived as raw material, finished or unfinished specimens, some among them were used at the site. In this sense, we do not observe a clear opposition between ornaments locally produced for export and imported raw materials for local use. Lapidary materials were dealt with in different ways depending on their raw material and ornament type. This preliminary use-wear study demonstrates that, rather than being exclusively valuables kept in circulation, certain ornaments were also produced or acquired to be worn in Pearls itself. This is in agreement with the retrieval of ornaments from domestic middens during the excavations of the site (Cody 1990, 42-43).

Conclusion

The typo-technological and microwear study of the Pearls collection provides new perspectives on the production and use of ornaments in the Caribbean. The collection is comparable with those retrieved from other sites of the Early Ceramic Age period, although notably large and with great variety of ornament materials and types. The presence of large quantities of allochthonous materials from different geological sources reinforces the role of Pearls as an important node in far-reaching networks. Some materials may have come from nearby Windward Islands and South America, while others may have come from the Leeward Islands, the Greater Antilles or even from Central America. We identified a marked focus on the production of beads made of quartz varieties, thus reframing previous ideas regarding sole specialization on amethyst beads at Pearls. The preliminary results of the use-wear study suggest that these exotic materials were made into ornaments to be (at least partially) sent away once again, rather than locally worn.

The identification of jadeitite pendant production at the site is unprecedented in the region. Unmodified pebbles, ornaments in different technical stages and used specimens were part of the collection. This was also observed for diorite, nephrite and turquoise, but to rather different degrees. These materials were likely being circulated across the Caribbean sea in different technical stages. Further insights on their circulation will require analytical studies focused on material characterization and provenance. The results of these studies will be reported in a future publication (Knaf et al. in prep).

The present study further demonstrates the technological variability and expertise present in the Early Ceramic Age. A deliberate choice was made in this period for investing time and skill in ornament making, as opposed to other lithic industries considered to be opportunistic, expedient and lacking standardization (Crock and Bartone 1998). The high skill in lapidary working is demonstrated by the use of a large variety of raw materials and the development of a range of techniques and toolkits suited to work them. The typo-technological study of the entire collection combined with the microscopic analysis of a selected sample provided insights into the production sequences applied to all raw materials, even to those that are neither numerous nor present in multiple technical stages (for instance, nephrite and turquoise). Likewise, it allowed us to identify production techniques that remained invisible in previous studies, such as (1) sawing with rigid saws and string sawing as blank acquisition strategies and (2) different types of grinding and polishing. The reduction of hard materials through abrasive techniques is notably time-consuming, in particular, through grinding and sawing. In this sense, their specialized use is evidence of the knowledge, skill and time invested in ornament making in the past.

The role of the different islands in Early Ceramic Age networks needs to be further studied, in particular, by reanalysing previously excavated (legacy) collections and by applying an interdisciplinary approach. In-depth technological studies of other sites can highlight craft differences between islands. Only then will we be able to assign specific technical products to a given workshop, rather than just raw material groups and ornament types.

Acknowledgements The authors would like to thank the Willcox family for allowing access to the collection. Angus Martin is also thanked for his help during this research. Finally, we would like to acknowledge the support of the Grenada Ministry of Culture.

Funding information This research has received funding from the NWO (Netherlands Organization for Scientific Research) Spinoza Prize awarded to Prof. Dr. Corinne L. Hofman in 2014. This research is part of the project NEXUS1492, which has received funding from the European Research Council under the European Union's Seventh Framework Programme (FP7/2007-2013)/ERC Grant agreement n° 319209.

Compliance with ethical standards

Conflict of interest The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Open Access This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

References

- Acevedo Gómez N, Scharff MW, García-Casco A, Sáenz-Samper J (2018) Placas aladas de las sociedades Nahuange y Tairona (100– 1600 dc), Sierra Nevada de Santa Marta, Colombia: Materia prima y áreas de procedencia. Lat Am Antiq 29(4):774–792. https://doi.org/ 10.1017/laq.2018.51
- Alminas HV, Foord EE, Tucker RE (1994) Geochemistry, mineralogy, and geochronology of the U.S. Virgin Islands. Washington: United States Government Printing Office
- Arculus RJ (1976) Geology and geochemistry of the alkali basalt andesite association of Grenada, Lesser Antilles island arc. Geol Soc Am Bull 87(4):612–624. https://doi.org/10.1130/0016-7606(1976)87<612:GAGOTA>2.0.CO;2
- Arculus RJ, Wills KJ (1980) The petrology of plutonic blocks and inclusions from the Lesser Antilles island arc. J Petrol 21(4):743–799. https://doi.org/10.1093/petrology/21.4.743
- Beck RJ, Mason M (2002) Mana Pounamu. New Zealand jade. Auckland, Reed
- Bérard B (2013) The Saladoid. In: Keegan WF, Hofman CL, Rodríguez Ramos R (eds) The Oxford Handbook of Caribbean Archaeology. Oxford University Press, Oxford, pp 184–197
- Bonnissent D (2008) Archéologie précolombienne de l'île de Saint-Martin, Petites Antilles (3300 BC-1600 AD). Dissertation, Université de Provence Aix-Marseille I
- Boomert A (1987) Gifts of the Amazons: "greenstone" pendants and beads as items of ceremonial exchange in Amazonia and the Caribbean. Antropológica 67:33–54
- Boomert A (2001) Saladoid sociopolitical organization. In: Proceedings of the XVIII International Congress for Caribbean Archaeology, Grenada, July 11–17, 1999. Guadeloupe, L'Association Internationale d'Archéologie de la Caraïbe, pp 55–77
- Boomert A (2007) Exotics from Pearls, Grenada. A preliminary assessment. In: Proceedings of the XXII Conference of the International Association for Caribbean Archaeology (IACA), Kingston, Jamaica, July 23–29, 2007. Kingston, International Association for Caribbean Archaeology, pp 1–25
- Boomert A, Rogers CT (2007) Troumassoid stone artifacts in Tobago: rock types and source areas. In: Reid BA, Petitjean-Roget H, Curet LA (eds) Proceedings of the Twenty-First Congress of the International Association for Caribbean Archaeology, Volume 1, Trinidad and Tobago, vol 2005. The University of the West Indies, St. Augustine, pp 282–294

- Breukel TW (2019) Tracing interactions in the indigenous Caribbean through a biographical approach: microwear and material culture across the historical divide (AD 1200–1600). Dissertation, Leiden University
- Breukel TW, Falci CG (2017) Experimental reproduction of wear traces on shell, coral, and lithic materials from the pre-colonial Caribbean. In: Velasquez CB, Haviser JB (eds) Proceedings of the 26th Congress of the IACA (International Association for Caribbean Archaeology). Sint Maarten, SIMARC
- Bullen RP (1964) The archaeology of Grenada, West Indies. University of Florida, Gainesville
- Cahen D, Karlin C, Keeley LH, Van Noten F (1980) Méthodes d'analyse technique, spatiale et fonctionnelle d'ensembles lithiques. Helinium Wetteren 20(3):209–259
- Chanlatte Baik LA (1983) Catálogo Arqueología de Vieques. *Exposición del 13 de marzo al 22 de abril de 1983*. Santo Domingo: Editora Corripio
- Chanlatte Baik LA, Narganes Storde YM (1989) La nueva arqueologia de Puerto Rico (su proyección en las Antillas). Boletin del Museo del Hombre Dominicano 22:9–49
- Cody AK (1990) Prehistoric patterns of exchange in the Lesser Antilles: materials, models, and preliminary observations. Master thesis, San Diego State University
- Cody AK (1993) Distribution of exotic stone artifacts through the Lesser Antilles: their implications for prehistoric interaction and exchange. In: Cummins A, King P (eds) Proceedings of the Fourteenth International Congress for Caribbean Archaeology, Dover Convention Centre, Barbados, 22–28 July 1991. Bridgetown, Barbados Museum and Historical Society, pp 204–226
- Costa ML, Silva ACRL, Angélica RS, Pöllmann H, Schuckmann W (2002) Muyrakytã ou Muiraquitã: Um talismã arqueológico em jade procedente da Amazônia: aspectos físicos, mineralogia, composição química e sua importância etnogeológica. Acta Amazônica 32(3): 431–448. https://doi.org/10.1590/1809-43922002323448
- Costa ML, Fernández OC, Toledo MCM, Passos CM, Pereira PF (2004) A turquesa de Itacupim, Pará. Rem: Revista da Escola de Minas 57(4):261–266. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0370-44672004000400008
- Crock JG, Bartone RN (1998) Archaeology of Trants, Montserrat. Part 4. Flaked stone and stone bead industries. Annals of the Carnegie Museum 67(3):197–224
- Curet LA (2003) Issues on the diversity and emergence of middle-range societies of the ancient Caribbean: a critique. J Archaeol Res 11(1): 1–42. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1021277308225
- Curet LA, Hauser MW (eds) (2011) Islands at the crossroads: migration, seafaring, and interaction in the Caribbean. University of Alabama Press, Tuscaloosa
- d'Errico F, Roux V, Dumond Y (2000) Identification des techniques de finition des perles en calcédoine par l'analyse microscopique et rugosimétrique. In: Roux V (ed) Cornaline de l'Inde. Des pratiques techniques de Cambay aux techno-systèmes de l'Indus. Maison des sciences de l'homme, Paris, pp 97–169
- De Mille CN, Varney TL, Turney MHJ (2008) Saladoid lapidary technology: new methods for investigating stone bead drilling techniques. In: Hofman CL, Hoogland MLP, Van Gijn AL (eds) Crossing the borders: new methods and techniques in the study of archaeological materials from the Caribbean. University of Alabama Press, Tuscaloosa, pp 78–89
- Durand JF, Petitjean-Roget H (1991) A propos d'un collier funéraire à Morel, Guadeloupe: Les Huecoïdes sont-ils un mythe? In: Sickler Robinson L (ed) Proceedings of the Twelfth Congress of the International Association for Caribbean Archaeology, Cayenne, Juillet/Aôut 1987. Association Internationale d'Archéologie de la Caraïbe, Martinique, pp 53–70
- Epstein DS (1988) Amethyst mining in Brazil. Gems and Gemology 24(4):214–228

- Falci CG (2015) Stringing beads together: a microwear study of bodily ornaments in late pre-colonial north-central Venezuela and northwestern Dominican Republic. Leiden University, Research Master thesis
- Falci CG, Rodet MJ (2016) Adornos corporais em Carajás: a produção de contas líticas em uma perspectiva regional. *Boletim do Museu Paraense Emílio Goeldi*. Ciências Humanas 11(2):481–503. https://doi.org/10.1590/1981.81222016000200008
- Falci CG, Van Gijn AL, Antczak MM, Antczak AT, Hofman CL (2017) Challenges for microwear analysis of figurative shell ornaments from pre-colonial Venezuela. J Archaeol Sci Rep 11:115–130. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jasrep.2016.11.029
- Fitzpatrick SM (2012) On the shoals of giants: natural catastrophes and the overall destruction of the Caribbean's archaeological record. J Coast Conserv 16(2):173–186. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11852-010-0109-0
- Foshag WF, Leslie R (1955) Jadeite from Manzanal, Guatemala. Am Antiq 21:81–83. https://doi.org/10.2307/276111
- García-Casco A, Rodríguez Vega A, Cárdenas Párraga J, Iturralde-Vinent MA, Lázaro C, Blanco-Quintero I, Rojas Agramonte Y, Kröner A, Núñez Cambra K, Millán G, Torres-Roldán RL, Carrasquilla S (2009) A new jadeitite jade locality (Sierra del Convento, Cuba): first report and some petrological and archeological implications. Contrib Mineral Petrol 158:1–16. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00410-008-0367-0
- García-Casco A, Knippenberg S, Rodríguez Ramos R, Harlow GE, Hofman CL, Pomo JC, Blanco-Quintero IF (2013) Pre-Columbian jadeitite artifacts from the Golden Rock Site, St. Eustatius, Lesser Antilles, with special reference to jadeitite artifacts from Elliot's, Antigua: implications for potential source regions and long distance exchange networks in the Greater Caribbean. J Archaeol Sci 40: 3153–3169. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2013.03.025
- Groman-Yaroslavski I, Bar-Yosef Mayer DE (2015) Lapidary technology revealed by functional analysis of carnelian beads from the early Neolithic site of Nahal Hemar Cave, southern Levant. J Archaeol Sci 58:77–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2015.03.030
- Gurova M, Bonsall C, Bradley B, Anastassova E (2013) Approaching prehistoric skills: experimental drilling in the context of bead manufacturing. Bulgarian e-journal Archaeol 3(2):201–221
- Gwinnett AJ, Gorelick L (1979) Ancient lapidary. A study using scanning electron microscopy and functional analysis. Expedition 22(1):17– 32
- Hanna JA (2019) Camáhogne's chronology: the radiocarbon settlement sequence on Grenada, West Indies. J Anthropol Archaeol 55: 101075. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaa.2019.101075
- Hanna JA, Jessamy M (2017) The St. John's river site: public archaeology of the Troumassoid period in Grenada, West Indies. In: Velasquez CB, Haviser JB (eds) Proceedings of the 26th Congress of the International Association for Caribbean Archaeology. Sint Maarten, SIMARC
- Hardy MD (2008) Saladoid economy and complexity on the Arawakan frontier. Dissertation, Florida State University
- Harlow GE, Murphy AR, Hozjan DJ, De Mille CN, Levinson AA (2006) Pre-Columbian jadeite axes from Antigua, West Indies: description and possible sources. Can Mineral 44:305–321. https://doi.org/10. 2113/gscanmin.44.2.305
- Harlow GE, Sisson VB, Sorensen SS (2011) Jadeitite from Guatemala: new observations and distinctions among multiple occurrences. Geol Acta 9(3–4):363–387. https://doi.org/10.1344/105.000001694
- Haviser JB (1999) Hope estate: lithics. In: Hofman CL, Hoogland MLP (eds) Archaeological Investigations on St. Martin (Lesser Antilles).
 The sites of Norman Estate, Anse des Peres, and Hope Estate. With a contribution to the 'La Hueca Problem'. Leiden University Press, Leiden, pp 189–202

- Hofman CL, Hoogland MLP (2016) Connecting stakeholders: collaborative preventive archaeology projects at sites affected by natural and/ or human impacts. Caribbean Connections 5(1):1–31
- Hofman CL, Bright AJ, Boomert A, Knippenberg S (2007) Island rhythms: the web of social relationships and interaction networks in the lesser Antillean archipelago between 400 BC and AD 1492. Lat Am Antiq 18(3):243–268. https://doi.org/10.2307/25478180
- Hofman CL, Mol AAA, Rodríguez Ramos R, Knippenberg S (2014a) Networks set in stone: Archaic-Ceramic interaction in the early precolonial northeastern Caribbean. In: Bérard B, Losier C (eds) Archéologie Caraïbe. Sidestone Press, Leiden, pp 119–132
- Hofman CL, Mol AAA, Hoogland MLP, Valcárcel Rojas R (2014b) Stage of encounters: migration, mobility and interaction in the precolonial and early colonial Caribbean. World Archaeol 46(4):590– 609. https://doi.org/10.1080/00438243.2014.925820
- Hofman CL, Borck L, Slayton E, Hoogland MLP (2019) Archaic Age voyaging, networks, and resource mobility around the Caribbean Sea. In: Hofman CL, Antczak AT (eds) Early Settlers of the Insular Caribbean. Dearchaizing the Archaic. Sidestone Press, Leiden, pp 245–261
- Inizan ML, Reduron-Ballinger M, Roche H, Tixier J (1999) Technology and terminology of knapped stone. Cercle de Recherches et d'Etudes Préhistoriques, Nanterre
- Keegan WF, Cody AK (1990) Progress Report on the Archaeological Excavations at the Site of Pearls, Grenada, August 1989. Florida Museum of Natural History, Gainesville
- Keegan WF, Hofman CL (2017) The Caribbean before Columbus. Oxford University Press, Oxford
- Kenoyer JM, Vidale M (1992) A new look at stone drills of the Indus Valley tradition. In: Vandiver P, Druzick JR, Wheeler GS, Freestone I (eds) Materials issues in art and archaeology III. Pittsburgh, Materials Research Society, pp 495–518
- Kenoyer JM, Vidale M, Bhan KK (1991) Contemporary stone beadmaking in Khambhat, India: patterns of craft specialization and organization of production as reflected in the archaeological record. World Archaeol 23(1):44–63. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 00438243.1991.9980158
- Knippenberg S (2007) Stone artefact production and exchange among the Northern Lesser Antilles. Leiden University Press, Leiden
- Kovacevich B (2011) The organization of jade production at Cancuen, Guatemala. In: Hruby ZX, Braswell GE, Mazariegos OC (eds) The Technology of Maya civilization: political economy and beyond in lithic studies. Equinox, London, pp 149–161
- Laffoon JE, Rodríguez Ramos R, Chanlatte Baik LA, Narganes Storde YM, Rodríguez López M, Davies GR, Hofman CL (2014) Longdistance exchange in the precolonial circum-Caribbean: a multiisotope study of animal tooth pendants from Puerto Rico. J Anthropol Archaeol 35:220–235. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaa. 2014.06.004
- Melgar Tísoc EM, Solís Ciriaco RB, Filloy Nadal L (2013) Análisis tecnológico de las piezas de jadeíta y pedernal del cinturón de poder y de la banda frontal de K'inich Jannab'Pakal de Palenque. In: Velázquez Castro A, Lowe LS (eds) Técnicas Analíticas Aplicadas a la Caracterización y Producción de Materiales Arqueológicos en el Área Maya. Universidad Autónoma de México, México, pp 135– 162
- Mol AAA (2014) The connected Caribbean. In: A socio-material network approach to patterns of homogeneity and diversity in the precolonial period. Sidestone Press, Leiden
- Murphy AR, Hozjan DJ, De Mille CN, Levinson AA (2000) Pre-Columbian gems and ornamental materials from Antigua, West Indies. Gems and Gemology 36(3):234–245
- Narganes Storde YM (1995) La lapidaria de La Hueca, Vieques, Puerto Rico. In: Alegría RE, Rodríguez M (eds) Proceedings of the XV International Congress for Caribbean Archaeology, San Juan,

Puerto Rico, July 25th–30th 1993. San Juan, Centro de Estudios Avanzados de Puerto Rico y el Caribe, pp 141–151

Narganes Storde YM (1999) La lapidaria de Sorcé, Vieques y Tecla, Guayanilla, Puerto Rico. In: Richard G (ed) Proceedings of the XVI International Congress for Caribbean Archaeology Part II. Basse-Terre, July 24-28th, 1995. Conseil Régional de la Guadeloupe et Auditorium de la Ville de Basse-Terre, Basse-Terre, pp 17–26

Oldershaw C (2009) Gems of the world. Firefly, New York

- Oliver JR (1999) The La Hueca complex in the West Indies: old problems, new perspectives, possible solutions. In: Hofman CL, Hoogland MLP (eds) Archaeological investigations on St. Martin (Lesser Antilles). The sites of Norman Estate, Anse des Pères, and Hope Estate. With a contribution to the 'La Hueca problem'. Leiden University Press, Leiden, pp 253–297
- Perlès C (2007) Échanges et technologie: L'exemple du Néolithique. In: Évin J (ed) Un siècle de construction du discours scientifique en Préhistoire. Volume III. Société préhistorique française, Paris, pp 53–62
- Petitjean Roget H (2015) Archéologie des Petites Antilles. Chronologies, art ceramique et art rupestre. Association Internationale d'Archéologie de la Caraïbe, Basse Terre
- Pétrequin P, Bontemps C, Buthod-Ruffier D, Le Maux N (2012) Approche expérimentale de la production des haches alpines. In: Pétrequin P, Cassen S, Errera M, Klassen L, Sheridan A, Pétrequin AM (eds) Jade. Grandes haches alpines du Néolithique européen. Ve et IVe millénaires av. J.-C. *Tome* 1. Presses Universitaires de Franche-Comté et Centre de Recherche Archéologique de la Vallée de l'Ain, Besancon, pp 258–291
- Procopiou H, Morero E, Vargiolu R, Suarez-Sanabria M, Zahouani H (2013) Tactile and visual perception during polishing: an ethnoarchaeological study in India (Mahabalipuram, Tamil Nadu). Wear 301(1–2):144–149. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wear.2012.11.058
- Queffelec A, Fouéré P, Paris C, Stouvenot C, Bellot-Gurlet L (2018) Local production and long-distance procurement of beads and pendants with high mineralogical diversity in an early Saladoid settlement of Guadeloupe (French West Indies). J Archaeol Sci Rep 21: 275–288. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jasrep.2018.07.011

Rapp GR (2009) Archaeo-mineralogy. Springer, Berlin

- Rodríguez López MA (1991) Arqueología de Punta Candelero, Puerto Rico. In: Ayubi EN, Haviser JB (eds) Proceedings of the Thirteenth International Congress for Caribbean Archaeology Part 2, July 1989, Curaçao, Netherlands Antilles. Willemstad, pp 605–627
- Rodríguez López MA (1993) Early trade networks in the Caribbean. In: Cummins A, King P (eds) Proceedings of the Fourteenth International Congress for Caribbean Archaeology, Dover Convention Centre, Barbados, 22–28 July 1991. Bridgetown: Barbados Museum and Historical Society, pp 306–314
- Rodríguez Ramos R (2010) Rethinking Puerto Rican precolonial history. University Alabama Press, Tuscaloosa
- Rodríguez Ramos R (2011) The circulation of jadeitite across the Carribeanscape. In: Hofman CL, Van Duijvenbode A (eds) Communities in contact. Sidestone Press, Leiden, pp 116–136
- Rodríguez Ramos R, Torres J, Oliver JR (2010) Rethinking time in Caribbean archaeology. The Puerto Rico case study. In: Fitzpatrick SM, Ross AH (eds) Island shores, distant pasts: archaeological and biological approaches to the pre-Columbian settlement of the Caribbean. University Press of Florida, Gainesville, pp 21–53
- Roe PG (1989) A grammatical analysis of Cedrosan Saladoid vessel form categories and surface decorations: aesthetic and technical styles in early Antillean ceramics. In: Siegel PE (ed) Early ceramic

population lifeways and adaptive strategies in the Caribbean. Archaeopress, Oxford, pp 267–382

- Rouse IB (1992) The Tainos: rise and decline of the people who greeted Columbus. Yale University Press, New Haven
- Rouse IB, Alegría RE (1990) Excavations at Maria de la Cruz Cave and Hacienda Grande Village Site, Loiza, Puerto Rico. Yale University Press, New Haven
- Roux V (ed) (2000) Cornaline de l'Inde: Des pratiques techniques de Cambay aux techno-systèmes de l'Indus. Paris: Editions de la Maison des Sciences de l'Homme. https://doi.org/10.4000/books.editionsmsh.8706
- Sax M, Ji K (2013) The technology of jades excavated at the Western Zhou, Jin Marquis cemetery, Tianma-Qucun, Beizhao, Shanxi province: recognition of tools and techniques. J Archaeol Sci 40(2): 1067–1079. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2012.08.041
- Schertl H-P, Maresch WV, Stanek KP, Hertwig A, Krebs M, Baese R, Sergeev SS (2012) New occurrences of jadeitie, jadeite quartzite and jadeite lawsonite quartzite in the Dominican Republic, Hispaniola: petrological and geochronological overview. Eur J Mineral 24:199–216. https://doi.org/10.1127/0935-1221/2012/0024-2201
- Scott RB, Neyt B, Hofman CL, Degryse P (2018) Determining the provenance of Cayo pottery from Grenada, Lesser Antilles, using portable X-ray fluorescence spectrometry. Archaeometry 60(5):966–985. https://doi.org/10.1111/arcm.12359
- Sellet F (1993) Chaîne opératoire; the concept and its applications. Lithic Technol 18(1–2):106–112. https://doi.org/10.1080/01977261.1993. 11720900
- Siegel PE (2010) Continuity and change in the evolution of religion and political organization on pre-Columbian Puerto Rico. J Anthropol Archaeol 29(3):302–326. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaa.2010.04.002
- Soressi M, Geneste JM (2011) The history and efficacy of the *chaîne* opératoire approach to lithic analysis: studying techniques to reveal past societies in an evolutionary perspective. PaleoAnthropology: 334–350. https://doi.org/10.4207/PA.2011.ART63
- Van Gijn AL (2012) New perspectives for microwear analysis. In: Bakels CC, Kamermans H (eds) The End of our Fifth Decade. Faculty of Archaeology, Leiden University (Analecta praehistorica leidensia 43/44), Leiden, pp 275–282
- Verchoof WB, Van der Vaart S (2010) Amber clubs and axes; how are they made? Production experiments with amber ornaments performed at Lands of Legends Lejre during the summer of 2010. Report on file at the Laboratory for Artefact Studies, Leiden University
- Vescelius GS, Robinson LS (1979) Exotic items in archaeological collections from St. Croix: prehistoric imports and their implications. Paper presented to the Eighth International Congress for the Study of the Pre-Columbian Cultures of the Lesser Antilles, St. Kitts
- Watters DR (1997) Maritime trade in the prehistoric eastern Caribbean. In: Wilson SM (ed) The indigenous people of the Caribbean. University Press of Florida, Gainesville, pp 88–99
- Watters DR, Scaglion R (1994) Beads and pendants from Trants, Montserrat: implications for the prehistoric lapidary industry of the Caribbean. Annals of the Carnegie Museum 63(3):215–237
- Wright KI, Critchley P, Garrard A, Bains R, Baird D, Groom S (2008) Stone bead technologies and early craft specialization: insights from two Neolithic sites in eastern Jordan. Levant 40(2):131–165. https:// doi.org/10.1179/175638008X348016

Publisher's note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations. **Supplementary data 1:** Database with the information gathered for 100 ornaments studied through microwear analysis (Here formatted as Appendix 6).

Island	Site name	Longitude	Latitude	Observations
Antigua	Elliot's ^a	-61.443521	17.044235	Murphy et al. 2000
Antigua	Royall's ^a	-61.491279	17.91830	Murphy et al. 2000
Grenada	Pearls ^b	-61.365178	12.83945	Airport landing strip
Montserrat	Trants ^b	-62.95249	16.455616	Trant's Bay
Puerto Rico	Punta Candelero ^a	-65.472223	18.052655	Geographical feature
Puerto Rico	Tecla ^a	-66.471517	18.0914	Chanlatte Baik 1976
St. Croix	Prosperity ^b	-64.530069	17.434895	Estate
St. Martin	Hope Estate ^b	-63.22551	18.53852	Estate
Tobago	Golden Grove ^a	-60.482074	11.100824	Boomert and Rogers 2007
Vieques	La Hueca/Sorcé ^a	-65.292975	18.55876	Chanlatte Baik 1983

Supplementary data 2: DMS geographical coordinates of the archaeological sites mentioned in the text

a Approximate coordinates for the archaeological sites obtained from Google Earth Pro using published maps as reference

b Coordinates for the modern toponym obtained from Google Earth Pro

	Total	121	125	66	1	6	169	370	66	166	26	11	27	27	2	57	1273
Debitage/indet		10	~	4	1	1	1	1	3	3	1	1	1	ñ	,	1	35
	Carved 3D	ı					1		1	2	3	7	4	7			14
ndants	Figure-in-profile	1		1	1	1	1	1	5	3	4	1	ı	ı	,	,	10
Pe	Carved flat					2	3	1	25	23	5	5	7	ĸ	ı	ı	71
	Geometric	ı	1				6		9	29	9	2	14	4	ı	1	72
Button		7	7		1							ı	ı	ı			15
	Biconical	ı	3	ı	1	1	1	1		2	ı	ı	ı	ı			6
	Plano- convex	ı	1	ı	1	1	24	2	1	1	3	I	I	I	1	1	31
Beads	Barrel	50	31	36	ı	ı	15	97	24	7	1			2	2	5	270
	Tubular	20	19	16		1	e,	127	21		2	ı	ı	-		15	225
	Disc	34	56	10		3	115	142	17	96	1	3	1	12	ı	34	524
	Types	Amethyst	Quartz	Carnelian	Opal	Calcite	Turquoise	Diorite	Other plu- tonics	Jadeitite	Nephrite	Metamor- phosed ultramafics	Metamor- phics with tremolite	Low temperature alteration products	Basement schist	Indetermi- nate	Total

Supplementary data 3: Ornament types and raw materials identified in the Pearls collection

	Finished	Rough-out	Preform 1	Preform 2	Preform 3	Debitage	Raw material	Total
aethyst	55	10	32		14	8	2	121
lartz	85	2	24		9	4	4	125
rnelian	28		21		13	2	2	66
aal	1						ı	1
ılcite	5				1		ı	9
rquoise	154	1	7		7		ı	169
orite	298		4		28		ı	370
her plutonics	77		8	10	4		ı	66
deitite	123		31	9	3	1	2	166
sphrite	19	I	5	1	ı		1	26
etamorphosed ultra- afics	5	ı	3	2	ı	1	ı	11
etamorphics with molite	10	1	12	4	ı	I	ı	27
w temperature alter- on product	11	I	11	3	1	1	ı	27
sement schist			2				-	2
determinate	56		-			1	I	57
ıtal	927	14	200	26	77	18	11	1273

Supplementary data 4: Frequencies of identified technical stages according to raw material



Supplementary data 5: Amethyst ornaments: a) flaked core, b) tubular bead preform (WPb078), with details of pecking (b2) and incipient grinding 1 (b3), c) barrel-shaped bead (WPb003) with detail of incipient grinding 1 (c1), d) barrel-shaped bead (WPb002) with biconical perforation and detail of grinding 1 (d2), e) barrel-shaped bead (WPb004) with detail of lustre and regrinding (e2) and of incipient polishing 1 on top of grinding 2 (e3), f) button (WPb082) with detail of polishing 1 on top of pecking traces (f2), g) broken tubular bead (WPb025) with detail of perforation cone (g2), h) barrel-shaped bead (WPb001) with detail of fresh drilling traces and pecking (h2). Quartz ornaments: i) tubular bead (WPb020) with detail of pecking traces (i2), j) barrel-shaped bead preform (WPb022) with detail of grinding 2 (j2, j3), k) biconical bead (WPb021) with detail of pecking 1 (k3), l) barrel-shaped bead (WPb017) with biconical perforation and detail of polishing 2 (l2), m) pendant (WPb018) with detail of use-wear on the perforations (m2, m3).



Supplementary data 6: Carnelian ornaments: a) flaked pebble core, b) barrel-shaped bead preform (WPb012) with detail of pecking (b2) and of the perforation (b3, b4), c) disc bead preform (WPb014) with detail of grinding 2 (c2), d) barrel-shaped bead (WPb011) with detail of grinding 1 (d2, d3), e) broken tubular bead (WPb008) with detail of polishing 3 (e2), f) tubular bead (WPb009) with detail of perforation (f2, f3), g) barrel-shaped bead preform (no number) with detail of polishing 1 (g2). Turquoise ornaments: h) flat pendant preform (WPb058) with detail of grinding 1 (h2), i) faceted tubular bead (WPb054) with detail of grinding 2 (i2, i3), j) barrel-shaped bead (WPb055) with detail of polishing 3 (j2), k) disc bead (WPb056) with detail of use-wear on perforation (k2).



Supplementary data 7: Diorite ornaments: a) Multi-bead preform (WPb067), b) tubular bead preform (WPb059) with detail of grinding 1 (b2), c) barrel-shaped bead (WPb063) with detail of grinding 1 (c2), d) barrel-shaped bead (WPb069) with detail of polishing 1 (d2, d3), e) tubular bead with evidence of groove-and-snap (WPb066) with detail of polishing 3 (e2), f) disc bead (WPb070) with detail of polishing 3 (f2) and use-wear on perforation (f3), g) disc bead (WPb060) with detail of use-wear on perforation. Plutonic rock ornaments: h) multi-pendant preform (WPb032) with detail of cut grooves produced by string-sawing (h2, h3), i) multi-pendant preform (WPb033) with detail of cut groove produced by string-sawing (i2) and of semi-circular cut marks (i3), j) frog-shaped flat pendant (WPb042) with detail of grinding 1 (j2), polishing 3 (j3), and U-shaped carvings (j4), k) hourglass bead with double perforations (WPb076) and detail of use-wear on the length perforation (k2), l) tubular bead (WPb095) with detail of use-wear on the perforation (l2).



Supplementary data 8: Jadeitite ornaments: a) flaked core, b) pebble, c) multi-pendant preform (WPb096) with detail of sawn area (c2), d) flat pendant preform (WPb043) with detail of grinding 1 (d2), e) disc bead preform (WPb046) with detail of grinding 2 (e2), f) three-dimensional frog-shaped pendant (WPb037) with detail of polishing 3 (f2) and of V-shaped carvings (f3, f4), g) flat frog-shaped pendant (WPb029) with detail of polished incision (g2), of use-wear in between perforation cones (g3, g4), h) three-dimensional frog-shaped pendant (WPb007) with detail of composite side notch (h2) and of the biconical perforation and excision of the figure's head and forelimb (h3, h4), i) flat frog-shaped pendant (WPb097) with detail of U-shaped carvings (i2), of use-wear in between perforations (i3), and of deformed use-wear notch on a perforation (i4). Ornaments made of low temperature hydrothermal alteration products: j) flat frog-shaped pendant (WPb089) with detail of grinding 1 (j2) and of use-wear on the figure's neck (j3), k) disc bead (WPb088) with mismatched perforations and detail of polishing 3 (k2).



Supplementary data 9: Nephrite ornaments: a) figure-in-profile pendant (WPb098) with detail of semi-circular cut-marks (a2) and of polishing 3 (a3), b) three-dimensional frog-shaped pendant (WPb030) with detail of cut grooves likely produced by string-sawing (b2) and of polished notch (b3), c) flat carved pendant (WPb016) with detail of carvings (c2) and of U-shaped incisions (c3), d) plano-convex bead (WPb084) with detail of polishing 1 (d2, d3), e) three-dimensional frog-shaped pendant (WPb005) with detail of carvings (e2), of perforation and central U-shaped incision (e3), and of use-wear on the perforation (e4). Ornaments made of metamorphic rocks with tremolite (f, h) and of metamorphosed ultramafic rocks (g, i, j): f) flat carved pendant (WPb006) with detail

of cut marks from blank removal (f2), g) flat pendant preform (WPb090) with detail of grinding 2 (g2), h) three-dimensional frog-shaped pendant preform (WPb034) with detail of V-shaped carvings (h2), of different varieties of polishing 3 on each face (h3, h4), i) three-dimensional frog-shaped pendant preform (WPb038) with detail of polishing of the central groove (i2), j) flat frog-shaped pendant (WPb039) with detail of biconical perforations and use-wear in between perforations (j2).

Late Ceramic Age ornaments

Published as:

Falci, C.G., Ngan-Tillard, D., Hofman, C.L., Van Gijn, A.L.,2020. The biographies of bodily ornaments from indigenous settlements of the Dominican Republic (AD 800–1600).

Latin American Antiquity, 1-22 https://dx.doi.org/10.1017/laq.2019.101

The Biographies of Bodily Ornaments from Indigenous Settlements of the Dominican Republic (AD 800–1600)

Catarina Guzzo Falci D, Dominique Ngan-Tillard, Corinne L. Hofman, and Annelou Van Gijn

In this study, we generate novel insights regarding bodily ornaments from indigenous societies of late precolonial Greater Antilles. Previous research has highlighted the sociopolitical role of valuable, exotic, and figurative ornaments, yet there are many gaps in our current understanding of these artifacts. Here, we focus on ornaments from five recently excavated sites in the Dominican Republic (AD 800–1600). We used microwear analysis to investigate each ornament and assess its production sequence and use life. These data permitted the definition of morpho-technical groups, which we then compared to depositional contexts and the regional availability of raw materials. We demonstrate that (1) there was small-scale production of ornaments at the sites, (2) the most recurrent morpho-technical groups were likely imported from production centers, and (3) ornaments of the same group could lead different use lives and be deposited through varied processes. We conclude that bodily ornaments had highly diverse biographies involving local and regional interaction networks.

Keywords: stone beads, shell ornaments, microwear analysis, micro-CT, object biography, Caribbean archaeology

El presente estudio se centra en los adornos corporales indígenas de finales del período precolombino en las Antillas Mayores. El rol sociopolítico de los ornamentos figurativos realizados en materiales de valor o exóticos ha tenido un papel destacado en investigaciones anteriores. A pesar de la abundancia de estudios, poco se conoce acerca de estas piezas. En este trabajo presentamos el análisis de los adornos corporales de cinco yacimientos arqueológicos recientemente excavados en la República Dominicana (800–1600 dC). Para el análisis de cada artefacto se empleó la traceología, con el objetivo de comprender la secuencia de producción y utilización. Se definieron grupos morfo-tecnológicos los cuales fueron relacionados con los contextos de deposición y con la disponibilidad regional de materias primas. Los resultados muestran que (1) existió una producción local a pequeña escala de adornos en los sitios, (2) los grupos morfo-tecnológicos más frecuentes probablemente fueron importados desde los centros de producción y (3) los adornos pertenecientes a un mismo grupo pudieron ser utilizados de modos variados y ser depositados mediante diferentes procesos. Se concluye que los adornos corporales tenían biografías diversas que involucraban redes de interacción locales y regionales.

Palabras clave: cuentas líticas, adornos en concha, traceología, micro-tomografía, biografía de los objetos, arqueología del Caribe

The adornment of the body among Greater Antillean indigenous societies was notably diverse at the time of first contact with Europeans (from AD 1492). It encompassed body paint; feather garments; beaded necklaces and armlets; arm-, ankle- and headbands; embroidered belts and skirts; nose rings; earrings; and ear plugs (Alegría 1995; Fewkes 1903; García Castañeda 2012; Lóven 1935). Early historical accounts have provided privileged lenses through which these practices have been interpreted, with emphasis often placed on the Taíno *cacicazgos*, or chiefdoms, described by the Spaniards (Curet 1996, 2014; Keegan 2013; Keegan and Hofman 2017: 11–14; Rouse 1992; Siegel 2010; Wilson

Catarina Guzzo Falci (c.guzzo.falci@arch.leidenuniv.nl, corresponding author), Corinne L. Hofman, and Annelou Van Gijn ■ Faculty of Archaeology, Leiden University, Einsteinweg 2, Leiden, 2333 CC, The Netherlands Dominique Ngan-Tillard ■ Faculty of Civil Engineering and Geosciences, TU Delft, Stevinweg 1, Delft, 2628 CN / 2600 GA, The Netherlands

Latin American Antiquity, pp. 1–22

Copyright © 2020 by the Society for American Archaeology. This is an Open Access article, distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution licence (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted re-use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

doi:10.1017/laq.2019.101

2007). For instance, gift giving of stone beads and plates of gold-copper alloy (guanín) was allegedly crucial in the maintenance of sociopolitical order, alongside intermarriage between high-status individuals (Lóven 1935:478-479). Furthermore, the religious beliefs of Hispaniolan societies described by Fray Ramón Pané in 1498 have served as the basis for interpreting pendants thought to depict mythical characters (Alegría 1995; Arrom 1975; Fewkes 1903; McGinnis 1997; Maciques Sánchez 2018). The provenance, manufacture, and sociopolitical role of gold and guanín ornaments have been the focus of considerable research (Lóven 1935; Martiñón Torres et al. 2012; Oliver 2000; Vega 1979). An aesthetic of brilliance (Saunders 1999) has been used to explain the indigenous appreciation for certain materials, which would have differed markedly from European monetary systems of valuation (Berman 2011; Helms 1987; Keehnen 2012; Oliver 2000; Ostapkowicz 2018). Such interpretations have stressed the supernatural character of certain materials, such as guanín, mother-of-pearl, and feathers, as expressed in their exoticness, colors, and reflectance. The adornment of the body would display the political and shamanic powers of the cacique (Oliver 2000).

This reasoning has also been extended to less visually conspicuous ornaments, particularly stone beads and pendants from the Late Ceramic Age (AD 800-1492). Nevertheless, it seems paradoxical to include such ornaments in a narrative about the power of exotic and brilliant things, given that their raw materials are dull and widely available. Furthermore, concepts such as "Taíno" have been criticized as artificial labels that obscure the indigenous diversity of the region and simplify the complex relationships that communities maintained with each other (e.g., Curet 2014; Hofman et al. 2018; Keegan 2013; Keegan and Hofman 2017:239-249; Rodríguez Ramos 2010:200-203; Torres Etayo 2008; Ulloa Hung 2013; Wilson 1993, 2007). If ornaments were linked to high-status individuals, this exclusive access should be reflected archaeologically, and yet ornaments have seldom been recovered with the deceased. An exception is the site of El Chorro de Maíta (Cuba), where hundreds of ornaments were associated with a

burial (Valcárcel Rojas 2012:108-121; see also Oliver 2000:201-202). Caches with hundreds of ornaments have also been found inside ceramic and wooden bowls in Puerto Rico (Fewkes 2009 [1907]:109; Ostapkowicz 2018) and the Dominican Republic (Ortega 2005:240-244; Ortega and Fondeour 1976; Vega 1979). Our knowledge about the biographies of ornaments is otherwise very limited. It has been argued that certain artifacts, such as cemí idols and greenstone celts, acquired their social status as a result of their biographies, involving investment in manufacture, reputation, or antiquity (Breukel 2019; Oliver 2009:255). In this perspective, only thorough examinations of ornaments can allow us to assess how people interacted with them. Here we apply microwear analysis to ornaments from five recently excavated archaeological sites across the Dominican Republic (Table 1; Figure 1), where they were predominantly recovered from domestic contexts. This study allows us to pursue these ornaments' biographies among indigenous Caribbean communities during the late precolonial period.

Biographies of Ornaments

Previous studies of ornaments have emphasized their symbolic and communicative roles when added to the human body. This perspective has prioritized the meaning of visual aspects of finished ornaments and raw materials. Archaeologists have more recently moved away from the pursuit of meaning in material culture to focus instead on its active potencies in society (e.g., Hodder 2011; Jones 2004; Malafouris 2008). Here, we propose a biographical approach as a means to move past a view of ornaments as passive and unchanging repositories of meaning. In its original proposition, the concept of object biography was connected to the oscillation of objects between different spheres of consumption (Kopytoff 1986). The entrance into new social contexts could lead to changes in meaning and expectations surrounding an object (Gosden and Marshall 1999; Joy 2009).

The study of archaeological artifacts requires a more holistic and empirical approach to the biography concept (Van Gijn and Wentink 2013). The biography of an artifact can be
[Guzzo Falci et al.] BIOGRAPHIES OF BODILY ORNAMENTS FROM THE DOMINICAN REPUBLIC

				Occupation	Ostionaid	Executed	Ste Orn	udied aments
Site	Municipality	Province	Region	(Centuries AD)	Subseries	Area (m ²)	Ν	$\%^{\mathrm{a}}$
El Flaco	Loma de Guayacanes	Valverde	Northwest	Thirteenth– fifteenth Tenth	Mixed Chican and Meillacan Ostionan	1,256	162	51.92
El Carril	Laguna Salada	Valverde	Northwest	Eleventh- fourteenth	Meillacan with other styles mixed	354	18	5.77
La Luperona	Unijica	Puerto Plata	Northwest	Thirteenth	Meillacan	120	7	2.24
Playa Grande	Río San Juan	María Trinidad Sánchez	North	Ninth- seventeenth	Ostionan, Meillacan, Chican	500	31	9.93
El Cabo	El Cabo de San Rafael	La Altagracia	East	Ninth-sixteenth Sixth-eleventh	Chican Ostionan	1,164	94	30.13

Table 1. Archaeological Sites Referenced in Text, Excavation Details, and Ornament Collections.

^aPercentage based on the total number of studied ornaments (n = 312)



Figure 1. Map of Hispaniola with studied sites plotted. (Map by Eduardo Herrera Malatesta.)

assessed through the study of its multiple stages: conceptualization or design, raw material acquisition, manufacture, its addition to an assemblage, (re)use, recycling, fragmentation, and deposition (Van Gijn 2010). Understood in such a way, a biographical approach allows us to address the ways people physically interacted with materials. By tracking the ways in which ornaments were transformed, we can begin to explore their past social roles. A first step in this direction involves a focus on the *chaîne opératoire* of ornaments (Balfet 1991; Cresswell 1983; Leroi-Gourhan 1993 [1964]). This approach provides a window into the choices made in the past regarding material properties and qualities, production sequences, techniques, tool kits, and gestures (Lemonnier 1993; Sillar and Tite 2000). This type of research also offers insights into the technical stages at which materials reached an archaeological site and were discarded (Perlès 2007). This can ultimately inform us about networks of material acquisition and exchange.

A technological approach needs to be supplemented by use-wear investigations, which have proved to be an important avenue for understanding how ornaments were (re)used, fragmented, or cared for (Van Gijn 2010, 2017; Woodward 2002; Woodward and Hunter 2015). Depositional contexts, such as burials, have offered extensive evidence regarding the compositions in which individual beads were attached and their association with certain social categories (e.g., Bonnardin 2012; Cristiani and Borić 2012; Hommel and Sax 2014). It is through the combination of different empirical lines of evidence that we can reconstruct the biographies of Late Ceramic Age ornaments.

Archaeological Contexts

Northwestern Region

Recent archaeological surveys across northwestern Dominican Republic have identified a diverse and interconnected sociocultural landscape (Hofman et al. 2018; Ulloa Hung 2013; Ulloa Hung and Herrera Malatesta 2015). Ongoing archaeological research focuses on late precolonial and early colonial sites along the route Christopher Columbus followed in 1494 from La Isabela, the first Spanish town in the New World, to the Cibao Valley (Hofman et al. 2016, 2018; Hofman and Hoogland 2015). The majority of ornaments described in this article were recovered from three open-air sites along this route.

El Flaco is a midsize settlement situated on the southern slopes of the Cordillera Septentrional about 20 km from the present coast. The site presents an occupation pattern characteristic of the northwestern region, which involves intentional modifications to the landscape to create flat areas for the placement of houses and other roofed structures (Hofman and Hoogland 2015; Sonnemann et al. 2016; Ulloa Hung 2013; Veloz Maggiolo and Ortega 1980). These flat areas are typically devoid of archaeological material, given that most domestic refuse has been "swept" aside, forming mounds. These mounds present evidence for the burning of garbage, human and dog burials, and food preparation on hearth structures. The lithic collection comprises greenstone celts, hammer stones, and decorated pestles. The celts were mostly imported to the site, with limited local production (Breukel 2019). Flint and quartz remains are nearly absent.

El Carril is currently under investigation and has thus far presented a similar pattern of landscape management (Hofman 2017; Hofman et al. 2018; Sonnemann et al. 2016). The settlement is located 2 km from El Flaco; a larger settlement, it has 102 mounds recorded to date (Hofman 2017; Veloz Maggiolo et al. 1981). La Luperona is located on the northern slopes of the Cordillera Septentrional, 8 km distant from El Flaco and 12 km from the coast (Hofman et al. 2016). The site differs in its spatial organization in that no mounds were recorded.

Playa Grande

Excavations at the site of Playa Grande, located on the northern Dominican coast, have exposed house plans, refuse middens, hearth structures, and potential agricultural mounds (López Belando 2012; Veloz Maggiolo and Ortega 1980:42–45). Multiple occupation phases have been identified, including mixed indigenous and Spanish material culture on the upper layers (López Belando 2012). The inhabitants of the site were engaged in the production and regional exchange of greenstone celts, notably of jadeitite—a rare lithic material, the geological source of which is located 20-30 km to the southwest of Playa Grande (Breukel 2019; Knippenberg 2012; Schertl et al. 2018). Other recovered lithic tools include flint flakes, grooved grinding stones of sandstone, hammer stones, polishing stones, and pestles (Knippenberg 2012).

El Cabo

The eastern tip of the Dominican Republic was a densely occupied region in the late precolonial

period (Ortega 1978, 2005; Samson 2010; Samson and Hoogland 2007). The site of El Cabo is located on a coastal promontory overlooking the Mona Passage, which separates Hispaniola from western Puerto Rico (Hofman et al. 2008, 2014; Samson 2010; Samson and Hoogland 2007). The earliest occupation, situated on the north of the site, is characterized by ring-shaped midden deposits. The later occupation, situated to the south, continued until about AD 1504, as indicated by associated Spanish material (Keehnen 2012). Postholes dug into the limestone bedrock enabled the reconstruction of 30 house plans, the establishment of a typology of structures, and insight into the periodical rebuilding of house structures over centuries of occupation (Samson 2010, 2011). Recovered nonceramic artifacts include carved lithic and shell artifacts, greenstone celts, and flint and quartz flakes (Breukel 2019; Samson 2010). In addition, a cache with more than 4,000 canine teeth pendants was recovered from a nearby water spring (Ortega 2005:115-116).

Methods

In archaeological contexts without production debris, only limited information can be gathered from observing ornaments with the naked eye. This is because finished ornaments are highly modified and do not preserve clear evidence of their production stages. Microwear analysis offers the possibility of identifying traces formed on the surface of a bead during its lifetime. We examined all potential ornaments to which we had access, and those specimens positively identified as ornaments were analyzed for microwear (n=312). Analysis was carried out in the Dominican Republic or at Leiden University. Different microscope models were used according to the research setting: DinoLite digital microscopes (magnification: 20-60x), a Leica M80 stereomicroscope (7.5-64x), and a Leica DM6000M and a Nikon Optiphot metallographic microscope (50-500x). An experimental archaeology program was carried out to provide reference materials for the interpretation of tools and techniques used in ornament making (Breukel and Falci 2017; Falci et al. 2017;

Supplemental Table 1; Figure 2a–o). For the interpretation of use-wear, we referred to our previous study of ethnographic composite ornaments (Falci et al. 2018) and to published experiments (e.g., Mărgărit 2016; Vanhaeren et al. 2013). The results of this analysis provided the basis for grouping ornaments into morphotechnical groups (Table 2).

We also used a desktop X-ray µ-CT scanner to image the inner structures of 10 beads in 3D. Several researchers (Gu et al. 2014; Ngan-Tillard et al. 2018; Yang et al. 2018) have proven the added value of u-CT scans in the study of ornaments made of diverse materials, such as lithic, ceramic, shell, and glass artifacts. Scans reveal the morphology of bead perforations, which are difficult to examine using optical microscopy. The resolution of the scans (5-10 micrometers for a 10 mm diameter bead) is sufficient to observe features related to the manufacturing process and use. We selected for scanning beads of different raw materials or with double perforations. Here we include a qualitative assessment of the perforations reconstructed digitally. We offer a preliminary interpretation that contrasts the scanned archaeological specimens (Figure 3a-j) to silicone casts of the materials drilled during the experiments.

Results

Bodily ornaments were most commonly made of lithic raw materials, particularly calcite and plutonic rocks (Supplemental Table 2). Calcite is a carbonate mineral, characterized by low hardness (3 in Mohs scale) and relative ease of work using abrasive techniques. Beads and pendants made of this material have low translucency and a white color (Figure 4a-q). Plutonic rocks are medium to hard rocks that are generally tough, heterogeneous, and coarse grained (Figure 5a-r). They are composed of mafic and felsic minerals, displaying a mottled white and black or green color. Other lithic materials were made into varied ornament types also (Figure 6a-o). Hispaniola has a diverse geological makeup (Draper et al. 1994), with calcite and plutonic rocks fairly common across the island. Small to medium pebbles can be collected from riverbeds in the northwestern region, such

LATIN AMERICAN ANTIQUITY



Figure 2. Experiments with calcite (a–f), diorite (g–i), *Lobatus gigas* (j, k), *Spondylus americanus* (l), *Oliva reticularis* (m, n), and *Acropora cervicornis* (o). (Color online)

as from the Yaque del Norte and the Bahabonico Rivers. Because of their regional ubiquity, tracing their geological sources with geochemical techniques is challenging. Only at El Cabo can we argue that plutonic rocks originated from elsewhere, because carbonates and volcanics predominate on eastern Hispaniola (Draper et al. 1994).

Many ornaments were produced using marine resources, including varied mollusk shells (Figure 7a–u), corals (Figure 8a–b), and fish skeletal materials (Figure 8c–e). Seashells were

[Guzzo Falci et al.] BIOGRAPHIES OF BODILY ORNAMENTS FROM THE DOMINICAN REPUBLIC

Raw Material Groups	El Flaco	La Luperona	El Carril	El Cabo	Playa Grande	Total
 Calcite						
Group 1: double perforated tubular beads with hourglass shape	15	1	3	3	-	22
Group 2: disc heads	32	_	_	_	_	32
Group 3: small harrel-shaped heads	9	_	_	_	_	9
Group 4: Short and wide barrel-shaped beads	4	_	_	_	_	4
Other heads	5	1	_	3	1	10
Pendants	_	2	1	_	1	4
Plutonic rocks		-	1		1	•
Group 1: double perforated tubular beads with hourglass shape	1	-	1	2	_	4
Group 2: short tubular beads with decorative side	2	1	-	11	1	15
perforations						
Group 3: double perforated tubular beads	4	_	2	2	1	9
Group 4: disc beads with incisions on the sides	6	_	-	9	-	15
Other beads	3	_	-	1	7	11
Earplug	-	_	-	-	1	1
Pendants	1	_	-	-	1	2
Stalactite						
Beads	-	_	2	-	-	2
Earplug	-	_	-	1	-	1
Other lithics						
Beads	9	1	-	3	-	13
Inlay	-	_	-	1	-	1
Earplug	-	_	-	1	3	4
Pendants	-	_	1	-	1	2
Shell						
"Seed beads"	12	_	-	8	_	20
Disc beads	1	_	_	1	3	5
Scaphopod shell beads	10	_	-	_	_	10
Conus sp. apex beads	-	_	-	2	-	2
Frog-shaped beads	-	-	1	6	_	7
Tinklers	12	_	2	11	1	26
Other automorphic shell pendants	1	_	1	4	1	7
Flat nacre pendants	3	-	1	2	-	6
Flat pendants and inlays	7	-	-	18	1	26
Three-dimensional pendants and plugs	2	-	-	1	6	9
Bone						
Vertebrae beads	5	_	-	-	-	5
Tubular bead	1	_	-	-	_	1
Highly modified	-	1	1	-	-	2
Teeth						
Automorphic	4	_	-	-	1	5
Ground and perforated	3	_	-	1	_	4
Coral						
Beads	6	-	1	1	-	8
Disc	-	_	-	1	_	1
Ceramic						
Globular beads	3	-	-	-	-	3
Incised bead	1	-	-	-	-	1
Wood						
Disc	-	-	1	-	-	1
Earplug	-	-	-	-	1	1
Resin						
Earplug	-	_	-	1	-	1

Table 2. Number of Ornaments in Each Morpho-Technical Group Divided according to Archaeological Site.

LATIN AMERICAN ANTIQUITY



Figure 3. μ -CT scans of beads: calcite group 1 (a–c), calcite group 4 (d), diorite group 2 (e, f), other lithic raw material (g), shell group 1 (h), coral (i), and pottery (j). (Color online)

the second most abundant raw material. Depending on the species, they provide tough, but relatively soft media (4 in Mohs scale) with a great variety of shapes and colors. The sites in the northwestern region are located at significant distances from the coast. Although marine resources contributed to the local diet (Hofman 2017), the species used for ornament production were not commonly retrieved as production debris or tools. In contrast, both Playa Grande and El Cabo are located on the coast, accounting for the larger percentages there of recovered shell artifacts.

Production Technologies

The collections recovered from the sites mainly comprise finished ornaments, with few preforms (7%; Supplemental Table 3). Evidence for blank production and early reduction techniques is thus scarce. Most ornaments are well preserved, with only 31.7% displaying postdepositional surface modifications. Surface preservation of shell and certain lithic ornaments was notably poor at El Cabo (n = 46). In addition, 90 artifacts (28.8%) were fragmented, with minor (n = 30) and major breakages (n = 34). Most breakages likely

[Guzzo Falci et al.]

BIOGRAPHIES OF BODILY ORNAMENTS FROM THE DOMINICAN REPUBLIC

9



Figure 4. Calcite ornaments of groups 1 (a), 2 (b), 3 (c), 4 (d), and anthropomorphic pendant (e). Manufacture and use traces: sawing (f, g), grinding (h), polishing (i, j), side perforation and central notch (k), drilled cone in three stages (l), anthropomorphic carvings (m, n), use-wear (o, p), and residue (q). (Color online)

10

LATIN AMERICAN ANTIQUITY



Figure 5. Plutonic rock ornaments of groups 1 (a), 2 (b), 3 (c), 4 (d), other (e), and anthropomorphic twin pendant (f). Manufacture and use traces: sawing and fresh side perforation (g), sawing and incision (h), sawing and snapping (i), grinding (j), polishing (k), pecking (l), unfinished side perforations (m), carvings (n, o), and use-wear on perforations (p-r). (Color online)

happened before or during deposition (n = 83). The most frequently occurring morpho-technical groups are discussed in the following sections. Detailed data for each group are available in Supplemental Table 4. *Calcite.* Calcite is the most prevalent lithic material in the studied sample, being predominantly used for bead production (Figure 4). Cut-and-break was identified as a blank acquisition technique on 11 artifacts (13.6%), which



Figure 6. Bead preforms (a-f) and ear spools (g-l) made of diverse lithic materials with evidence for manufacture. (Color online)

displayed cut marks, a pronounced wedge shape resulting from a poor snapping of the blank, or both. The experiments carried out show that a calcite blank can be easily sawn with a flint flake. This technique offers the possibility of quickly obtaining bead blanks with good control. Pendants were likely produced from whole nodules or crystals, given that they are much larger than the beads.

Grinding is identifiable by coarse striations and by the presence of faceting. Using high magnification, we observed it on 27 specimens, being characterized by a flattened and dull surface, either with no clear polish or with polish restricted to the tops of the micro-topography, alongside bright bands of striations. Polishing was noted on most calcite ornaments (n = 52; 64.2%); it is characterized by a greasy and invasive polish, with some variability in roughness, number of pits, and striations. Polishing experiments were carried out using a dried high-silica leaf (*Cecropia* sp.) and a cane section from a palm (*Sabal* cf. *domingensis*). Some similarity between experiments and recovered artifacts is apparent in the invasiveness and general greasy appearance of the resulting polishes, in particular with the experiments produced with the cane. Despite this similarity, no direct correspondence

LATIN AMERICAN ANTIQUITY



Figure 7. Shell ornaments: "seed bead" (a), disc bead (b), scaphopod bead (c), frog-shaped bead (d), plaque (e), conical plug (f), tinklers (g, h), and anthropomorphic pendant (i). Manufacture and use traces: sawing (j, k), grinding (l), incising and notching (m, n), percussion to remove apex (o), sawn perforation (p), drilling (q), incomplete drilling (r), and use-wear on perforations (s–u). (Color online)

was possible, in part because of the variability of polish characteristics observed and the interaction between the surface treatment, use-wear, and postdepositional processes. We thus attributed the observed surface treatment to a soft contact material, but we did not consider it to be not sufficiently distinctive for more precise identification.

All calcite ornaments were perforated with massive drill bits. (Bi-)cylindrical perforation

12

[Guzzo Falci et al.]

BIOGRAPHIES OF BODILY ORNAMENTS FROM THE DOMINICAN REPUBLIC



Figure 8. Ornaments of diverse raw materials with manufacture and use traces: coral beads (a, h–m), ceramic bead (b), pendants made of dental elements (c, d), wooden plug (f), and resin plug (g). (Color online)

profiles with circular grooves and scratches were observed on group 1 beads. These traces suggest that the craftsperson used a long and cylindrical drill bit, probably of organic origin, with abrasives. Drilling experiments with wooden and bone drills to perforate shells (which have a similar composition and hardness to calcite) show comparable perforations with no clear surface polish or scratches but occasional broad circular rings (Figure 2k–1). The end tip of the drilled hole can present polish and fine scratches because of the accumulation of abrasive material on the leading edge.

The drilling method used for group 1 involved two stages: (1) drilling a tubular bead predominantly from one face, thus producing a wide rim of perforation, and (2) drilling the opposite face, producing a small, conical perforation. Additionally, a second perforation was added to the sides of the beads, perpendicular to the first one. Investigation with the µ-CT scan showed that side perforations are similar to the main ones and are therefore likely produced by the same tool kit (Figure 3a, c). In contrast, group 3 and the "other" group were drilled with brittle and hard lithic drill bits, as evidenced by biconiperforations with irregular concentric cal scratches (cf. Figure 2a). Group 2 disc beads displayed yet another drilling method, involving three stages: before biconical drilling with a hard lithic drill, they were perforated with a cylindrical drill bit, evidenced by a narrow and smooth cylindrical sector in between the two fresher cones. A comparable perforation is observed on a group 4 bead (Figure 3d). Group 1 beads were further modified by the addition of a groove on the side. This groove was made either with the thin edge of a brittle lithic flake, producing an incised line, or with a broader edge that produced a wider groove. Polishing took place after the

creation of the grooves and side perforations, thus producing an hourglass shape. Six artifacts display anthropomorphic carvings made with hard and brittle lithic tools, which combine incision, notching, drilling, and bas-relief.

Plutonic Rock. Plutonic rock ornaments display greater morpho-technical variability (Figure 5a-r). Cut-and-break was identified on 10 beads (17.5%). This technique is evident on poorly shaped bead preforms from Playa Grande, which were not extensively modified after sawing. Sawing diorite is a time-consuming task; to avoid mishaps, a deep groove needs to be sawn as a guide to snapping. Pecking was possibly used to remove sharp ridges, but diagnostic traces have been erased in all but two beads. Grinding traces were predominant on 24 ornaments (42.1%), which are characterized by a dull and coarse surface. Polishing with a soft contact material was identified on 23 beads (40.3%). Both treatments were observed in combination on nine ornaments. The main perforations were likely made with the same tool kit used for calcite group 1 beads (organic drill bits), given that bi-cylindrical profiles with circular grooves are common across all bead morphotechnical groups. In contrast, the side perforations, either complete holes or decorative pits (not pierced through), were produced with hard and brittle lithic tools. Decorative carvings are present on 23 ornaments (40.4%), with the use of hard and brittle lithic tools identified on 10 ornaments. Four artifacts display biomorphic carvings made by a combination of incision, excision, and notching.

Other Lithic Materials. Beads, pendants, and an inlay were made of diverse materials, including stalactite (n = 2), limestone (n = 1), and "greenstones" (n = 4). Some of these beads do not fit any previously defined group, testifying to the existence of ornament biographies that are poorly represented at the sites. Two examples are the only lithic bead preforms recovered from El Flaco and El Cabo: a large and faceted disc bead (Figure 6a) and a plano-convex bead (Figure 6b). Both beads display misaligned and unfinished perforation cones (Figure 6, c–d) and rough grinding (Figure 6, e–f), having been abandoned before completion. The two beads are different from all other studied beads.

Plugs. Both conical and biconical plugs are represented, with a great variety in raw materials. Biconical plugs were likely ear spools, whereas T-shaped conical specimens could have been ear or lip plugs. The conical plugs were produced by a combination of grinding, sawing, and scraping to create different shapes varying from a marked T-shaped artifact (Figure 7f) to a nearly perfect cone (Figure 8f-g). Incised patterns were added to the surfaces of conical plugs made of stalactite and shell. The stone ear spools (Figure 6g–1), all from Playa Grande, were shaped in multiple stages: (1) grinding a thick circular blank in shape, (2) drilling a biconical perforation on its center, (3) sawing a notch around the sides with a V-shaped lithic tool, (4) widening the notch with a broad-edged tool, (5) smoothing the drilled hole with an abrasive tool, and finally (6) polishing with soft contact materials. Their dull surfaces, with preserved manufacture traces, suggest that certain specimens were discarded during production, but the small number of specimens and their fragmented nature limit interpretation.

Shell. Shell ornaments encompass great variability (Figure 7). One morpho-technical group includes 20 "seed beads"—very small disc beads made of different shell species: *Lobatus* gigas, Chama sarda, and an unidentified bivalve. The recurring diameters (5–6 mm) and perfectly circular shapes of the beads suggest some standardization of production, probably by grinding their sides on a mineral platform while strung together (Lammers-Keijsers 2007:64). The beads were individually perforated with tiny flakes of hard and brittle lithics.

Nine tubular beads were made from sections of tusk shell (Scaphopoda). They are hollow and slightly curved, with a smooth surface. Most beads display stepped fractures at the ends; in addition, cut marks or incisions left from blank acquisition are commonly seen (Figure 7c, k). Complete shells were not identified, although beads of different heights were retrieved from El Flaco. Their recurring diameters suggest a sustained preference for the least curved sector of the shell for bead making.

Flat and three-dimensional pendants, plaques, and inlays were produced with mollusk shell, often *L. gigas*. Different parts of the shell were

	El	Flaco	El	Carril	La Lu	perona	Play	a Grande	El	Cabo	Т	'otal
Use-wear	N	%	N	%	Ν	%	N	%	N	%	Ν	%
Present	100	61.73	13	72.22	7	100	15	48.39	66	70.21	201	64.42
Absent	18	11.11	2	11.11	-	_	5	16.13	8	8.51	33	10.57
Half products ^a	8	4.94	2	11.11	_	_	8	25.80	4	4.25	22	7.05
Indeterminate	36	22.22	1	5.55	_	_	3	9.68	16	17.02	56	17.95
Total	162	100	18	100	7	100	31	100	94	100	312	100

Table 3. Use-Wear Presence per Archaeological Site.

^aUse-wear presence/absence is not applicable to half products, as they are not finished ornaments.

selected (e.g., lip or columella), depending on the desired volume and shape of the artifact. The blanks of both flat and three-dimensional artifacts were initially shaped through sawing. Next, they underwent grinding and biconical drilling with hard lithic drills. Flat ornaments received geometric patterns through incision and the creation of bas-relief, whereas threedimensional specimens underwent notching, incising, excising, and drilling. The combination of techniques allowed the carvers to create both anthropomorphic and zoomorphic figures.

Tinklers were carved on whole gastropod shells, particularly Oliva reticularis. Their production consisted of two operations: (1) removal of the apex of the shell through percussion (Figure 70), grinding, or both and (2) perforation of the body whorl. In most cases, the perforation displays a U-shaped profile produced by sawing with a broad-edged lithic tool or with an organic tool, such as a wooden one, with abrasives (Figure 7p). Six specimens do not display a side perforation, being possibly unfinished. Four tinklers display incised and drilled carvings made with hard and brittle lithic tools, creating facial attributes or geometric patterns. O. reticularis shells were also used for the sawing of blanks for frog-shaped beads. These blanks were ground, drilled biconically with a hard and brittle lithic bit, and carved into a flat schematic frog by notching, incising, and creating bas-relief areas.

Stony Coral. Eight coral beads—most of which were made of *Acropora cervicornis* (Figure 8a, h–m)—were recovered from three sites. Two specimens have unfinished perforations, being interpreted as preforms. Unperforated branches of *A. cervicornis* were also

recovered. One bead displays cut marks close to its edge, possibly linked to the splitting of the branches in small sections. The beads were drilled and sometimes also chiseled. The specimen scanned by the μ -CT does not display clear drilling traces. Our drilling experiment has shown that a calcium carbonate paste forms on the perforation on drilling, which may account for the absence of diagnostic traces.

Use-Wear

Worn artifacts are prevalent across nearly all raw materials (Supplemental Table 5). More than 70% of lithic ornaments are worn in contrast to about 15% of preforms and ornaments without use-wear. A different picture is observed for shell ornaments: more than 50% of the ornaments are worn, whereas 20% are unfinished or do not display use-wear. Because of the poor preservation of shell ornaments from El Cabo, use-wear could not be assessed on many specimens found there (25.4%). The difference in the presence of use-wear in shell and lithic ornaments can also be related to the greater number of shell preforms. We observed a predominance of worn ornaments across all sites and nearly all morpho-technical groups (Table 3; Supplemental Table 4). Playa Grande is the only site where the percentage of worn ornaments does not reach 50%. This is not surprising considering that it is the only site for which sustained evidence for ornament making is available.

Discussion

The particular trajectories of artifacts within each morpho-technical group help us understand ornament biographies at the sites and the different interaction spheres enabling their acquisition. Even though lithic raw materials tend to be locally available, the samples do not display evidence for local production of most morphotechnical groups. Production waste, blanks, and preforms are absent, and the lithic tools likely used for drilling and carving were not commonly recovered. Nevertheless, the presence of two lithic bead preforms at El Flaco and El Cabo shows that bead-making knowledge was present to some degree in these communities. In other words, most ornaments were brought into the sites already finished, despite the local availability of raw materials and the presumed existence of local bead-making knowledge. Nevertheless, Late Ceramic Age stone bead-making workshops, from where such finished beads could have come, are not known.

The final products and production sequences of certain lithic morpho-technical groups are quite similar, despite the use of raw materials such as calcite and plutonic rocks with different physical properties. A shared mental template and some degree of standardization were involved in the production of double-perforated beads, as suggested by the occurrence at all sites of specimens made with similar tools and on select raw materials. At the same time, instances of poor technical performance were commonly noted, including technical errors (Supplemental Table 4) and a lack of regularity in shape and size. Such variations in performance and resulting morphologies suggest, among others, a low level of standardization of production, a low level of craftsmanship, presence of apprentices, or a lack of care in production. Double-perforated beads occur across the Greater Antilles (e.g., Fewkes 2009 [1907]:109; García Castañeda 2012:71). Group 1 calcite beads are the most standardized and well distributed of all morpho-technical groups. Plutonic rock beads are more common at El Cabo than at El Flaco, where they are responsible for the larger variability in morpho-technical groups. By contrasting the most common bead groups in El Cabo and El Flaco, we can argue that there were different production centers, likely specializing in different raw materials and end products. Therefore, multiple production centers may have supplied beads to these communities. Bead

groups that were only recovered from one site may be the result of local networks of artifact distribution.

Double perforated beads are of particular interest because it was previously speculated that the main perforation served for the insertion of feathers, whereas the bead was attached to a string composition through the side perforation (Fewkes 2009 [1907]:109). This traditional assumption is challenged by the use-wear distributions, which show that double perforated beads were assembled in a variety of compositions. For instance, beads with string-wear located exclusively on the main perforation were fairly common. These beads must have been strung exclusively along their longest axis; that is, as common beads. Evidence for the placement of adjacent beads or knots was also noted, in the form of deformed concavities on calcite beads. In contrast, 12 beads display string-wear on both length and side perforations; three such specimens also display evidence of a string being wrapped around the center of the bead, connecting the cones of the side perforation (Figure 4p). Beads with strings passing along both axes may have served to connect multiple strands of an ornament. An anthropomorphic calcite bead displays black residue on one of its faces (Figure 4q) but no clear stringwear. The observed residue can be the result of an attachment string covered with residue or of an adhesive being used to fix something inside of the bead, such as a feather. Beads with stringwear exclusively on the side perforations, such as the two stalactite beads, would have hung asymmetrically, similarly to pendants.

Most lithic ornaments from Playa Grande do not fit the morpho-technical groups noted from the other sites. In particular, the plutonic rock beads from Playa Grande constitute a very diverse group in size, shape, and subtype. Four of these beads are preforms, whereas others display rather coarse surface treatments. Ear spools were also potentially made locally. Ornament production from lithic materials was taking place at the site, but it was not a specialized activity. Playa Grande did not provide other sites with lithic ornaments, in contrast to its known role as provider of greenstone celts to a wide region. Ornament production was likely connected to local use.

In addition to "imported" lithic ornaments, the inland sites in the northwest of the Dominican Republic also vielded ornaments made of marine resources. We interpret this as evidence of multiple networks of ornament and/or material acquisition. Shell "seed bead" production centers have been identified in the Turks and Caicos, dated from around AD 1100-1300 (Carlson 1995; Keegan et al. 2008:645; Littman and Keegan 1991; Sinelli 2001:94). The sites were interpreted to be outposts in these small islands, specializing in the acquisition of L. gigas and C. sarda shells for large-scale bead making. Although these small beads could be used in necklaces, they are generally thought to be part of embroidered fabrics involving thousands of beads (Ostapkowicz 2013, 2018; Ostapkowicz et al. 2017). In the present study, we noted standardization in the production of "seed beads," in stark contrast with lithic beads and other shell ornaments. Therefore the "seed beads" recovered from El Flaco and El Cabo may have been obtained from workshops.

The shell bead production centers do not present evidence for the manufacture of the other shell ornaments we studied. As such, an alternative pattern of acquisition can be suggested. Evidence has been found for the local production of ornaments from marine resources at El Flaco (tinklers and coral beads), El Cabo (frog-shaped beads and plaques), and Playa Grande (biomorphic pendants and disc beads). In all cases, the production was of relatively small scale. It was likely not sufficient for local consumption, given that composite ornaments would have required numerous elements. This is clearer for tinklers, large numbers of which are believed to have hung in rattling bands tied around the arms and ankles of dancers (García Castañeda 2012:58; Lovén 1935:481). During use, it is likely that individual tinklers often broke because of collision with neighboring components. Locally produced tinklers may have served as replacements for repairing and thus extending the life of a rattling ornamental band. This reasoning can perhaps be extended to other forms of local production, with the possible exception of three-dimensional pendants. Large figurative pendants were likely central pieces around which composite ornaments were

conceived. Diverse marine resources could be directly acquired by the inhabitants of the coastal sites of Playa Grande and El Cabo. The inhabitants of the northwestern sites were immersed in a regional network of villages located in different ecological niches (Hofman et al. 2018; Ulloa Hung 2013). Shells, corals, and fish skeletal materials were obtained directly or through exchange with people occupying mangrove or coastal sites and used as food resources, raw materials, and ornaments.

In sum, there was nonspecialized householdlevel production of ornaments in different raw materials at the three most extensively excavated sites. The difference between locally produced and imported ornaments did not correlate strictly to raw material variability (e.g., marine versus lithic resources). It was dependent on the specific trajectories of certain morpho-technical groups within each raw material. The depositional data also testify to the varied biographies of ornaments at these settlements.

Deposition of Ornaments

Most of the analyzed ornaments were not found in large groups or in closed contexts, which prevents us from assessing how composite body ornaments would have looked. At El Flaco, ornaments follow the pattern observed for other archaeological materials: they are found in the mound structures or adjacent to house structures. La Luperona and El Carril have thus far presented a similar picture. There is only one context from El Flaco where multiple beads were seemingly deposited as a group: 36 disc and barrelshaped calcite beads (groups 2 and 3) were recovered from the same square meter in a mound with burials and hearth structures but not in direct association with any one individual. Beads of these two morpho-technical groups have been found only at El Flaco and in very small numbers outside of this particular context. They were likely obtained as a group from a specific producing community. In this sense, the singularity of the two morpho-technical groups is also reflected in their singular deposition.

The majority of ornaments from El Cabo were retrieved from the southern excavation area, which was occupied from AD 800 to about 1504. Some ornaments were recovered from postholes integrating 10 house plans, notably in entrance posts. This pattern arguably represented the ritual deposition of ornaments at the end of the life cycle of a house, before its abandonment and the construction of a new structure (Samson 2010, 2011). Other ornaments were recovered from the areas of greatest artifact density, following the same distribution pattern of most ceramic sherds and shell remains. The contrast between areas of dense artifact distribution and nearly clean areas was proposed to be due to the sweeping of refuse from the habitation areas toward the edge of the cliff (Samson 2010). The majority of ornaments found in Playa Grande were retrieved from activity areas associated with hearth structures or food preparation or from refuse middens (80.6%). These areas date from AD 1000 to the early seventeenth century (López Belando 2012).

Most studied ornaments displayed use-wear and were deposited as the result of cleaning the house areas, rather than being deliberately added to hidden caches or burials. Beads can easily be lost, either by chance or by the restringing of composite ornaments. The fact that more than 70% of the sample is not fragmented suggests that these are not cases of intentional discard because of breakage. Integrating mounds and refuse areas, ornaments are the product of the regular maintenance of house areas as clean, functional, and desirable spaces. It may thus be suggested that ornaments reached the archaeological record as a result of their daily use at the sites, in the context of quotidian activities. Likewise, the importance of ornaments in daily life and the difficulty of their acquisition may be the reasons why they were not deposited with the dead, but perhaps were passed on to kin. Their homogeneous distribution throughout the sites can be regarded as an indication that the use of ornaments was widespread across all social categories. There may have been differential use according to social grouping, such as age and gender; nevertheless, these differences cannot be assessed through the data at hand. The small total amount of ornaments recovered from the sites highlights the concern with caring for and maintaining bodily ornaments, which limited their discard outside of prescribed deposition events such as closing rituals and hidden, perhaps votive, caches.

Conclusion

Archaeological debates concerning the adornment of the body in the Greater Antilles have focused on its role in reinforcing the political and religious power of high-status individuals. Little attention has been paid to demonstrating how people interacted with the commonly recovered ornament types. The present study applied for the first time an artifact biography approach to ornaments from Late Ceramic Age settlements. Our results show that bodily adornment cannot be taken for granted as a homogeneous category. First, a given ornament undergoes multiple changes during its lifetime-from raw material through production, circulation in networks of exchange, incorporation into composite ornaments, and eventual loss or discard. An ornament was dealt with in different ways in each life stage, and its status possibly evolved accordingly. Second, the morpho-technical groups had contrasting biographies, possibly as a result of their different expected social roles or of their participation in different social contexts. At the same time, the microwear study revealed how ornaments made of different materials or retrieved from different settlements shared certain biographical stages, such as material acquisition and production. Furthermore, our approach provided evidence for the circulation of ornaments and raw materials across different communities and regions. Future research focused on other sites is necessary to elucidate alternative ornament biographies and the interaction networks that encompassed them. Only then we will be able to more fully understand how ornaments were used in the establishment and negotiation of local and regional identities.

Acknowledgments. The authors acknowledge the Ministerio de la Cultura of the Dominican Republic and the Museo del Hombre Dominicano for granting permission to conduct this research. Furthermore, we would like to thank Jorge Ulloa Hung, Adolfo López Belando, the Torres family, Alice Knaf, Menno Hoogland, Darlene Weston, Eduardo Herrera Malatesta, Diederik Pomstra, Tom Breukel, and the students who assisted with the experiments. The present research was funded by the NWO Spinoza Prize awarded to Prof. Dr. Corinne L. Hofman in 2014. It is also part of the project NEXUS1492, which has received funding from the European Research Council under the European Union's Seventh Framework Programme (FP7/2007-2013)/ERC Grant agreement no. 319209.

Data Availability Statement. The Museo del Hombre Dominicano in Santo Domingo is the official repository of the collections studied in this research.

Supplemental Materials. For supplementary material accompanying this article, visit https://doi.org/10.1017/laq. 2019.101.

Supplemental Table 1. List of Experiments.

- Supplemental Table 2. Ornament Raw Materials according to Archaeological Site.
- Supplemental Table 3. Unfinished Ornaments Retrieved from the Studied Sites.

Supplemental Table 4. Technological and Use-Wear Data Collected for Each Morpho-Technical Group.

Supplemental Table 5. Use-Wear Presence according to Ornament Raw Material.

References Cited

Alegría, Ricardo E.

1995 La vestimenta y los adornos de los caciques Taínos y la parafernalia asociada a sus funciones mágico-religiosas. In *Proceedings of the 15th International Congress for Caribbean Archaeology*, edited by Ricardo E. Alegría and Miguel Rodríguez, pp. 295–310. Centro de Estudios Avanzados de Puerto Rico y el Caribe, San Juan.

Arrom, José J. (editor)

1975 Mitología e Artes Prehispánicas de las Antillas. Siglo XXI, Mexico City.

Balfet, Hélène (editor)

1991 Observer l'Action Technique: Des chaînes opératoires, pour quoi faire? Éditions du CNRS, Paris.

Berman, Mary Jane

2011 Good as Gold: The Aesthetic Brilliance of the Lucayans. In *Islands at the Crossroads: Migration, Seafaring, and Interaction in the Caribbean*, edited by Mark W. Hauser and L. Antonio Curet, pp. 104–134. University of Alabama Press, Tuscaloosa.

Bonnardin, Sandrine

2012 Parures de coquillages du Néolitique en Europe (VIe-Ve Millénaires av. J.-C.). *Techniques & Culture* 59:26-43.

Breukel, Thomas W.

2019 Tracing Interactions in the Indigenous Caribbean through a Biographical Approach: Microwear and Material Culture across the Historical Divide (AD 1200–1600). PhD dissertation, Faculty of Archaeology, Leiden University, Leiden, Netherlands.

Breukel, Thomas W., and Catarina Guzzo Falci

2017 Experimental Reproduction of Wear Traces on Shell, Coral, and Lithic Materials from the Pre-Colonial Caribbean. In Proceedings of the 26th Congress of the International Association for Caribbean Archaeology, edited by Christopher B. Velasquez and Jay B. Haviser, pp. 146–167. Sint Maarten Archaeological Center (SIMARC), Sint Maarten.

Carlson, Lisabeth A.

1995 Strings of Command: Manufacture and Utilization of Shell Beads among the Taino. In *Proceedings of the 15th International Congress for Caribbean Archaeology*, edited by Ricardo E. Alegría and Miguel Rodríguez, pp. 97–109. Centro de Estudios Avanzados de Puerto Rico y el Caribe, San Juan, Puerto Rico.

Cresswell, Robert

1983 Transferts de techniques et chaînes opératoires. *Techniques & Culture* 2:143–159.

Cristiani, Emanuela, and Dusan Borić

2012 8500-Year-Old Late Mesolithic Garment Embroidery from Vlasac (Serbia): Technological, Use-Wear and Residue Analyses. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 39:3450–3469.

Curet, L. Antonio

- 1996 Ideology, Chiefly Power, and Material Culture: An Example from the Greater Antilles. *Latin American Antiquity* 7:114–131.
- 2014 The Taíno: Phenomena, Concepts, and Terms. *Ethnohistory* 61:467–495.

Draper, Grenville, Paul Mann, and John F. Lewis

- 1994 Hispaniola. In Caribbean Geology: An Introduction, edited by Stephen K. Donovan and Trevor A. Jackson, pp. 129–150. U.W.I. Publishers Association, Kingston, Jamaica.
- Falci, Catarina Guzzo, Jacques Cuisin, André Delpuech, Annelou Van Gijn, and Corinne L. Hofman
 - 2018 New Insights into Use-Wear Development in Bodily Ornaments through the Study of Ethnographic Collections. *Journal of Archaeological Method and Theory* 26:755–805.
- Falci, Catarina Guzzo, Annelou Van Gijn, M. Magdalena Antczak, Andrzej T. Antczak, and Corinne L. Hofman
 - 2017 Challenges for Microwear Analysis of Figurative Shell Ornaments from Pre-Colonial Venezuela. *Journal* of Archaeological Science: Reports 11:115–130.

Fewkes, J. Walter

- 1903 Precolumbian West Indian Amulets. American Anthropologist 5:679–691.
- 2009 [1907] The Aborigines of Porto Rico and Neighboring Islands. University of Alabama Press, Tuscaloosa.
- García Castañeda, José A.
 - 2012 Ornamentos. Cuba Arqueológica 5(2):57-71.
- Gosden, Chris, and Yvonne Marshall
- 1999 The Cultural Biography of Objects. World Archaeology 31:169–178.
- Gu, Zhou, Jian Zhu, Yaoting Xie, Tiqiao Xiao, Yimin Yang, and Changsui Wang
 - 2014 Nondestructive Analysis of Faience Beads from the Western Zhou Dynasty, Excavated from Peng State Cemetery, Shanxi Province, China. *Journal of Analytical Atomic Spectrometry* 29:1438–1443.

Helms, Mary W.

- 1987 Art Styles and Interaction Spheres in Central America and the Caribbean: Polished Black Wood in the Greater Antilles. In *Chiefdoms in the Americas*, edited by Robert D. Drennan and Carlos A. Uribe, pp. 67–83. University Press of America, Lanham, Maryland.
- Hodder, Ian
 - 2011 Human-Thing Entanglement: Towards an Integrated Archaeological Perspective. *Journal of the Royal Anthropological Institute* 17:154–177.

Hofman, Corinne L. (editor)

2017 Informe de Trabajo de Campo de 2017. Informe del 2017 sobre prospecciones y excavaciones a nivel intra sitio en la República Dominicana, por la Facultad de Arqueología de la Universidad de Leiden, Países Bajos, y NEXUS1492. Manuscript on file, Museo del Hombre Dominicano, Santo Domingo, Dominican Republic.

Hofman, Corinne L., and Menno L. P. Hoogland

- 2015 Investigaciones arqueológicas en los sitios El Flaco (Loma de Gayacanes) y La Luperona (Unijica): Informe preliminar. Boletín del Museo del Hombre Domincano 46:61–74.
- Hofman, Corinne L., Menno L. P. Hoogland, Alice V. M. Samson, and José R. Oliver
 - 2008 Investigaciones arqueológicas en El Cabo, oriente de la República Dominicana: Resultados preliminares de las campañas 2005 y 2006. *Boletín del Museo del Hombre Dominicano* 42:307–316.
- Hofman, Corinne L., Jorge Ulloa Hung, and Menno L. P. Hoogland
 - 2016 El paisaje social indígena al momento del encuentro colonial: Nuevas investigaciones en el norte de la República Dominicana. *Boletín del Museo del Hombre Dominicano* 47:299–310.
- Hofman, Corinne L., Jorge Ulloa Hung, Eduardo Herrera Malatesta, Joseph Sony Jean, Till Sonnemann, and Menno L. P. Hoogland
 - 2018 Indigenous Caribbean Perspectives: Archaeologies and Legacies of the First Colonised Region in the New World. Antiquity 92:200–216.
- Hofman, Corinne L., Angus A. A. Mol, Menno L. P. Hoogland, and Roberto Valcárcel Rojas
 - 2014 Stage of Encounters: Migration, Mobility and Interaction in the Pre-Colonial and Early Colonial Caribbean. *World Archaeology* 46:590–609.

Hommel, Peter, and Margaret Sax

- 2014 Shifting Materials: Variability, Homogeneity and Change in the Beaded Ornaments of the Western Zhou. *Antiquity* 88:1213–1228.
- Jones, Andrew
- 2004 Archaeometry and Materiality: Materials-Based Analysis in Theory and Practice. *Archaeometry* 46:327–338.

2009 Reinvigorating Object Biography: Reproducing the Drama of Object Lives. *World Archaeology* 41:540–556. Keegan, William F.

- 2013 The "Classic" Taíno. In *The Oxford Handbook of Caribbean Archaeology*, edited by William F. Keegan, Corinne L. Hofman, and Reniel Rodríguez Ramos, pp. 70–83. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- Keegan, William F., Scott M. Fitzpatrick, Kathleen Sullivan Sealey, Michelle J. LeFebvre, and Peter T. Sinelli
 - 2008 The Role of Small Islands in Marine Subsistence Strategies: Case Studies from the Caribbean. *Human Ecology* 36:635–654.

2017 The Caribbean before Columbus. Oxford University Press, Oxford.

- 2012 Trinkets (f)or Treasure? The Role of European Material Culture in Intercultural Contacts in Hispaniola during Early Colonial Times. Master's thesis, Faculty of Archaeology, Leiden University, Leiden, Netherlands.
- Knippenberg, Sebastiaan
- 2012 Jadeitite Axe Manufacture in Hispaniola: A Preliminary Report on the Lithics from the Playa Grande Site, Northern Dominican Republic. Manuscript on file, Museo del Hombre Dominicano, Santo Domingo, Dominican Republic.

1986 The Cultural Biography of Things: Commoditization as Process. In *The Social Life of Things:* *Commodities in Cultural Perspective*, edited by Arjun Appadurai, pp. 64–91. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

Lammers-Keijsers, Yvonne M. J.

2007 Tracing Traces from Present to Past: A Functional Analysis of Pre-Columbian Shell and Stone Artefacts from Anse à la Gourde and Morel, Guadeloupe, FWI. Leiden University Press, Leiden, Netherlands.

Lemonnier, Pierre (editor)

1993 Technological Choices: Transformation in Material Cultures since the Neolithic. Routledge, London.

- Leroi-Gourhan, André
 - 1993 [1964] Gesture and Speech. MIT Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts.

Littman, Sherri L., and William F. Keegan

- 1991 A Shell Bead Manufacturing Center on Grand Turk, TCI. In *Proceedings of the 14th International Congress for Caribbean Archaeology*, edited by Alissandra Cummins and Philippa King, pp. 147–156. Barbados Museum and Historical Society, Bridgetown.
- López Belando, Adolfo J. 2012 El sitio arqueológico de Playa Grande, Río San Juan, María Trinidad Sánchez: Informe de las excavaciones arqueológicas campaña 2011–2012. Manuscript on file, Museo del Hombre Dominicano, Santo Domini
 - go, Dominican Republic.

1935 Origins of the Tainan Culture, West Indies. Elanders Boktryekeri Aktiebolag, Gothenburg, Sweden.

Maciques Sánchez, Esteban

2018 Idolillos colgantes de piedra en la cultura taína (Cuba). Edición Estudios Culturales 2003, Miami, Florida.

Malafouris, Lambros

- 2008 Beads for a Plastic Mind: The "Blind Man's Stick" (BMS) Hypothesis and the Active Nature of Material Culture. *Cambridge Archaeological Journal* 18:401–414. Mărgărit, Monica
 - 2016 Testing the Endurance of Prehistoric Adornments: Raw Materials from the Aquatic Environment. *Journal* of Archaeological Science 70:66–81.
- Martiñón-Torres, Marcos, Roberto Valcárcel Rojas, Juanita Sáenz Samper, and María Filomena Guerra
 - 2012 Metallic Encounters in Cuba: The Technology, Exchange and Meaning of Metals before and after Columbus. *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology* 31:439–454.

- 1997 Ideographic Expression in the Precolumbian Caribbean. PhD dissertation, Department of Anthropology, University of Texas, Austin.
- Ngan-Tillard, Dominique J. M., Dirk J. Huisman, Francesca Corbella, and Annelot Van Nass
 - 2018 Over the Rainbow? Micro-CT Scanning to Non-Destructively Study Roman and Early Medieval Glass Bead Manufacture. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 98:7–21.
- Oliver, José R.
 - 2000 Gold Symbolism among Caribbean Chiefdoms: Of Feathers, *Çibas* and *Guanín* Power among *Taíno* Elites. In *Precolumbian Gold: Technology, Style and Iconography*, edited by Colin McEwan, pp. 196–219. British Museum Press, London.
 - 2009 Caciques and Cemí Idols: The Web Spun by Taíno Rulers between Hispaniola and Puerto Rico. University of Alabama Press, Tuscaloosa.

Joy, Jody

Keegan, William F., and Corinne L. Hofman

Keehnen, Floris W. M.

Kopytoff, Igor

Lóven, Sven

McGinnis, Shirley A. M.

[Guzzo Falci et al.] BIOGRAPHIES OF BODILY ORNAMENTS FROM THE DOMINICAN REPUBLIC

Ortega, Elpídio J.

- 1978 Informe sobre investigaciones arqueológicas realizadas en la región este del país, zona costera desde Macao a Punta Espada. Boletín del Museo del Hombre Dominicano 11:77–205.
- 2005 Compendio General Arqueológico de Santo Domingo, Vol. 1. Academia de Ciencias de la República Dominicana, Santo Domingo.
- Ortega, Elpídio J., and Carmen G. Fondeour
- 1976 Primer informe sobre piezas metalicas indígenas en Barrera. *Cuadernos del Cendia* 254:1–10.
- Ostapkowicz, Joanna
 - 2013 "Made . . . with Admirable Artistry": The Context, Manufacture and History of a Taíno Belt. *Antiquaries Journal* 93:287–317.
 - 2018 To Produce "A Pleasing Effect": Taíno Shell and Stone *Cibas* and Spanish *Cuentas* in the Early Colonial Caribbean. *Beads* 30:3–15.
- Ostapkowicz, Joanna, Fiona Brock, Alex C. Wiedenhoeft, Rick Schulting, and Donatella Saviola
 - 2017 Integrating the Old World into the New: An "Idol from the West Indies." *Antiquity* 91:1314–1329.

Perlès, Catherine

- 2007 Échanges et Technologie: L'exemple du Néolithique. In Un Siècle de Construction du Discours Scientifique en Préhistoire, Vol. III, edited by Jacques Évin, pp. 53–62. Société Préhistorique Française, Paris.
- Rodríguez Ramos, Reniel
- 2010 Rethinking Puerto Rican Precolonial History. University of Alabama Press, Tuscaloosa.

Rouse, Irving B.

1992 The Tainos: Rise and Decline of the People Who Greeted Columbus. Yale University Press, New Haven, Connecticut.

Samson, Alice V. M.

- 2010 Renewing the House: Trajectories of Social Life in the Yucayeque (Community) of El Cabo, Higüey, Dominican Republic, AD 800 to 1504. Sidestone Press, Leiden, Netherlands.
- 2011 The Most Beautiful House in the World: The Archaeology of Aesthetics in Eastern Hispaniola. In Communities in Contact: Essays in Archaeology, Ethnohistory and Ethnography of the Amerindian Circum-Caribbean, edited by Corinne L. Hofman and Anne van Duijvenbode, pp. 421–438. Sidestone Press, Leiden, Netherlands.

Samson, Alice V. M., and Menno L. P. Hoogland

- 2007 Residencia Taína: Huellas de asentamiento en El Cabo, República Dominicana. El Caribe Arqueológico 10:93–103.
- Saunders, Nicholas J.
 - 1999 Biographies of Brilliance: Pearls, Transformations of Matter and Being, c. AD 1492. World Archaeology 31:243–257.
- Schertl, Hans-Peter, Walter V. Maresch, Sebastiaan Knippenberg, Andreas Hertwig, Adolfo López Belando, Reniel Rodríguez Ramos, Laura Speich, and Corinne L. Hofman
 - 2018 Petrography, Mineralogy and Geochemistry of Jadeite-Rich Artefacts from the Playa Grande Excavation Site, Northern Hispaniola: Evaluation of Local Provenance from the Río San Juan Complex. Geological Society Special Publications No 474. Geological Society, London.

Siegel, Peter E.

2010 Continuity and Change in the Evolution of Religion

and Political Organization on Pre-Columbian Puerto Rico. *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology* 29:302–326.

- Sillar, Bill, and, Michael S. Tite
 - 2000 The Challenge of Technological Choices for Materials Science Approaches in Archaeology. Archaeometry 42:2–20.
- Sinelli, Peter T.
- 2001 Archaeological Investigations of Two Prehistoric Sites Representing a Hispaniolan Colonization of Middle Caicos, Turks and Caicos Islands. Master's thesis, Department of Anthropology, University of Florida, Gainesville.
- Sonnemann, Till F., Jorge Ulloa Hung, and Corinne L. Hofman
- 2016 Mapping Indigenous Settlement Topography in the Caribbean Using Drones. *Remote Sensing* 8(10):791.

Torres Etayo, Daniel

- 2008 En busca del Taíno, historia de una pelea cubana contra el normativismo. *Cuba Arqueológica* 1:6–17.
- Ulloa Hung, Jorge
 - 2013 Arqueología en la Linea Noroeste de La Española. Paisaje, cerámicas e interacciones. PhD dissertation, Faculty of Archaeology, Leiden University, Leiden, Netherlands.
- Ulloa Hung, Jorge, and Eduardo Herrera Malatesta
 - 2015 Investigaciones arqueológicas en el norte de La Española, entre viejos esquemas y nuevos datos. *Boletín del Museo del Hombre Dominicano* 46:75–107.

Valcárcel Rojas, Roberto

- 2012 Interacción colonial en un pueblo de indios encomendados: El Chorro de Maíta, Cuba. PhD dissertation, Faculty of Archaeology, Leiden University, Leiden, Netherlands.
- Van Gijn, Annelou
 - 2010 Flint in Focus: Lithic Biographies in the Neolithic and Bronze Age. Sidestone Press, Leiden, Netherlands.
 - 2017 Bead Biographies from Neolithic Burial Contexts: Contributions from the Microscope. In Not Just for Show: The Archaeology of Beads, Beadwork, and Personal Ornaments, edited by Daniella Bar-Yosef Mayer, Clive Bonsall, and Alice M. Choyke, pp. 103– 114. Oxbow Books, Oxford.
- Van Gijn, Annelou, and Karsten Wentink
- 2013 The Role of Flint in Mediating Identities: The Microscopic Evidence. In *Mobility, Meaning and Transformations of Things: Shifting Contexts of Material Culture through Time and Space*, edited by Hans Peter Hahn and Hadas Weiss, pp. 120–132. Oxbow Books, Oxford.
- Vanhaeren, Marian, Francesco d'Errico, Karen L. van Niekerk, Christopher S. Henshilwood, and Rudolph M. Erasmus
 - 2013 Thinking Strings: Additional Evidence for Personal Ornament Use in the Middle Stone Age at Blombos Cave, South Africa. *Journal of Human Evolution* 64:500–517.
- Vega, Bernardo
- 1979 Los metales y los aborígenes de la Hispaniola. Ediciones Museo del Hombre Dominicano, Santo Domingo, Dominican Republic.
- Veloz Maggiolo, Marcio, and Elpídio J. Ortega
 - 1980 Nuevos hallazgos arqueológicos en la costa norte de Santo Domingo. Boletín del Museo del Hombre Dominicano 13:11–48.

LATIN AMERICAN ANTIQUITY

Veloz Maggiolo, Marcio, Elpídio J. Ortega, and A. Caba 1981 Los modos de vida Meillacoides y sus posibles orígenes. Editora Taller, Santo Domingo, Dominican Republic.

Wilson, Samuel M.

- 1993 The Cultural Mosaic of the Indigenous Caribbean. Proceedings of the British Academy 81:37–66.
- 2007 The Archaeology of the Caribbean. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

Woodward, Ann

2002 Beads and Beakers: Heirlooms and Relics in the British Early Bronze Age. *Antiquity* 76:1040–1047.

Woodward, Ann, and John Hunter

- 2015 Ritual in Early Bronze Age Grave Goods. Oxbow Books, Oxford.
- Yang, Yimin, Chunxue Wang, Xing Gao, Zhou Gu, Ning Wang, Tiqiao Xiao, and Changsui Wang
 - 2018 Micro-CT Investigation of Ostrich Eggshell Beads Collected from Locality 12, the Shuidonggou Site, China. Archaeological and Anthropological Sciences 10:305–313.

Submitted February 12, 2019; Revised August 24, 2019; Accepted December 5, 2019

Experiment n°	Technique	Tool	Material worked	Additives	Time (min)
2475	Grinding	Coral grinding slab (Acropora palmata)	Calcite	N/A	45
2477	Sawing	Flint blade	Calcite	N/A	2
2479-1	Grinding	Coral grinding slab (Acropora palmata)	Calcite	Water	4
2479-2	Incising	Flint, shell, wood	Calcite	N/A	N/A
2488-2	Drilling	Bow drill, flint tip	Calcite	N/A	27
2488-3	Drilling	Palm drill, flint tip	Calcite	N/A	30
2484-1	Grinding	Coral grinding slab (Acropora palmata)	Lobatus gigas (lip)	Water	-
2484-2	Drilling	Palm drill, flint tip	Lobatus gigas (lip)	N/A	-
2486	Drilling	Bow drill, flint tip	Lobatus gigas (lip)	N/A	-
2487-2	Drilling	Mechanical drill, wooden tip	Lobatus gigas (lip)	Sand, Water	103
2490-1	Sawing	Flint blade	Lobatus gigas (lip)	N/A	-
2500	Grinding	Coral grinding slab (Acropora palmata)	Lobatus gigas (lip)	N/A	24
2498-1	Grinding	Coral grinding slab (Acropora palmata)	Oliva reticularis (apex)	N/A	60
2498-2	Sawing	Flint blade	Oliva reticularis (body whorl)	N/A	60
3036	Grinding	Sandstone	Diorite	Sand, Water	60
3037	Grinding	Coral grinding slab (Acropora palmata)	Diorite	Sand, Water	60
3039	Grinding	Sandstone	Acropora cervicornis	Water	35
3054	Sawing	Flint blade	Acropora cervicornis	N/A	11
3055-1	Sawing	Flint blade	Lobatus gigas (lip)	Sand, Water	135
3061-2	Drilling	Mechanical drill, bone tip	Spondylus americanus	Sand, Water	110
3062-1	Grinding	Sandstone slab	Spondylus americanus	Water	80
3063-1	Sawing	Flint blade	Diorite	N/A	26
3068	Drilling	Mechanical drill, bone tip	Acropora cervicornis	Sand, Water	90
3411-A	Grinding	Basalt slab	Calcite	N/A	60
3411-В	Grinding	Basalt slab	Calcite	Water	60
3414-A	Grinding	Limestone slab	Calcite	N/A	60
3414-В	Grinding	Limestone slab	Calcite	Water	60
3415	Sawing	Flint blade	Calcite	N/A	65
3417-A	Grinding	Coral grinding slab (Acropora palmata)	Calcite	N/A	60
3417-В	Grinding	Coral grinding slab (Acropora palmata)	Calcite	Water	60
3418-A	Grinding	Limestone slab	Diorite	N/A	90
3418-B	Grinding	Coral grinding slab (Acropora palmata)	Diorite	Water	60

Supplemental material 1: List of experiments

	1				
3419-A	Grinding	Basalt slab	Diorite	N/A	90
3419-В	Grinding	Basalt slab	Diorite	Water	90
3421-A	Grinding	Coral grinding slab (Acropora palmata)	Diorite	N/A	60
3421-В	Grinding	Quartzite slab	Diorite	N/A	90
3426-A	Grinding	Limestone slab	Diorite	Water	60
3426-В	Grinding	Quartzite slab	Diorite	Sand, Water	90
3428-A	Grinding	Basalt	Calcite	Sand, Water	60
3429-A	Grinding	Quartzite	Diorite	Water	90
3429-В	Grinding	Sandstone	Diorite	N/A	90
3429-С	Grinding	Basalt	Diorite	Sand, Water	90
3430-A	Grinding	Limestone	Diorite	Sand, Water	90
3432-A	Grinding	Limestone	Calcite	Sand, Water	90
3432-В	Grinding	Sandstone	Calcite	N/A	90
3435-all	Grinding	Sandstone	Calcite	Water	60
3436-A	Grinding	Sandstone	Diorite	Water	90
3436-В	Grinding	Sandstone	Diorite	Sand, Water	90
3438-A	Grinding	Sandstone	Calcite	Sand, Water	90
3438-В	Grinding	Quartzite	Calcite	N/A	90
3441-A	Grinding	Quartzite	Calcite	Water	90
3444	Grinding/ Sawing	Sandstone	Calcite	Water	120
3445-all	Grinding	Sandstone	Calcite	Water	60
3445-A	Polishing	Cane section (Sabal cf. domin- gensis)	Calcite	N/A	30
3445-В	Polishing	Cane section (Sabal cf. domin- gensis)	Calcite	Water	30
3446-all	Grinding	Sandstone	Diorite	Water	345
3446-A	Polishing	Cane section (Sabal cf. domin- gensis)	Diorite	N/A	30
3446-В	Polishing	Cane section (Sabal cf. domin- gensis)	Diorite	Water	30
3447-A, B	Grinding	Sandstone	Diorite	Sand, Water	A: 45; B:30
3447	Sawing	Quartzite flake	Diorite	N/A	270
3451	Grinding	Sandstone	Diorite	Water	210
3452	Grinding	Sandstone	Diorite	Sand, Water	490
3453	Grinding	Sandstone	Diorite	Sand, Water	30
3453	Drilling	Flint	Diorite	Sand, Water	172
3520-A	Grinding	Sandstone	Calcite	N/A	15
3520-A	Polishing	High-silica leaf (<i>Cecropia</i> sp.)	Calcite	N/A	25

Raw mater	ials	El Flaco	El Carril	La Luperona	Playa Grande	El Cabo	Total
Lithic	Calcite	65	4	4	2	6	81
	Stalactite	-	2	-	-	1	3
	Plutonic rocks	17	3	1	11	25	57
	Others/Indetermi- nate	9	1	1	4	5	20
	Total	91	10	6	17	37	161
Ceramic	N/A	4	-	-	-	-	4
	Total	4	-	-	-	-	4
Shell	Lobatus gigas	15	-	-	10	19	44
	Oliva reticularis	11	3	-	1	15	30
	Conus sp.	1	-	-	-	5	6
	Gastropod other/ indeterminate	1	-	-	-	2	3
	Chama sarda	1	-	-	-	4	5
	Oyster (Isognomon sp.)	2	1	-	1	1	5
	Nacre indeterminate	3	1	-	-	2	6
	Scaphopoda	10	-	-	-	-	10
	Indeterminate	4	-	-	-	5	9
	Total	48	5	-	12	53	118
Coral	Acropora cervi- cornis	5	1	-	-	-	6
	Indeterminate	1	-	-	-	2	3
	Total	6	1	-	-	2	9
Dental	Human incisor	1	-	-	-	-	1
elements	Human premolar	1	-	-	-	-	1
	Stingray dental plate	2	-	-	-	1	3
	Shark tooth	1	-	-	1	-	2
	Parrot fish jaw	1	-	-	-	-	1
	Indeterminate	1	-	-	-	-	1
	Total	7	-	-	1	1	9
Bone	Vertebrae cartilagi- nous fish	5	-	-	-	-	5
	Bird long bone	1	-	-	-	-	1
	Indeterminate	-	1	1	-	-	2
	Total	6	1	1	-	-	8
Wood	Indeterminate	-	1	-	1	-	2
	Total	-	1	-	1	-	2
Resin	Indeterminate	-	-	-	-	1	1
	Total	-	-	-	-	1	1
Total		162	18	7	31	94	312

Supplemental material 2: Ornament raw materials according to archaeological site

Raw	materials	El Flaco	El Carril	La Luperona	Playa Grande	El Cabo	Total
Lithic	Diorite	-	-	-	4	-	4
	Limestone	-	1	-	-	-	1
	Indeterminate	1	-	-	-	1	2
Total / %	a	1 / 1.09%	1 / 10%	-	4 / 23.5%	1 / 2.7%	7
Shell	Lobatus gigas	1	-	-	3	-	4
	Oliva reticu-	3	-	-	-	3	6
	laris						
	Cassis sp.	1	-	-	-	-	1
	Isognomon	-	1	-	1	-	2
	sp.						
Total / % ^t	,	5/10.4%	1 / 20%	-	4 / 33.3%	3 / 5.66%	13
Coral	A. cervicornis	2	-	-	-	-	2
Total / %	2	2/33.3%	-	-	-	-	2
Total / %	1	8 / 4.93%	2 / 11.2%	-	8 / 25.8%	4 / 4.25%	22 / 7.05%

Supplemental data 3: Unfinished ornaments retrieved from the studied sites

Notes: All specimens are preforms with the exception of the Isognomon sp. valve

^aPercentage based on the total of lithic ornaments at each site

^bPercentage based on the total of shell ornaments at each site

°Percentage based on the total of coral ornaments at each site

^dPercentage based on the total of ornaments at each site

	0.
	Ħ
	≓
	ŭ
	aa
-	-
	ğ
	<u> </u>
•	Ξ.
	Ξ.
	0
	ŏ
	÷
	4
	Ξ.
-	1
	H
	5
	ž.
-	5
	ĭ
	ŏ
	~
	Ξ
د	Ξ
	-
	Ö
	Ø
1	5
	ŏ
-	1
-	
	Ξ.
	<u> </u>
	g.
	Ħ
-	8
	<u> </u>
	Ξ.
	8
	Υ.
	5
	Υ.
	())
	~
	St
	ns(
-	d use
-	nd use
-	and use
-	I and use
-	al and use
-	cal and use
- -	gical and use
- -	gical and use
-	logical and use
-	ological and use
-	nological and use
-	nnological and use
-	chnological and use
- - -	echnological and use
- - - -	lechnological and use
- - - E	: lechnological and use
- - - -	1: Iechnological and use
- - - -	4: lechnological and use
- - - -	a 4: Technological and use
	ta 4: lechnological and use
- - - -	ata 4: lechnological and use
	data 4: lechnological and use
	I data 4: lechnological and use
	al data 4: lechnological and use
	tal data 4: lechnological and use
	ntal data 4: lechnological and use
- - - -	ental data 4: lechnological and use
	nental data 4: Technological and use
	emental data 4: lechnological and use
	lemental data 4: lechnological and use
	plemental data 4: lechnological and use
	pplemental data 4: lechnological and use
	ipplemental data 4: lechnological and use
	supplemental data 4: lechnological and use

Groups			Technical operations			Technical performance	Use-wear
	Blank acquisition	Surface treatment	Perforation technique	Side perforations	Decoration		
Calcite							
Group 1 (n=22)	Cut-and-break (n=2)	Grinding (n=10) Polishing (n=12)	Cylindrical with small oppo- site cone, concentric grooves (n=20)	Biconical with concen- tric scratches (n=16)	Incision (n=12) Excision (n=3) Notching (n=5)	Medium or poorly carved (n=13)	Worn (n=19) Unused (n=1) Indeterminate (n=2)
Group 2 (n=32)	No evidence	Grinding (n=9) Dull polishing (n=23)	Biconical with concentric scratches and a smooth center $(n=27)$	N/A	N/A	Perforation not well centered (n=1) Slightly faceted sides	Worn (n=26) Unused (n=1) Indeterminate (n=5)
Group 3 (n=9)	Cut-and-break (n=2)	Polishing (n=9)	Biconical with concentric scratches (n=8)	N/A	N/A	Snapping evidence not completely erased (n=2) Faceted (n=2)	Worn (n=8) Indeterminate (n=1)
Group 4 (n=4)	Cut-and-break (n=3)	Grinding (n=1) Polishing (n=3)	Bi-cylindrical (n=2) Biconical (n=2) with concentric scratches (n=4)	N/A	N/A	N/A	Worn (n=3) Unused (n=1)
Other beads (n=10)	Cut-and-break (n=3)	Grinding (n=2) Polishing (n=3)	Biconical with concentric scratches (n=5) (Bi)cylindrical (n=5)	N/A	Incision (n=1)	Poorly shaped bead, fac- eted or highly tilted (n=4)	Worn (n=7) Unused (n=2) Indeterminate (n=1)
Pendants (n=4)	Sawing (n=1, shap- ing)	Grinding (n=3) Polishing (n=1)	Biconical with concentric scratches (n=4)	N/A	Incision (n=3) Excision (n=2) Notching (n=3) Drilling (n=2)	Reused failed bead (n=1)	Worn (n=2) Unused (n=1) Indeterminate (n=1)
Plutonic rocks							
Group 1 (n=4)	Cut-and-break (n=1)	Grinding (n=2) Polishing (n=2)	Cylindrical with small oppo- site cone, concentric grooves (n=4)	Biconical with concen- tric scratches (n=4)	Notching (n=1)	Poorly shaped bead, fac- eted or highly tilted (n=3)	Worn=4
Group 2 (n=15)	Cut-and-break (n=1, potential cut marks remains on one face)	Grinding (n=6) Polishing (n=7) Indeterminate (n=2)	 (Bi)cylindrical with concentric grooves (n=14) Perforation in three stages: biconical drilling + inner cylinder (n=1) 	Real biconical with concentric scratches (n=2)	Drilling biconical perforations with circular scratches (n=13) Notching (n=3) hicising (n=1)	Four decorative perfora- tions (n=1) Side perforations slightly misplaced (n=2) Tilted (n=1)	Worn (n=13) Unused (n=2)

Group 3 (n=9)	Cut-and-break (n=2)	Grinding (n=2) Polishing (n=9)	(Bi)cylindrical with concentric grooves (n=9)	Absent (n=1) Biconical with concen- tric scratches (n=8)	Absent (n=1) Incision (n=6) Notching (n=3)	Incisions not made care- fully (n=1) Decentered perforation (n=1) Side perforations slightly mismatched (n=1) Unfinished hole where a side perforation was going to be placed (n=1)	Worm (n=8) Unused (n=1)
Group 4 (n=15)	Cut-and-break (n=3) Pecking (n=1)	Grinding (n=6) Grinding + polishing (n=4) Polishing (n=5)	(Bi)conical, mostly with concentric scratches (n=4) (Bi)cylindrical, mostly with concentric grooves (n=11)	N/A	Incisions on the edge (n=4), one has also an incision along the side	Faceting (n=7) Roughly/medium carved (n=5) Decentered perforation (n=2)	Worn (n=8) Unused (n=3) Indeterminate (n=4)
Other beads (n=11)	Cut-and-break (n=3) Pecking (n=1)	Grinding (n=7) Grinding + polishing (n=4)	(Bi)conical (n=5) (Bi)cylindrical (n=3) Unfinished (n=2) Absent (n=1)	N/A	Incision on the side (n=1) Excision + Not- ching + Incision (n=1)	Medium/roughly carved (n=6) Slightly misplaced cones (n=1) Decentered perforation (n=2) Poorly snapped blank (n=1)	Worn (n=4) Unused (n=2) Half product (n=4) Indeterminate (n=1)
Earplug (n=1)	Indeterminate	Grinding + polishing	Indeterminate, smoothed wall	N/A	Notching to create central groove	N/A	Indeterminate (n=1)
Anthropo- morphic pendants (n=2)	Indeterminate	Grinding (n=1) Grinding + polishing (n=1)	Two biconical perforations with concentric scratches (n=2)	N/A	Incision (n=2) Notching (n=2) Excision (n=1) Drilling (n=1)	Poorly carved (n=1)	Worn (n=1) Indeterminate (n=1)
Stalactite							
Group 1 (n=2)	Cut-and-break (n=2)	Grinding (n=2)	Natural, cylindrical (n=2)	Biconical with concen- tric scratches (n=2)	N/A	N/A	Worn (n=2)
Earplug (n=1)	Indeterminate	Grinding	Natural, cylindrical	N/A	Incision	N/A	Worn (n=1)

Other lithic m	aterials						
Beads (n=13)	Indeterminate (n=11) Cut-and-break (n=2) Flaking? (shaping, n=1)	Grinding (n=5) Grinding + polishing (n=5) Polishing (n=2) Indeterminate (n=1)	(Bi)conical (n=7) (Bi)cylindrical (n=4) Unfinished two-sided (n=2)	Biconical with concentric scratches (n=1)	lncision (n=1) Drilling (n=1)	Decentered perforation (n=4) Slightly misaligned perforations (n=1) Irregular shape (n=3)	Worn (n=7) Unused (n=2) Half product (n=2) Indeterminate (n=2)
Inlay (n=1)	Indeterminate Pecking (shaping)	Grinding + polishing	N/A	N/A	N/A	Faceted, not fully ground	Worn
Biconical earplugs (n=3)	Indeterminate (n=3) Pecking (n=1, shap- ing)	Grinding + polishing (n=2) Polishing (n=1)	(Bi)comical, coarse circular scratches (n=3) Widening/smoothing of perforation (n=2)	N/A	Notching (n=3, V-shaped and U-shaped)	Broken during produc- tion? (n=1)	Worn (n=2) Unused (n=1)
Conical ear- plug (n=1)	Indeterminate	Grinding	N/A	N/A	Notching (shaping)	Faceted	Worn
Pendants (n=2)	Indeterminate	Grinding (n=1) Polishing (n=1)	Absent (n=1) Three connected cones, con- centric scratches (n=1)	N/A	Incision (n=1) Notching (n=2) Drilling (n=1) Nacre inlay (n=1)	Very coarse, not com- pletely ground (n=1)	Worn (n=1) Half product (n=1)
Shell							
"Seed" beads (n=20)	Indeterminate	Grinding (n=8) Grinding + polishing (n=9) Indeterminate (n=3)	(Bi)conical with concentric scratches (n=20)	N/A	N/A	Decentered perforation (n=2)	Worn (n=15) Unused (n=1) Indeterminate (n=4)
Disc beads (n=5)	Indeterminate	Grinding (n=4) Polishing (n=1)	(Bi)conical with concentric scratches (n=5)	N/A	Incisions on the side (n=1)	Faceting (n=2)	Worn (n=3) Half product (n=1) Indeterminate (n=1)
Scaphopod beads (n=10)	Cut-and-break (n=8)	Grinding (n=2) Grinding + scraping (n=3) Absent (n=4) Indeterminate (n=1)	Natural, cylindrical (n=10)	Abrasion + drilling (n=1)	Incision (n=1)	Tilted (n=2)	Worn (n=7) Unused (n=1) Indeterminate (n=2)
Conus beads (n=2)	Cut-and-break? (n=1)	Grinding (n=2)	Conical indeterminate (n=2)	N/A	N/A	Not perfect disc, no evi- dence of modification on the outer face (n=2)	Worn? (n=2)

Frog-shaped (n=7)	Cut-and-break (n=3)	Grinding (n=4) Polishing (n=1) Absent (n=1) Indeterminate (n=1)	(Bi)conical with concentric scratches (n=7)	N/A	Incision + notching (n=7)	Roughly carved, mis- placed cut marks (n=2) Misplaced perforation (n=1)	Worn (n=4) Unused (n=2) Indeterminate (n=1)
Tinkler (n=26)	N/A	Grinding (n=6)	Side: Sawing (n=18) Conical 1 sided (n=2) Absent (n=6)	Apex: Percussion (n=12) Indeterminate (n=14)	Incision (n=4) Drilling (n=2)	Poor carving of a face (n=1)	Worn (n=7) Half product (n=6) Unused (n=5) Indeterminate (n=8)
Automor- phic (n=7)	N/A (n=6) Sawing (n=1)	Grinding (n=1) Absent (n=6)	Conical (n=3) Cylindrical (n=1) Percussion (n=2)	N/A	N/A	N/A	Worn (n=1) Unused (n=2) Half product (n=1) Indeterminate (n=3)
Flat nacre pendants (n=6)	Cut-and-break (n=3, likely used for all, but no evidence)	Grinding (n=6)	(Bi)conical with concentric scratches (n=6)	N/A	Notching (n=2) Drilling (n=1)	Medium carved (n=2) Perforations misaligned (n=1) Potential abandoned and ground over perforation cone on the edge (n=1)	Worn (n=2) Unused (n=1) Indeterminate (n=3)
Flat pen- dants/ inlays (n=26)	Cut-and-break (n=10) Flaking (n=1, shap- ing)	Grinding (n=17) Grinding + scraping (n=1) Grinding + polishing (n=4) Absent (n=1) Indeterminate (n=3)	(Bi)conical with concentric scratches (n=13) Cylindrical with concentric scratches (n=3) Absent (n=10)	N/A	Incision (n=8) Notching (n=6) Excision (n=1) Drilling (n=4) Fretwork (n=1) Absent (n=16)	Medium/roughly carved (n=5) Poorly aligned perfora- tions (n=3) Misplaced cut marks (n=1)	Worn (n=16) Unused (n=2) Half product (n=2) Indeterminate (n=6)
Three-di- mensional pendants/ plugs (n=9)	Cut-and-break (n=4)	Grinding (n=4) Grinding + scraping (n=1) Grinding + polishing (n=1) Indeterminate (n=3)	Biconical with concentric scratches (n=5) Three connected cones, con- centric scratches (n=1) Absent (n=3)	N/A	Incision (n=6) Notching (n=8) Excision (n=1) Drilling (n=3)	Medium carved (n=6) Slightly asymmetrical (n=1)	Worn (n=7) Half product (n=2)
Bone							
Vertebrae beads (n=5)	N/A	N/A	Cylindrical (n=3) Indeterminate (n=2)	N/A	N/A	N/A	Worn (n=3) Indeterminate (n=2)
Tubular bead (n=1)	Cut-and-break	Grinding	Natural	N/A	Three incisions	Irregular faces, tilted	Indeterminate
Highly mod- ified (n=2)	Indeterminate (n=2)	Grinding (n=2)	Conical with concentric scratches (n=1) Absent (n=1)	N/A	N/A	N/A	Worn (n=1) Unused (n=1)

Teeth							
Automor- phic (n=5)	N/A	Grinding (n=1)	(Bi)conical with concentric scratches (n=5)	N/A	Notching (n=1)	N/A	Worn (n=4) Indeterminate (n=1)
Ground in shape (n=4)	N/A (n=1) Indeterminate (n=3)	Grinding (n=2) Indeterminate (n=2)	(Bi)conical with concentric scratches (n=4)	N/A	N/A	N/A	Worn (n=3) Indeterminate (n=1)
Coral							
Beads (n=8)	Cut-and-break (n=8)	Grinding (n=5) Absent (n=2) Indet (n=1)	(Bi)cylindrical (n=6) Percussion (n=1) Percussion + drilling (n=1)	N/A	N/A	Coarse finish (n=5)	Worn (n=2) Unused (n=3) Half product (n=2) Indeterminate (n=1)
Disc (n=1)	Indeterminate	Grinding	Absent	N/A	V/N	N/A	Worn (n=1)
Ceramic							
Plain beads (n=3)	Modeling (n=3)	Polishing (n=3)	Modeled around a stick (n=3)	N/A	V/V	Poor shaping (n=2)	Worn (n=2) Indeterminate (n=1)
Decorated bead (n=1)	Modeling Application of a sec- ond layer of clay	Polishing	Perforation prior to firing and prior to the new layer of clay	N/A	Incision + punctu- ation	N/A	Worn
(Fossilized) W	ood						
Disc (n=1)	Indeterminate	Grinding + polishing	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Worn
Earplug (n=1)	Cut-and-break	Grinding + scraping + polishing	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Worn
Resin							
Earplug (n=1)	Indeterminate	Scraping + grinding	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Worn

Use-wear	Present		Absent		Half products ^a		Indeterminate		Total of ornaments
	N	%	N	%	N	%	N	%	
Lithic	118	73.29	17	10.56	7	4.35	19	11.80	161
Ceramic	3	75	-	-	-	-	1	25	4
Shell	63	53.39	12	10.17	13	11.02	30	25.42	118
Coral	3	33.33	3	33.33	2	22.22	1	11.11	9
Dental elements	7	77.78	-	-	-	-	2	22.22	9
Bone	4	50	1	12.50	-	-	3	37.50	8
Wood	2	100	-	-	-	-	-	-	2
Resin	1	100	-	-	-	-	-	-	1
Total	201	64.42	33	10.57	22	7.05	56	17.95	312

Supplemental data 5: Use-wear presence according to ornament raw material

^a Use-wear presence/absence is not applicable to half products, as they are not finished ornaments.

Conclusion

The present research had, from the outset, two interconnected goals: to develop an approach for studying collections of ornaments from diverse origins and to assess the biographies of bodily adornment in the pre-colonial Caribbean. This resulted in the four chapters previously presented. Chapters 2 and 3 were aimed to address this first goal, designing an approach to the study of ornaments and their biographies. The second goal was broken down in three research questions: 1) what were the patterns in the ways people dealt with ornaments? 2) How did these patterns relate to the social roles of ornaments? 3) What new insights did technological and use patterns provide on our understanding of the exchange of ornaments across the Caribbean Sea? Two case-studies from the pre-colonial Caribbean were selected: the early part of the Early Ceramic Age in the Eastern Caribbean and the later part of the Late Ceramic Age in the Greater Antilles. They were chosen because they provide the contexts with the largest degree of ornament production and circulation known for the pre-colonial history of the archipelago. Chapters 4 and 5 thus focused on the application of the approach developed in the first chapters to the two case-studies. Each chapter ended with a discussion and conclusion that focused on the implications of the identified patterns for understanding ornament biographies in the relevant region and time period.

6.1. Bodily adornment through the lenses of the microscope: evaluating the approach

The approach to the study of bodily adornment used here was first outlined in Chapter 1, where it was connected to recent theories about its role in society. Microwear analysis was proposed as empirically-based avenue to assess the biographies of ornaments. This approach was further developed in the first two chapters, while Chapters 3 and 4 outlined the specific protocol of analysis used.

Chapter 2 singled out the specific challenges involved in the study of (old) collections, in particular from museums. Identified limitations were connected to the lack of detailed information about the archaeological context of the studied collection and to the poor state of preservation of certain artefacts. This chapter further dealt with the complexities of interpreting the palimpsests and micro-stratigraphies of traces formed on the surface of figurative ornaments as a result of multiple production stages, use episodes, post-depositional processes, and curatorial modifications. Despite challenges, we were able to successfully analyse the artefacts and generate new insights into their production and use in the Valencia Lake Basin. This study helped us set up the approach and protocol of analysis that was used for the case-study chapters. Chapter 3 reflected on archaeological interpretations of use in bodily adornment, dealing with questions such as reconstructing specific string configurations, establishing degrees of use, and making sense of the absence of use-wear. It delved into the wear-traces formed on individual artefacts made of diverse raw materials as a result of their incorporation into real (composite) objects of bodily adornment. We looked at a variety of ethnographic ornament types and with a broad range of attachment systems, including items directly attached to the body, with different string configurations, and involving contact between neighbouring beads. A unique reference collection was thus formed, which can be used by researchers interested in use-wear formation on ornaments or even on other artefact types that are subjected to similar conditions (such as being attached through a string). The chapter not only presented detailed descriptions of traces per raw material, but also was extensively illustrated through the use of three types of microscope. This study also provided us with the chance to reflect on the biographies of composite ornaments and on how they may differ from our archaeological expectations of homogeneity and complementarity.

Chapters 2 through 5 demonstrated the usefulness of the selected approach and method in assessing the different modifications ornaments undergo, in spite of the diverse nature of the collections they belong to. Having been (at least partially) conducted in the Caribbean, the research presented in Chapters 4 and 5 often had to deal with time and equipment limitations. Furthermore, other limitations in the research carried out in this dissertation should also be acknowledged. The lack of contexts of production or associated toolkits in most studied contexts has meant that all data concerning ornament making had to be generated from the study of the ornaments themselves. I have focused on multiple ornament raw materials, namely lithic materials with strikingly different physical properties (i.e. different hardness, toughness, and brittleness) and, for the Late Ceramic Age, also non-lithic materials (notably, marine shells). However, it is not common for a same researcher conducting technological, microwear, or experimental research of ornaments to focus on such a broad range of materials (although exceptions to this can be noted, *e.g.*, Alarashi 2016; Bains 2012; Gurova et al. 2013; Van Gijn 2006). But, as illustrated by many of the ethnographic ornaments studied in Chapter 3, multiple raw materials can and often coexist in composite objects. In this sense, the choice for this broad range of materials was guided by the desire to provide a more holistic view of adornment practices for each Caribbean case-study. This has, however, limited the breadth of insight that could be obtained concerning each material and the ways it was worked and more generally treated. In particular, more experiments need to be performed in order to provide greater insights into production technologies and modes of use. A more systematic comparison between archaeological traces and those experimentally-produced also needs to be done, for instance by focusing on the sequential grinding experiments in order to assess how the different ornament raw materials wear according to different conditions. The identified tool raw materials require new experimental assays that focus on their mechanisms of application and performance (e.g.,string sawing and incising/drilling with bone or wooden tools). In spite of the abundance of insights generated by the study of ethnographic objects as a use-wear reference collection, we could not reconstruct specific ornament compositions. This is largely due to the paucity of archaeological ornaments found in groups and in closed contexts. The recovery of groups of ornaments in situ remains essential for further interpretation regarding the arrangement of individual pieces and composite ornament types. Despite the identified limitations, the contributions of Chapters 4 and 5 for Caribbean archaeology are revisited in the following section. They are discussed in a broader perspective, with particular attention given to their impact on past exchange networks.

6.2. Exchange networks viewed through technology and use-wear

As stressed throughout this dissertation, a highly interconnected image of the pre-colonial Caribbean has emerged in recent scholarship (Boomert 2000; 2007; Breukel 2019; Cody 1993; Curet and Hauser, eds. 2011; Hofman et al. 2006; 2007; 2008; 2010; 2011; 2014; 2019; Hofman and Van Duijvenbode, eds.

2011; Keegan and Hofman 2017; Laffoon et al. 2013; 2014; Mol 2007; 2013; 2014; Morsink 2013; Rodríguez Ramos 2010; Rodríguez Ramos and Pagán Jiménez 2006; Watters 1997). Given the extensive contacts through mobility and exchange of people, materials, and ideas between communities in different islands and regions, one may expect a considerable degree of interaction between craft practitioners and the long-term exchange of technical knowledge. The movement of craftspeople within networks of exchange, inter-marriage, or other forms of interaction may have led to different degrees of transfer and transformation of technical knowledge (Brysbaert 2007, 333-335). Craftspeople may also have undertaken trips in pursuit of esoteric knowledge and materials from afar (as extensively discussed by Helms 1988). However, it remains to be demonstrated how this connectivity influenced the ways in which crafts were practised, transmitted, and shared across the Caribbean. Researchers in the region have indeed highlighted the importance of foreign and shiny materials among early colonial indigenous communities of the Caribbean, in particular for their exotic and supernatural character (Berman 2011; Helms 1987; Keehnen 2011; 2012; Oliver 2000; Saunders 1999). For instance, producing a highly developed polish on the surface of lithic and wooden artefacts has been noted as an important activity that would bring forth the inner characteristics of a material, both physical and ideational; and that, more importantly, involved polishing formulas that we do not entirely understand and that were most likely not widely shared across the region (Berman 2011, 130; Breukel 2019; Helms 1987, 75). This stresses that craft practice and technologies should be indispensable topics of investigation in contexts of circulation of people, ideas, and things. However, as argued previously, studies that focus on both craft technologies and the circulation of materials have been rather few in number, in particular when non-ceramic artefacts are considered (here I refer the reader to e.g., Breukel 2019; Knippenberg 2007; Martinón-Torres et al. 2012; Rodríguez Ramos 2010). In the following, I discuss how the biographical approach, marked by its focus on technologies of production and use-wear, has contributed new insights to our understanding of the social roles and networks of circulation of bodily ornaments in the pre-colonial Caribbean.

6.2.1. Early Ceramic Age ornaments in the Eastern Caribbean (400 BC – ca. AD 400)

A detailed study of a large assemblage recovered from the site of Pearls on eastern Grenada was presented in Chapter 4. It entailed a typo-technological analysis of the entire assemblage (n=1273), in addition to the microwear analysis of a sample set (n=100). This study allowed us to characterize ornament making strategies at the site, in spite of limitations connected to the origins of the collection. We identified a wide range of lapidary materials being worked, which arrived at Pearls from different sources. In the same vein, we showed which technical procedures were most likely carried out locally and, by proxy, the stages in which each material likely entered the site. Acquisition and production logics of lapidary materials varied according to ornament raw material and type. Amethyst was brought as raw material to the site¹, worked locally, and redistributed to other eastern Caribbean islands. Pearls was not specialized solely in amethyst bead manufacture; instead, it should be seen as a workshop for the working of macroand microcrystalline quartz varieties. However, it remains unclear whether amethyst and quartz were directly procured or acquired through exchange. Carnelian was sourced and primarily worked in the northeastern Caribbean, but arrived in large numbers and in different technical stages to Pearls. Diorite and turquoise ornaments were imported in large quantities, but largely as finished beads. Jadeitite was obtained in large quantities and accompanied by a large production output of, primarily, pendants. Carnelian, jadeitite, and diorite were brought to the site in different production stages, further modified, and possibly redistributed to the Windward islands. Based on the large numbers of materials arriving as raw materials or in early production stages, we can hypothesize that, in addition to being a lapidary workshop, Pearls was a central place (sensu Renfrew 1977, 85). This hypothesis is based on the evidence for directional trade of large amounts of materials towards the site from multiple source communities. In other words, the site was supplied preferentially in comparison to other settlements in the region (Renfrew 1977, 85). It is also based on the idea,

¹ It was also brought in the early production stages, if we consider the evidence from the site of Grand Anse. According to Cody (1990), most early stages of amethyst working took place at this site on the southwestern coast of Grenada. Amethyst crystals and debitage were recovered there, suggesting that it was a "trading centre" for amethyst crystals believed to come from South America (Cody 1990, 10). However, the few units excavated at Grand Anse showed a highly disturbed stratigraphy (Hanna 2017, 105-106).

supported by our pilot use-wear study, that many of such materials were not locally used, but further exchanged (i.e. redistributed). In turn, the low numbers of finished and unfinished ornaments in most other lithologies, alongside high stylistic variability, suggest a different pattern of acquisition (e.g., nephrite, other metamorphic rocks with tremolite, metamorphosed ultramafics). They were likely not obtained by direct procurement; rather, they seem to represent the acquisition of varied "greenstones" through down-the-line exchange. This would explain the presence of small quantities of various rock types in multiple production stages. Unfinished specimens were further transformed, often into pendants, by use of the local technical repertoire. Geographical distance between the geological sources of each of these materials may not have been known or may not have been conceived in a linear sense. This is to say that different mechanisms were in operation giving rise to the extremely diverse nature of the studied collection. However, we should be aware of the limitations intrinsic to the interpretation of patterns stemming from the study of a collection without documentation regarding specific contexts of recovery.

Here my aim is to illustrate how this evidence can be related to previous ideas about exchange mechanisms and the social contexts affording them. As mentioned in Chapter 1, Cody (1993) proposed the "gateway community" model to explain the patterns she noted when excavating and studying the materials from Pearls. She argued that the role of lapidary workshops in the Early Ceramic Age should not be regarded as that of "central places", because of the linear arrangement of the West Indies (Cody 1993, 210). This stepping-stone distribution of islands would be in opposition to the symmetrical arrangement of sites and uniform distribution of population and resources expected for the central place model-also considered to be rather unrealistic (Hirth 1978). However, I am here less interested in the specific conditions defined by the model; rather, I use the concept of central place to draw attention to the dynamics of preferential supply, redistribution, and maintenance of horizontal connections between similar centres. Connections between different lapidary workshops have been previously proposed, notably between Pearls and the site of Trants on Montserrat (Watters 1997). This pattern of differential distribution of exchanged materials across the eastern Caribbean would be the result of a hierarchy between exchange partners (Renfrew 1977). Our results show that Pearls was one of main lapidary workshops and trading centres of the Caribbean, but not only for amethyst. Its location on the opposite end of the archipelago in
relation to the large workshops in Puerto Rico and Vieques further stresses its crucial role. However, this does not necessarily imply the presence of chiefs and a hierarchical system of socio-political organization during this period (see also Ibáñez et al. 2016). More recently, it has been suggested that lapidary workshops functioned as social hubs, where the display and redistribution of valuable materials took place as part of public competitive feasts between aspiring big men (Boomert 2000; 2001; 2007; Hofman et al. 2007; 2014; 2019). Ceremonial exchanges in small-scale societies are known to occur in feasting contexts (Dalton 1977; Mauss 2003[1925]; Spielmann 2002).

The patterns identified during our study indeed suggest that Pearls would be a centre not only for redistribution of ornaments made of multiple materials, but also for the gathering of people and the sharing of knowledge. This latter hypothesis can perhaps be illustrated by our evidence: the abundance of different styles² and of different techniques for working ornaments at Pearls may be a product of the arrival of materials from different origins to the site. In particular, we noted, on the same raw material, the use of different sawing techniques for blank acquisition and carving or of multiple types of grinding and polishing. This technological variability may have corresponded to 1) the (partial) production of some artefacts in other sites or 2) the co-presence of craftspeople belonging to different technological traditions.³ In this latter scenario, craftspeople from different places would be gathering at Pearls on certain occasions to, among others, produce and exchange lapidary materials. In this period, lapidary making technical knowledge seems to have been present across the region. This is suggested not only by the presence of multiple sites that functioned as lapidary workshops, but also by more restricted evidence for lapidary working in other sites, such as Morel and Gare Maritime on Guadeloupe, Tutu on St. Thomas, and Hacienda Grande on Puerto Rico. We can speculate that ornament production in a site like Pearls was not exclusively connected to the production of surplus prior to and for ceremonial display and exchange; it was perhaps also carried out

² A good example of this stylistic variability is the fact that no single frog carving is the same. This is probably the case not only for specimens retrieved at Pearls, but across the archipelago. While three different stylistic groupings have been defined (Cody 1991; Turney 2001), there is still considerable variability within each of them. The most homogeneous group seems to be the typically Huecoid "segmented frog" type, a few of which are found in the Pearls collection.

³ As mentioned above, the origins of the collection pose a severe limitation to such interpretations, in particular considering that the observed variability may be connected to a development taking place within the centuries of occupation of the site.

as ritual performance in such contexts of social gatherings (see also Hull 2014). Skill, creativity, and the esoteric knowledge associated to crafting colourful and shiny materials from afar may have been central elements in their valuation (Helms 1987, 74-75; 1988, 111-118). The importance of technical performance and variability in lapidary ornaments in Early Ceramic Age contexts can be further stressed by comparing them to any other ornaments of later or previous time periods from across the archipelago. However, we cannot, at this stage, distinguish between the two proposed scenarios, i.e. lapidary products from activities carried out in different sites coming to Pearls or a congregation of people at Pearls to work lapidary materials in the context of, for instance, a feast. It is also not unreasonable to think that both practices took place, as people could bring with them materials in different stages of modification.

The contexts of use and display of the lapidary materials retrieved from Pearls remain elusive in our study due to the lack of contextual information and the predominance of specimens associated to ornament making. Nevertheless, by providing insights on the distribution of lapidary materials in different technical stages across the Caribbean Sea, the *chaîne opératoire* approach demonstrated that production and circulation cannot be understood as discrete phenomena. They do not happen independently from each other. Instead, technological modifications happened at different stages along the life trajectories of certain lapidary materials. These insights feed directly into our understanding of the dynamics behind interaction and exchange networks. We demonstrate how these networks involved not only the circulation of valuables, but also the modification of materials at different locations after being received and prior to further exchange. Therefore, the exchange of lapidary materials in the Early Ceramic Age cannot be understood just as a linear movement of material from one place (the source community) to the other. In this sense, exchange, production, and use should not be regarded as discrete phenomena when it comes to Early Ceramic Age lapidary. In fact, if we look at lapidary materials as recurring elements in prestige-good exchange systems, their exchange is an intrinsic part of their use life, rather than just a mechanism for distribution of differentially available resources or products. As the artefacts can be exchanged prior to the completion of their production sequences, the transformations artefacts undergo at different points become part of their exchange/use life as well. New technological operations carried out on partially worked artefacts become themselves forms of inter-cultural dialogue performed on the surfaces

of lapidary materials. Such activities are recorded in the micro-stratigraphy of stigma on their surfaces. While we placed greater focus on technologies of production when approaching the lapidary from Pearls, this approach allowed us to note important aspects of their emergent biographies as exchanged social valuables. In Chapter 1, I discussed the biographies of ornaments and the need for not imposing artificial linearity when reconstructing them through artefact studies. As Spielmann (2002) notes, social valuables are not finished (immutable) products, but may undergo changes during their lifetime. Such physical changes generally bring forth an object's particular biography and are thus associated to an increased value (also Gosden and Marshall 1999; Pollard et al. 2014). In this scenario, the performance of lapidary production (and not only its exchange or display) becomes a means of activating and enacting their social roles, perhaps providing at the same time grounds for competition between individuals.

6.2.2. Late Ceramic Age ornaments in the Greater Antilles (AD 800 – ca. 1500)

Assemblages of ornaments from five sites located on the Dominican Republic were studied in Chapter 5. While the number of studied sites was larger than in the previous chapter, the total amount of ornaments was smaller (n=312).⁴ The sites were settlements, most of which presented no evidence of ornament making being a recurrent activity. In this sense, the narratives we can build around ornaments and their biographies are, as expected, rather different from the Early Ceramic Age. The chapter started by referring to the main ideas that researchers have put forward concerning bodily adornment in the Late Ceramic Age Greater Antilles. Such hypotheses have been built with marked reliance on ethnohistoric accounts about the early colonial "Taíno" peoples encountered by the Spaniards. Notably, a connection between certain types of bodily adornment and the figure of the cacique has been stressed. Primary attention has been given to materials that can be characterized as shiny, reflective, and/or colourful, such as mother-of-pearl, gold, guanín, feathers, and glass. Exoticness, generally equated with a distant source, is also presumed to have rendered materials laden with meaning and power. However, when faced with the studied Late Ceramic Age assemblages, one cannot fail to notice that these widely appreciated properties are not particularly conspicuous among them. First, their colours are

⁴ That said, the number of ornaments analysed through microwear analysis was larger, as all artefacts could be examined through microscopy.

rather monotone and dull in comparison to shiny metals or colourful feathers. Second, most lithic materials are available close to the studied areas. In sum, brilliance and exoticness do not appear to be important features of beaded constructions from the studied sites. One could still argue that combinations of beads from certain raw materials can result in a multi-coloured composite ornament, especially if including perishable materials (such as seeds, nuts, or feathers). The few studied ornaments displaying more varied colours, such as those made of greenstones, Chama sarda's pink shell, and resin, are witnesses of a broad repertoire of ornament types and raw materials that would be placed on different sectors of the body (Alegría 1995; Lóven 1935). However, the evidence for such colourful materials among the material culture of the five sites is pale in comparison to the white and beige colours predominant in calcite, plutonic rock, shells, and skeletal materials. It is likely that there would be an important visual and aesthetic component to the placement of ornaments on the human body, particularly in combination with body paint. Nonetheless, as shown in Chapter 5, there are many other characteristics that contribute to the biographies of ornaments to which we should pay close attention.

Through careful examination of all recovered beads, pendants, plaques, and earplugs, we were able to define morpho-technical groups for each raw material. Microwear analysis allowed us to track the biographies of these ornament groups, in connection to their production, use, and deposition. When the patterns identified for each site are considered in combination, they provide us with insights on the circulation of ornaments across the region. The study of the site assemblages showed us that a certain degree of ornament making technical knowledge was present among the communities inhabiting each site and that suitable raw materials could often be locally found. Household-level production of certain ornaments seems to have happened occasionally, but it was not the primary mode of ornament acquisition. The absence of substantial evidence for ornament production is an indication that people chose to obtain ornaments through networks of exchange. However, the patterns identified thus far do not offer us insight into mechanisms of exchange, such as down-the-line or directional trade. Nevertheless, we can propose specific aspects of ornament circulation on the basis of our data. In particular, ornaments primarily circulated as "finished" products (in the case of lithic ornaments and shell beads) or raw materials (certain shells and coral). In this sense, it is possible that beads were exchanged already strung as composite ornaments, although we cannot truly

assess this with the data at hand. There is no evidence for the circulation of rough-outs or preforms, which stands in stark contrast with the lapidary networks of the Early Ceramic Age. This can be an indication that *specialized* ornament making knowledge was not widely distributed across the region. If we consider only lithic ornaments, we note that locally produced specimens differ markedly from the most typical morpho-technical groups.⁵ We suggested in Chapter 5 that double-perforated tubular beads presented some degree of standardization, being likely produced in still unknown archaeological sites functioning as workshops. In other words, technical knowledge necessary for the production of such recurrent ornament types was not widely shared among communities.

In conclusion, we can propose that ornament *making* did not have a performative role in the engagement between communities or in the act of exchange itself, in contrast to the Pearls case-study. The passing down of "finished" ornaments or unmodified non-local raw materials (mainly, marine shells and coral) seems to have been the norm. Furthermore, the existence of site specialization in ornament production does not seem to follow from the control over rare material resources, again in contrast to what has been generally observed for the Early Ceramic Age.6 Therefore, other social mechanisms must have mediated the process, guaranteeing that specialized communities would hold this position. We can suggest that the exchange of ornaments and certain raw materials functioned as a mechanism for the creation and maintenance of social bonds between different communities, rather than resulting from a dependence on the supply of scarce resources (see also Morsink 2013). Ethnohistoric sources do mention the role of strings of beads in social prestations, particularly in the establishment of alliances between *caciques* and as bride price (Las Casas 1992, 611, 1288; Lóven 1935, 478-479). Among some indigenous communities of the lowlands of South America, village specialization in certain crafts or horticultural products is a necessary element of a complex system of regional

⁵ Even in Playa Grande, where ornament production was more recurring, the specimens produced not only do not match the most common ornament types in the region, but also seem coarsely made, displaying many technical errors.

⁶ This observation should be regarded with caution: availability of shell raw materials was arguably the main reason for the location of the shell bead making workshop sites in Grand Turk (Carlson 1995; Keegan et al. 2008). Furthermore, proximity to the San Juan River and accessibility to materials used for celt production, notably jadeitite, seem to have been relevant factors guiding the location of the site of Playa Grande (Breukel 2019; López Belando 2012; Knippenberg 2012). The issue of control over key raw material sources should be reassessed once other Late Ceramic Age ornament workshop sites are recognized in the Greater Antilles.

interdependence, involving marital alliances, reciprocal exchanges, feasting, and even conflicts (e.g., Agostinho 1967; Butt-Colson 1973; Chagnon 1977, 100-102; Oliveira 2017). A similar scenario has been put forward regarding groundstone celts in the Dominican Republic, although both rough-outs and finished products were being circulated (Breukel 2019). This idea is based on a model of reciprocal exchange among egalitarian societies, which may be argued to be inadequate for conceiving of patterns among so-called late pre-colonial chiefdoms of the Greater Antilles. For instance, Sahlins (1963) refers to redistribution as a mechanism for material circulation in Polynesian chiefdoms, as opposed to Melanesian big men collectivities. Such an exchange mechanism based on the accumulation and redistribution of wealth would resound with ideas regarding storehouses containing the social valuables of a cacique (Mol 2007, 86-87; Ostapkowicz 2018). However, as discussed for the Pearls case-study, the direct association between an exchange mechanism and a type of socio-political organization may provide only a partial and static view of past practices. Furthermore, the production and circulation of valuables are also circumscribed by regional social and political hierarchies in the ceremonial exchange systems of the Upper Rio Negro (Hugh-Jones 2014; Oliveira 2017). Archaeologists have more recently shied away from a monolithic view of past societies of the Greater Antilles, stressing instead the existence of great ethnic and socio-political plurality (e.g., Curet 2003; 2014; Ulloa Hung 2013; Wilson 2007). The studied ornaments from across the Dominican Republic can also be seen in such a light: they challenge dichotomous social stratification schemes and testify to greater plurality of social formations in the past.

Finally, discard patterns in this period also differ from those identified for the early part of the Early Ceramic Age. As noted in Chapter 5, there was a concern with not disposing carelessly of ornaments. We suggested that this was the outcome of care for and repairing of ornaments. In contrast, large numbers of lapidary materials, debris, and ornaments have been found in middens of the Early Ceramic Age. This earlier period is marked by the presence of largescale production activities in lapidary workshops and of production of a smaller scale in other site types. Their large accumulation can thus be connected to such intense ornament making activities. Late Ceramic Age bead making contexts in Grand Turk also produced extremely large quantities of shell debris and ornaments in multiple production stages (Carlson 1993). In this case, site type and the corresponding activities that took place locally must not be overlooked. In contrast with rich burial assemblages and production contexts, the low presence of ornaments in settlement contexts can be connected to people's will to keep usable ornaments with them when they leave a settlement (for instance, see Van Gijn 2006; 2008; 2017). Specimens retrieved at such sites would be the result of occasional loss or discard of broken and unusable pieces. In the studied contexts of the Dominican Republic, a similar dynamic seems to have been in place, even if recovered specimens were generally not broken or unusable.

We, therefore, note a different attitude towards ornaments in the final centuries of the Late Ceramic Age, as opposed to the Early Ceramic Age. Ornaments may have followed a dynamic of displaying and concealing: whenever not on display or not on circulation, they were hidden or stored away. This may have also been reflected in socially-prescribed practices of structured deposition. The caches of ornaments recovered from Puerto Rico and the Dominican Republic may be examples of this attitude, although it is not clear whether they were votive in nature or examples of safeguarding for future exchange (see also section 6.3.2 of the present chapter). This careful attitude towards bodily ornaments was likely connected to their perceived potencies and social role. Leaving them laying around or mishandling them in any way may have entailed severe consequences for the individual or community involved.⁷ For instance, among the Maimandê from Central Brazil, beaded necklaces made of *tucum* nut are intrinsically connected to their owners: storing them incorrectly or loosing them may lead to illnesses and even death (Miller 2009). A careless attitude towards ornaments may have not been desirable or may even have been perceived as dangerous. This may also justify why ornament making in large scale was not a widespread activity outside of specialized sites. As discussed in Chapter 1, technology does not exist in an isolated form from other social phenomena (e.g., Dobres 2010; Pfaffenberger 1988). Specialized technical knowledge may have not only been restricted to certain communities, but also accompanied by esoteric knowledge about the potencies (and dangers) of ornaments and materials.8

⁷ The practice of maintaining house areas as spaces clean of debris noted to have taken place regularly at El Cabo and El Flaco can perhaps also be understood in connection with such a concern (Hofman and Hoogland 2015; Hofman et al. 2016; Samson 2011).

⁸ Another parallel from the lowlands of South America is that of the production of ceremonial bodily ornaments in the Upper Rio Negro. Considered to be a dangerous task inherited from the gods and primordial ancestors, their production requires not only specialized technical knowledge, but also knowledge of sets of ritual procedures and other forms of prescribed behaviours (Oliveira 2017; also Hugh-Jones 2014).

6.3. Avenues for future research

In the remainder of this chapter, future research avenues are proposed, building upon the research that has been carried out in this dissertation. They aim to follow or expand the current approach, addressing at the same time some of limitations noted above. While all the proposed avenues relate to components of the present research, each of them requires further in-depth investigation in its own right.

6.3.1. Technological and microwear studies of other Early Ceramic Age sites

Different types of assemblages from each time period need to be investigated in order to provide a more thorough understanding of ornament biographies. In this sense, there are many avenues deserving further investigation that could be explored. First, as pointed out in Chapter 4, it would be interesting to apply a similar approach to collections from the other Early Ceramic Age lapidary workshops and contrast them to lapidary recovered in other types of sites or in contexts that are not connected to production, such as burials and domestic middens. A more holistic approach would aid us in moving from the exclusive focus on production technology and material exchange to modes and contexts of usage. This approach would also allow us to better assess the connection between lapidary materials and specific social events, such as feasting. In this sense, artefact research needs to be conducted on assemblages recovered in modern controlled excavations. While we hope to have demonstrated that collections without detailed provenience information can provide us with a wealth of information, addressing more complex research questions requires us to situate lapidary ornaments and materials in their spatio-temporal contexts. Second, it would be important to carry out more in-depth studies, enabling us to address specific questions regarding craft practice and technological sophistication in this time period. In particular, it would be important to develop further experiments to better understand craftsmanship and toolkits of production. The incorporation of other analytical instruments (e.g., SEM, micro-CT scanning, and confocal microscopy) would be crucial for the systematic investigation of drilling and surface treatments. Third, an investigation of associated tools recovered at production sites could provide supporting evidence for interpretations concerning the contact materials used in ornament production, alongside a more thorough view of technical systems in this period.

6.3.2. Ornament caches from the Late Ceramic Age

In order to further investigate the ideas advanced in section 6.1.2 about the biographies of ornaments in the Late Ceramic Age Greater Antilles, the next step would be to examine groups of ornaments recovered from closed contexts, such as caches and burial assemblages. Some assemblages of hundreds of ornaments have been recovered from caches in Puerto Rico and the Dominican Republic, being now held at institutional repositories. While not the product of modern excavations, they generally present a certain degree of information concerning their contexts of recovery. Alongside such caches, studies of groups of ornaments from other closed contexts, such as burials, would also be relevant. The large number of ornaments from such contexts would provide insights into assemblages that perhaps match more closely the traditional ideas about ornaments in the region. Composite objects including thousands of beads have been studied, such as the Pigorini idol and the belt from Vienna (Ostapkowicz 2013; Ostapkowicz et al. 2017), but with a different approach and goal in mind. Our goal with such a study would rather be to assess issues such as modes of attachment, use duration, reuse, recycling, and perhaps even the maintenance of ornaments as heirlooms. It will be interesting to assess how the biographies of ornaments from caches and burials differ from those of the ornaments studied in Chapter 5, which were recovered from across settlement sites. This study would provide information on the processes through which certain ornament groups are removed from circulation and contexts of use in order to be deliberately deposited. In Chapter 1, I referred to studies in which detailed examination of assemblages of artefacts (among which, ornaments) provided unprecedented insights on how they were manipulated, assembled, and disassembled in order to perform socially (Gaydarska et al. 2004; Van Gijn 2017; Woodward and Hunter 2015). The data generated through such a study could also be compared to ethnographic objects studied in Chapter 3, providing a reflection on the biographies of ornaments both as composite and individual pieces. Finally, the interpretation of these ornament assemblages could be contrasted to descriptions and illustrations of composite ornaments in ethnohistoric sources.

6.3.3. Experiments on use-wear formation on (lithic) ornaments

A thorough experimental programme should be carried out to shed light on the formation and characteristics of use-wear on ornament materials that have not been extensively experimented with, notably lithic materials. Such a study

could also encompass an investigation of use-wear development on figurative ornaments and beads with double perforations. In this sense, it would include calcite and diorite ornaments, but also the hard lithic materials typical from the Early Ceramic Age. Use-wear formation on ornaments in such materials remains understudied. Ornament use-wear studies have been largely focused on soft lithic materials or hard animal materials. It thus remains to be assessed whether harder lithic materials develop use-wear in similar ways when included in composite ornaments. The study of the ethnographic quartz pendant in Chapter 3 suggests they do. However, the low presence of use-wear on some of the studied ornament materials from Pearls in Chapter 4 could also be linked to the need for different use conditions or greater use lengths for the development of recognizable wear on harder and brittle materials. Such a reference collection would be useful not only for future studies of ornaments from the Caribbean, but also from other contexts worldwide where lapidary materials have been abundantly recovered, such as Mesoamerica, Lower Central America, the Middle East, and East Asia.

6.3.4. Investigating ethnographic collections of indigenous bodily ornaments

Another potential research avenue is an investigation of ethnographic and historical collections housed in museums as a means of pursuing indigenous histories (Ribeiro 1985; 1988; Ribeiro and Van Velthem 1992). Similar studies have been carried out with the intent of understanding indigenous responses to colonial processes, investigating the development of material repertoires over time, and/or assessing the function of objects *vis-à-vis* written records (*e.g.*, Akerman et al. 2002; Cristiani et al. 2008; Kononenko et al. 2010; Torrence and Clark 2016). The biographical approach we used in the present research for studying composite ornaments can play an important role in such an effort, especially if directed at more narrowly defined assemblages: specific artefact types and raw materials across a given region or ornament repertoires from a single ethnic or linguistic group. The object-based study would be combined with the reading of early ethnographies and/or ethno-historic sources for the studied region to shed light on their recorded use lives and contrast them to traces and residues observed.

The present research advanced an approach for the study of bodily ornaments from diverse types of collections, giving primary attention to the succession of traces formed on the surface of the artefacts themselves. The insights thus acquired were used to formulate new hypotheses concerning the ways ornaments were produced, dealt with, and regarded by people during the pre-colonial history of the Caribbean. This work demonstrates how the careful, yet timeconsuming, study of each bead can provide us with a wealth of new information that help us build better-informed narratives that do some justice to the diversity of past indigenous societies.

6.4. Bibliography

Agostinho, P., 1967. Geografia e cultura no Alto Xingu. Geographica 12, 20-31.

- Akerman, K., Fullagar, R., and Van Gijn, A.L., 2002. Weapons and wunan: production, function and exchange of Kimberley points. *Australian Aboriginal Studies* 2002(1), 13-42.
- Alarashi, H., 2016. Butterfly beads in the Neolithic Near East: evolution, technology and socio-cultural implications. *Cambridge Archaeological Journal* 26(3), 493-512. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0959774316000342</u>
- Alegría, R.E., 1995. La vestimenta y los adornos de los caciques Taínos y la parafernalia asociada a sus funciones mágico-religiosas. In: Alegría, R.E. and Rodríguez, M. (eds.), *Proceedings of the XV International Congress for Caribbean Archaeology, San Juan, Puerto Rico, July 25th-30th 1993*. San Juan: Centro de Estudios Avanzados de Puerto Rico y el Caribe, 295-310.
- Bains, R.K., 2012. *The social significance of Neolithic stone bead technologies at Çatalhöyük*. London (Ph.D. dissertation, University College London).
- Berman, M.J., 2011. Good as gold: The aesthetic brilliance of the Lucayans. In: Hauser, M.W. and Curet, L.A. (eds.), *Islands at the Crossroads: Migration, Seafaring, and Interaction in the Caribbean*. Tuscaloosa: The University of Alabama Press, 104-134.
- Boomert, A., 2000. *Trinidad, Tobago, and the Lower Orinoco Interaction Sphere: An archaeological/ethnohistorical study*. Alkmaar: Cairi Publications.
- Boomert, A., 2001. Saladoid sociopolitical organization. In: *Proceedings of the XVIII International Congress for Caribbean Archaeology, Grenada, July 11-17, 1999.* Guadeloupe: L'Association Internationale d'Archéologie de la Caraïbe, 55-77.
- Boomert, A. 2007. Exotics from Pearls, Grenada. A preliminary assessment. In: *Proceedings of the XXII Conference of the International Association for Caribbean Archaeology (IACA), Kingston, Jamaica, July 23-29, 2007.* Kingston, 1-25.

- Breukel, T.W., 2019. Tracing interactions in the indigenous Caribbean through a biographical approach: Microwear and material culture across the historical divide (AD 1200-1600). Leiden (Unpublished Ph.D. dissertation University of Leiden).
- Brysbaert, A., 2007. Cross-craft and cross-cultural interactions during the Aegean and Eastern Mediterranean Late Bronze Age. In: Antoniadou, S. and Pace, A. (eds.), *Mediterannean Crossroads*. Athens: Pierides Museum, 325-359.
- Butt-Colson, A., 1973. Inter-tribal trade in the Guiana Highlands. *Antropológica* 34, 1-70.
- Carlson, L.A., 1993. Strings of command: manufacture and utilization of shell beads among the Taino indians of the West Indies. Gainesville (Unpublished MA thesis, University of Florida).
- Carlson, L.A., 1995. Strings of command: Manufacture and utilization of shell beads among the Taino. In: Alegría, R.E. and Rodríguez, M. (eds.), *Proceedings of the XV International Congress for Caribbean Archaeology, San Juan, Puerto Rico, July* 25th-30th 1993. San Juan: Centro de Estudios Avanzados de Puerto Rico y el Caribe, 97-109.
- Chagnon, N. A., 1977. Yanomamö, the fierce people. New York: Holt, Rinehart & Winston.
- Cody, A.K., 1990. Specialization, Interaction, and Exchange: A Perspective from the Saladoid Site of Pearls, Grenada, W.I. Paper presented at the 55th Annual Meeting of the Society for American Archaeology.
- Cody, A.K., 1991. Prehistoric patterns of exchange in the Lesser Antilles: Materials, models, and preliminary observations. Unpublished MA thesis (San Diego State University).
- Cody, A.K., 1993. Distribution of exotic stone artifacts through the Lesser Antilles: their implications for prehistoric interaction and exchange. In: Cummins, A. and King, P. (eds), *Proceedings of the Fourteenth International Congress for Caribbean Archaeology, Dover Convention Centre, Barbados, 22-28 July 1991*. Bridgetown: Barbados Museum and Historical Society, 204-226.
- Cristiani, E., Lemorini, C., Saviola, D., Domingues, S.A., and Nunziante Cesaro, S., 2008. Anchor axes: a case-study of wear traces analysis on ethno-archaeological stone tools from Brazil. An anthropological reflection on functional meaning. In: Longo, L. and Skakun, N. (eds.), *Prehistoric Technology' 40 Years Later: Functional Studies and the Russian Legacy. Proceedings of the International Congress Verona (Italy), 20-23. April 2005.* Oxford: Archaeopress, 275-283.
- Curet, L.A., 2003. Issues on the diversity and emergence of middle-range societies of the ancient Caribbean: A critique. *Journal of Archaeological Research* 11(1), 1-42. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1021277308225
- Curet, L.A., 2014. The Taíno: Phenomena, Concepts, and Terms. Ethnohistory 61(3),

467-495. https://doi.org/10.1215/00141801-2681759

- Curet, L.A. and Hauser, M.W. (eds.), 2011. Islands at the crossroads: migration, seafaring, and interaction in the Caribbean. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press.
- Dalton, G., 1977. Aboriginal economies in stateless societies. In: Earle, T.K. and Ericson, J.E. (eds), *Exchange Systems in Prehistory*. New York: Academic Press, 191-212.
- Dobres, M.A., 2010. Archaeologies of technology. Cambridge Journal of Economics 34(1), 103-114. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/cje/bep014</u>
- Gaydarska, B., Chapman, J.C., Angelova, I., Gurova, M., and Yanev, S., 2004. Breaking, making and trading: the Omurtag Eneolithic Spondylus hoard. *Archaeologia Bulgarica* 8(2), 11-33.
- Gosden, C. and Marshall, Y., 1999. The cultural biography of objects. *World Archaeology* 31(2), 169-178. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00438243.1999.9980439</u>
- Gurova, M., Bonsall, C., Bradley, B., and Anastassova, E., 2013. Approaching prehistoric skills: experimental drilling in the context of bead manufacturing. *Bulgarian e-journal of Archaeology* 3(2), 201-221.
- Hanna, J.A., 2017. The Status of Grenada's Prehistoric Sites: Report on the 2016 Survey and an Inventory of Known Sites. Manuscript on file at the Grenada National Museum and Ministry of Tourism, Botanical Gardens, Grenada. <u>http:// doi.org/10.18113/S1QG64</u>
- Helms, M.W., 1987. Art styles as interaction spheres in Central America and the Caribbean: polished black wood in the Greater Antilles. In: Drennan, R.D. and Uribe, C.A. (eds), *Chiefdoms in the Americas*. Lanham: University Press of America, 67-84.
- Helms, M.W., 1988. Ulysses' Sail: An ethnographic odyssey of power, knowledge, and geographical distance. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Hirth, K.G., 1978. Interregional trade and the formation of prehistoric gateway communities. *American Antiquity* 43(1), 35-45. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/279629</u>
- Hofman, C.L., Borck, L., Slayton, E., and Hoogland, M.L.P., 2019. Archaic Age voyaging, networks, and resource mobility around the Caribbean Sea. In: Hofman, C.L., and Antczak, A.T. (eds), *Early Settlers of the Insular Caribbean. Dearchaizing the Archaic*. Leiden: Sidestone Press.
- Hofman, C.L., Bright, A.J., Boomert, A., and Knippenberg, S., 2007. Islandrhythms: The web of social relationships and interaction networks in the Lesser Antillean archipelago between 400 BC and AD 1492. *Latin American Antiquity* 18(3), 243-268. <u>https:// doi.org/10.2307/25478180</u>
- Hofman, C.L., Bright, A.J., and Hoogland, M.L.P., 2006. Archipelagic resource procurement and mobility in the northern Lesser Antilles: The view from a 3000-year-old tropical forest campsite on Saba. *Journal of Island and Coastal Archaeology* 1(2), 145-164. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15564890600850366</u>

- Hofman, C.L., Bright, A.J., Hoogland, M.L.P., and Keegan, W.F., 2008. Attractive ideas, desirable goods: Examining the Late Ceramic Age relationships between Greater and Lesser Antillean societies. *Journal of Island and Coastal Archaeology* 3(1), 17-34. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15564890801984097</u>
- Hofman, C.L. and Hoogland, M.L.P., 2015. Investigaciones arqueológicas en los sitios El Flaco (Loma de Guayacanes) y La Luperona (Unijica). Informe preliminar. *Boletín del Museo del Hombre Dominicano* 46, 61-74.
- Hofman, C.L., Mol, A.A.A., Rodríguez Ramos, R., and Knippenberg, S., 2014. Networks set in stone: Archaic-Ceramic interaction in the early pre-Colonial northeastern Caribbean. In: Bérard, B. and Losier, C. (eds), *Archéologie Caraïbe*. Leiden: Sidestone Press, 119-132.
- Hofman, C.L., Ulloa Hung, J., and Hoogland, M.L.P., 2016. El paisaje social indígena al momento del encuentro colonial: nuevas investigaciones en el norte de la República Dominicana. *Boletín del Museo del Hombre Dominicano* 47, 299-310.
- Hofman, C.L. and Van Duijvenbode, A. (eds.), 2011. *Communities in contact: essays in archaeology, ethnohistory & ethnography of the Amerindian circum-Caribbean.* Leiden: Sidestone Press.
- Hugh-Jones, S., 2014. Caixa de Pandora: estilo alto-rio-negrino. *Revista de Antropologia da UFSCar* 6(1), 155-173.
- Hull, K.L., 2014. Ritual as performance in small-scale societies. *World Archaeology* 46(2), 164-177. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00438243.2013.879044</u>
- Ibáñez, J.J., Ortega, D., Campos, D., Khalidi, L., Méndez, V., and Teira, L., 2016. Developing a complex network model of obsidian exchange in the Neolithic Near East: Linear regressions, ethnographic models and archaeological data. *Paléorient* 42(2), 9-32. <u>https://doi.org/10.3406/paleo.2016.5718</u>
- Keegan, W.F., Fitzpatrick, S.M., Sealey, K.S., LeFebvre, M.J., and Sinelli, P.T., 2008. The role of small islands in marine subsistence strategies: case studies from the Caribbean. *Human Ecology* 36(5), 635-654. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10745-008-9188-z</u>
- Keegan, W.F. and Hofman, C.L., 2017. *The Caribbean before Columbus*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Keehnen, F.W.M., 2011. Conflicting cosmologies: the exchange of brilliant objects between the Taíno of Hispaniola and the Spanish. In: Hofman, C.L., and Van Duijvenbode, A. (eds.), *Communities in contact: essays in archaeology, ethnohistory* & ethnography of the Amerindian circum-Caribbean. Leiden: Sidestone Press, 253-268.
- Keehnen, F.W.M., 2012. *Trinkets (f)or treasure? The role of European material culture in intercultural contacts in Hispaniola during early colonial times.* Leiden (Unpublished RMA thesis, Leiden University).
- Kononenko, N., Torrence, R., Barton, H., and Hennell, A., 2010. Cross-cultural

interaction on Wuvulu Island, Papua New Guinea: The perspective from use-wear and residue analyses of turtle bone artifacts. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 37(11), 2911-2919. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2010.07.001</u>

- Knippenberg, S., 2007. Stone Artefact Production and Exchange among the Northern Lesser Antilles. Leiden: Leiden University Press (Archaeological Studies Leiden University 13).
- Knippenberg, S., 2012. Jadeitite Axe Manufacture in Hispaniola. A Preliminary Report on the Lithics from the Playa Grande Site, Northern Dominican Republic. Manuscript on file, Museo del Hombre Dominicano, Santo Domingo.
- Laffoon, J.E., Plomp, E., Davies, G.R., Hoogland, M.L.P., and Hofman, C.L., 2013. The movement and exchange of dogs in the prehistoric Caribbean: An isotopic investigation. *International Journal of Osteoarchaeology* 25(4),454-465. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1002/oa.2313</u>
- Laffoon, J.E., Rodríguez Ramos, R., Chanlatte Baik, L.A., Narganes Storde, Y.M., Rodríguez López, M., Davies, G.R., Hofman, C.L., 2014. Long-distance exchange in the precolonial Circum-Caribbean: A multi-isotope study of animal tooth pendants from Puerto Rico. *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology* 35, 220-235. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaa.2014.06.004</u>
- Las Casas, B. de, 1992. Apologética Historia Sumaria. 3 Volumes. Madrid: Alianza Editorial.
- Lóven, S., 1935. Origins of the Tainan Culture, West Indies. Gothenburg: Elanders Boktryekeri Aktiebolag.
- López Belando, A.J., 2012. El sítio arqueológico de Playa Grande, Río San Juan, María Trinidad Sánchez: Informe de las excavaciones arqueológicas campaña 2011 – 2012. Manuscript on file, Museo del Hombre Dominicano, Santo Domingo.
- Martinón-Torres, M., Valcárcel Rojas, R., Sáenz Samper, J., and Guerra, M.F., 2012. Metallic encounters in Cuba: the technology, exchange and meaning of metals before and after Columbus. *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology* 31(4), 439-454. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaa.2012.03.006</u>
- Mauss, M., 2003[1925]. Ensaio sobre a dádiva. In: Mauss, M., *Sociologia e Antropologia*. São Paulo: CosacNaify, 183-314.
- Miller, J., 2009. Things as persons: body ornaments and alterity among the Mamaindê (Nambikwara). In: Santos-Granero, F. (ed.), *The occult life of things: native Amazonian theories of materiality and personhood*. Tucson: University of Arizona Press, 60-80.
- Mol, A.A.A., 2007. *Costly giving, giving guaiza's: towards an organic model of the exchange of social valuables in the Late Ceramic Age Caribbean*. Leiden: Sidestone Press.
- Mol, A.A.A., 2013. Studying pre-Columbian interaction networks: Mobility and exchange. In: Keegan, W.F., Hofman, C.L., and Rodríguez Ramos, R. (eds.), *The*

Oxford handbook of Caribbean archaeology. Oxford University Press, 328-346.

- Mol, A.A.A., 2014. The connected Caribbean. A socio-material network approach to patterns of homogeneity and diversity in the pre-colonial period. Leiden: Sidestone Press.
- Morsink, J., 2013. Exchange as a social contract. In: Keegan, W.F., Hofman, C.L., and Rodríguez Ramos, R. (eds.), *The Oxford handbook of Caribbean archaeology*. Oxford University Press, 312-328.
- Oliveira, T.L.C., 2017. Corpos partidos: adornos cerimoniais, benzimentos rituais e a estética da produção no alto Rio Negro. *Mana* 23(1), 37-76. <u>https://doi.org/10.1590/1678-49442017v23n1p037</u>
- Oliver, J.R., 2000. Gold Symbolism among Caribbean Chiefdoms: Of Feathers, Çibas and Guanín Power among Taíno Elites. In: McEwan, C. (ed.), *Precolumbian Gold. Technology, Style and Iconography.* London: British Museum Press, 196-219.
- Ostapkowicz, J., 2013. 'Made...with admirable artistry': The context, manufacture and history of a Taíno belt. *The Antiquaries Journal* 93, 287-317.
- Ostapkowicz, J., 2018. To produce "a pleasing effect:" Taíno shell and stone cibas and Spanish cuentas in the early colonial Caribbean. *Beads* 30, 3-15.
- Ostapkowicz, J., Brock, F., Wiedenhoeft, A.C., Schulting, R., and Saviola, D., 2017. Integrating the Old World into the New: an 'Idol from the West Indies'. *Antiquity* 91(359), 1314-1329. <u>https://doi.org/10.15184/aqy.2017.151</u>
- Pfaffenberger, B., 1988. Fetishised objects and humanised nature: towards an anthropology of technology. *Man* 23(2), 236-252.
- Pollard, A.M., Bray, P.J., and Gosden, C., 2014. Is there something missing in scientific provenance studies of prehistoric artefacts? *Antiquity* 88(340), 625-631. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1017/S0003598X00101255</u>
- Renfrew, C., 1977. Alternative models for exchange and spatial distribution. In: Earle, T.K. and Ericson, J.E. (eds), *Exchange Systems in Prehistory*. New York: Academic Press, 71-90.
- Ribeiro, B.G., 1985. Os estudos de cultura material: propósitos e métodos. *Revista do Museu Paulista* 30, 13-41.
- Ribeiro, B.G., 1988. *Dicionário do artesanato indígena*. São Paulo: Editora da Universidade de São Paulo.
- Ribeiro, B.G. and Van Velthem, L.H., 1992. Coleções etnográficas: documentos materiais para a história indígena e a etnologia. In: Carneiro da Cunha, M. (ed.), *História dos índios no Brasil.* São Paulo: Companhia das Letras, 103-112.
- Rodríguez Ramos, R., 2010. *Rethinking Puerto Rican Precolonial History*. Tuscaloosa: University Alabama Press.
- Rodríguez Ramos, R. and Pagán Jiménez, J., 2006. Interacciones multivectoriales en el Circum-Caribe precolonial: Un vistazo desde las Antillas. *Caribbean Studies* 34(2), 99-139.

- Sahlins, M.D., 1963. Poor man, rich man, big-man, chief: political types in Melanesia and Polynesia. *Comparative studies in society and history* 5(3), 285-303. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0010417500001729</u>
- Samson, A.V.M., 2011. The most beautiful house in the world: The archaeology of aesthetics in eastern Hispaniola. In: Hofman, C.L. and Van Duijvenbode, A. (ed.), *Communities in Contact: Essays in Archaeology, Ethnohistory, & Ethnography of the Amerindian Circum-Caribbean*. Leiden: Sidestone Press, 421-438.
- Saunders, N.J., 1999. Biographies of brilliance: pearls, transformations of matter and being, c. AD 1492. *World Archaeology* 31(2), 243-257. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00</u> 438243.1999.9980444
- Spielmann, K.A., 2002. Feasting, craft specialization, and the ritual mode of production in small-scale societies. *American Anthropologist* 104(1), 195-207. <u>https://doi.org/10.1525/aa.2002.104.1.195</u>
- Torrence, R. and Clarke, A., 2016. Excavating ethnographic collections: negotiations and cross-cultural exchange in Papua New Guinea. *World Archaeology* 48(2), 181-195. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00438243.2016.1146161</u>
- Turney, M.H.J., 2001. Classification and interpretation of Saladoid period shell artifacts from Elliot's and Royall's archaeological sites, Antigua, West Indies. Calgary (unpublished MA thesis, University of Calgary).
- Ulloa Hung, J., 2013. Arqueología en la Linea Noroeste de La Española. Paisaje, *cerámicas e interacciones*. Leiden (PhD dissertation, Leiden University).
- Van Gijn, A.L., 2006. Ornaments of jet, amber and bone. In: Louwe Kooijmans, L.P. and Jongste, P.F.B. (eds.), *Schipluiden: A Neolithic Settlement on the Dutch North Sea Coast c. 2500 cal. BC*. Analecta Praehistorica Leidensia 37/38, 195-205.
- Van Gijn, A.L., 2008. De ornamenten van Ypenburg. In: Koot, J.M., Bruning, L., and Houkes, R.A. (eds.), *Ypenburg-locatie 4. Een nederzetting met grafveld uit het Midden-Neolithicum in het West-Nederlandse kustgebied.* Leiden: Station Drukwerk Leiden, 277-288.
- Van Gijn, A.L., 2017. Bead Biographies from Neolithic Burial Contexts: Contributions from the Microscope. In: Bar-Yosef Mayer, D.E., Bonsall, C., and Choyke, A.M. (eds.), Not just for show: The archaeology of beads, beadwork, and personal ornaments. Oxford: Oxbow Books, 103-114.
- Watters, D.R., 1997. Maritime trade in the prehistoric Eastern Caribbean. In: Wilson, S.M. (ed), *The Indigenous people of the Caribbean*. Gainesville: University Press of Florida, 88-99 (Ripley P. Bullen Series 6).
- Wilson, S.M., 2007. The Archaeology of the Caribbean. Cambridge University Press.
- Woodward, A. and Hunter, J., 2015. *Ritual in Early Bronze Age grave goods*. Oxford: Oxbow Books.

Appendices

Analysis form used for recording data during the macro- and microscopic examination of each studied ornament.

Use Wear Form: Ornaments © Laboratory For Artefact Studies, Faculty of Archaeolog	gy, Leiden University
Site:	Indiv. Nr:
Analyst: Catarina Falci	Date:
2 3 4 10 11 12 1 5 9 13 8 7 6 16 15 14	
local number	facetted facett
context	wear other beads repaired re_ground macro residue use wear analysis personally examined photo drawing

Print-screen of the Access database used for registering contextual, typological, material, technological, and use-wear data pertaining to each studied archaeological artefact.



Supplementary analysis form used for general description of the ethnographic objects studied in Chapter 3. This form was used for whole objects in addition to the form in Appendix 1, which was used for individual components (beads, pendants, and plaques).

Analysis form: Eth	nographic ornamen	ts	Object nº:	
Analyst: Catarina (Guzzo Falci		Date:	
Identification number	er:		Number of use-we	ar forms:
Ethnic group:				
Region:				
Name of collector: _				
Type of object:				
General object desc	ription			
L:	W:	Th:	We	eight:
String material:				
Type of twist:				
Number of different	components:			
Type of attachment:				
How are the compo	nents separated from	each other:		
Are the components	touching each other:			
Order of component				
Method of closing: _				
Presence of residues	6:			
Preservation:				
Post-collection mod	ifications:			
Observations:				

Analysis form: Ethnographic ornaments Analyst: Catarina Guzzo Falci

Object nº:_	
Date:	

Component	1		Component 2					
L:	W:	Th:	L:	W: Th:				
Туре			Туре					
Perf n⁰			Perf nº					
RM			RM					
Nº			Nº					
Broken			Broken					
Forms			Forms					
Obs.			Obs.					
Component	: 3		Compon	ent 4				
L:	W:	Th:	L:	W: Th:				
Туре			Туре	+				
Perf nº			Perf nº					
RM			RM					
Nº			Nº					
Broken			Broken					
Forms			Forms					
Obs.			Obs.					
Component	:5		Compon	ent 6				
L:	W:	Th:	L:	W: Th:				
Туре		ŧ	Туре					
Perf nº			Perf nº					
RM			RM	•				
Nº			Nº					
Broken			Broken					
Forms			Forms					
Obs.			Obs.					

Experiment n°	Technique	Tool	Material worked	Additives	Time (min)
2475	Grinding	Coral grinding slab (Acropora palmata)	Calcite	N/A	45
2477	Sawing	Flint blade	Calcite	N/A	2
2479-1	Grinding	Coral grinding slab (Acropora palmata)	Calcite	Water	4
2479-2	Incising	Flint, shell, wood	Calcite	N/A	N/A
2488-2	Drilling	Bow drill, flint tip	Calcite	N/A	27
2488-3	Drilling	Palm drill, flint tip	Calcite	N/A	30
2484-1	Grinding	Coral grinding slab (Acropora palmata)	Lobatus gigas (lip)	Water	-
2484-2	Drilling	Palm drill, flint tip	Lobatus gigas (lip)	N/A	-
2486	Drilling	Bow drill, flint tip	Lobatus gigas (lip)	N/A	-
2487-2	Drilling	Mechanical drill, wooden tip	Lobatus gigas (lip)	Sand, Water	103
2490-1	Sawing	Flint blade	Lobatus gigas (lip)	N/A	-
2495	Grinding	Sandstone	Amethyst	Water	20
2500	Grinding	Coral grinding slab (Acropora palmata)	Lobatus gigas (lip)	N/A	24
2498-1	Grinding	Coral grinding slab (Acropora palmata)	Oliva reticularis (apex)	N/A	60
2498-2	Sawing	Flint blade	Oliva reticularis (body whorl)	N/A	60
3036	Grinding	Sandstone	Diorite	Sand, Water	60
3037	Grinding	Coral grinding slab (Acropora palmata)	Diorite	Sand, Water	60
3039	Grinding	Sandstone	Acropora cervicornis	Water	35
3054	Sawing	Flint blade	Acropora cervicornis	N/A	11
3055-1	Sawing	Flint blade	Lobatus gigas (lip)	Sand, Water	135
3058	Sawing	Flint blade	Serpentinite	N/A	126
3061-2	Drilling	Mechanical drill, bone tip	Spondylus americanus	Sand, Water	110
3062-1	Grinding	Sandstone slab	Spondylus americanus	Water	80
3063-1	Sawing	Flint blade	Diorite	N/A	26
3068	Drilling	Mechanical drill, bone tip	Acropora cervicornis	Sand, Water	90
3411-A	Grinding	Basalt slab	Calcite	N/A	60
3411-В	Grinding	Basalt slab	Calcite	Water	60
3414-A	Grinding	Limestone slab	Calcite	N/A	60
3414-B	Grinding	Limestone slab	Calcite	Water	60

3415	Sawing	Flint blade	Calcite	N/A	65
3417-A	Grinding	Coral grinding slab (Acropora palmata)	Calcite	N/A	60
3417-В	Grinding	Coral grinding slab (Acropora palmata)	Calcite	Water	60
3418-A	Grinding	Limestone slab	Diorite	N/A	90
3418-B	Grinding	Coral grinding slab (Acropora palmata)	Diorite	Water	60
3419-A	Grinding	Basalt slab	Diorite	N/A	90
3419-В	Grinding	Basalt slab	Diorite	Water	90
3421-A	Grinding	Coral grinding slab (Acropora palmata)	Diorite	N/A	60
3421-B	Grinding	Quartzite slab	Diorite	N/A	90
3422-A	Grinding	Basalt slab	Amethyst	N/A	120
3422-В	Grinding	Limestone slab	Amethyst	N/A	120
3422-C	Grinding	Quartzite slab	Amethyst	Water, Sand	120
3422-D	Grinding	Sandstone slab	Amethyst	Water, Sand	120
3423-В	Grinding	Basalt slab	Amethyst	Water	120
3426-A	Grinding	Limestone slab	Diorite	Water	60
3426-В	Grinding	Quartzite slab	Diorite	Sand, Water	90
3427	Grinding	Quartzite slab	Amethyst	N/A	120
3428-A	Grinding	Basalt	Calcite	Sand, Water	60
3429-A	Grinding	Quartzite	Diorite	Water	90
3429-В	Grinding	Sandstone	Diorite	N/A	90
3429-C	Grinding	Basalt	Diorite	Sand, Water	90
3430-A	Grinding	Limestone	Diorite	Sand, Water	90
3432-A	Grinding	Limestone	Calcite	Sand, Water	90
3432-В	Grinding	Sandstone	Calcite	N/A	90
3433-A	Grinding	Sandstone	Amethyst	N/A	120
3433-В	Grinding	Basalt	Amethyst	Water, Sand	120
3433-C	Grinding	Sandstone	Amethyst	Water	120
3435-all	Grinding	Sandstone	Calcite	Water	60
3436-A	Grinding	Sandstone	Diorite	Water	90
3436-В	Grinding	Sandstone	Diorite	Sand, Water	90
3438-A	Grinding	Sandstone	Calcite	Sand, Water	90
3438-В	Grinding	Quartzite	Calcite	N/A	90
3440	Grinding	Quartzite	Amethyst	Water	120
3441-A	Grinding	Quartzite	Calcite	Water	90
3444	Grinding/ Sawing	Sandstone	Calcite	Water	120
3445-all	Grinding	Sandstone	Calcite	Water	60
3445-A	Polishing	Cane section (Sabal cf. domin- gensis)	Calcite	N/A	30

3445-В	Polishing	Cane section (Sabal cf. domin- gensis)	Calcite	Water	30
3446-all sides	Grinding	Sandstone	Diorite	Water	345
3446-A	Polishing	Cane section (Sabal cf. domin- gensis)	Diorite	N/A	30
3446-В	Polishing	Cane section (Sabal cf. domin- gensis)	Diorite	Water	30
3447-A, B	Grinding	Sandstone	Diorite	Sand, Water	A: 45; B:30
3447	Sawing	Quartzite flake	Diorite	N/A	270
3450-all sides	Grinding	Sandstone	Amethyst	Water	-
3451	Grinding	Sandstone	Diorite	Water	210
3452	Grinding	Sandstone	Diorite	Sand, Water	490
3453	Grinding	Sandstone	Diorite	Sand, Water	30
3453	Drilling	Flint	Diorite	Sand, Water	172
3518	Grinding	Sandstone	Nephrite	N/A	90
3520-A	Grinding	Sandstone	Calcite	N/A	15
3520-A	Polishing	High-silica leaf (Ce- cropia sp.)	Calcite	N/A	25

Form used for recording and analysing the experimental specimens.

Experiments use-wear analysis	Piece no User name: Date:								
Tool type: Raw material: Retouch: Used edge:	Grain size: fine medium coarse Hafting: Edge angle:								
Material:									
State: dry fresh soaked	Hardness: soft medium hard								
Additives or pollution: Type of surface worked on:									
Motion: cutting sawing shaving boring piercing chopping	scraping planing whittling graving adzing wedging pounding grinding								
Contact surface: Loading: static dynamic	_ Angle worked: Depth of insertion (mm):								
Tool effectiveness (describe also its d	eterioration through time):								
Cleaning procedures: soap alco Photographic documentation:	hol acetone HCL KOH ultrasonic tank								
	APPENDICES ♦ 243								

Piece no._____

Sketch of the way tool is handled and used. Drawing (scale 1:1) of tool indicating used edge by red pencil and damage during work blue pencil:

Table with the information gathered for 100 ornaments from the Pearls collection studied through microwear analysis (originally, Supplementary data 1 from Chapter 4).

Recy-	No	No	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	No	No	No	No	No	No
Use-wear	no use -wear	no use -wear	no use -wear	no use -wear	worn	half product	worn	no use -wear	worn	no use -wear	no use -wear	no use -wear	half product
Decoration techniques	NA	NA	NA	NA	Incising+- notching	Incising+- notching	Excisin- g+incisin- g+notching	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
Fire contact	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	No	No	Yes	No
Faceted	No	No	No	Yes	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
Surface treatment	Polishing 1	Grinding 1	Grinding 1	Grinding 1, 2, Polishing 1	Polishing 3	Polishing 3	Grinding 2, Polishing 3	Grinding 2, Polishing 3	Grinding 2, Polishing 3	Grinding 2, Polishing 1	Grinding 1, Polishing 2	Grinding 1	Grinding 1, 2
Blank acquisition / Shaping	flaking + pecking	flaking + pecking	flaking + pecking	flaking + pecking	Sawing	Sawing	indet	flaked	flaked	indet	pecked	flaking + pecking	indet
Context of breakage	NA	Recent	NA	During production	NA	During production	indet	During production	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
Fragmenta- tion	No	fragmented	No	distal	No	fragmented	fragmented	proximal	No	No	No	No	No
Perforation profile	Biconical	Biconical	Biconical	Conical	Biconical	NA	Biconical	indet	Biconical	Conical	indet	Biconical	unfinished 1 sided
N perfo- rations	1	1	1	1	5	0	5	1	1	1	1	1	1
Colour	Purple	Purple	Grey	Purple	Dark green	Dark green	Light green	Orange	Orange	Orange	Red	Red	Orange
Translu- cency	High	High	Low	High	No	No	Low	Low	High	High	No	No	No
Raw material	Amethyst	Amethyst	Amethyst	Amethyst	Vephrite	Metamorphic vith tremolite	adeitite	Carnelian	Carnelian	Carnelian	Carnelian	Carnelian	Carnelian
Subtype	3arrel-shaped	3arrel-shaped	3arrel-shaped	3arrel-shaped	Carved 3D	Carved flat	Carved 3D	[ubular 0	3arre1-shaped	3arre1-shaped	3arre1-shaped	3arre1-shaped	3arre1-shaped
Type	Bead	3ead	3ead	3ead	Pendant	Pendant 0	Pendant	3ead	3ead	3ead	3ead	3ead	3ead
Technical stage	Finished	Finished	Finished	Finished	Finished	Preform 2	Finished	Finished	Finished	Finished	Finished	Finished	Preform 3
Diameter perf.	4			3	3	I NA	3	2	2	1	2	3	3,5
Thick- ness	45	42	36	15	13	9	12	15	33	4	22	22	28
u Width	15	16	14		26	33	40	6		5	7,5	6	13
Lengt	27	18	14	8,5	28	40	42	10	6	5	6	13	16
Find number	WPb001	WPb002	WPb003	WPb004	WPb005	WPb006	WPb007	WPb008	WPb009	WPb010	WPb011	WPb012	WPb013

Recy- cled	No	No	Yes	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No
Use-wear	half product	half product	worn	indet	worn	indet	no use -wear	indet	no use -wear	half product	half product	no use -wear	worn	no use -wear	half product	worn
Decoration techniques	NA	NA	Incising+- notching+- drilling	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	Incising+- notching	Excisin- g+incisin- g+notching
Fire contact	Yes	No	0N	No	Yes	No	No	No	Yes	No	No	No	No	No	No	No
Faceted	res .	9	o Vo	ŕes	ŕes	Yes	ŕes	9	ŕes	ŕes	fes	ŕes	fes	fes	07	07
Surface treatment	Grinding 1, 2	Grinding 1, 2	Grinding 2, Polishing 3	Grinding 2, Polishing 2	Grinding 2, Polishing 2	Polishing 3	Grinding 1, 2	Grinding 2, Polishing 1	Grinding 2	Grinding 1	Polishing 3	Grinding 2	Polishing 3	Grinding 1	Polishing 3	Grinding 2, Polishing 3
Blank acquisition / Shaping	pecked	pecked	Sawing	pecked	indet	indet	pecked	pecked	pecked	pecked	flaking + pecking	pecked	indet	indet	Sawing	Sawing
Context of breakage	NA	NA	Recent	indet	NA	NA	indet	indet	Recent	indet	NA	indet	NA	NA	During production	NA
Fragmenta- tion	ЙО	ЙО	ragmented	ragmented	Vo	Vo	ragmented	ragmented	ragmented	ragmented	Vo	nedial	Vo	Vo	ragmented	Vo
Perforation	NA	unfinished 1 sided	Biconical	Biconical f	Biconical	Biconical	Biconical f	Biconical f	Biconical f	unfinished 1 sided	NA	Biconical	cylindrical 2 sided	Biconical	Biconical	Biconical
N perfo- rations		_	6	_	_			_		_					2	2
Colour	Orange (Orange	Light green	Colourless	White and red	Colourless	White	White	White	White	Colourless (Purple	White	White	Dark green, black minerals	Light green
Translu- cency	Low	Low	High	High	High	High	Low	High	Low	Low	High	High	High	High	No	No
Raw material	Carnelian	Carnelian	Nephrite	Rock Crystal	Rock Crystal	Rock Crystal	Rock Crystal	Rock Crystal	Rock Crystal	Rock Crystal	Rock Crystal	Amethyst	Calcite	Calcite	Plutonic rock	Jadeitite
Subtype	Disc	Tubular	Carved flat	Barrel-shaped	Geometric (trapezoidal)	Tubular	Barrel-shaped	Biconical	Barrel-shaped	Tubular		Tubular	Disc	Disc	Carved flat	Carved flat
Type	Bead	Bead	Pendant	Bead	Pendant	Bead	Bead	Bead	Bead	Bead	Button	Bead	Bead	Bead	Pendant	Pendant
Technical stage	Preform 1	Preform 3	Finished	Finished	Finished	Finished	Finished	Finished	Finished	Preform 3	Preform 1	Finished	Finished	Finished	Preform 3	Finished
Diameter perf.	NA	19	 	5,5	- m	5	5			6	NA	4	0,15	2	6	- .
Thick- ness	9	15	10	26	7	6	16	17	27	8	10	27	3,5	n.	و	7
Width	7	2	24	7,5	15	4	9	11	12	~	14		5,5	7	25	23
Length	6	9	30	~~~	17	4	7	11	13	~	15	10	9	~	63	30
Find number	VPb014	WPb015	VPb016	WPb017	VPb018	VPb019	VPb020	VPb021	VPb022	VPb023	VPb024	VPb025	VPb026	VPb027	VPb028	VPb029

Recy- cled	No	No	Yes	No	No	Yes	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No		
Use-wear	worn	worn	no use -wear	half product	half product	worn	worn	indet	half product	worn	worn	worn	no use -wear	half product		
Decoration techniques	Incising+- notching	Incising+- notching	Incising	NA	Incising+- notching	Incising+- notching	Incising+- notching	Incising+- notching	Incising+- notching	Incising+- notching	Incising+ex- cising+no- tching+- drilling	Excisin- g+incisin- g+notching	Incising+- notching	NA		
Fire contact	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No		
Faceted	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes		
Surface treatment	Polishing 3	Grinding 2, Polishing 3	Grinding 2, Polishing 2	Polishing 3	Polishing 3	Grinding 2, Polishing 3	Grinding 1, 2, Polishing 3	Grinding 1, Polishing 2	Polishing 3	Polishing 3	Grinding 2, Polishing 3	Grinding 1, Polishing 3	Grinding 1, Polishing 3	Grinding 1		
Blank acquisition / Shaping	string sawing	Sawing	string sawing	string sawing	indet	Sawing	Sawing	indet	indet	indet	Sawing	indet	indet	flaked		
Context of breakage	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	During production	NA	indet	NA	NA		
Fragmenta- tion	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	fragmented	No	fragmented	No	No		
Perforation profile	Biconical	Biconical	Biconical	NA	Biconical	V-shaped	Biconical	Biconical	NA	Biconical	Biconical	Biconical	Biconical	NA		
N perfo- rations	5	5	5		1	5	1	1	0	7	_	ŝ	6			
Colour	Dark green	Dark green	Dark green	Light green	Dark green	Light green	Dark green	Light green	Light green with black veins	Black	Light green	White and black	Grey (sparkly)	Light green		
Translu- cency	No	No	No	No	Low	No	Low	No	No	No	Low	No	No	No		
Raw material	Nephrite	Nephrite	Plutonic rock	Plutonic rock	Metamorphic with tremolite	Jadeitite	Nephrite	Jadeitite	Ultramafic	Ultramafic	Jadeitite	Plutonic rock	Plutonic rock	Jadeitite		
Subtype	Carved 3D	Carved flat	Multi-pen- dant preform	Multi-pen- dant preform	Carved 3D	Figure in profile	Figure in profile	Carved 3D	Carved 3D	Carved flat	Figure in profile	Carved 3D	Carved flat	Geometric (trapezoidal)		
Type	Pendant	Pendant	Pendant	Pendant	Pendant	Pendant	Pendant	Pendant	Pendant	Pendant	Pendant	Pendant	Pendant	Pendant		
Technical stage	Finished	Finished	Preform 3	Preform 2	Preform 3	Finished	Finished	Finished	Preform 2	Finished	Finished	Finished	Finished	Preform 1		
Diameter perf.	. 7	5	3	NA	7	S	4	4	NA		0	e.	5	NA		
Thick- ness	10	6	25	19	12	11	11	12	15	10	10	20	9	ۍ.		
1 Width	22	15	24	21	29	22	16	22	23	14	15	25	26	15		
Length	32	38	22	22	36	38	29	33	32	31	24	4	33	19		
Find number	WPb030	WPb031	WPb032	WPb033	WPb034	WPb035	WPb036	WPb037	WPb038	WPb039	WPb040	WPb041	WPb042	WPb043		
Recy- cled	No	Yes	No	No	No	Yes	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No
--------------------------------	-------------------------	----------------------------	-----------------	-----------------	--	----------------------------	-----------------	-----------------	----------------------------	-----------------	-----------------	---------------	--------------	-------------------------	----------------------------	-----------------
Use-wear	half product	no use -wear	half product	no use -wear	worn	half product	half product	half product	no use -wear	worn	no use -wear	worn	worn	no use -wear	half product	half product
Decoration techniques	Incising+- notching	NA	NA	NA	Incising	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	Incising+- notching	NA	NA
Fire contact	No	9	Vo	Q	No.	No	No	No	No	Vo Vo	No	No	No	No	No	No
aceted	es 1	es 1	es 1	10	es 1	es]	es 1	es 1	es 1	es 1	es 1	1	l o	[es]	[es	es 1
Surface treatment	Grinding 1, Polishing 3	Grinding 2, Polishing 3	Grinding 1, 2	Polishing 3	Polishing 3 Y	Grinding 2 V	Grinding 2	Grinding 2 3	Grinding 2, Polishing 3	Polishing 3	Grinding 2	Polishing 3	Polishing3 N	Grinding 2, Polishing 3	Grinding 1	Grinding 2
Blank acquisition / Shaping	indet	indet	flaked	indet	indet	indet	flaked	split + flaked	indet	Groove-and-snap	llaked	indet	indet	indet	indet	indet
Context of breakage	NA	NA	NA	NA I	NA	During production	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	indet	NA	NA	NA
Fragmenta- tion	No	No	No	No	No	distal/me- dial	No	No	No	No	No	No	fragmented	No	No	No
Perforation profile	NA	Biconical	NA	Conical	Biconical	Biconical	NA	NA	Biconical	Biconical	Biconical	cylindrical 2	Biconical	Biconical	unfinished 1	NA
V perfo- rations			_				_									
Colour	Light green (Light green	Light green (Light green	Dark green 2	Light green	Dark green (Blue (Blue	Blue	Blue	Blue	Blue	Blue	Blue	White and black
Translu- cency	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No
Raw material	Jadeitite	Jadeitite	Jadeitite	Jadeitite	Jadeitite	Jadeitite	Jadeitite	Turquoise	Turquoise	Turquoise	Turquoise	Turquoise	Turquoise	Turquoise	Turquoise	Diorite
Subtype	Carved flat	Geometric (oval)	Disc	Disc	Geometric (plano-con- vex round)	Geometric (trapezoidal)	Disc	Disc	Plano-convex	Tubular	Tubular	Barrel-shaped	Disc	Carved flat	Geometric (trapezoidal)	Barrel-shaped
Type	Pendant	Pendant	Bead	Bead	Pendant	Pendant	Bead	Bead	Bead	Bead	Bead	Bead	Bead	Pendant	Pendant	Bead
Technical stage	Preform 2	Finished	Preform 1	Finished	Finished	Preform 3	Preform 1	Preform 1	Finished	Finished	Finished	Finished	Finished	Finished	Preform 3	Preform 1
Diameter perf.	NA	3	NA	5	7	1	NA	NA	2		5	ŝ	1	5	NA	NA
Thick- ness	6	9	4	3	2v	9	3	3	4	=	9	13	2	3	4	14
Width	14	14		S	19	13	4	9	12	4	4	9	4	7	9	4
Length	25	20	6	5	22	18	7	7	13	2	7	7	5	11	13	7
Find number	WPb044	WPb045	WPb046	WPb047	WPb048	WPb049	WPb050	WPb051	WPb052	WPb053	WPb054	WPb055	WPb056	WPb057	WPb058	WPb059

Recy- cled	No	No	No	Yes	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No
Use-wear	worn	no use -wear	worn	indet	half product	half product	no use -wear	half product	worn	indet	worn	no use -wear	worn	worn
Decoration techniques	AN	ΝΑ	ΝΑ	AN	AN	AA	AA	NA	AN	AA	AN	NA	NA	AN
Fire contact	9	07	9	07	40	70 1	No	07	10	70 1	70 7	07	07	07
Faceted	(es]		07	07	íes 1	l (es	- 20	(es	íes 1	l (es	les]	íes 1	07	20 20
Surface	Polishing 1	Grinding 1, Polishing 3	Grinding 2, Polishing 3	Grinding 1, 2	Grinding 2	Grinding 2,	Grinding 2, Polishing 3	Grinding 1	Polishing 1, 3	Grinding 1,	Grinding 2, Polishing 3	Grinding 1, 2	Grinding 1	Grinding 1, 2
Blank acquisition / Shaping	Indet	indet	indet	indet	indet	indet	Groove-and-snap	Groove-and-snap	indet	indet	indet	indet	indet	indet
Context of breakage	NA	NA	NA	During production	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
Fragmenta- tion	No	No	No	nedial	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No
Perforation	Conical	cylindrical hindet	cylindrical hindet	Biconical	Biconical	NA	cylindrical nidet	V V V	Biconical	indet	Conical	Biconical	Biconical	Biconical
N perfo- rations	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	0	5	1	1	1	1	6
Colour	White and black	White and black	White and black	White and black	White and black	White and black	White and black	White and black	White and black	White and black	White and black	White and black	Yellow/ white with black spots	Yellow/ white with black spots
Translu- cency	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No
Raw material	Diorite	Diorite	Diorite	Diorite	Diorite	Diorite	Diorite	Diorite	Diorite	Diorite	Diorite	Diorite	Plutonic rock	Plutonic rock
Subtype	Disc	Disc	[ubular	3arrel-shaped	Fubular	Disc	Tubular	Barrel-shaped (multi-bead preform)	Fubular	3arrel-shaped	Disc	Fubular	3arrel-shaped	Tubular
Type	3ead	3ead	3ead	3ead	3ead	3ead	Bead	3ead (3ead	3ead	3ead	3ead	3ead	Bead ,
Technical stage	Tinished	Tinished	Tinished	Tinished	Tinished	Preform 1	Tinished	Preform 1	Tinished	Tinished 1	Tinished	Finished	Finished	Finished
Diameter perf.	3		- F		3,5 F	NA	3	NA	3 I	- F	3	4	5	5
Thick- ness		11	23	54	27	4	10	15	22	11	5	56	66	56
Width	16	21	9	14	7	9	9	9	7	9	6	10	25	14
Length	16	22	9	20	7	9	9	Ľ	7	Ľ	10	10	25	15
Find number	NPb060	WPb061	NPb062	NPb063	NPb064	WPb065	NPb066	WPb067	WPb068	WPb069	WPb070	WPb071	WPb072	WPb073

Recy- cled	No	Yes	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	Yes	No	No	No	No
Use-wear	worn	indet	worn	worn	half product	half product	no use -wear	half product	worn	no use -wear	no use -wear	worn	half product	half product
Decoration techniques	NA	Incising	Notching	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	Incising+- notching
Fire contact	No	No	Ŷ	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	οN
aceted	9	9	40	40	(es	(es	(es	(es	les]	40	les]	les]	(es	(es
Surface treatment	Grinding 2, Polishing 3	Polishing 3	Grinding 1, 2	Polishing 3	Grinding 1	Grinding 2, Polishing 1	Grinding 2, Polishing 1	Grinding 1	Grinding 2, Polishing 1	Grinding 2, Polishing 1	Grinding 1, 2, y Polishing 1	Grinding 2, Polishing 3	Grinding 2	Grinding 2, Polishing 3
Blank acquisition / Shaping	indet	indet	indet	Sawing	pecked	pecked	pecked	flaking + pecking	pecked	pecked	pecked	indet	indet	indet
Context of breakage	NA	During production	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	indet	NA	NA	NA	NA
Fragmenta- tion	No	medial/ proximal	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	fragmented	No	No	No	No
Perforation	Biconical	Conical I	cylindrical 2 sided	cylindrical Indet	unfinished 1 sided	unfinished 1 sided	Biconical	unfinished 1 sided	Biconical	Biconical	cylindrical Indet	Biconical	NA	NA I
V perfo- rations														
Colour	Yellow/ white with 2 black spots	Yellow/ 1 white	Yellow/ white with 2 black spots	Yellow/ white	Purple 1	Purple 1	Purple 1	Purple 1	Purple 1	Purple 2	Dark green	Blank and 1 white	Yellow mo- ttled with 0 orange	Dark green, black 0 minerals
Translu- cency	οN	20 No	0N	No	Low	High	High	No	No	No	No	No	No	07
Raw material	Plutonic rock	Plutonic rock	Jutonic rock	Plutonic rock	Amethyst	Amethyst	Amethyst	Amethyst	Amethyst	Amethyst	Vephrite	ndeterminate	3asement schist	Plutonic rock
Subtype	Tubular	Tubular	Tubular, nour-glass shaped	Tubular J	Barrel-shaped	Disc	Disc	Barrel-shaped			Plano-convex]	Geometric lozange)	Barrel-shaped	Carved flat
Type	Bead	3ead	Bead	Bead	Bead	Bead	Bead	Bead	Button	Button	Bead	Pendant	Bead	Pendant
Technical stage	Finished	Finished	Finished	Finished	Preform 3	Preform 3	Finished	Preform 3	Finished	Finished	Finished	Finished	Preform 1	Preform 2
Diameter perf.	و	9	- m	5	5	NA	5	5	5	5	7		NA	NA NA
Thick- ness	89	55	=	13	Ξ	5	5	24	2				24	Q
Width	21	14	11	11	L	10	4	11	10	13	14	27	13	16
Length	22	15	11	=	6	10	4	12	11	13	14	31	14	23
Find number	WPb074	WPb075	WPb076	WPb077	WPb078	WPb079	WPb080	WPb081	WPb082	WPb083	WPb084	WPb085	WPb086	WPb087

Recy- cled	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	No	No	No	No
Use-wear	no use -wear	worn	half product	no use -wear	worn	indet	half product	worn	half product	worn	worn	worn	no use -wear
Decoration techniques	NA	Incising+- notching	NA	NA	Incising+- notching	Notching	NA	NA	NA	Excisin- g+incisin- g+notching	Incising+- notching+- drilling	Incising+- notching	Incising+- notching
Fire contact	9 <u>N</u> 0	0N	No.	0N	0N	No	9Z	9N	No	No	No	No	No
faceted	(es	40	(es	Po Po	(es	(es	(es	Yo	(es	les]	les]	(es	(es
Surface I treatment	Grinding 2	Grinding 1, 2	Grinding 1, 2	Grinding 2	olishing 3	Grinding 1, 2	Grinding 1	olishing 3	ndet	olishing 3	olishing 3	ndet	ndet
Blank acquisition / Shaping	indet	indet	indet	indet	Sawing	indet	indet	indet	Groove-and-snap i	Sawing	Groove-and-snap	indet	Sawing
Context of breakage	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	indet	NA	NA	During production	NA	NA	Indetermi- nate	NA
Fragmenta- tion	No	No	No	No	No	listal	No	No	fragmented	No	No	fragmented	No
Perforation profile	Biconical	Biconical	NA I	Biconical	V-shaped	Biconical	unfinished 2 sided	cylindrical 1 sided	PN	Biconical	Biconical	Biconical	Biconical
N perfo- rations		_	0	_		0			0	2	2	_	0
Colour	Dark green	Light green	Light green with black (veins	Black	Dark green	White and black	Light grey	Yellow/ white with black spots	Light green (Light green	Dark green	Beige	Light green
Franslu- cency	No	No	No	No	Q	No	97	No	No	High	High	No	No
Raw material	Low tempera- ture alteration 1 product	Low tempera- ture alteration 1 product	Ultramafic	Plutonic rock	Jadeitite	Diorite	Indeterminate 1	Plutonic rock	Jadeitite	Jadeitite	Nephrite	Jadeitite	Jadeitite
Subtype	Disc	Carved flat	Geometric (oval)	Disc	Carved flat	Carved flat	Tubular	Tubular	Geometric (multi-pen- dant preform)	Carved flat	Figure in profile	Carved flat	Carved flat
Type	Bead	Pendant	Pendant	Bead	Pendant	Pendant	Bead	Bead	Pendant	Pendant	Pendant	Pendant	Pendant
Technical stage	Finished	Finished	Preform 1	Finished	Finished	Finished	Preform 3	Finished	Preform 1	Finished	Finished	Finished	Finished
Diameter perf.	4	7	[NA	4	3	5	5	Ś	[VN	6		4	5
Thick- ness	5,5	14	2	7	5	5,5	12	33	11	4	9	5	10
Width	17,5	∞	15	22	15	14	2	13,5	13	12	12	13	15
Length	18,5	12	25	22	23	17	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	11	18	15	19	22	16
Find number	WPb088	WPb089	WPb090	WPb091	WPb092	WPb093	WPb094	WPb095	WPb096	WPb097	WPb098	WPb099	WPb100

Acknowledgements

First, I would like to thank my supervisors, without whom this thesis would not have seen the light of day: Prof. Corinne Hofman and Prof. Annelou van Gijn. They have provided me with ideas, feedback, guidance, and support during the past four years. Corinne Hofman has kindly provided the funding that made this PhD trajectory possible. The research was funded by the Spinoza Prize from the Nederlandse Organisatie voor Wetenschappelijk Onderzoek (NWO) awarded to her in 2014. It has also been funded by the European Research Council under the European Union's Seventh Framework Programme (FP7/2007-2013)/ERC grant agreement n° 319209. I would also like to acknowledge the co-authors of the papers included in this dissertation for their contribution: Dr. Andrzej Antczak and Dr. Marlena Antczak from Leiden University (Chapter 2), André Delpuech from the Musée de l'Homme and Jacques Cuisin from the Muséum National d'Histoire Naturelle (Chapter 3), Prof. Gareth Davies and Alice Knaf from the Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam (Chapter 4), and Prof. Dominique Ngan-Tillard from the Technische Universiteit Delft (Chapter 5).

Many institutions and people made my research into Caribbean ornaments possible through their help, support, collaboration, or permission to access materials: from the Dominican Republic, the Ministerio de Cultura, the Museo del Hombre Dominicano, Dr. Jorge Ulloa Hung, Adolfo López Belando, and the Torrez family, especially Elia and Martin; from Grenada, the Ministry of Tourism, Civil Aviation and Culture, the Willcox family, Linnette Worth, and Angus Martin; from the Ethnologisches Museum Berlin, Dr. Manuela Fischer; from the National Museum of Denmark, Mille Gabriel, Casper Toftgaard, Anja Blok Jespersen, and Suzan Mefail; and from the Université de Bordeaux, Alain Queffelec. The research conducted in Chapter 3 received independent funding from the Musée du quai Branly-Jacques Chirac through the Bourse d'étude pour la documentation des collections 2016-2017. Furthermore, the museum granted me access to their collections and to the Atelier de Conservation et Restauration for carrying out the research. For their contributions and help during my research stay in Paris, I am indebted to Dr. Christophe Moulherat, Paz Núñez-Regueiro, Marie-Laurence Bouvet, Frédérique Servain-Riviale (Musée du quai Branly), André Delpuech, and Jacques Cuisin.

In regard to research implementation, there are a number of people whose help is deserving of mention. I want to acknowledge Eric Mulder, who often helped me with operating the facilities at the Laboratory for Artefact Studies. Wouter Kool helped me with issues regarding the analysis database. For their help with identifying raw materials, I should mention Dr. Andrzej Antczak and Dr. Menno Hoogland. Dr. Eduardo Herrera Malatesta provided me with the map from Chapter 5. In relation to the experiments carried out during this research. I am thankful for the help of Diederik Pomstra in 2014 and of the students that participated of the experimental fieldwork in 2016. Dr. Tom Breukel is thanked for his collaboration in the experimental programme (2014/2015), for designing the layout of the finished thesis, and for translating the abstract to Dutch. Likewise, I would like to thank the many people in the Caribbean Research Group and the Material Culture Studies Group who have provided me with feedback, suggestions, and a rich research environment over the last four years. The research groups also gave me the opportunity to have productive and helpful conversations with many specialists from outside Leiden University, among which I would like to mention Dr. Stéphen Rostain, I should also mention the colleagues with whom I shared tutorials, feedback sessions, discussions, and drinks. Among these, I especially wish to acknowledge Marlieke Ernst, Andy Ciofalo, Sony Jean, Jana Pesoutova, and Meliam Gaspar. Tom is thanked here for his support, patience, and companionship in moments of joy, worry, or frustration. At last, I want to end by thanking my family for always listening to me and providing me with kind words of advice that encouraged me to carry on and see this through.

Samenvatting

Inheemse lichaamsversiering in het Caribisch gebied De productie, het gebruik, en de uitwisseling van ornamenten zoals gezien door de lenzen van de microscoop

Het versieren van het lichaam was als gebruik alomvertegenwoordigd onder voorkoloniale Caribische samenlevingen. Zowel vroeg-historische bronnen alsmede de overvloed aan collecties aan sieraden gevonden in archeologische sites in de regio suggereren dit. Ondands grote wetenschappelijke aandacht blijft er veel onbekend over zulke ornamenten. Eerder onderzoek schonk voornamelijk aandacht aan hun complexe iconografische afbeeldingen en aan de identificatie en preliminaire herkomst van exotische lithische grondstoffen. Dit proefschrift streeft om toe te lichten op welke manieren mensen met hun ornamenten omgingen en deze in ogenschouw namen. Het bijeenbrengen van de theoretische concepten van de chaîne opératoire en de biografie van een object resulteert in een integrale aanpak, in staat om licht te werpen op aspecten van de levensloop van sieraden die verder strekken dan alleen de functie van compleet voorwerp om te vertonen op het menselijk lichaam. Technologische analyse en slijtsporenonderzoek worden hiervoor gecombineerd om zodoende biografische informatie te verwerven van ieder bestudeerd artefact. De basis voor de interpretatie van de originele technieken en werktuigen gebruikt in de productie van ornamenten wordt gevormd door een reeks aan gecontroleerd uitgevoerde experimenten. Zodoende werpt deze integrale aanpak nieuw licht op de productie, het gebruik, en de uitwisseling van ornamenten.

De kern van het proefschrift wordt gevormd door vier artikelen, elk gepubliceerd in toonaangevende wetenschappelijke vakbladen. Het eerste deel ontwikkelt een onderzoeksstrategie voor collecties uit de Caribische omstreken, welke zeer divers zijn in hun herkomst, hedendaagse condities, de staat van conservering, soorten grondstoffen, en de types artefacten. Ten eerste wordt het potentieel van gedecontextualiseerde assemblages voor slijtsporenanalyse geëvalueerd (Hoofdstuk 2), door middel van de studie van een 'legacy' museumcollectie verkregen uit Noordcentraal-Venezuela vroeg in de 20^{ste} eeuw. Vergelijkbaar met veel Caribische collecties bestaat deze uit figuratieve schelpen ornamenten in variabele staat van preservatie, zonder geassocieerd productieafval of gedetailleerde informatie over de vondstcontexten. Het daaropvolgende hoofdstuk verkent de mogelijkheden en limieten van gebruikssporenanalyse in de studie van lichaamsversiering (Hoofdstuk 3). Aldus is een etnografische museumcollectie geanalyseerd om als vergelijkende referentiecollectie te kunnen dienen voor de interpretatie van slijtagesporen op archeologisch materiaal. Hiervoor zijn voornamelijk samengestelde sieraden onderzocht, zoals kettingen, labrets (lippiercings), en armbanden afkomstig uit het laagland van Zuid-Amerika. Deze studie draagt onder andere inzichten bij aan hoe individuele componenten in een ketting ieder gebruiksslijtage ontwikkelen in relatie tot het geheel.

Het tweede deel van het proefschrift focust zich op archeologisch debat over sieraden in het Keramisch tijdperk (400 v.C. - ca. 1500 n.C.). Het belang van netwerksystemen voor de verbondenheid van Caribische samenlevingen in dit tijdperk is sterk benadrukt in het onderzoek van de afgelopen tien jaar, en blijkt het duidelijkst uit de uitwisseling van goederen, mensen, en ideeën tussen de eilanden en de nabijgelegen continentale massas. Ornamenten vormen een integrale bron van bewijs voor de herconstructie van interactienetwerken uit het verleden. De focus ligt op twee verschillende tijdsperiodes, welke beiden gekarakteriseerd worden door intensere mates van productie en circulatie van ornamenten door de Antillen. Het eerdere deel van de Vroeg-Keramische periode in de oostelijke Cariben vormt de eerste casus, gerepresenteerd door een grote collectie van de site Pearls op Grenada, toen gekenmerkt door een atelier voor edelstenen (Hoofdstuk 4). Deze collectie omvat kralen en hangers gemaakt uit verscheidene lithische grondstoffen, zoals amethist, carneool, dioriet, nefriet, jadeitiet, en anderen. De Laat-Keramische periode in de Grote Antillen vormt de tweede casus (Hoofdstuk 5), gerepresenteerd door de recentelijk opgegraven nederzettingssites El Cabo, Playa Grande, El Flaco, La Luperona, en El Carril uit de Dominicaanse Republiek. Deze diverse assemblages bevatten materialen zoals calciet, dioriet, schelpen, dierlijke skeletelementen, en fossiel hout, verwerkt tot verscheidene types kralen, hangers, en oorpluggen. De interpretatie hiervan hangt samen met de herkomst van de grondstoffen en de archeologische contexten van depositie. Voor iedere casus is het contrasterend voorkomen van zowel specifieke technologische producten alsmede vormen van gebruiksslijtage

gecombineerd om inzicht te verschaffen in uitwisselingspatronen. Door middel van deze aanpak hebben we de data van iedere site geëxtrapoleerd, om zodoende begrip te verschaffen aan regionale processen van materiele uitwisseling die tot op heden onduidelijk bleven.

Het proefschrift concludeert met een overzicht van hoe de biografische aanpak, zoals toegepast op sieraden, voormalige ideeën over grootschalige interacties en de verantwoordelijke sociale mechanismes in heroverweging neemt. Voor ieder tijdsvak worden specialisaties in bepaalde grondstoffen, het delen van kunde en kennis, en het belang van technisch realiseren behandeld. Speciale aandacht wordt gegeven aan de veranderlijke manieren waarop mensen omgingen met sieraden, ermee betrokken raakten, en uiteindelijk hoe zij ornamenten bezagen door het Keramische tijdperk heen.

Abstract

Adorning one's body was a widespread practice among pre-colonial Caribbean societies. This is suggested by early historical accounts and by the abundance of ornament collections recovered from archaeological sites across the region. Despite the great scientific interest they have raised, much remains unknown concerning ornaments. Previous research has given primary attention to their intricate iconographic depictions and to the identification and tentative provenance of exotic lithic materials. This dissertation aims to elucidate the ways people dealt with and regarded ornaments. Bringing together the concepts of object biography and *chaîne opératoire*, an integrated approach is proposed to shed light on aspects of the life of ornaments beyond their role as finished items on display on the human body. Technological and microwear analyses are thus combined in a method for extracting biographical information from each studied artefact. A set of controlled experiments provides the basis for interpreting the techniques and tools used in ornament production. In this manner, the approach developed casts new light on evolving patterns in ornament production, use, and exchange.

The dissertation is composed of four articles published in peer-reviewed journals. The first half proposes a research strategy for studying circum-Caribbean collections, which are striking for their diversity in origins, present conditions, state of preservation, raw materials, and types. First, an evaluation of the potential of decontextualized assemblages for microwear analysis is carried out (Chapter 2). This is achieved through the study of a legacy museum collection retrieved from north-central Venezuela in the early 20th century. Similarly to many Antillean collections, it is composed of figurative ornaments made of marine shells in different degrees of preservation, with no associated production debris or detailed information on contexts of recovery. In the next chapter, the limits and possibilities afforded by use-wear analysis in the study of bodily ornaments are explored (Chapter 3). An ethnographic museum collection is analysed to provide reference for biographical and microwear interpretation. Composite ornaments are examined, including items such as necklaces,

labrets, and arm bands from across the lowlands of South America. Among the contributions of this study are insights into how individual components from a given necklace develop use-wear in relation to the complete assemblage.

The second part of the dissertation focuses on archaeological debates around bodily ornaments in the Ceramic Age Caribbean (400 BC-ca. AD 1500). Over the last decade, researchers have stressed the interconnected nature of past Caribbean societies, most clearly expressed in the circulation of goods, people, and ideas between islands and surrounding continental masses. Ornaments have been integral sources of evidence for reconstructing past interaction networks. Here, two time periods are the focus of inquiry, as they are marked by intense ornament production and circulation across the Antilles. First, the early part of the Early Ceramic Age in the eastern Caribbean is studied, being represented by a large assemblage from the lapidary workshop site of Pearls on Grenada (Chapter 4). This collection encompasses beads and pendants of several lithic raw materials, namely amethyst, carnelian, diorite, nephrite, jadeitite, among others. The next chapter centres on the Late Ceramic Age period in the Greater Antilles (Chapter 5). This period is represented by the recently excavated settlement sites of El Cabo, Playa Grande, El Flaco, La Luperona, and El Carril located across the Dominican Republic. Diverse raw materials are represented in the form of beads, pendants, earplugs, and ear-spools, including calcite, diorite, mollusc shells, skeletal materials, and fossilized wood. Furthermore, data concerning raw material provenance and archaeological contexts of deposition is incorporated. In each case-study, the differential presences of both certain technical products and of use-wear are combined to provide insights on exchange patterns. It is through this approach to the study of material exchange that we are able to extrapolate the data obtained for each site, in order to grasp regional processes that had thus far remained elusive.

The dissertation is concluded by an overview of how the biographical approach applied to bodily ornaments contributes toward a new assessment of previous ideas concerning large-scale interactions and the social mechanisms responsible for them. Raw material specialization, the sharing of technical knowledge, and the importance of technical performance are addressed for each time period. Particular attention is given to the changing ways people have handled, engaged with, and ultimately regarded ornaments over the course of the Ceramic Age period.

Curriculum Vitae

Catarina Guzzo Falci was born on June 15th, 1990 in Governador Valadares, Minas Gerais, Brazil. After finishing her high school studies at Colégio Ibituruna (2005-2007), she moved 300 km inland to follow a Bachelor's degree in Social Sciences at the Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais (UFMG). Throughout her study (2008-2012), Catarina has worked as both voluntary and paid intern at the Prehistory division of the Museu de História Natural e Jardim Botânico. In this context, she studied lithic and ceramic archaeological assemblages from Minas Gerais and eastern Amazonia. Furthermore, she participated in archaeological fieldworks in Central Brazil ran by different research groups. Catarina was also selected to attend the University of Texas at Austin for a semester abroad in 2011. She followed undergraduate and graduate-level courses in archaeology and anthropology, receiving magna cum laude honours. Back in Brazil, Catarina continued studying lithic technology. For her BA thesis (2012), she carried out a technological analysis of debitage associated to stone bead making from Serra dos Carajás, on the southeast of the Amazon Basin. The study resulted in a number of conference presentations and in the publication of two articles.

Her interest in pre-colonial interaction networks in northern South America led Catarina to move to the Netherlands in the fall of 2013. Here, she followed a Research Master's in Archaeology at Leiden University (2013-2015) as part of the Caribbean Research Group and the Material Culture Studies Group. Catarina graduated with *cum laude* distinction for her combined thesis and coursework. Directly after graduation, she was given the opportunity to expand her research as a PhD candidate at Leiden University (2015-2020). This research has centred on technologies of production, modes of use, and exchange of bodily ornaments from the pre-colonial circum-Caribbean. With a research grant from the Musée du quai Branly in Paris (2017), she expanded her research to ethnographic ornaments from across the lowlands of South America. Catarina's research during her six years in Leiden has resulted in the publication of multiple scientific articles in peer-reviewed journals and in many conference presentations.

dorning one's body was a widespread practice in the pre-colonial Caribbean, notably during the Ceramic Age (400 BC-ca. AD 1500). Despite the abundance of ornament collections recovered from the region and the scientific interest they have raised, much remains unknown concerning their biographies. This dissertation aims to elucidate evolving patterns in ornament production, use, and exchange through technological and microwear analyses. It is composed of four articles published in peer-reviewed journals. The first half proposes a research strategy for studying circum-Caribbean collections, which are markedly diverse in their origins, raw materials, and types. A critical evaluation of the potential of decontextualized assemblages for microwear analysis is carried out. Furthermore, the analysis ethnographic museum collections is of

conducted as basis for interpretation. In the second part, collections from two time periods marked by increase in ornament production and circulation are analysed: 1) the early part of the Early Ceramic Age in the eastern Caribbean; and 2) the Late Ceramic Age in the Greater Antilles. In each case-study, the differential presence of both certain technical products and of use-wear are combined to provide insights on exchange patterns. The biographical approach to ornaments contributes toward a new assessment of previous ideas concerning large-scale interactions and the social mechanisms responsible for them. The dissertation concludes by reflecting on the changing ways people have handled, engaged with, and ultimately regarded ornaments over the course of the Ceramic Age period.

